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A Message from the Chair

In last year’s annual report, we termed 1998 as the year the
“switch was on” and described our transition to a newly-
restructured organization, our business transaction with LG&E
Energy Corp. and certain of its affiliates, and the successful
results from July through the end of 1998. The year 1999
would have to be described as a year of growth and stability.
Growth occurred on the financial front. In its first full fiscal year
as a restructured organization, Big Rivers saw results that
exceeded expectations. Stability was also evidenced
financially, as for the first time in ten years of normal
operations, Big Rivers saw a positive margin. This and the
projections of continued margins provide for a sound financial
foundation to begin the new millennium.

The growth was not only apparent on the financial side, but in
other ways as well. Big Rivers, as did all of the midwest
utilities, saw significant peak demand load growth during the
hot, dry summer. This afforded Big Rivers opportunities to sell
its surplus power at greater margins. We were also able to
work with our member systems and their large industrial
customers to reduce peak demand and bring benefits to the
customers as well as to Big Rivers.

However, such growth presents challenges as well as
opportunities. For one, it will accelerate the time frame when
Big Rivers needs additional capacity to meet its growing
member loads. This is addressed in a new Power Requirements
Study and Integrated Resource Plan, both of which have been
filed with the Kentucky Public Service Commission. In addition,
the 1999 load growth also puts the need for certain
transmission improvement projects on a faster track, requiring
expenditures sooner than what had been projected. Big Rivers
will be focusing on these and other items with its member
systems in addressing the future.

Big Rivers also worked in 1999 to create even more financial
stability by pursuing a defeased/sale leaseback project that was
consummated in spring 2000 resulting in more financial
benefits as well as stability for the member systems.

Stability is bolstered by reliability. A key reliability issue for Big
Rivers and its member systems was the potential of a “Y2K”
problem. As early as the beginning of 1998, we started
aggressively addressing the concerns that we might face with
the advent of “Y2K.” By early fall of 1999 our work was
completed and Big Rivers, as did most other utilities in the
country, saw no problems when the clock rolled over at
midnight, December 31.

As you can see, we continue to build a new and strong Big
Rivers. Our performance described in this annual report
provides testimony to this and promise for the future. We
remain excited about the future and its opportunities to
continue our growth and stability for the benefit of the member
systems and their members.

William C. Denton Michael H. Core
Chair of the Board President & CEO

Michael H. Core, President & CEOQO,
and William C. Denton,
Chair of the Board

Terminology Reference Guide

ECAR: East Central Area Reliability Council
FERC: Federal Energy Regulatory Commission
G&T: Generation & Transmission Cooperative
KPSC: Kentucky Public Service Comrmussion
LEC: LG&E Energy Corp

LEM: LG&E Marketing, Inc.

NERC: National Electric Reliability Council
RUS: Rural Utilities Service

SEPA: Southeastern Power Administration
WKEC: Western Kentucky Energy Corp.

Y2K: Year 2000
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Member Cooperative CEOs
Left to right are Burns Mercer,
President & CEO, Meade County
RECC; B. Dean Stanley, President &
CEO, Kenergy Corp.; and Kelly
Nuckols, President & CEQ, Jackson
Purchase Energy Corporation.
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Big Rivers Electric Corporation
BREC Senior Lineman Brian Catron and
Substation Technician Mike Roybal
examine equipment at BREC
transmission.

Big Rivers Today

In the electric cooperative world, Big Rivers is known as an
electric generation and transmission cooperative ("G&T"). Itis
owned by three member system distribution cooperatives that
serve approximately 98,000 member consumers in 22 counties in
western Kentucky. Those cooperatives are Jackson Purchase
Energy Corporation, headquartered in Paducah; Kenergy Corp.
headqguartered in Henderson; and Meade County Rural Electric
Cooperative Corporation headquartered in Brandenburg.
Kenergy was formed July 1, 1999, as a result of a consolidation
of Green River Electric Corporation in Owensboro and
Henderson Union Electric Cooperative in Henderson, both
members of Big Rivers.

In 1998, Big Rivers completed a massive reorganization of its
operation and business as the result of a four-year planning and
development process which included a nearly two-year
voluntary Chapter 11 bankruptcy. The result of that process was
the leasing of the operation of its own 1,459 MW generation and
the assignment of its rights of another 232 MW in the
Henderson Municipal Power and Light's Station Two facility to
LG&E Energy Corp. and certain of its affiliates ("LEC").

While Big Rivers no longer has responsibility for operating the
power plants, it continues to have the responsibility of wholesale
power supply to its member systems for their customer loads,
with the exception of the two aluminum smelters served by
Kenergy. Big Rivers fulfills its power supply responsibilities to
the member systems from a power purchase agreement with
LG&E Energy Marketing Inc. ("LEM”), member allocations from
Southeastern Power Administration (“SEPA") and the wholesale
power market.

Big Rivers continues to own, operate and maintain its
transmission system as it did before the restructuring. Big Rivers
also has the responsibility for transmission of electricity to its
member systems as well as to LEC and other third-party entities
that it serves under its open access transmission tariff.

Today, Big Rivers is a corporation of 93 employees, down from
nearly 900 in 1992. The board has streamlined as well. It
currently is made up of six directors, two from each of the three
member systems.

An Overview

With stability and growth the key words, the Big Rivers'
transition, which began with the exit from bankruptcy in 1998,
continued through 1999. Many details and issues that resulted
from the transferal of hundreds of employees and operation of
the plants in 1998 continued to be worked out in 1999 with
Western Kentucky Energy Corp. ("WKEC"), the LEC subsidiary
that operates the power plants. As the transition continued, Big
Rivers developed the stability necessary to transition in yet
another area - that of the changing landscape of a utility
industry in the throes of deregulation.



An Overview (Continued)

Finding stability in a fluid situation involving power supply
market conditions that have become very volatile in the summer
months is challenging In addition, with the wholesale power
market development, the issue of open transmission access has
created new challenges that were not present when
transmission systems were initially designed to handle internal
native load reliability. The past two summers have
demonstrated in the East Central Area Reliability ("ECAR")
region the difficulty of meeting both internal load flows and
those occurring from the outside as well. This will only be
exacerbated as gas turbine peaking plants of several hundred
megawatts each are sited and built, literally overnight, in the
next two years. Big Rivers, along with the rest of the utility
industry, will search for creative answers to these transmission
challenges. The volatile power markets will also require creative
solutions as Big Rivers works to continue to provide an
economical power supply to its three member systems’ growing
loads.

The electric utility industry, which has been accustomed to
decision-making processes of considerable length, is now
forced to quickly make critical decisions based on conditions
that are themselves subject to rapid change. This environment
creates a real challenge for Big Rivers and others in this
business. It has changed the risk profile of the industry and
created the need to have a lean and mobile management
process. That is the direction Big Rivers has been headed for
nearly two years.

Power Supply

Meade County RECC
Meade County RECC's Account
Representative and Collections Coordinator
Diane Benham answers a customer’s
questions.

Bill Blackburn is vice president of power supply. Although no
longer generating its own power, Big Rivers retains its power
supply responsibility to the member systems, with the exception
of power supply requirements for two aluminum smelters.
Currently, power supply comes from three resources: LEM
Purchase Power Agreement, SEPA and the wholesale market,
the first two being the primary sources.

Big Rivers must deal with the significant load growth that it is
experiencing. A new peak record of 664 MW was set in July
1999. This represented an 8.1 percent increase over the peak of
614 MW in July 1998. This jump in summer demand will cause
Big Rivers to seek other power supply sources sooner than
originally expected. During 1999, working with its member
systems, Big Rivers completed a Power Requirements Study
(PRS). From this document, the 1999 Integrated Resource Plan
(IRP) has been created and was filed with the Kentucky Public
Service Commission in March of 2000. This document will serve
as a map in seeking other sources of power for its member
systems' load requirements in the future.

Big Rivers has been actively working with a large industrial
customer of one of the member systems on a large co-
generation project. This project is expected to be operational

Jackson Purchase Energy
BREC Commercial & Industrial Advisor Russ
Pogue and JPEC President & CEO Kelly Nuckols
meet with Computer Services Inc. President &
CEO Steve Powless and Chairman John
Williams.



Power Supply (Continued)

Energy Control Room
BREC employees Bill Higgs and Bill
Payne man the energy control room at
headquarters.

in 2001 and will free up megawatts to Big Rivers that can be
used to meet customer growth from that point forward. In
addition, the Large Industrial Expansion Tariff approved in early
2000 by the KPSC will give Big Rivers more flexibility on the
power supply side in working with its members in addressing
new or expanded loads of 5 MWs or more.

In 1999, Big Rivers worked with Reliant Energy of Houston,
Texas, as its market interface partner. Through Reliant, Big
Rivers bought and sold power as its load and market conditions
dictated. Through these efforts, the Power Supply Department
helped Big Rivers end the year with its first operating margin in
ten years.

System Operations

Travis Housley is the vice president of system operations.
System operations involves the planning, design, construction,
operation and maintenance of Big Rivers' transmission system.
This department must focus on the changes continuing to be
driven by the developing wholesale power market.

One of the key projects in 1999 was to prepare for the rollover
to 2000 without impact to service. Big Rivers, working with
ECAR and NERC, was successful in reaching this goal.

In 1999, Big Rivers successfully targeted several NERC-
developed control center programs. All system supervisors
(dispatchers) became NERC certified operators. In addition, Big
Rivers successfully complied with six operating measures and 16
planning measures in the NERC Pilot Compliance Program.
Transition to use of OASIS Phase 1-A was completed as well as
meeting NERC electronic tagging requirements for power sales
transaction into, out of or through Big Rivers’ system. Success
was also obtained in providing Big Rivers’ system operating data
to NERC Interregional Security Network computer for security
coordinator functions.

Big Rivers completed the design and construction of the Bryan
Road 161-69 kV substation. Approximately 8.3 miles of 69 kV
line was designed and constructed to service this and three new
distribution substations. In addition, to assure reliability is
maintained at a high standard, more than a dozen routine
maintenance procedures were performed on thousands of poles
and equipment items on the Big Rivers’ transmission system.

Finance & Administrative Services

Mark Hite serves as vice president of finance and administrative
services. The plan of reorganization has brought financial
stability to Big Rivers.

The first full post-reorganization year results of operations were
better than forecast. Margins for the year were $4.093 million.
Sales and purchases of power to and from non-member third



parties, other than purchases of LEM contract power, are the
primary reasons for the better than forecast results.

As planned, the new depreciation study, which extended the

Other
remaining service lives of utility plant in service, thereby $5432 0 0.6%

reducing depreciation expense to $28 million annually, a $10
million decrease, was implemented in July of 1998. Another
indication of better than forecast results was the $27 million
prepaid status of the RUS debt as of December 31, 1999.

As budgeted, the three member systems’ approximately 98,000
customers’ loads grew 5.48 percent during 1999. This was
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Transmussion
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Producton
$739.916 or 85.2%

broken down into 3.26 percent for rural loads and 8.37 percent *Net of Accumulated Depreciation of $666,.973

for large industrial loads. As a result of this healthy load growth,
Big Rivers is planning significant capital investments for the
transmission system. Member systems’ wholesale rates are
competitive, averaging $33.78 per MWh during 1999; $36.44 per

MWh for rural sales and $30.47 per MWh for large industrial Facilities
sales, the fifth consecutive annual decline. Kenneth C.
Coleman Plant
Big Rivers has an imbedded cost of debt of 5.82 percent and a B:[;;
cost of capital of 7.64 percent, and plans to fund capital Unit3
expenditures on a current basis in accordance with the g?:::PD\Am
reorganization plan. Big Rivers’ TIER and DSC for 1999 were Unit 1
1.06 and 1.37 respectively. Unit2
Robert A,
While regulatory requirements are still in flux, Big Rivers is Rei%:i‘f;ﬁ
working with WKEC to embark on a four-year capital investment ComT?JL:Ztii::
plan aimed at significantly reducing NOy emissions at the
power plants, effective 2003. Big Rivers’ funding share will be 20 Bfi m'é?”
percent, as specified in the LEC lease transaction. Big Rivers _

completed a leveraged lease financing of certain existing

Owned Electric Generation

Net

Type Capacity Commercial

of Fuel
Coal 150
Coal 150
Coal 155
Coal 231
Coal 223
Coal 65
ol 65
Coal 420

1,459

{MW)  Operation

Date

1969
1970
1972

1979
1981

1966
1976

1986

facilities on Aprl| »] 8 ZOOO ThlS transaction reduced annua| debt Although leased to LEC affiliates, Big Rivers continues to own its 1,459

megawatts of electric generating facilities, as described above.

service cost by approximately $3.68 million.
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*Excludes sales to aluminum smelters.
1,000,000
Big Rivers’ wholesale rates to its members average 3.4 cents/kWh. As illustrated, rates
have continued to decline the past five years, while sales to members have increased at an 500,000
annual compound rate of 6.9 percent, 4 1 percent for rural loads and 11.3 percent for

large industrial loads. 0

1994 1995 1996

Rural [1.571,691 | 1,665,310 | 1,728,687

Large Industriel | 907,639 | 1,019,130 | 1,092,611

Total 2,479,330 2,684,4_40T 2,821,298

1997 1998 1999

1758398 | 1,861,051 | 1,921,742
1,258,705 | 1,427.793 | 1,547,230 |
3,017,103 | 3,288,844 | 3,468,972
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Kenergy Corp.
Randy Dukate, a lineman, and Bill Sutley, a
serviceman, of Kenergy Corp. review plans.

| nistration & Regulatory Affairs

David Spainhoward is the vice president of contract
administration and regulatory affairs. With complicated
contractual relationships with certain of the LG&E Energy Corp.
affiliates as well as with Big Rivers’ members and with others,
and, with an active regulatory arena resulting from industry
changes, Big Rivers puts special emphasis on these areas.

While the operating lease with the LEC affiliates is performing
very well, operating and business issues have arisen which Big
Rivers and the LEC affiliates have agreed to address generally in
whole rather than in part. During 1999, Big Rivers and the LEC
affiliates completed its list of larger issues and reached a
general agreement regarding the resolution of those issues and,
have agreed to finalize them early in 2000.

It was a busy year on the regulatory front as Big Rivers submitted
a Large Industrial Customer Expansion Tariff to the Kentucky
Public Service Commission (KPSC) for approval. This tariff was
approved by the KPSC on a three-year pilot basis on

February 25, 2000. Additionally, at the request of one of the
system'’s large industrial customers, Big Rivers filed a Purchase
and Sales Tariff for Cogeneration and Small Power Producers
with the KPSC for which approval is pending.

In other KPSC activity, Big Rivers participated in the code of
conduct case before the KPSC. The KPSC issued a draft Code
of Conduct and draft guidelines addressing accounting
requirements for cost allocation and affiliate transactions on
September 3, 1998 (Administrative Case 369). An Order was
issued on December 20, 1999, on cost allocation and affiliate
transactions. The Code of Conduct was suspended during 1999.
An order was issued on February 18, 2000, exempting
cooperatives from Code of Conduct regulatory requirements.

While Big Rivers made the decision not to join the Midwest ISO
during 1998, it has continued to follow the activities of the FERC
regarding Regional Transmission Organizations (Docket No.
RM99-02-000). In addition to following electric restructuring at
the national level, Big Rivers also participated at the state level.
A Task Force on Electricity Restructuring was created during
1998 by the General Assembly and was directed to "assess the
desirability of deregulating and restructuring electric service
delivery.” The Task Force held monthly meetings during 1999
with a final recommendation that it was premature to restructure
the electric industry in Kentucky at this time. Big Rivers
provided information and testimony to this Task Force during
the year.

Big Rivers joined the SF6 Emissions Reduction Partnership for
Electric Power Systems during 1999 as a charter partner. This is
a voluntary agreement between Big Rivers and the U.S.
Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA”) to reduce emissions
of sulfur hexafluoride (SFé). Big Rivers 1s committed to
protecting the environment when and in whatever ways it can.



Marketing

Richard Beck, vice president of marketing in 1999, is now
heading up both the Kenergy and Big Rivers marketing efforts.
In 1999, Big Rivers and its member systems undertook an effort
to seek out consolidated services that would provide value to all
entities. This effort set the stage for a move to consolidate the
marketing departments of Kenergy and Big Rivers beginning in
2000. This will result in lower costs and an improved service
portfolio for the member systems.

The 1999 year saw Big Rivers and its member systems
concentrate on building brand equity through its membership
as part of the Touchstone Energy® cooperatives. Big Rivers
pursued aggressive efforts to develop strategic alliances with
other regional G&Ts to cost share Touchstone Energy®
marketing costs which resulted in better economic efficiency
with greater market reach.

Big Rivers, working with its member systems, improved the
capabilities in serving commercial and industrial accounts
through the development of a comprehensive information
management system. Also, as a service to the member systems'’
commercial and industrial customers, Big Rivers developed a
quarterly publication with articles and updates on technology
and industry restructuring relative to this group of customers.

Big Rivers Electric Corporation Board of Directors (at right)
Seated are John Myers, Secretary/Treasurer,

Lee Bearden and Dick Wilson.

Standing are Leroy Humphrey, James Sills, Vice Chair,

and William C. Denton, Chair.

Big Rivers Electric Corporation Vice Presidents (at left)

Seated are Mark Hite, Vice President of Finance and Administrative
Services, and Travis Housley, Vice President of System Operations.
Standing are Richard Beck, Vice President of Marketing; Bill Blackburn,
Vice President of Power Supply; and David Spainhoward, Vice
President of Contract Administration and Regulatory Affairs.




BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AS OF DECEMBER 31, 1999 AND 1998

AND FOR EACH OF THE THREE YEARS

IN THE PERIOD ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1999
TOGETHER WITH AUDITORS' REPORT

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

To the Board of Directors of
Big Rivers Electric Corporation:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Big Rivers Electric Corporation (“Big Rivers,” a Kentucky corporation) as of December 31,
1999 and 1998, and the related statements of revenues and expenses, equities (deficit) and cash flows for the period ended December 31, 1999,
the period ended July 14, 1998 (pre-confirmation), the period ended December 31, 1998 (post-confirmation) and for the period ended
December 31, 1997. These financial statements are the responsibility of Big Rivers’ management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States and the standards for financial audits
contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. These standards require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Big Rivers as of
December 31, 1999 and 1998, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,
1999, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, effective July 15, 1998, Big Rivers emerged from bankruptcy and adopted a new basis of
accounting whereby all liabilities were adjusted to their estimated fair values. Accordingly, the financial statements for periods subsequent to
the confirmation of the reorganization are not comparable to the financial statements presented for prior periods.

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued reports dated
April 14, 2000, on our consideration of Big Rivers’ internal control over financial reporting and compliance with laws and regulations.

Little Rock, Arkansas,
April 14, 2000.



BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION

ASSETS

Utility plant, net
Other deposits and investments, at cost

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable
Non-fuel inventory
Prepaid expenses
Total current assets

Deferred charges

EQUITIES (DEFICIT) AND LIABILITIES

Capitalization:
Equities (deficit)
Long-term debt
Other long-term obligations
Total capitalization

Current liabilities:
Current maturities of long-term obligations
Purchased power payable
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Total current liabilities

Deferred credits and other:
Deferred lease revenue
Other
Total deferred credits and other

Commitments and contingencies (Note 1)

BALANCE SHEETS
AS OF DECEMBER 31

(Dollars in thousands)

1999

$ 868,450
16,279

14,074
13,663

706
A
_ 29164

33427

$ 947,320

$ (355,864)
1,231,055
2,290
877,481

5,967

6,997
6,146

_ 6381
25491

30,823
13,525
. 44348

$ 947,320

1998

$ 876,647
7,688

32,016
13,614
546
1,381
47,557

_ 32,651

$ 964,543

$ (359,957)
1,228,837
2,904
871,784

8,062
10,903
4,441
7,272
30,678

54,652
7,429
62,081

$§ 964,543

The accompanying notes to financial statements are
an integral part of these balance sheets.



Operating revenue
Lease revenue
Total operating revenues
Operating expenses:
Operations:
Fuel for electric generation
Power purchased and interchanged
Production, excluding fuel
Other
Maintenance
Depreciation
Total operating expenses

Electric operating margins
Interest expense and other:

Interest
Other, net

Total interest expense and other

Operating margin (loss) before non-operating
margin (loss) and extraordinary loss, net

Non-operating margin (loss):
Reorganization expenses
Interest income and other

Total non-operating margin {loss)

Net margin (loss) before extraordinary loss
Extraordinary loss, net (Note 1)

Net margin (loss)

Balance at December 31, 1996
Net loss
Balance at December 31, 1997
Forgiveness of patronage
capital allocations (Note 2)
Net loss
Extraordinary loss, net (Note 1)
Balance at December 31, 1998
Net margin
Balance at December 31, 1999

BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION
STATEMENTS OF REVENUES AND EXPENSES
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31
(Dollars in thousands)

1999 __

$150,294
54,265
204,559

86,288
3,929
8,747
2,951

27,589
129,504

75,055

71,908
)
71,977

3,078

| = |—
(@] (@]
==
o

4,093

$ 4,093

The accompanying notes to financial statements are

an integral part of these statements.

BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION

STATEMENTS OF EQUITIES (DEFICIT)

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31
(Dollars in thousands)

Total

equities Accumulated Patronage

(deficit) deficit capital
$(284,499) $(416,865) $ 127,921
__(8,054) (8,054) SN S,
(292,553) (424,919) 127,921

- 127,921 (127,921)

(26,877) (26,877) -

(40,527) __140,527) B
(359,957) (364,402) -
4,093 4,093 s
$(355,864) $(360,309) -

The accompanying notes to financial statements are

an integral part of these statements.

$230,307
24,247
254,554

51,876
59,586
19,684
8,600
19,764
31,032
190,542

64,012

75,021

(184)
74837

(10,825)

(17,373)
1,321
(16,052)

(26,877)
(40,527)

$ (67,404)

_ 1997
$304,626

304,626

92,966
44,916
33,409
13,997
33,125
35,860

254,273

50,353

41,272

(192
41,080

9,273

(18,352)
1,025
_(17,327)

(8,054)

$ (8,054)

Other equities

Donated
capital and
memberships
$764

764

Consumers’
contributions
to
debt service

$3,681

3,681

3,681

$3,681



BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31
(Dollars in thousands)

1999 1998 1997
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net margin (loss) $ 4,093 $(67,404) $ (8,054)
Adjustments to reconcile net margin (loss) to net cash
(used in) provided by operating activities:

Non-cash extraordinary loss, net (Note 1) - 54,727 -
Non-cash reorganization expenses - 4,004 -
Depreciation and amortization 31,944 34,125 40,542
Net change in balancing account - - (39,257)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Other deposits and investments (591) (2,906) (1,404)
Accounts receivable 49 14,261 (3,714)
Fuel inventory - 2,524 (4,623)
Non-fuel inventory (160) 446 31
Prepaid expenses 660 (1,381) 1,689
Deferred charges (2,604) (13,820) -
Other long-term obligations (552) (2,147) 5,602
Purchased power payable (3,906) 10,160 743
Accounts payable 1,705 (11,914) 423
Accrued expenses (891) (2,527) 3,735
Deferred lease revenue (23,829) 54,652 -
Other, net _(7,041) 1,626 (577)
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities _ (1,221) 74,426 (4,864)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Investment in held-to-maturity securities (8,000 - -
Proceeds from sale of assets in conjunction with Lease
Agreement - 35,919 -
Capital expenditures, net (8,782) _(4,458) ~ (4,437)
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (16,782) 31,461 _ (4,437)
Cash flows from financing activities:
(Decrease) increase in liabilities subject to compromise - (7,412) 15,728
Principal payments on long-term obligations (29,297) (89,653) -
Increase in LEM Advances 25,626 8,333 -
Increase in ARVP Note 3732 - -
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 61 - (88,732) 15,728
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents  (17,942) 17,155 6,427
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 32,016 14,861 8,434
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $14,074 $ 32,016 $ 14,861
Supplemental Cash Flow Information:
Cash paid relating to interest $ 72,627 $76716 $ 36,918

The accompanying notes to financial statements are
an integral part of these statements.




BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 1999
(Dollars in thousands)

1. CHAPTER 11 BANKRUPTCY FILING, EMERGENCE FROM BANKRUPTCY AND CONTINGENCIES:

Chapter 11 Bankruptcy Filing:

On September 25, 1996, Big Rivers Electric Corporation ("Big Rivers” or the "Company”) filed a voluntary petition for relief under Chapter 11 of
the United States Bankruptcy Code (“Chapter 11”) and the Company began operating as a debtor-in-possession under the supervision of the
United States Bankruptcy Court for the Western District of Kentucky (the “Bankruptcy Court”). Big Rivers believed it was necessary to file
Chapter 11 in order to, among other reasons, (a) restructure its debt obligations, upon which the Company would otherwise default in the near
term; (b) relieve the Company of severely burdensome long-term coal contracts; (c) receive judicial approval in conjunction with consummating
a long-term lease transaction involving the generation assets of Big Rivers; (d) sufficiently resolve other alleged claims, suits and liabilities
asserted against Big Rivers such that the reorganized Company could emerge from Chapter 11 able to repay its restructured debt and ()
implement its reorganization in a timely manner. On January 22, 1997, Big Rivers filed a plan of reorganization with the Bankruptcy Court (the
“Plan”). The Plan, further amended on April 18, 1997, was approved by substantially all creditors and rate payer constituents of Big Rivers and
was confirmed by the Bankruptcy Court on June 9, 1997. On June 30, 1997, the Company filed an application with the Kentucky Public Service
Commission (the "KPSC") for an order approving various components of the Plan (the “Rate Hearing”). In particular, the Company requested
approval for the leasing of its generation assets and the related energy to certain affiliates of LG&E Energy Corporation ("LG&E Energy”) (the
“Lease Agreement”). The KPSC approved the Lease Agreement in principle on April 30, 1998, pending the revision of the rates associated with
National Southwire Aluminum Company (“NSA") and Alcan Aluminum Corporation (“Alcan”) (collectively referred to as the “Aluminum
Smelters”) and Big Rivers’ other large industrial customers. Modifications to the rate structure were made and the Plan, as further amended,
was approved by the Bankruptcy Court on June 1, 1998. The KPSC issued an order dated July 14, 1998, approving the Plan as it relates to the
Lease Agreement.

Emergence from Bankruptcy:

Big Rivers’ Chapter 11 reorganization was confirmed effective July 15, 1998 (the “Effective Date”), with the closing of the Lease Agreement,
whereby Big Rivers leased its generating facilities to Western Kentucky Energy Corporation (“WKEC"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of LG&E
Energy. Pursuant to the Lease Agreement, WKEC will operate the generating facilities and maintain title to all energy produced. Throughout
the lease term, in order to fulfill Big Rivers’ obligation to supply power to its members following the Effective Date, the Company will purchase
substantially all of its power requirements from LG&E Energy Marketing Corporation (“LEM"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of LG&E Energy,
pursuant to a power purchase agreement.

Big Rivers will continue to operate its transmission facilities and will charge WKEC tariff rates for delivery of the energy produced by WKEC and
consumed by its customers. As part of the Lease Agreement, WKEC also purchased certain property, inventory and other assets necessary for
the operation of the generation facilities from Big Rivers for $35,219. In connection with the purchase of these assets, the Company recorded a
net loss of $4,004, which is reflected as a reorganization expense in the accompanying statements of revenues and expenses in 1998. The
significant terms of the Lease Agreement are as follows:

l. WKEC will lease and operate Big Rivers’ generation facilities through 2023.
Il. Big Rivers will retain ownership of the generation facilities both during and at the end of the lease term.
. WKEC will pay Big Rivers an annual lease payment of $30,965 over the lease term, subject to certain adjustments.

V. On the Effective Date, Big Rivers received $69,100 representing certain closing payments and the first two years of the annual
lease payments. In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 13, "Accounting for Leases,”
the Company will amortize these payments into lease revenue over the lease term.

V. Big Rivers will continue to provide power for its members, excluding the member loads serving the Aluminum Smelters,
through its power purchase agreements with LEM and the Southeastern Power Administration, based on a pre-determined
maximum capacity. When economically feasible, the Company may also obtain the power necessary to supply its member
loads, excluding the Aluminum Smelters, in the open market. The member loads for the Aluminum Smelters will be served by
LEM. To the extent the power purchased from LEM does not reach pre-determined minimums, the Company will be required
to pay certain penalties. Also, to the extent additional power is available to Big Rivers under the LEM contract, Big Rivers may
sell to non-members.

VI Through 2011, WKEC will reimburse Big Rivers approximately $260,668 for the margins expected from the Aluminum
Smelters, being defined as the net cash flows that Big Rivers anticipated receiving over the term of the Lease Agreement if
the Company had continued to serve the Aluminum Smelters’ load, as filed in the Rate Hearing (the “Expected Margins”).

VIIL WKEC will be responsible for the operating costs of the generation facilities; however, Big Rivers will be partially responsible
for ordinary capital expenditures of the generation facilities over the term of the Lease Agreement, up to a 49% maximum.
This maximum is not expected to exceed $148,000 over the Lease Agreement. At the end of the lease term, Big Rivers is
obligated to fund a residual value payment to LG&E Energy for such capital additions during the lease, currently estimated to
be $125,000 (see Note 2). The Company will have title to these assets during the lease and upon lease termination.
Adjustments to the residual value payment will be made based upon actual capital expenditures.

VI Big Rivers entered into a note payable with LEM for $19,676 to be repaid over the Lease Agreement, which bears interest at
8% per annum, in consideration for LEM's assumption of the risk related to unforeseen costs with respect to power to be




1. CHAPTER 11 BANKRUPTCY FILING, EMERGENCE FROM BANKRUPTCY AND CONTINGENCIES (Continued):

supplied to the Aluminum Smelters and the increased responsibility for financing capital improvements. The Company has
recorded this obligation as a component of deferred charges with the related payable recorded as long-term debt in the
accompanying balance sheets. This deferred charge will be amortized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

IX. On the Effective Date, Big Rivers paid a non-refundable marketing payment of $5,933 to LEM, which has been recorded as a
component of deferred charges. This amount will be amortized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

X. During the lease term, Big Rivers will be entitled to certain “billing credits” against amounts the Company owes to LEM under
the power purchase agreement. Each month during the first fifty-five months of the lease term, Big Rivers will receive a credit
of $89. For the year 2011, Big Rivers will receive a credit of $2,611 and for the years 2012 through 2023, the Company will
receive a credit of $4,111 annually. Big Rivers will recognize these credits as a reduction of power purchased as service is
provided.

As disclosed in the Company's 1997 audited financial statements, the Company initially anticipated recording an impairment loss related to its
generation facilities in conjunction with the consummation of the Lease Agreement, as prescribed by generally accepted accounting principles.
This impairment loss was anticipated based on the estimated fair value of Big Rivers' generation facilities from a November 1997 appraisal.
Management has since determined that, based upon a number of elements of the Plan which changed during the period from November 1997
to the Effective Date, including a new depreciation study completed in July 1998 which significantly extends the remaining service lives of Big
Rivers’ generating facilities, the fair value of Big Rivers’ generating facilities on the Effective Date was such that no impairment loss was
warranted in conjunction with the consummeation of the Lease Agreement.

As prescribed by the Plan and in conjunction with the Effective Date, Big Rivers settled the liabilities subject to compromise as recorded in the
accompanying balance sheet. Upon attaining the Effective Date, the RUS Promissory Note (see Note 4) was replaced by two separate notes.
The first note (the “New RUS Promissory Note”) represents a stated principal balance of $1,022,583, net of $78,582 paid on the Effective Date,
which bears a stated interest rate of 5.75% per annum, with a varying repayment schedule over the Lease Agreement. The second note (the
“ARVP Note"”) represents a $265,000 obligation due to the RUS at the end of the Lease Agreement, and this obligation does not bear interest.

In accordance with Statement of Position (“SOP”) 90-7, “Financial Reporting by Entities in Reorganization Under the Bankruptcy Code,” at the
Effective Date the Company was required to record its liabilities at fair value. In determining the fair value of Big Rivers’ liabilities, the Company
was required to record its long-term debt by applying a discount rate commensurate with the market rate to the future debt service payments
under the New RUS Promissory Note and the ARVP Note, regardless of the stated principal and coupon rates of the obligations. In conjunction
with recording the two separate notes on the Effective Date, the Company determined that the market rate associated with the New RUS
Promissory Note and the ARVP Note was 5.81%. In discounting the future debt service payments using the market rate, the Company recorded
a combined principal balance of $1,077,311 for the two RUS notes, net of $78,582 paid on the Effective Date, and recorded a $54,727 loss as an
extraordinary item in the accompanying statements of revenues and expenses for the year ended December 31, 1998. Additionally, this
transaction was treated as a non-cash transaction and was excluded from the accompanying statements of cash flows. Also, in conjunction with
the Plan, certain pollution control bonds (discussed herein) were secured and remarketed following the mandatory tender of the bonds by the
holders thereof. The irrevocable standby letters of credit, which were supporting the bonds held by Chase Manhattan Bank and the Bank of
New York were replaced with the bond insurance policies and standby bond purchase agreements issued by Ambac Assurance Corporation,
each dated at the Effective Date, between Big Rivers, U.S. Bank Trust National Association, as trustee, and Credit Suisse First Boston, as the
liquidity provider. In connection therewith, the Company realized cash proceeds of $14,200 and recognized an extraordinary gain in the
accompanying statements of revenues and expenses in 1998. For Big Rivers’ remaining liabilities, there were no other significant differences
between the carrying amounts and the respective fair values on the Effective Date.

In accordance with the power purchase agreement with LEM, the Company is allowed to purchase power in the open market, incurring
penalties when the power purchased from LEM does not meet certain minimum levels, and sell excess power (power not needed to supply its
jurisdictional load) in the open market (collectively referred to as “Arbitrage”). Pursuant to the New RUS Promissory Note and the ARVP Note,
the total value created by Arbitrage must be divided as follows: one-third, adjusted for member sales volume and capital expenditures, will be
used to make principal payments on the New RUS Promissory Note; one-third will be used to make principal payments on the ARVP Note; and
the remaining value may be retained by the Company.

In connection with the Chapter 11 filing and subsequent Effective Date, certain items have been segregated and presented as reorganization
expenses in the accompanying statements of revenues and expenses as costs related to transactions which were directly associated with the
Chapter 11 proceedings. Reorganization expenses for the years ended December 31, were as follows:

1999 1998 1997
Professional services $- $ 4,365 $ 6,362
Net loss on sale of property, inventory

and other assets - 4,004 -

Bankruptcy Court examiner fee - 2,300 266
Employee termination benefits - 4,979 -

Coal contract settlements - - 10,200

Other, net — 1,725 _ 1,524

$- $17,373 $18,352

During 1997, Big Rivers terminated two unfavorable coal contracts. Of the amounts settled, $6,000 was paid upon initial settlement, $2,328 in
1998, and $615 in 1999. At December 31, 1999, the Company has a remaining liability of $2,904 payable over the next nine years.

Contingencies:

The initial plan of reorganization, filed January 22, 1997, included a proposed lease agreement with PacifiCorp with terms similar in nature to the
Lease Agreement. Based on the Bankruptcy Court’s decision to award the lease agreement to WKEC, PacifiCorp and certain related entities
filed proof of claims with the Bankruptcy Court seeking damages and allowance of claims in the approximate aggregate amount of $30,709.



1. CHAPTER 11 BANKRUPTCY FILING, EMERGENCE FROM BANKRUPTCY AND CONTINGENCIES (Continued):

The Bankruptcy Court disallowed these claims, the U.S. District Court for the Western District of Kentucky affirmed this decision in 1998, and
PacifiCorp and related entities appealed this decision to the U. S. Court of Appeals. In December 1999, the Company entered into a settlement
agreement with PacifiCorp whereby Big Rivers would pay $475 to resolve all such claims.

On June 5, 1997, an examiner appointed by the Bankruptcy Court filed for a $4,410 fee. On March 26, 1999, the Company received an order
from the Bankruptcy Court entitling the examiner to receive a fee of $2,638. Management has accrued amounts under this order as a
reorganization expense for the year ended December 31, 1998. Additionally, in 1999, the Company designated $2,750 as restricted cash in the
other deposits and investments caption in the accompanying financial statements as security for the bond posted with the Bankruptcy Court,
and is required by the order to deposit an additional $300 annually as continued security. Management is appealing this order and is vigorously
defending this claim.

On April 5, 1999, the Bankruptcy Court issued a judgment disallowing a portion of the fees charged to Big Rivers by its professionals. Certain of
the professionals have appealed the decision to the federal district court. If the professionals are successful in their appeal, the Company
anticipates its liability to be limited to amounts previously billed to Big Rivers by the professionals, or approximately $670. Accordingly, the
Company has accrued these amounts in the accompanying balance sheet. If the appeals by such professionals are unsuccessful, the Company
will extinguish these recorded amounts.

2. ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES:

General Information:

Big Rivers, an electric generation and transmission cooperative, supplies the power needs of its three member distribution cooperatives
(excluding the power needs of the Aluminum Smelters) and markets power to non-member utilities and power marketers. The members
provide electric power and energy to industrial, residential and commercial customers located in portions of 22 western Kentucky counties. Big
Rivers has wholesale power contracts with each of its members which require the members to buy and receive from Big Rivers all power and
energy requirements, other than for the Aluminum Smelters as discussed in Note 1. The wholesale power contracts with the members extend
to the year 2023. Rates to Big Rivers’ members are established by the KPSC and are subject to approval by the RUS.

Use of Estimates:

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities. The estimates and assumptions used in the accompanying financial statements are based upon management’s evaluation of the

relevant facts and circumstances as of the date of the financial statements. Actual results may differ from those estimates.

System of Accounts:

Big Rivers’ accrual basis accounting policies follow the Uniform System of Accounts as prescribed by the RUS Bulletin 1767B-1, as adopted by
the KPSC. The regulatory agencies retain authority and periodically issue orders on various accounting and ratemaking matters.

Revenue Recognition:

Revenues generated from the Company’s wholesale power contracts are based on month-end meter readings and are recognized as earned. In
accordance with SFAS No. 13, Big Rivers’ lease revenue will be recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. The major
components of Big Rivers lease revenue will include the annual lease payments and the Expected Margins as discussed in Note 1.

In conjunction with the Lease Agreement, Big Rivers expects to realize the following minimum lease revenue for the years ending December 31:

Year _Amount__
2000 $ 52,150
2001 52,150
2002 52,150
2003 52,150
2004 52,150
Thereafter 775,097

$1,035,847

Utility Plant and Depreciation:

Utility plant is recorded at original cost, which includes the cost of contracted services, materials, labor, overhead and an allowance for
borrowed funds used during construction. Replacements of depreciable property units, except minor replacements, are charged to utility plant.

Allowance for borrowed funds used during construction is included on projects with an estimated total cost of $250 or more before
consideration of such allowance. The interest capitalized is determined by applying the effective rate of Big Rivers’ weighted average debt to
the accumulated expenditures for qualifying projects included in construction in progress.

Depreciation of utility plant in service is recorded using the straight-line method over the estimated remaining service lives, as approved by the
RUS. During 1996, the RUS approved new depreciation rates, which were based on the results of a depreciation study which extended the
estimated service lives of Big Rivers' utility plant. These rates were utilized from January 1995 through June 1998. During 1998, the Company
commissioned another depreciation study to again evaluate the remaining economic lives of its assets. The study received the approval of the
RUS and KPSC. As a result of the July 1998 study, the remaining service lives of the Company’s depreciable assets were further extended. The
1998 study was adopted beginning July 1, 1998.
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In accordance with the terms of the Lease Agreement, the Company records capital additions funded by LG&E Energy as utility plant, to which
the Company maintains title. A corresponding obligation to LG&E Energy is recorded for the estimated portion of these additions attributable
to the residual value payment (see Note 1). Any differences in such amounts are included as an offset to amortization expense in the
accompanying financial statements. As of December 31, 1999, the Company has recorded $11,019 for such additions in utility plant, and $2,118
as an offset to amortization expense in the accompanying financial statements.

For the three years ended December 31, the annual composite depreciation rates used to compute depreciation expense were as follows:

Period subsequent to Periods prior to

June 30,1998 July 1, 1998

Production plant 1.60-2.47 % 1.45-425%
Transmission plant 1.76-324% 249 %
General plant 1.11-562% 2.00-14.29 %

For 1999, 1998 and 1997, the average composite depreciation rates were 1.82%, 2.05% and 2.37%, respectively.

Cash and Cash Equivalents:

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, Big Rivers considers all short-term, highly-liquid investments with original maturities of three
months or less to be cash equivalents.

Other Deposits and Investments:

In 1999, the Company purchased an $8,000 National Rural Utilities Cooperative Finance Corporation medium-term note with a maturity date of
March 15, 2001. The note accrues interest at a rate of 6.47% per annum. This investment has been classified as held-to-maturity.

Patronage Capital:

As provided in the bylaws, any excess of revenues over the sum of (a) operating costs and expenses properly chargeable against the furnishing
of electric energy, and (b) amounts required to offset operating losses incurred during the current or any prior fiscal year, is capital furnished by
the patrons and credited to a capital account for each patron on a patronage basis. In accordance with the Plan, all patronage capital claims
were extinguished and discharged on the Effective Date.

Reclassifications:

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.

3. UTILITY PLANT:

The following summarizes utility plant at December 31:

1999 1998
Classified plant in service:

Electric plant - leased $1,326,889 $1,313,630
Transmission plant 191,064 188,822
General plant 13,329 14,713
Other 67 b7
1,531,349 1,517,232
Less accumulated depreciation 666,973 644,358
864,376 872,874
Construction in progress 4,074 3773
$ 868,450 $ 876,647

Interest capitalized for the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997, was not significant to the Company.



4. LONG-TERM DEBT:

Due to the underlying collateral value of the RUS Promissory Note, Big Rivers ceased accruing interest for all long-term debt effective
September 30, 1996. Subsequently, in accordance with the Plan, Big Rivers resumed recording interest on the RUS Promissory Note effective
June 9, 1997, to the extent of payments resulting from a month-end operating cash balance in excess of $10,000. Upon achieving the Effective
Date, the Company began recording interest on the RUS debt based on the fair value rate of 5.81% per annum.

Prior to the Effective Date, contractual interest related to both secured and unsecured long-term obligations not recognized as interest expense
for accounting purposes totaled $7,021 and $54,024 in 1998 and 1997, respectively.

A detail of long-term debt is as follows at December 31:

1999 1998

New RUS Promissory Note, stated interest rate of 5.75%, recorded

at fair value (Note 1), with an interest rate of 5.81%, maturing

October 2022. $ 975,389 $1,003,791
RUS ARVP Note, no stated interest rate, recorded at fair value (Note 1),

with interest imputed at 5.81%, maturing December 2023. 65,507 62,405
LEM Advances, interest rate of 6.98%, payable in

monthly installments from August 2000 through July 2003. 34,107 8,481
LEM Settlement Note, interest rate of 8.0%, payable in monthly

installments through July 2023. 19,305 19,571
County of Ohio, Kentucky, promissory note, variable interest rate

(average interest rate of 3.37% and 2.89% in 1999 and

1998 respectively), maturing in October 2015. 83,300 83,300
County of Ohio, Kentucky, promissory note, variable interest rate

(average interest rate of 3.37% and 2.89% in 1999 and

1998 respectively), maturing in June 2013. 58,800 58,800
Total long-term debt 1,236,408 1,236,348
Current maturities i 5,353 7,511
Total long-term debt, net of current maturities $1,231,055 $1,228,837

The following are estimated maturities of long-term debt at December 31:

Year Amount
2000 $ 5,353
2001 14,407
2002 15,541
2003 366
2004 1,323
Thereafter 1,199,418
$1,236,408

Pollution Control Bonds:

On October 31, 1985, the County of Ohio, Kentucky, issued $83,300 of Pollution Control Refunding Demand Bonds, Series 1985, the proceeds
of which are supported by a promissory note from Big Rivers, which bears the same interest rate as the bonds. These bonds bear interest at a
variable rate and, prior to the Effective Date, were supported by a Chase Manhattan irrevocable standby letter of credit. These bonds are dated
to mature in October 2015. Annual sinking fund payments of $5,000 are to begin October 2001.

On June 30, 1983, the County of Ohio, Kentucky, issued $58,800 of Pollution Control Bonds, Series 1983, the proceeds of which are supported
by a promissory note from Big Rivers, which bears the same interest rate as the bonds. These bonds bear interest at a variable rate and, prior to
the Effective Date, were supported by a Bank of New York irrevocable standby letter of credit. These bonds are dated to mature in June 2013.

Big Rivers’ obligations with respect to the bonds, although secured and remarketed, were not affected by the Plan. However, the irrevocable
standby letters of credit issued by the Chase Manhattan Bank and the Bank of New York were replaced on the Effective Date by two liquidity
facilities issued by Credit Suisse First Boston and municipal bond insurance policies issued by Ambac Assurance Corporation (see Note 1). Big
Rivers has agreed to reimburse Ambac Assurance Corporation for any payments under the municipal bond insurance policies or the surety
policies.

LEM Settlement Note:

On the Effective Date, Big Rivers executed the Settlement Note with LEM. The Settlement Note will require Big Rivers to pay to LEM $19,676,
plus interest at 8% per annum over the lease term. The principal and interest payment is approximately $1,822 annually. This payment is
consideration for LEM's assumption of the risk related to unforeseen costs with respect to power to be supplied to the Aluminum Smelters and
the increased responsibility for financing capital improvements. The execution of the Settlement Note was treated as a non-cash transaction
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and was excluded from the accompanying statements of cash flows in 1998.
LEM Advances:

Beginning in August 1998 (the first month after the Effective Date) and ending in July 2000, LEM will make payments totaling $50,000 to the RUS
on behalf of the Company. The Company will then make payments totaling $60,000 to LEM over the next 36 months. All payments under this
arrangement will be made on a monthly basis through July 2003. The payments made by LEM to the RUS will be applied to the New RUS
Promissory Note. The Company will also recognize interest expense over the five-year life of the LEM Advances at 6.98% per annum.

5. RATE MATTERS:

As approved by the Bankruptcy Court and the KPSC, effective September 1997, the interim rates charged to Big Rivers’ members consisted of a
billing demand charge per KW and an energy charge per kWh consumed. The interim rates of Big Rivers included specific rate designs for its
members’ two classes of customers, the large industrial customers and the rural customers under its jurisdiction. For the large industrial
customers, the demand charge is generally based on each customer’s maximum demand during the current month. The remaining customers
billing demand is based upon the maximum coincident demand of each member’s delivery points. The demand and energy charges are not
subject to adjustments for increases or decreases in fuel or environmental costs. On April 30, 1998, the KPSC modified the interim rates for the
large industrial customers. On June 1, 1998, the interim rates, as modified, were approved by the Bankruptcy Court. These rates will remain in
effect untit changed by the KPSC. The rates resulted in a significant decrease in Big Rivers' rates for wholesale electric service to its members
from the rates in effect prior to the Chapter 11 filing.

Pursuant to the Lease Agreement, LEM will supply the energy necessary to comply with the Oglethorpe Power Corporation ("Oglethorpe
Power”) and the two Hoosier Energy Rural Electric Company (“Hoosier Energy”) contracts. In turn, Big Rivers will remit the net revenues from
the contracts to LEM. The Oglethorpe Power contract originated in August 1992 for the sale of 103 MW of power for ten years. The first of the
Hoosier Energy contracts is for the sale of 65 MW of capacity during a three-month summer period through the year 2000. The second Hoosier
Energy contract was a peaking power contract varying from 10 MW in 1993 to 170 MW in 1999. This contract was for the summer months of
June through September of each calendar year.

In accordance with the Lease Agreement, LG&E Energy will operate certain generating facilities owned by the City of Henderson, Kentucky {the
"City”) which were operated by Big Rivers prior to the Effective Date, pursuant to certain lease contracts between the City and Big Rivers. The
Company will retain the obligation to provide transmission services under these contracts.

6. INCOME TAXES:

Big Rivers was initially formed as a tax-exempt cooperative organization under section 501(c)(12) of the Internal Revenue Code. To retain tax-
exempt status under this section of the Internal Revenue Code, at least 85% of Big Rivers’ receipts must be generated from transactions with the
Company’s members. In 1983, sales to non-members resulted in Big Rivers being unable to meet the 85% requirement. In a letter dated March
23, 1984, the Internal Revenue Service notified Big Rivers that effective for 1983 and subsequent years, the Company would be considered a
taxable organization until such year that sales to members would satisfy the 85% requirement and Big Rivers formally reapplies for tax-exempt
status. Big Rivers is also subject to Kentucky income tax.

Under the provisions of SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” Big Rivers is required to record deferred tax assets and liabilities for
temporary differences between amounts reported for financial reporting purposes and amounts reported for income tax purposes. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are determined based on these temporary differences using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which these
differences are expected to reverse.

At December 31, 1999 and 1998, Big Rivers had deferred tax assets of $399,868 and $462,348, respectively, which primarily relate to a tax credit
and net operating losses. At December 31, 1999, the tax credit and net operating losses amounted to $1,173 and $965,466, and the tax credit
expires in 2000. The non-member portion of the net operating losses expire in 2000 through 2018. Additionally, at December 31, 1999 and
1998, Big Rivers had deferred tax liabilities of $241,204 and $246,862, respectively, which primarily relate to depreciation differences on utility
plant. At December 31, 1999 and 1998, Big Rivers did not anticipate utilization of a portion of the deferred tax assets, thus a valuation allowance
was established of $158,664 and $215,486, respectively.

7. POWER PURCHASED:

In accordance with the Lease Agreement, Big Rivers supplies all of the members’ requirements for power to serve their customers other than
the Aluminum Smelters. Contract limits were established in the Lease Agreement and include minimum and maximum hourly and annual
power purchase amounts. Big Rivers has the right to elect to reduce the contract limits to a certain amount. Big Rivers cannot reduce the
contract limits by more than 12 MW in any year, or by more than a total of 72 MW over the lease term. In the event Big Rivers fails to take the
minimum requirement during any hour or year, Big Rivers will be liable to LEM for a certain percentage of the difference between the amount of
power actually taken and the applicable minimum requirement.

Although Big Rivers will be required by the Lease Agreement to purchase minimum hourly and annual amounts of power from LEM, the lease
does not prevent Big Rivers from paying the associated penalty in certain hours to purchase lower cost power, if available, in the open market or
reselling a portion of its purchased power to a third party.

8. PENSION PLANS:

Big Rivers has non-contributory defined benefit pension plans covering substantially all employees who meet minimum age and service
requirements. The plans provide benefits based on the participants’ years of service and the five highest consecutive years’ compensation
during the last ten years of employment. Big Rivers’ policy is to fund such plans in accordance with the requirements of the Employee
Retirement Income Security Act of 1974.
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In conjunction with the Lease Agreement, approximately 550 of the Company’s employees were effectively terminated and transferred to WKEC
on the Effective Date. Terminated employees will or have received distributions in the amount of their respective vested benefits. In 1998, the
Company recognized a curtailment loss of $2,086 which was recorded as a reorganization expense in the accompanying statements of revenues
and expenses.

The following is an assessment of the Company’s non-contributory defined benefit pension plans at December 31:

1999 1998
Projected benefit obligation $ 8,038 $ 9,700
Fair value of plan assets 7,027 10,005
Funded status $ (1,011) $§ 305
Prepaid (unfunded) accrued pension cost $ 610 ;5 1,088

Net periodic pension costs, which are calculated based on actuarial assumptions at January 1, were as follows for the years ended December

31:

1999 21998 1997
Benefit cost $ 478 $ 1,686 $3,592
Curtailment cost - 2,086 969
Employer contribution - 5,300 3,831
Benefits paid or transferred 2,848 29,357 5,810

Assumptions used to develop the projected benefit obligation were:

1999 1998 1997
Discount rates 7.0% 7.0% 7.5%
Rates of increase in compensation levels 40 40 4.0
Expected long-term rate of return on assets 8.5 8.5 8.5

9. POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS:

Big Rivers provides certain postretirement medical benefits for retired employees and their spouses. Big Rivers pays 80% of the cost from age
62 to 65 for all employees. For salaried employees who retired prior to December 31, 1993, from age 65, Big Rivers pays 100% of Medicare
supplemental costs. For salaried employees who retire after December 31, 1993, the paid Medicare supplemental was eliminated.

The discount rate used in computing the postretirement obligation for 1999 and 1998 was 7.0%. A health care cost trend rate of 8.0% in 1999
declining to 5.5% in 2004 was utilized. The health care cost trend rate assumption had a significant effect on the amounts reported, resulting in
an unrecognized net gain of $1,196 in 1999.

The following is an assessment of the Company’s postretirement plan at December 31:

19992 1998 _
Total benefit obligation $(2,770) $(2,218)
Unfunded accrued postretirement cost (3,536) (3,536)

The components of net periodic postretirement benefit costs for the years ended December 31 were as follows:

1999 1998 1997
Benefit cost §196 $436 $719
Benefits paid 209 389 142

As noted above, approximately 550 employees were transferred to WKEC in conjunction with the Lease Agreement, and in conjunction
therewith, the Company transferred to WKEC the postretirement liability for these employees. During 1998, the Company recognized a
curtailment gain of $2,753 which was principally offset by the realization of the previously unrecognized transition obligation related to these
employees totaling $2,538.

In addition to the postretirement plan discussed above, in 1992 Big Rivers began a postretirement benefit plan which vests a portion of accrued
sick leave benefits to salaried employees upon retirement or death. To the extent an employee's sick leave hour balance exceeds 480 hours,
such excess hours are paid at 20% of the employee’s base hourly rate at the time of retirement or death. The accumulated obligation recorded
for the postretirement sick leave benefit is $114 and $101 at December 31, 1999 and 1998, respectively, and the postretirement expense
recorded was $14, $51 and $61 for 1999, 1998 and 1997, respectively.



10. RELATED PARTIES AND MAJOR CUSTOMERS:

~ Operating Revenues

1999 1998 1997
Members:
Kenergy Corporation $ 81,349 $145,792 $205,622
Jackson Purchase Electric Cooperative
Corporation 22,540 22,247 23,136
Meade County Rural Electric Cooperative
Corporation 13,290 12,618 12,978
Non-members 24,739 45,742 62,452
Lease revenue 54,265 24,247 -
Other revenue 8,376 3,908 438
$204,559 $254,554 $304,626

In July 1999, Green River Electric Corporation and Henderson Union Electric Cooperative merged forming a single member doing business as
Kenergy Corporation. All sales to the two former members are reflected as sales to Kenergy Corporation.

At December 31, 1999 and 1998, Big Rivers had accounts receivable from its members of $10,127 and $10,142, respectively.

1. SUBSEQUENT EVENT:

The Company completed a sale-leaseback of two of its utility plants, including the related facilities and equipment, on April 18, 2000. The sale-
leaseback provides Big Rivers a fixed price purchase option at the end of each plant’s lease term (25 and 27 years), if Big Rivers elects to
exercise it.

This transaction will be recorded as a financing for financial reporting purposes and a sale for Federal income tax purposes. In connection
therewith, Big Rivers received approximately $867,000 of proceeds and incurred approximately $803,000 of related obligations. Pursuant to a
payment undertaking agreement with a financial institution, Big Rivers effectively extinguished approximately $656,000 of these obligations with
an equivalent portion of the proceeds. Also, the Company purchased two investments approximating $147,000, equivalent to the remaining
portion of the obligations and the fixed price purchase option. The Company will report these amounts as investments and obligations for
financial accounting purposes. The approximate $64,000 net cash benefit to Big Rivers will be deferred and amortized over the respective lease
terms. Big Rivers will apply this cash benefit to the New RUS Promissory Note.
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ration and transmission cooperative (GQ&T) that provides

to its four member distribution syst rmi Those mﬂmb@’ own

ic Corporation in Owensboro; Her KJC-‘NOH Union

Coopera nergy Corporation in Paducah; and Meade q:vumy

Rural Ele operative Corporation in Brandenburg. These four serve approximatety 97,000
member consumers in 22 counties in western Kentucky

wholes J|'3 e 'C' tric ser

ers are Green River Elect

tive In Henderson, Jackson Purchase E

Ctric (

RBig Rivers began & process in 1994 1o find a permanent sclution 1o an imm i w icial crisis. In

the two years le sz, up to September 19906, Its careful evaluatior of many alte s led Big
RIVETS [0 PIck a partner that would lease the generating plants and, in wimn, sell w ,; esale power

D; “k to It. Because of impending defat "r on its long-term debt obligations, troublesome 1

and the s_!h—buruet some coal contracts, on September 25, 1996, Big Rivers filed a \./o\ur'w[;m/ perition

or relief under Chapter 11 t_)aﬂKrup:cy

During the bankruptcy, LEC emerged as the new partner of Big Rivers. On June 9, 1997,
uptcy court confirm ied the Plan pr gelele; Sed by Big Rivers, and on June 1, 1998, approve \J m

lons to the 4,.,,\ Tn::* KPSC approved the Plan and the final new rate schedule that res

rcd 1IN rates on July 14, On July 17, Big Rivers and LEC closed the transaction that

l"w the transaction with LEC JU Rivers leases, but continues to own, its 1,459 MW of generating
capacity at three sites. In addition, Big Rivers assigns its capacity rignts to approximately another /‘40
\)</ in the Henderson w\/zm‘.;upf;f. Power and Lights Station Two facility. For these rights, LEC i

monthly lease payments to Big Rivers and owns the output of the generating facilities through 2 )2

1

D
L

fhrough a Purchase Power Agreement (PFA] In effect through 2023, Big Rivers purchases power
from LEC at fixed rates in amounts within certain hOWU\?(LU(_I“)“LSLBULSHE‘U minimum and maximum
nourly and annual quuu-'t‘es Big Rivers also continues to purchase a contracted amount of power
om tne SERFA. Big Rivers will satisfy any future needs for additional power from the wholesale

rmarker or orhe f"'aff_J—.Jr.rW/ arrangements. Big Rivers may also sell to third parties any power
an contractually purchase from LEC

Artimpaortant ¢ .:.h.qw going forward for Big Rivers is the "sale” to LEC of the wholesale power
:-ng‘;,“-r:w.e s obligaton to st _JDpOI t retall service to the two aluminum smelters. This was accom-

rporaton and Henderson Union Electric Cooperative. The two smelters nad
()lﬂ«'.@u.\iy ,:_)' “u?-;-mee:l c;_)i_J.\ ximately 56 percent of the
energy sold by Big Rivers 1o its members

plished I by amet me s to the "ai\ requirements” wholesale power contracts of Big Rivers” members

Green River E

TERMINOLOGY REFERENCE GUIDE
A significant benefit of the Man for Big Rivers was the | ECAR: East Central Area Rehability Council
restructuring of the Rural Utlities Service (RUS) debt FERC: Federal Energy Regulatory Commission
The effective interest rate on the approximately S1.1 G&T: Generation & Transmission Cooperative
billion debr nas been reduced from 8 0 percent o 5.8 KPSC: Kentucky Public Service Commission
percent, with the term o:’ the obligation extended Leaseco: Western Kentucky Leasing Corp

from 2018 to 2023. Tris debt restructuring results in | LEC: LG&E Energy Corp.
an annualized reduction ol $24 l":"Hu N N interest LEM: LG&E Markeung, Inc
expense. Big Rivers still ret ally the same NERC: Nauonal Electric Reliabihty Council

abligations on its other ot \dina ¢ EDT,, S 147 1 mik- The Plan: Plan ol Reorganization

lion N poliution control bonds PC Bonds: Pollution Control Bonds
PPA: Purchase Power Agreement

RUS: Rural Utihtes Service

SEPA: Southeastern Power Admmustration

WKEC: Western Kentucky Energy Corp

Y2K: Year 2000
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or Big Rivers’
structure, the “switch is on™ is an apt description far 1998 From an organization of
"war!/ 200 employees to one of less than ‘Ou, Big Rivers was significantly changed in
operational charactenstucs and overall business culture. Gone were coal purchas ower plant
operations and the inherent accompanying risks. Retained were ransmission ops m"'m; power
supply abligations to the member systerns and services to the members. New was the culture of
a leaner organization dedicated to being customer driven. It was a major transition to create Jw
switch. Witk tion production responsibllities, the
number of departments was reduced from seven to five The remaining five departments were
restruct ’ed to reflect the new organization, Those five are system operations, power supply,

he elimination of fuel purchases and genera

finance and administrative services, contract administration and regulatory affairs, and marketing.
Four of the five departments are headed by new vice presmm\,s, who bring with them a weailth
of qualifications and experience In their respective areas.

erations Is the departmen

L

System C anged the least as Big
Rivers retained the operating responsibilities for its 1, 190-mile transmission

systern. Not *'*'v does it provide ransrmission senvices 1o the four rmember
systerns and third-party users, It also contracts with LEC to provide services

on the power plants” interfaces with the ransmission System
All but approximately 80 miles of transmission line s either ar 69 kV or 161

KV The mr ISMISSIoN system nnected to 79 substations owned by the

member systerms and It interconnects with seven surrounding utlities

ar 15 locations. Big Rivers has an open access transmission tanft filed wath
RC) Federal Energy Regulatory Commission and the KPSC

four an

TRrAvVIS HOUSLEY
There are 54 @mp‘u,'ees utilized in the operaton, maintenance and con VP OF SYSTEM
struction projects for the rransmission syst Ihe orgarnization has a waork OPERATIONS
plan that will keep (".t" S‘/<'”H prepared for the growth of the member sys-

rems an <'J the required needs o* third-party users. In focusing on the future, Em Rivers has pu

cial emphasis on cost-effective reliability, st 7 spedifiic goals with each member system, In addi
tion, B Riv orks closely with the East Central Area Reliability (ECAR| Cw Ncil Lo ensure coordina-

d strengthened reliability of both Big Rivers and the regional grid. ECAR,
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Under the PPA parameters, Big Rivers can purchase and resell the power 1t does not need when it
Is economically viable to do so. It can also purchase power from other sources whern the same
economic viability exists. The benefits of such "arbirage” transactions were not included in the Plan
because the future value of the bene fit is unknown and unpredictable To the extent those efforts
are successiul, however, they offer additional financial strength to Big 1€|vcrs The net proceeds
from arbitrage sales are divided between D’|g Rivers (one-third) and RUS (two-thirds) in order to

accelerate debt service paymenis.

here are contract limits on the purchases from both LEC and SEPA. As memiber systermn require-
ments growy, other rescurces will be needed. To that end, in 1999, Big Rivers will dev~lor> a power
requirements study and integrated resource plan to map out directions 1o meet those needs effi-
ciently and economicaily

As a downsized organization, Big Rivers was able to reduce the number
of departments from seven to five, Part of that reduction was the combi-
nation of the Finance and Corporate Services Departments. This consoli-
dared 'mpa Tment was impacted the most by tne implementation of the
LEC rransaction, as it was involved with the transferral of 480 employees
) LEC and significant financial accounting issues to refiect the new
organization on Big Rivers” books

Helping to improve the financial picture of Big Rivers is the annual $35
- =]} ise and the transmission use payments essentially resolving

MARK HITE the historical excess capacity concerns. Further, although the obligation

VP OF FINANCE & ters” power requirements has shifted to LEC, Big Rivers
ADMINISTRATIVE retains e expected margins as though it had continued to supply them

SERVICES

milhon LEC les

ro serve the smi

In additon to the previously mentioned RUS debt restructuring, Big
jJatons on s S142 1 million of pollution control (PC) bonds, while secured and remarket
essentially unaffected by the reorganization. Moodys Investors Service and Standard and
e assigned investment grade ratings of “Baa3” and "BBB-", respectively, to Big Rivers’ PC

bond reimbursement obligations

Rivers” oblic

For its LEC lease, Big Rivers follows the lease accounting prescribed by Statement of Financial
ccounting Standards Nos. 13 and 98. As the lease involves redl estate and no ransfer of owner-
ship at the end of the lease term, the lease 1S properly accounted for as an operating lease rather

than a capiial lease,

A new depreciation study, completed in 1998, has been approved by the RUS and awaits KPSC
appraval. As a result, the remaining service lives of the utility plant in service on December 31,

1998, were significantly exiended and depreciation reduced to $28.1 milion annually, refles
$9 8 million decreas

roughnt to the forefront in 1998 for all busu’uﬁsw Big Rivers provides informa-
S 1o ot iself and its four member systems, Working closely with the
Il iNto making the necessary meom and updates to keep their
1l other functions ready for the next century. In addition, as previ-
S r(»or'dlrw;-wm closely with ECAR 1o address YZK concerns in the area

ing with LEC and other vendors to address any other criucal

]

rega M’J\.w Y/K

Consldering the s “which occurred July 15, 1998, and because the financial stacements
accompanying tnis annual report do not reflect operations for the “new” Big Rivers, |’>lf:'1<e focus on
the two pie charts depicting the 1999 budgeted revenues and expenses, as shown en the nexi
the 1999 budgeted loss is $3.4 million. Our incr g member sales volume

o more reasons for our optmism about Big Rivers'

page. As illustrated




1999 BUDGETED REVENUES
(THOUSANDS OF DOLLARS)

Other $1.569 or 0 8%

Interest income

$492 or 0 3%

Lease Income

$52.148 ar
27 6%

Member Sales
$117.883 or 62 3%

Non-Member Sales
$17.049 or 9 0%

Total Revenues of $189.141

1999 BUDGETED EXPENSES
(THOUSANDS OF DOLLARS)

A&G/Other
$8.079 or 4 2%

Depreciation and
Amortzation

Property Taxes $28,674 or 14 9%

S1 908 or 1 0%
Transmission O&M

7$4.907 or 2 5%

Interest on
Long-Term Debt

374,855 38 9% Purchased Power

574,101 or 38 5%

Total Expenses of $192,534
*Includes July 14. 1998 Depreciation Study

The 1999 budgeted statement of operations is illustrated by the two pie charts of revenues and

expenses. The expense chart includes the previously-mentioned depreciation study.

ELECTRIC UTILITY PLANT ASSETS
.

YOO ] A Q

\RS)

(THOUSANDS OF

Other
$5.729 or 0 74%

Transmisston
$120,732 or 13.9%

Production
$745,129 or 85 4%

e Net of Accumulated Depreciation of $644,358
o Includes the July 14, 1998 Depreciation Study
e Excludes Construction Work in Progress of $3,772




OWNED ELECTRIC GENERATION

NET CaAPACITY COMMERCIAL

FACILITIES TyPeE OF FUEL (M/) OPERATION DATE
Kenneth C. Coleman Plant

Unit 1 Coal 150 1969

Unit 2 Coal 150 1970

Unit 3 Coal 155 1972
Robert D. Green Plant

Unit 1 Coal 231 1979

Unit 2 Coal 223 1981
Robert A. Reid Plant

Unit 1 Coal 65 1966

Combustion Turbine Qil 65 1976
D.B. Wilson Unit No. 1 Coal 420 1986
Total 1.459

Although leased to LEC, Big Rivers continues to own its 1,459 megawatts of electric generating
facilities, as described above.

MEMBER WHOLESALE POWER SALES

(MEGAWATT-HOURS)
W Rural B Large Industrial

3,000,000 : ) -

2,500,000

2,000,000 -+ =

1,500,000

1,000,000

500,000 -
0 |
1994 1995 1996 1997 1998

| Rural 1,571,691 1,665,310 | 1,728,687 } 1,758,398 | 1,861,051 |
Large Industrial 907,639, 1,019,130 | 1,092,611 | 1,258,705 1,427,793;‘
Total | 2,479,330 | 2,684,440 | 2,821,298 3,017,103 | 3,288,844 |

Excludes sales to aluminum smelters.




MEMBER WHOLESALE POWER RATES
(DOLLARS/MEGAWATT-HOURS)

$40.00
1$30.00
$20.00

-$10.00

- $0.00

1994 1995 1996 PQW 1998
W Rural $45.58 | $44.76 $4272 $40.17
W Large Industrial  $38.72 $37.27 | $35.35 $32.43 | $30.70

W Average 1 $43.07  $41.92 $39.87 $36.94 $34.11

Excludes sales to aluminum smelters.

Big Rivers’ wholesale rates to its members average 3.4 cents/kWh. As illustrated, rates have con-
tinued to decline the past four years, while sales 1o members have increased at an annual com-
pound rate of 7.3 percent, 4.3 percent for rural loads and 12.0 percent for industrial loads.
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In the restructuring of Big Rivers, the retained function of marketing was
ﬂiﬁv( i to the level of a de partment. While tis depa .\mH'_ s involved
with the marketing and image building of Big Rivers, the bulk of its
efforts is in \workmr with the member systems in building and strength
ening relationships with their residential and commerclal/industrial cus-
tomers, Marketing has taken on an added focus with the member sys-
tems, especially in light of the potential restructuring of the electric utlity
industry. To that end, a marketing strategic plan was developed at the
end of 1998 by the member systems and Big Rivers

To further that plan, Big Rivers and its members have become part of
RICHARD BECK the Touchstone® wergy partners. This is an alliance of more than 500

VP OF MARKETING 'ural electric cooperatves across the coun iy Lo promote the DP', fits of
the cooperatively-owned bmr“o o. electricity and other services. The

~of Human Connectior a powerful approach to the opportt Jf,:[ es created by custome

e within the electric utility industry

new "in 1998 with a change in its logo and the roll out of The
( hoosing net to change IS name, rather Big Rivers changed its look to

e new nature of tne organ
Pt 4

ers faced the possibility of no future. High debt service, high coal costs,
rates had all combined to paint a bleak picture for its future. Thanks to the
1, member Syt ors and others, Big Rivers avercame those chal-

it Big Rivers, the switch Is on; there is a new attitude, a new vision, and a new look

deed see a tuture

lzaron

ms, staff, cre

SEATED LEFT TO RIGHT: DR. H.M. “B0O” SMITH; DICK WILSON; AND JOHN MYERS,
SECRETARY-TREASURER. STANDING LEFT TO RIGHT: DR. JAMES SI1LLS, VICE CHAIR;
LEE BEARDEN; JiM MOUNTS; JOSEPH HAMILTON:; AND WILLIAM C. DENTON, CHAIR.
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Report of Independent Public Accountants

To the Board of Directors of
Big Rivers Electric Corporation:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Big Rivers Electric Corporation (Big Rivers, a Kentucky corporation) as of December 31, 1998
and 1997, and the related statements of revenues and expenses, equities (deficit) and cash flows for the period ended July 14, 1998 (pre-confirma-
tion), the period ended December 31, 1998 (post-confirmation) and for the two years in the period ended December 31, 1997. These financial

statements are the responsibility of Big Rivers” management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our
audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and the standards for financial audits contained in
Government Auditing Standards (1994 Revision), issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. These standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Big Rivers as of
December 31, 1998 and 1997, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 1998, in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles

As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, effective July 15, 1998, Big Rivers emerged from bankruptcy and adopted a new basis of
accounting whereby all liabilities were adjusted to their estimated fair values. Accordingly, the financial statements for periods subsequent to the

confirmation of the reorganization are not comparable to the financial statements presented for prior periods.

As explained in Note 2 to the financial statements, for the year ended December 31, 1996, Big Rivers discontinued the accounting principles pre-
scribed by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 71, "Accounting for the Effects of Certain Types of Regulation.”

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued reports dated March 26, 1999, on our consideration of Big Rivers’ inter-

nal control structure and compliance with laws and regulations.

Little Rock, Arkansas,
March 26, 1999



ASSETS

Utility plant, net
Deferred charges
Other deposits and investments, at cost

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable
Fuel inventory
Non-fuel inventory
Prepaid expenses
Total current assets

EQUITIES [DEFICIT) AND LIABILITIES

Capitalization:
Equities (deficit)
Liabilities subject to compromise
Long-term debt
Other long-term obligations
Total capitalization

Current liabilities:
Current maturities of long-term obligations and
liabilities subject to compromise
Purchased power payable
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Total current habilities

Deferred credits and other
Deferred lease revenue
Other
Total deferred credits and other

Commitments and contingencies

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of these balance sheets

BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION

BALANCE SHEETS
AS OF DECEMBER 31

[Dollars in thousands)

1998

S 875362
32,651

8,973

32,016
13,614

546
.38
47557

S 964,543

$ (359,957

1,228,837
2,504
871,784

8,062
10,903
4,441

— . hdife
30,678

54.652
i
62,081

S 964,543

o I A3 AR

AP
S 914,429

6,067

14,861
27875
%527
15,672

75,930

S 996,426

$ (292,553
1,250,677
4,449
962,573

—

153
743
16,355
2799
28,050

5,803
5,803

S 996,426



Operating revenue
Lease revenue
Total operating revenues
Operating expenses.
Operations:
Fuel for electric generation
Power purchased and interchanged
Production, excluding fuel
Other
Maintenance
Depreciation
Total operating expenses

Electric operating margins
Interest expense and other:
Interest
Other, net

Total interest expense and other

Operating (loss) margin before non-operating
(loss) margin and extraordinary (loss) gain, net

Non-operating (loss) margin
Reorganization expenses
Interest income and other
lotal nor-operating loss
Net loss before extraordinary (loss) gain

Extraordinary (loss) gain, net (Notes 1 and 2)

Net (loss) margin

BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION

STATEMENTS OF REVENUES AND EXPENSES

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 3

!

(Dollars in thousands)

1998

$230,307
24,247
254,554

51,876
59,586
19,684

8,600
19,764
31,032

190,542

64,012
75,021

(184)
74,837

(10,825

(17,373)
1,321
[16,052)
(26,877)
(40,527

S (67,404

1997 1996
$304,626 $321,988
304,626 321,988
92,966 109,695
44,916 45,864
33,409 36,818
13,997 18,506
33,125 27,913
35,860 36,141
254,273 274,937
50,353 47.051
41,272 70,041
(192) (9,659
41,080 60,382
9,273 (13,331)
(18.352) (10,335
1,025 1,296
(17.327) (9,039
(8,054) (22,370)
- 31,244
$ (8,054] $ 8,874

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of these statements.



BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION
STATEMENTS OF EQUITIES (DEFICIT]
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31
(Dollars in thousands)

Other equities

Consumers’
Total Donated contributions
equities Accumulated Patronage capital and to
(deficit) deficit capital memberships debt service
Balance at December 31, 1995 5{293,373) $(425.739) $ 127,921 $764 $3.681
Margins for 1996:

Operating {13:331} (13,331} - - -

Non-operating (2.039) (9,039) -

Extraordinary gain (Note 2} 31,244 31,244 - - -
Balance at December 31, 1996 (284,499 (416,865] 127,921 764 3,681
Margins for 1997: LA

Operating 9273 9.273 - =

Non-operating (1:7.327] (17,327) - - -
Balance at December 31, 1997 [292,553) [424,919) (27 521 764 3,681

Margins for 1998:
Forgiveness of patronage

capital allocations (Note 3) : 127,921 (127,921) - -
Operating (10,825) (10,825) - - -
Non-operating (16,052) (16,052) :
Extraordinary loss, net (Note 1] (40,527) (40,527) = = -
Balance at December 31, 1998 $(359,957) $(364,402) S $764 53,681

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of these statements.




BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31

(Dollars in thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net (loss) margin
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) margin to net cash
provided by (used in] operating activities:
Non-cash extraordinary loss (gain), net (Notes 1 and 2]
Non-cash reorganization expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Net change in balancing account
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Deferred charges
Other deposits and investments
Accounts receivable
Fuel inventory
Non-fuel inventory
Prepaid expenses
Other long-term obligations
Purchased power payable
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Deferred lease revenue
Other, net
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities.
Proceeds from sale of assets in conjunction with Lease
Agreement
Capital expenditures, net
Net cash provided by (used In) investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:
(Decrease) increase in liabilities subject to compromise
Principal payments on long-term obligations
Increase in LEM Advances
Net cash {used in) provided by financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

Supplemental Cash Flow Information

Cash paid relating to interest

1998

$(67,404)

54727
4,004
175

(13,820)
(2,9006)
14,261

2,524
446
(1,381)
(2,147)
10,160

(11,914)
(2,527)
54,652

1,626

74,426

35,919
(4,458

346

(7,412)
(89,653)
8,333

(88,732)

A

14,861

$ 32,016

SR,

1997
$ (8,054

40,542
(39,257)

(1,404)
(3,714)
(4,623)
31
1,689
5,602
743
423
3,735

(577)
(4,864]

(4,4%7_)
4,437)

15,728

15,728
6,427
8,434

$ 14,861

$ 36,918

1996
$ 8,874

(31,244)
4,210

32,513

(38,344

63
7,619
8,053

(857
(1,529

(7,218

(214)

(3,395)
121,469)

(5,259
(5,259
25,039

25,039
(1,689)
10,123

S 8434

$ 48,420

The accompanying notes to financial statements are an integral part of these statements



BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 1998
(Dollars in thousands)

1. CHAPTER 11 BANKRUPTCY FILING, EMERGENCE FROM BANKRUPTCY AND CONTINGENCIES:

Chapter 11 Bankruptcy Filing

On September 25, 1996, Big Rivers Electric Corporation (Big Rivers or the Company) filed a voluntary petition for relief under Chapter 11 of the
United States Bankruptcy Code (hereinafter referred to as Chapter 11) and the Company began operating as a debtor-in-possession under the
supervision of the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Western District of Kentucky (the Bankruptcy Court). Big Rivers believed it was necessary
to file Chapter 11 in order to, amang other reasons, (a) restructure its debt obligations, upon which the Company would otherwise default in the
near term; (b} relieve the Company of severely burdensome long-term coal contracts; (¢) receive judicial approval in conjunction with consummat-
ing a long-term lease transaction involving the generation assets of Big Rivers; (d) sufficiently resolve other alleged claims, suits and liabilities assert:
ed against Big Rivers such that the rearganized Company could emerge from Chapter 11 able to repay its restructured debt and (e] implement its
reorganization in a timely manner. On January 22, 1997, Big Rivers filed a plan of reorganization with the Bankruptcy Court (the Plan). The Plan,
further amended on April 18, 1997, was approved by substantially all creditors and rate payer constituents of Big Rivers and was confirmed by the
Bankruptcy Court on June 9, 1997. On June 30, 1997, the Company filed an application with the Kentucky Public Service Commission (the KPSC
for an order approving various components of the Plan (the Rate Hearing). In particular, the Company requested approval for the leasing of its
generation assets and the related energy to certain affiliates of LG&E Energy Corporation (LG&E Energy) (the Lease Agreement). The KPSC
approved the Lease Agreement in principle on April 30, 1998, pending the revision of the rates associated with National Southwire Aluminum
Company (NSA) and Alcan Aluminum Corporation (Alcan) (collectively referred to as the Aluminum Smelters) and Big Rivers” other large industrial
customers. Modifications to the rate structure were made and the Plan, as further amended, was approved by the Bankruptcy Court on June 1,
1998. The KPSC issued an order dated July 14, 1998, approving the Plan as it relates to the Lease Agreement.

Emergence from Bankruptcy:

Big Rivers” Chapter 11 recrganization was confirmed effective July 15, 1998 (the Effective Date), with the closing of the Lease Agreement, wheret
Big Rivers will lease its generating facilities to Western Kentucky Energy Corporation (WKEC), a wholly-owned subsidiary of LG&E Energy.  Pursuan
to the Lease Agreement, WKEC will operate the generating facilities and maintain title to all energy produced. Throughout the lease term, in orde
to fulfill Big Rivers’ obligation to supply power to its members following the Effective Date, the Company will substantially purchase its power
requirements from LG&E Energy Marketing Corporation (LEM), a wholly-owned subsidiary of LG&E Energy, pursuant to a power purchase agree-
ment. Big Rivers will continue to operate its transmission facilities and will charge WKEC tariff rates for delivery of the energy produced and con-
sumed by WKEC and its customers. As part of the Lease Agreement, WKEC also purchased certain property, inventory and other assets necessary
for the operation of the generation facilities from Big Rivers for $35,919. In connection with the purchase of these assets, the Company recorded
a net loss of $4,004 which is reflected as a reorganization expense in the accompanying statements of revenues and expenses. The significant
terms of the Lease Agreement are as follows:

! WKEC will lease and operate Big Rivers' generation facilities for a 25-year term, beginning on the Effective Date

Il Big Rivers will retain ownership of the generation facilities at the end of the lease term.

il WKEC will pay Big Rivers an annual lease payment of $30,965 over the lease term, subject to certain adjustments.

V. On the Effective Date, Big Rivers received $69, 100 representing certain closing payments and the first two years of the annual
lease payments. In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 13, Accounting for Leases, the
Company will amortize these payments into lease revenue over the lease term.

vV Big Rivers will continue to provide power for its members, excluding the member loads serving the Aluminum Smelters, through
the power purchase agreement with LEM, based on a pre-determined maximum capacity. When possible, the Company may
also obtain the power necessary to supply its member loads, excluding the Aluminum Smelters, in the open market. The mem-
ber loads for the Aluminum Smelters will be served by LEM. To the extent the power purchased from LEM does not reach pre-
determined minimums, the Company will be required to pay certain penalties. Also, to the extent additional power is available
to Big Rivers under the LEM contract, Big Rivers may also sell to non-members.

VI, Through 2011, WKEC will reimburse Big Rivers approximately $260,668 for the “expected margins” of the Aluminum Smelters,
being defined as the net cash flows that Big Rivers would have received over the term of the Lease Agreement if the Company
had continued to serve the Aluminum Smelters’ load, as filed in the Rate Hearing (the Expected Margins).

VI WKEC will be responsible for the operating costs of the generation facilities; however, Big Rivers will be partially responsible for
ordinary capital expenditures of the generation facilities over the term of the Lease Agreement, up to a 49% maximum, as
defined. This maximum is not expected to exceed $ 148,000 over the Lease Agreement.

VIl Big Rivers entered into a note payable with LEM for $19,676 to be repaid over the Lease Agreement, which bears interest at 8%
per annum, in consideration for LEMs assumption of the risk related to unforeseen costs with respect to power to be supplied to
the Aluminum Smelters and the increased responsibility for financing capital improvements. The Company has recorded this
obligation as a component of deferred charges with the related payable recorded as long-term debt in the accompanying bal-
ance sheets. This deferred charge will be amortized straight-line over the lease term.

IX. On the Effective Date, Big Rivers paid a non-refundable marketing payment of $5,933 to LEM, which has been recorded as a
component of deferred charges. This amount will be amortized straight-line over the lease term.
X During the lease term, Big Rivers will be entitled to certain “billing credits” against amounts the Company owes to LEM under

the power purchase agreement. Each month during the first fifty-five months of the lease term, Big Rivers will receive a credit of
$89. For the year 2011, Big Rivers will receive a credit of $2,611 and for the years 2012 through 2023, the Company will
receive a credit of $4,111 annually. Big Rivers will recognize these credits as a reduction of power purchased as service is
provided

As disclosed in the Company’s 1997 audited financial statements, the Company initially anticipated recording an impairment loss related to its ger
eration facilities in conjunction with the consummation of the Lease Agreement, as prescribed by generally accepted accounting principles. This
impairment loss was anticipated due to the estimated fair value of Big Rivers’ generation facilities based on a November 1997 appraisal.
Management has since determined that, based upen a number of elements of the Plan which changed during the period from November 1997
to the Effective Date, including a new depreciation study completed in July 1998 which significantly extends the remaining service lives of Big
Rivers” generating facilities, the fair value of Big Rivers” generating facilities on the Effective Date was such that no impairment loss was warrantec
IN conjunction with the consummation of the Lease Agreement.



16 CHAPTER 11 BANKRUPTCY FILING, EMERGENCE FROM BANKRUPTCY AND CONTINGENCIES (Continued):

As prescribed by the Plan and in conjunction with the Effective Date, Big Rivers settled the liabilities subject to compromise as recorded in the
accompanying balance sheet. Upon attaining the Effective Date, the Rural Utilities Service (RUS) Promissory Note (see Note 6) was replaced by two
separate notes. The first note (the New RUS Promissory Note) represents a stated principal balance of §1,022,583, net of $78,582 paid on the
Effective Date, which bears a stated interest rate of 5.75% per annum, respectively, with a varying repayment schedule over the Lease Agreement.
The second note (the ARVP Note] represents a $265,000 obligation due to the RUS at the end of the Lease Agreement, and this obligation does
not bear interest.

In accordance with Statement of Pasition (SOP) 90-7, “Financial Reporting by Entities in Reorganization Under the Bankruptcy Code,” at the
Effective Date the Company was required to record its liabilities at fair value. In determining the fair value of Big Rivers’ liabilities, the Company was
required to record its long-term debt by applying a discount rate commensurate with the market rate to the future debt service payments under
the New RUS Promissory Note and the ARVP Note, regardless of the stated principal and coupon rates of the obligations. In conjunction with
recording the two separate notes on the Effective Date, the Company determined that the market rate associated with the New RUS Promissory
Note and the ARVP Note was 5.81%. In discounting the future debt service payments using the market rate, the Company recorded a combined
principal balance of $1,077,311 for the two RUS notes, net of $78,582 paid on the Effective Date, and recorded a $54,727 loss as an extraordi-
nary item in the accompanying statements of revenues and expenses for the year ended December 31, 1998. Additionally, this transaction was
treated as a non-cash transaction and was excluded from the accompanying statements of cash flows. Also, in conjunction with the Plan, certain
pollution control bonds (discussed herein) were secured and remarketed following the mandatory tender of the bonds by the holders thereof. The
irrevocable standby letters of credit, which were supporting the bonds held by Chase Manhattan Bank and the Bank of New York were replaced
with the bond insurance policies and standby bond purchase agreements issued by Ambac Assurance Corporation, each dated at the Effective
Date between Big Rivers, U.S. Bank Trust National Association, as trustee, and Credit Suisse First Boston, as the liquidity provider. In connection
therewith, the Company realized cash proceeds of $14,200 and recognized an extraordinary gain in the accompanying statements of revenues
and expenses. For Big Rivers’ remaining liabilities, there were no other significant differences between the carrying amounts and the respective fair
values on the Effective Date.

In accordance with the Lease Agreement, the Company is allowed to purchase power in the open market, incurring penalties when the power
purchased from LEM does not meet certain minimum levels, and sell excess power (power not needed to supply its jurisdictional load) in the open
market (collectively referred to as Arbitrage). Pursuant to the New RUS Promissory Note and the ARVP Note, the total value created by Arbitrage
must be divided as follows: one-third, adjusted for member sales volume and capital expenditures, will be used to make principal payments on the
New RUS Promissory Note; one-third will be used to make principal payments on the ARVP Note; and the remaining payments received may be
retained by the Company.

In connection with the Chapter 11 filing and subsequent Effective Date, certain items have been segregated and presented as reorganization
expenses in the accompanying statements of revenues and expenses as costs related to transactions which were directly associated with the
Chapter 11 proceedings. Reorganization expenses for the years ended December 31, were as follows.

1998 1997 1996
Professional services § 4,365 $ 6,362 s 1.733
Net loss on sale of property, inventory
and other assets 4,004 - -
Loss on coal prepayment- = 4210
Bankruptcy Court examiner fee 2.300 266 7
Employee termination benefits 4,975 - 1737
Expected allowed claim = . 1,583
Coal contract settlements = 10,200 1,000
Other, net 1. 225 1.524 -
$17.373 518,352 510,335

During 1997, Big Rivers terminated two unfavorable coal contracts with pending lawsuits. Of the amounts settled, $6,000 was paid upon initial
settlement. During 1998, the Company paid $2,328 and has a remaining liability of $3,455 at December 31, 1998.

Contingencies

The initial plan of reorganization, filed January 22, 1997, included a proposed lease agreement with PacifiCorp Kentucky Energy Corporation
(PKEC), with terms similar in nature to the Lease Agreement. Based on the Bankruptcy Courts decision to award the lease agreement to WKEC,
PKEC and certain related entities filed proof of claims with the Bankruptcy Court seeking damages and allowance of claims in the approximate
aggregate amount of $30,709. The Bankruptcy Court disallowed these claims, the U.S. District Court for the Western District of Kentucky affirmed
this decision in 1998, and PKEC and related entities have appealed this decision to the U. S. Court of Appeals. Management intends to vigorously
defend these claims. Management is unable to predict the outcome of these matters, and accordingly, no adjustments have been recorded to
reflect these uncertainties in the accompanying financial statements.

On June 5, 1997, an examiner appointed by the Bankruptcy Court filed for a $4,410 fee. On March 26, 1999, the Company received an order
from the Bankruptcy Court entitling the examiner to receive a fee of $2,638. Management has accrued amounts under this order as a reorganiza-
tion expense for the year ended December 31, 1998. However, management intends to appeal this order and vigorously defend this claim.

In 1997, employees of Big Rivers discovered that certain wastes subject to 40 CFR Part 760 had been stored at a Company facility in excess of the
regulatory time limits for such storage. This situation was subsequently disclosed to the United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA),
Region IV, in accordance with regulatory requirements. The USEPA has not asserted a claim for damages at this time. Management is unable to
predict the damages, if any, that may be imposed by the USEPA. Accordingly, no adjustments have been recorded to reflect this uncertainty in the
accompanying financial statements

7z DISCONTINUATION OF ACCOUNTING FOR RATE REGULATED ENTITIES:

During 1996, Big Rivers determined the Company was no longer eligible for the continued application of the accounting required by SFAS No. 71,
"Accounting for the Effects of Certain Types of Regulation.” In conjunction with the decision to discontinue the regulatory accounting principles as
prescribed by SFAS No. 71, Big Rivers recorded a non-cash extraordinary gain of $31,244 for the year ended December 31, 1996.



= ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES:

General Information:

Big Rivers, an electric generation and transmission cooperative, supplies the power needs of its four member distribution cooperatives (excluding
the power needs of the Aluminum Smelters) and markets power to non-member utilities and power marketers. The members provide electric
power and energy to industrial, residential and commercial customers located in portions of 22 western Kentucky counties. Big Rivers has whole-
sale power contracts with each of its members which require the members to buy and receive from Big Rivers all power and energy requirements
other than as discussed in Note 1. The wholesale power contracts with the members extend to the year 2023. Rates to its members are estab-
lished by the KPSC and are subject to approval by the RUS.

Financial Statement Presentation:

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities.
The estimates and assumptions used in the accompanying financial statements are based upon managements evaluation of the relevant facts and
circumstances as of the date of the financial statements. Actual results may differ from those estimates.

System of Accounts:

Big Rivers’ accrual basis accounting policies follow the Uniform System of Accounts as prescribed by the RUS Bulletin 1767B-1, as adopted by the
KPSC. The regulatory agencies retain authority and periodically issue orders on various accounting and ratemaking matters.

Revenue Recognition:

Revenues generated from the Companys wholesale power contracts are based on month-end meter readings and are recognized as earned. In
accordance with SFAS No. 13, Big Rivers lease revenue will be recognized straight-line over the expected benefit period. The major components «
Big Rivers lease revenue will include the annual lease payments and the Expected Margins as discussed in Note 1

In conjunction with the Lease Agreement, Big Rivers expects to realize the following minimum lease revenue for the years ending December 31:

Year Amount
ES9G S 52,150
2000 52 1550
2001 52,150
2002 52,150
2003 52. 150
Thereafter 851,219

SIETELSEY

Utility Plant and Depreciation:

Utility plant is recorded at original cost, which includes the cast of contracted services, materials, labor, overhead and an allowance for borrowed
funds used during construction. Replacements of depreciable property units, except minor replacements, are charged to utility plant

Allowance for borrowed funds used during construction is included on projects with an estimated total cost of $250 or more before consideratior
of such allowance. The interest capitalized is determined by applying the effective rate of Big Rivers” weighted average debt to the accumulated
expenditures for qualifying projects included in construction in progress.

Depreciation of utility plant in service is recorded using the straight-line method over the estimated remaining service lives, as approved by the RL
During 1996, the RUS approved new depreciation rates, which were based on the results of a depreciation study which extended the estimated
service lives of Big Rivers™ utility plant. These rates were utilized from January 1995 through June 1998. During 1998, the Company commis-
sioned another depreciation study to again evaluate the remaining economic lives of its assets. The study received the approval of the RUS and i
pending approval from the KPSC {expected in 1999). As a result of the July 1998 study, the remaining service lives of the Companys depreciable
assets were further extended. The 1998 study has been adopted beginning with the Effective Date for purposes of recording depreciation
expense. For 1998, the difference between the depreciation rates prescribed by the 1996 study as compared to the 1998 study resulted in
decreased depreciation expense of approximately $4,900.

For the three years ended December 31, the annual composite depreciation rates used to compute depreciation expense were as follows:

Periods prior to Period subsequent to

July 15, 1998 July 15, 1998
Production plant 145 - 4.25% 1.:6:-2.5%
Transmission plant 2.49% 1.8+=3.2%
Station equipment 2.49% 2.Z-2.9%
General plant 2.00-14.29% 1.1-54%

For 1998, 1997 and 1996, the average composite depreciation rates were 2.05%, 2.37% and 2.54%, respectively.

Cash and Cash Equivalents:

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, Big Rivers considers all short-term, highly-liquid investments with original maturities of three months
less to be cash equivalents.



3 ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued).

Patronage Capital:

As provided in the bylaws, any excess of revenues over the sum of (a) operating costs and expenses properly chargeable against the furnishing of
electric energy. and (b) amounts required to offset operating losses incurred during the current or any prior fiscal year, is capital furnished by the
patrons and credited to a capital account for each patron on a patronage basis. In accordance with the Plan, all patronage capital claims were
extinguished and discharged on the Effective Date

4. UTILITY PLANT.

The following summarizes utility plant at December 31

1998 L997
Classified plant in service:

Electric plant - leased $1,312,345 S -
Production plant - 1,329,593
Transmission plant 84,350 84,067
Station equipment 101,982 101,888
General plant t4. 743 18,229
Other 67 190
Unclassified plant in service 2,490 1679
$1,515,947 S 1,535,646
Less accumulated depreciation 644,358 622,926
871,589 912,720
Construction in progress EWE) 187205
S 875,362 S 914,429

Interest capitalized for the years ended December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996, was not significant to the Company

5, UNAMORTIZED DEBT EXPENSES AND COAL PREPAYMENTS

In prior years, Big Rivers refinanced portions of its long-term obligations at lower interest rates and incurred refinancing expenses. These costs were
being amortized over the term of the RUS Promissory Note; however, as discussed in Note 2, in conjunction with Big Rivers” discontinuing the
application of SFAS No. 71, the remaining unamortized debt expenses of $3,525 were recognized as a component of an extraordinary gain in the
accompanying statements of revenues and expenses for the year ended December 31, 1996

On July 18, 1989, Big Rivers endeavored to enter into an agreement with a coal supplier to buy out a high-cost, long-term coal supply contract.
On September 24, 1991, a contract for substitution of coal was executed with this coal supplier. In connection therewith, Big Rivers made fuel pre-
payments of $7,000, which Big Rivers was withholding from payment to the supplier at a rate of one dollar per ton of coal shipped. In October
1996, the Bankruptcy Court determined that the contract with the supplier was unfavorable to Big Rivers and allowed the Company to reject the
contract. Based on this decision, and due to the uncertainty associated with realizing this prepayment, Big Rivers reserved for the remaining pre-
payment balance and recorded $4,210 as a reorganization expense in the accompanying statements of revenues and expenses for the year ended
December 31, 1996

6. LONG-TERM DEBT.

Due to the underlying collateral value of the RUS Promissory Note, Big Rivers ceased accruing interest for all long-term debt effective September 30,
1996. However, in accordance with the Plan, Big Rivers resumed recording interest on the RUS Promissory Note effective June 9, 1997, to the
extent of payments resulting from a month-end operating cash balance in excess of $10,000. However, upon achieving the Effective Date, the
Company began recording interest based on the fair value rate of 5.81% per annum.

Contractual interest related to both secured and unsecured long-term obligations not recognized as interest expense for accounting purposes
totaled $7,021, $54,024 and $24,702 for the years ended December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively.

A detail of long-term debt and liabilities subject to compromise is as follows at December 31

Long-term debt F998
New RUS Promissory Note, stated interest rate of 5.75%, recorded

at fair value [Note 1), with an interest rate of 5.81% $1,003,791
RUS ARVP Note, no stated interest rate, recorded at fair value (Note 1),

with interest imputed at 5.81% 62,405
LEM Advances, interest rate of 6.98%, payable in

monthly installments beginning in August 2000 (Due July 2003) 8,481
LEM Settlement Note, interest rate of 8.0% 19:571
County of Ohio, Kentucky, promissory note, variable

interest rate of 4.20% 83,300
County of Ohio, Kentucky, promissory note, variable

interest rate of 4.20% 58,800
Total long-term debt 1,236,348
Current maturities 75101

Total long-term debt, net of current maturities 51,228,837



6 LONG-TERM DEBT (Continued):

Liabilities subject to compromise:

1997

Promissory Note - RUS 8.0% $ 530,905
Unamortized premium 570,260
County of Ohio, Kentucky, promissory note,

with variable interest rate of 4.5% 83,300
County of Ohio, Kentucky, promissory note,

with variable interest rate of 4.5% 58,800
Accounts payable 7412
Total liabilities subject to compromise $1.250,677

The following are estimated maturities of long-term debt at December 31 (excluding the LEM Advances):

Year Amount
1999 5 Tk il
2000 4,520
2001 4,041
2002 2,053
2003 366
Thereafter 1,209,376
$1,227.867

RUS Promissory Note:

On February 25, 1988, Big Rivers refinanced $319,426 of high interest rate debt. As a result of this refinancing, a gain of $37,734 was realized.
As prescribed by regulatory guidelines, this gain was deferred and was being amortized into income over the term of the RUS Promissory Note.
However, in conjunction with Big Rivers discontinuing the application of SFAS No. 71, the remaining unamortized gain was recognized as a com-
ponent of an extraordinary gain in the accompanying statements of revenues and expenses for the year ended December 31, 1996.

Pollution Control Bonds:

On October 31, 1985, the County of Ohio, Kentucky, issued $83,300 of Pollution Control Refunding Demand Bonds, Series 1985, the proceeds o
which are supported by a promissory note from Big Rivers, which bears the same interest rate as the bonds. These bonds bear interest at a vari-
able rate and, prior to the Effective Date, were supported by a Chase Manhattan irrevocable standby letter of credit. These bonds are dated to
mature on October 1, 2015.

On June 30, 1983, the County of Ohio, Kentucky, issued $58,800 of Pallution Control Bonds, Series 1983, the proceeds of which are supported &
a promissory note from Big Rivers, which bears the same interest rate as the bonds. These bonds bear interest at a variable rate and, prior to the
Effective Date, were supported by a Bank of New York irrevocable standby letter of credit. These bonds are dated to mature on June 1, 2013.

Big Rivers’ obligations with respect to the bonds, although secured and remarketed, were not affected by the Plan. However, the irrevocable
standby letters of credit issued by the Chase Manhattan Bank and the Bank of New York were replaced on the Effective Date by two liquidity facili
ties issued by Credit Suisse First Boston and municipal bond insurance policies issued by Ambac Assurance Corporation (see Note 1). Big Rivers he
agreed to reimburse Ambac Assurance Corporation for any payments under the municipal bond insurance policies or the surety policies.

LEM Settlement Note.

On the Effective Date, Big Rivers executed the Settlement Note with LEM. The Settlement Note will require Big Rivers to pay to LEM $19,676, plut
interest at 8% per annum over the lease term (the LEM Advances). The estimated principal and interest payment is approximately $ 1,822 annuail
This payment is consideration for LEMS assumption of the risk related to unforeseen costs with respect to power to be supplied to the Aluminum
Smelters and the increased responsibility for financing capital improvements. The execution of the Settlement Note was treated as a non-cash
transaction and was excluded from the accompanying statements of cash flows

LEM Advances

Beginning in August 1998 (the first month after the Effective Date) and ending in July 2000, LEM will make monthly payments totaling $50 to the
RUS on behalf of the Company. The Company will then make monthly payments of $60 to LEM over the next 36 months. The payments made
by LEM to the RUS will be applied to the New RUS Promissory Note. The Company will also recognize interest expense over the five-year life of tr
LEM Advances at 6.98% per annum

7 RATE MATTERS:

As approved by the Bankruptcy Court and the KPSC, effective September 1997, the interim rates charged to Big Rivers” members consist of a billin
demand charge per KW and an energy charge per kWh consumed. The interim rates of Big Rivers included specific rate designs for its members’
two classes of customers, the large industrial customers and the rural customers under their jurisdiction. For the large industrial customers, the
demand charge is based on each customers maximum demand during the current month. The remaining customers billing demand is based
upon the maximum coincident demand of each member$s delivery points. The demand and energy charges are not subject to adjustments for
increases or decreases in fuel or environmental costs. On April 30, 1998, the KPSC modified the interim rates for the large industrial customers
On June 1, 1998, the modified rates were approved by the Bankruptcy Court. These rates will remain in effect until revoked or modified by the
KPSC. The rates resulted in a significant decrease in Big Rivers' rates for wholesale electric service to certain members from the rates in effect prior
to the Chapter 11 filing.



% RATE MATTERS (Continued).

Pursuant to the Lease Agreement, LEM will supply the energy necessary to comply with the Oglethorpe Power Corporation {Oglethorpe Power)
and the two Hoosier Energy Rural Electric Company (Hoosier Energy) contracts. In turn, Big Rivers will remit the net revenues from the contracts to
LEM. The Oglethorpe Power contract originated in August 1992 for the sale of 103 MW of power for ten years. The first of the Hoosier Energy
contracts is for the sale of 65 MW of capacity during a three-month summer period through the year 2000. The second Hoosier Energy contract is
& peaking power contract varying from 10 MW in 1993 to 170 MW in 1999. This contract is for the summer months of June through September
of each calendar year

In accordance with the Lease Agreement, LG&E Energy will operate certain generating facilities owned by the City of Henderson, Kentucky (the
City) which were operated by Big Rivers prior to the Effective Date, pursuant to certain lease contracts between the City and Big Rivers. The
Company will retain the service obligation under these contracts to provide transmission services, as defined

8 INCOME TAXES:

Big Rivers was initially formed as a tax-exempt cooperative organization under section 501(c)(12) of the Internal Revenue Code. To retain tax-
exempt status under this section of the Internal Revenue Code, at least 85% of Big Rivers’ revenues must be generated from sales to the Companys
members. In 1983, sales to non-members resulted in Big Rivers being unable to meet the 85% requirement. In a letter dated March 23, 1984, the
Internal Revenue Service notified Big Rivers that effective for 1983 and subsequent years, the Company would be considered a taxable organiza-
tion until such year that sales to members would satisfy the 85% requirement and Big Rivers formally reapplies for tax-exempt status. Big Rivers is
also subject to Kentucky income tax.

Under the provisions of SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” Big Rivers is required to record deferred tax assets and liabilities for tempo-
rary differences between amounts reported for financial reporting purposes as compared to amounts reported for income tax purposes. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are determined based on these temporary differences using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which these differ-
ences are expected to reverse.

At December 31, 1998 and 1997, Big Rivers had deferred tax assets of $462,348 and $468,557, respectively, which primarily relate to tax credits
and net operating losses. At December 31, 1998, the tax credits and net operating losses amounted to $57,468 and $1,049,072, and the tax
credits expire in 1999 through 2000. The non-member portion of the net operating losses expire in 1999 through 2018. Additionally, at
December 31, 1998 and 1997, Big Rivers had deferred tax liabilities of $246,862 and $281,545, respectively, which primarily relate to depreciation
differences on utility plant. At December 31, 1998 and 1997, Big Rivers did not anticipate utilization of a portion of the deferred tax assets, thus a
valuation allowance was established of $215,486 and $187,012, respectively

9 POWER PURCHASED:

In accordance with the Lease Agreement, Big Rivers will supply all of the members' requirements for power to serve their customers other than the
Aluminum Smelters, including Big Rivers™ existing wholesale power contracts. Contract limits were established in the Lease Agreement and include
minimum and maximum hourly and annual power purchase amounts. At any time after December 31, 1998, Big Rivers has the right to elect to
reduce the contract limits up to a certain extent. However, Big Rivers cannot reduce the contract limits by more than 12 MW in any year, or by
more than a total of 72 MW over the lease term. In the event Big Rivers fails to take the minimum requirement during any hour or year, Big Rivers
will be liable to LEM for a certain percentage of the difference between the amount of power actually taken and the applicable minimum require-
ment

Although Big Rivers will be required by the Lease Agreement to purchase minimum hourly and annual amounts of power from LEM, the lease does
nol prevent Big Rivers from paying the assocliated penalty in certain hours to purchase lower cost power, if available, in the open market or
reselling a portion of its purchased power to a third party.

10. PENSION AND DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLANS

Big Rivers has non-contributory defined benefit pension plans covering substantially all employees who meet minimum age and service require-
ments. The plans provide benefits based on the participants’ years of service and the five highest consecutive years’ compensation during the last
ten years of employment. Big Rivers’ policy is to fund such plans in accordance with the requirements of the Employee Retirement Income Security
Act of 1974. Also, Big Rivers has executed non-contributory defined compensation agreements with certain key employees which provide for peri-
odic payments upon retirement or to beneficiaries in the event of death. The deferred compensation plan is fully funded and has been suspended
since 1995

In conjunction with the Lease Agreement, approximately 550 of the Company’s employees were effectively terminated and transferred to WKEC on
the Effective Date. Terminated employees will or have received distributions in the amount of their respective vested benefits. The Company rec-
ognized a curtailment loss of $2,086 which was recorded as a reorganization expense in the accompanying statements of revenues and expenses.

The following is an assessment of the Company’s non-contributery defined benefit pension plans at December 31

i998 195
Projected benefit obligation $ 9,700 $40,735
Fair value of plan assets 10,005 32,060
Funded status S (305) $ 8,675
Prepaid (unfunded) accrued pension cost $ 1,088 S (440

Net periodic pension costs, which are calculated based on actuarial assumptions at January 1, were as follows for the years ended December 31:

1998 1997 1996
Benefit cost $ 1,686 $3.592 $2.861
Curtailment cost 2,086 969 -
Employer contribution 5,300 3,831 3,268

Benefits paid or transferred 29,357 5,810 4,801



10. PENSION AND DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLANS (Continued)

Assumptions used to develop the projected benefit obligation were:

1998 1997 1996
Discount rates 7.0% 7.5% 7.5%
Rates of increase in compensation levels 4.0 4.0 4.0
Expected long-term rate of return on assets 3:5 8.5 8.5

R POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS:

Big Rivers provides certain postretirement medical benefits for retired employees and their spouses. For all employees who retired prior to 1994,
Big Rivers pays 80% of the cost from age 62 to 65, and from age 65, for salaried employees, Big Rivers pays 100% of Medicare supplemental cost:
For salaried employees whao retire after December 31, 1993, the paid Medicare supplemental was eliminated.

The discount rate used in computing the postretirement obligation for 1998 and 1997 was 7.0% and 7.5%, respectively. A health care cost trend
rate of 9.0% in 1998 declining to 5.5% in 2004 was utilized. The health care cost trend rate assumption had a significant effect on the amounts
reported, resulting in an unrecognized net gain of $1,215in 1998. A 1.0% increase in the health care trend rate each future year would increase
the aggregate service and interest costs by $51 and the accumulated other postretirement benefit obligation by $667

The following is an assessment of the Companys postretirement plan at December 31

1998 1997
Total benefit obligation $(2,218) $(5,245)
Unfunded accrued postretirement cost (3.536) (3.519)

The compaonents of net periodic postretirement benefit costs for the yedrs ended December 31 were as follows

1998 1997 1996
Benefit cost S 436 $719 $ 811
Benefits paid 389 142 172

As noted above, approximately 550 employees were transferred to WKEC in conjunction with the Lease Agreement, and in conjunction therewith
the Company transferred to WKEC the postretirerment liability for these employees. During 1998, the Company recognized a curtailment gain of
$2,753 which was principally offset by the realization of the previously unrecognized transition obligation related to these employees totaling
$2,538

In addition to the postretirement plan discussed above, in 1992 Big Rivers began a postretirement benefit plan which vests a portion of accrued
sick leave benefits to salaried employees upon retirement or death. To the extent an employees sick leave hour balance exceeds 480 hours, such
excess hours are paid at 20% of the employees base hourly rate at time of retirement or death. The accumulated cbligation recorded for the
postretirement sick leave benefitis $101 and $362 at December 31, 1998 and 1997, respectively, and the postretirement expense recorded was
$51, $61 and $93 for 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively

12, RELATED PARTIES AND MAJOR CUSTOMERS:
Operating Revenues
1998 1997 1996
Members
Green River Electric Corporation S 95,942 $130,318 $132.589
Henderson Union Electric Cooperative 49,850 75,304 82,226
Jackson Purchase Electric Cooperative
Corporation 22,247 23,136 24.5]1
Meade County Rural Electric Cooperative
Corporation 12,618 12,978 13,329
KPSC Ordered Fuel Cost Refund - - (427)
Non-members 45,742 62,452 69,694
Lease revenue 24,247 = =
Other revenue 3,908 438 66
$254.554 $304.626 $321,988

Big Rivers agrees to indemnify its member cooperatives by performing their power supply agreements with certain industrial customers and requi
ing payments for power consumed and only such other payments as each member receives from its customers.

At December 31, 1998 and 1997, Big Rivers had accounts receivable from its members of approximately $10,142 and $20,552, respectively.



135 YEAR 2000:

With the approach of the year 2000, there has been concern over the impact of this event on computer systems worldwide. Big Rivers has
assessed the impact of the year 2000 on its business and has developed a project plan to remediate its current status of systems not yet deemed
year 2000 compliant.

Big Rivers is an electric generation and transmission company and is dependent upon outside parties whose performance could affect the
Company. Through the Lease Agreement, the Company relies on LG&E Energy and Southeastern Power Administration for power supply. Big
Rivers’ other dependence includes telephone companies, internet companies, and external businesses that supply them with goods and services
such as eguipment supplies and mdintenance

Additionally, risk exists regarding the non-compliance of third parties with key business or operational importance to the Company. Year 2000
problems affecting key customers, interconnected utilities, telecommunications providers or financial institutions could result in lost power sales,
reduced power transmission capabilities or internal operational or administrative difficulties. The Company is not presently aware of any such situa-
tions; however, occurrences of this type could have an effect upon the business, operating results or financial condition of the Company. There
can be no assurance that the Company will be able to identify and correct all aspects of the year 2000 problems among these third parties in suffi-
cient time.

The Company has begun developing a formal contingency plan for year 2000 non-compliance and expects the contingency plan to be completed
by the second quarter of 1999. In the event of the Companys non-compliance, management does not believe the Companys operations will be
adversely affected
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sident’s and 96]761’&[ Manager’s Message

ynergy — it’s a term coined Lo represent the idea of
combining each other’s strengths to create something
stronger than either unit could ever be alone. Big Rivers
Electric Corporation is in the midst of forging a new
partnership based on our personal strengths as well as those of a
west coast utility. This will allow our members to emerge as
~ healthy competitors in the electric utility industry. This union
brings together the winning combinations of insight and
individual talent matched by state-of-the-art electric utility
technology. and, most significantly, the teaming of two entities
driven by the will to succeed.

In forming this exciting combination, Big Rivers intends to have
as our partner PacifiCorp, a multi-billion dollar electric and
telephone utility based in Portland, Oregon. The transition has
already begun after year-long reviews and negotiations. However,
the process of arriving at this point deserves a brief reflection.

In August 1994, the Special Committee on Financial Planning
implemented the mechanisms designed to facilitate this
important change. The Committee, as well as the Board of
Directors, wanted to leverage the utility’s assets to form a
business relationship that would best benefit the 90,000-plus
member ratepayers who demand and deserve reliable, low-cost
electric power. As the Committee began the task of overcoming
the company’ financial obstacles, one challenge after another
emerged in the months that followed.

Many utilities from across the country contacted the Committee
about establishing a business relationship. Suitors called.
Suitors left. Ultimately, the Committee successfully recruited
business proposals from six highly-respected energy companies.

Analysis of the proposals proved almost as complex as the
solicitation process itsell. There were financial considerations.
There were regulatory considerations. There were rate
considerations for consumers, industrial and residential, along
with employee considerations. At the end of the process the
proposals varied. However, they all shared a common thread:
the member ratepayers and the economic well-being of western
Kentucky would be protected — something the Committee had
insisted upon.

ong
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The next step in the company’s new direction was nearly complete.
We were moving from a partnership of four distribution
cooperatives that gave it life more than 30 years ago, into a
partnership with the co-ops and another entity in hopes of
sustaining life for the next 30 years.

In December 1995, the Board of Directors recommended that the
Committee continue to pursue negotiations with PacifiCorp.
Under the terms of PacifliCorps proposal, Big Rivers would retain
ownership of its generation assets, and PacifiCorp would lease and
manage the facilities, selling power to Big Rivers for the member
co-ops and on the wholesale open market for the life of the lease.
Big Rivers would continue to own and operate the transmission
system and would receive revenue from members, PaciliCorp, and
other utilities for the provision of transmission services to
accommodate both on-system and off-system energy sales.

Under details of the plan, Big Rivers would generate sufficient
revenue to retire most of its debt, while maintaining autonomy as a
transmission company and service provider. Most importantly, Big
Rivers would survive as an economic presence in western
Kentucky into the 21st century and beyond.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Seated I. to . William C. Denton, Al Robison (Acting General Manager)
Standing |. to r. Jimmy Mounts, Johnny L. Hamm, Edward E johnson,

J. D. Cooper; John Myers, Sandra B. Wood (Board President), James Sills,
Ralph Hardin, H. M. “Bo” Smith, Morton Henshaw, Joseph Hamilton.



On January 30, 1996, the Board of Directors entered into a non-
binding letter of intent with PacifiCorp — the next critical step in
developing this partnership and transforming Big Rivers into a

new energy services company poised to compete in the industry.

A great deal of effort will still be required to obtain the necessary
endorsements of a {inal agreement. But it is encouraging that the
cooperative has made these remarkable strides in an adversarial
environment where naysayers downplayed the possibility of Big
Rivers surviving; where critics openly questioned the viability of
the process; and where detractors scoffed at the suggestion that
the Board of Directors, management, and employees of this proud
company had the wherewithal to change.

The systematic process the Committee and Board of Directors has
taken represents their dedication to transform this organization
from a position of financial vulnerability to a position of
economic strength. In so doing, the company has recommitted
to the historic mission of meeting the needs of our member
cooperatives and the customers they serve.

On behall of the Special Committee and the Board of Directors,
we would like to extend our most sincere thanks to the
employees of Big Rivers who have refused to let unsettling
headlines and uncertainty compromise the efficient production of
safe, reliable electricity or the delivery of other valuable services
to the co-ops. We would also like to extend regards and thanks
to the distribution cooperatives, their boards, management, and
employees for the valuable input they offered during the
screening and selection processes. And most importantly, we
salute the many customers who stand as constant reminders of
why this company was founded and whose interests the
operation was created to serve.

The challenges that lie ahead are significant. Yet 1995 showed
that challenge often presents equally significant opportunity:
opportunity for growth, opportunity for change, opportunity to
establish a new vision, and opportunity to create more winning
combinations.

hstow Frrd . 2T ieheal

Sandra B. Wood A. J. Robison
President General
and Manager

Chairperson of the Board

three




Cmporate (Report

Big Rivers Electric Corporation was the embodiment of winning combinations in 1995
—and not just in the potential partnership being forged with PacifiCorp.

There was the combination of innovation and financial insight manifested in cost
savings to consumers.

There was the combination of technology and talent that made for a cleaner
environment in western Kentucky.

There was the combination of service and attention to customer satisfaction
represented by a number of new initiatives aimed at all user classes, on-system and off.

And there was the combination of corporate citizenry and community responsibility
that kept Big Rivers an integral part of western Kentucky’s economy.

These winning combinations were made possible by the leadership of the Board of
Directors, management, and employees whose contributions to the system are
chronicled on the pages that follow.

[He foundation has been laid. The key is to maintain 1995’s momentum into 1996
@beyond, assuring a future of winning combinations.
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Performance & Delivery
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‘ ' i

During 1995, the company sold 7,712,052 MWh of energy to:its four member

« distribution cooperafives, representing an increase of 3.45 percent compared to 1994.
021,540 Mwwar, up 16.75 percent from the

onsumption is in direct proportion to the need for

city created by ctistomer demand. At 4:00 p.m. on
ugust 18, demand hit a summer peak of 1,166

ighest level on the system since

1994, when demand topped out

t 1,190 MW. At the time of the

L e——

operating its Sebree smelter at a
load level about 75 MW
lower than normal full

capacity.
-F & ¥
' ¥ & | «
s 4 .
A
.“'9’ ’ .-I. :£.._‘ » - ‘ 9
=k 23 {' g
:n " 3 i E. :
i J;"* P L
* ' -‘. - ™ L3 L. =



In evaluating the system requirements and the capacity installed, it's important to
remember that the reserve capacity represents a commodity that will become valuable
in meeting the needs of the four distribution cooperatives, attracting new industry, and
positioning Big Rivers to compete in a deregulated market. That's why the partnership
with PacifiCorp is so important and why Big Rivers is attractive as a partner with the
west coast utility.

The Oregon-based utility has established a reputation for environmental responsibility
and overall efficient operations — a reputation mirrored by Big Rivers and
demonstrated by several major initiatives in 1995,

e Flue Gas Desulfurization systems (scrubbers) were installed on Unit One and
Unit Two of the Henderson Municipal Power and Light Station Two (HMP&L).
The scrubber installation will allow HMP&L to burn the higher sulfur coal mined
in western Kentucky and the Illinois basin while meeting the lowered sulfur
dioxide emission requirements of the Clean Air Act Amendments of 1990
(CAAA-90).

* Low-NOx burner retrofit projects were completed on the Kenneth C. Coleman
Plant Unit One and Unit Two. These burners reduce the amount of nitrogen oxide
(NOx) emitted to the atmosphere and are part of compliance with the CAAA-90.
Emissions thus far have been well below federal standards at 0.5 pounds per
million BTU of fuel burned. In addition, a second low-NOx project was begun at
HMP&L Unit Two, and planning began for the burner changeout on the Kenneth P winniig
C. Coleman units. b

combination

» Another component of compliance with the Clean Air Act involved the
installation of continuous emission monitoring equipment on the Robert A. Reid

of leclfnoquy

and D.B. Wilson stations.

Plant efficiency remains at high levels for the system. According to the Utility
Data Institute, Big Rivers’ plants were ranked 60, 71, 184, and 213 out of 718
utilities listed across the country in the area of production cost per net megawatt
hour produced, including fuel.

An upgrade of nearly nine miles of 69-kV line in Meade County strengthens the
system. In addition, a new interconnection is under way with Kentucky Utilities.
This will relieve peak overloads and provide for more reliable export of power
during high load situations.

and talent
that goes into
the efficient
production
and
fransmission
of reliable
electric power

fias been a

The winning combination of technology and talent that goes into the efficient
production and transmission of reliable electric power has been a tradition at Big
Rivers for over thirty years. Its a tradition that will continue in the years to come as
we partner with another industry leader — PacifiCorp.

tradition at
‘Big Rivers
for over

thirty years.
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contracts, cost
containment
prograis,
and
collaboration
with member
systems are
leading to
savings and
benefits that
can be shared
with the
distribution
co-ops and the
CONSUMers.

Cost Competitneness

In ensuring a future for Big Rivers, the Board of
Directors, management, and employees have all
made cost competitiveness a high priority.
Renegotiated contracts, cost containment programs,
and collaboration with member systems are leading
to savings and benefits to be shared with
distribution co-ops and their consumers.

But cost containment and competitive positioning
do not preclude expenses that must be incurred and
passed along in some manner. That was the case
with the scrubber installation at HMP&L during
1995. The federally mandated Clean Air Act of 1990
required a reduction in emissions. But rather than
add the expense of the technology into base rates,
Big Rivers joined several other utilities in benefiting
from an environmental cost pass-through formula
established by the Kentucky General Assembly.

In addition, steps were taken in the following areas to improve Big Rivers’ position in
an increasingly competitive industry.

» The Corporation terminated a contract with Costain Coal and opened new
bids for supplying coal to the HMP&L station since scrubbers allow the
use of high-sulfur coal. This action will result in savings of $22.5 million over
the next three years.

* A depreciation study completed during 1995 pointed to increased margins in
future years as a result of extending the useful life of plant assets, resulting in
reduced depreciation rates and associated depreciation expense by as much as
$10 million annually.

* Discussions with the Rural Utilities Service have not only focused on details
of the proposals from business suitors, but also on refinancing the company’s
guaranteed debt in order to take advantage of lower interest rates.




* The company is holding the line on operations and maintenance costs (O&M)
by moving scheduled plant maintenance outages from a 12-month cycle to an
18-month cycle. This is consistent with changing industry standards and
practices.

* Another key component in Big Rivers' strategy Lo become more competitive is
to involve distribution cooperatives in rate-setting discussions. Several such
discussions were held during 1995. More are anticipated in 1996. This newly-
energized partnership with the co-ops is exploring innovative rate design so
that more competitive rates can be established for rural, residential,
commercial, and industrial customers.

The electric cooperatives that comprise the Big Rivers system are the engines driving
the economy of western Kentucky. They, themselves, are laying the groundwork for a
competitive environment. With Big Rivers joining in a collaborative effort to design
rates aimed at customer growth and retention, all five systems and, most importantly,
the consumer will benefit. Thats a winning combination of skills and abilities that
will be utilized to its fullest in further developing the new direction for this utility.

There is no greater role for this company than serving its member cooperatives and
helping them serve their customers. That is precisely the mission that sparked the
creation of this company more than three decades ago; it is the same mission that will
drive this company through the successful negotiation of its many challenges.

Key to that mission is unmatched customer service: to the co-ops themselves, and to
customers that are served on- and off-system. Here again is where Big Rivers has
established a winning combination of technology and talent 1o assure a greater
measure of success in completing the tasks at hand.

* An important first step in demonstrating better service to the co-ops and in
establishing future operations was the delivery of engineering services to the
distribution systems. Activities undertaken included substation upgrade, design,
and construction. Already, future work requests include the design of two new
substations.

» During 1995, Big Rivers established a commercial and industrial energy audit

team to assist the co-ops in providing additional service to this important class of
consumers. One facet of the program explores the development of energy

RIS



conservation strategies which may be implemented by the
consumer. Another examines power quality and explores
solutions for any deficiencies. The service is provided to
member systems at no charge.

* Another important advance undertaken in 1995

was to generate more input from operations and
maintenance personnel of the large
industrial customers. Topics of discussion
have included coordinating maintenance
activities, exploring solutions for operating
problems, and establishing development
strategies for load expansion.

e From the distribution cooperatives to the
aluminum smelter load to the many
commercial and industrial accounts, no
customer is any more important than

the rural, residential members. They represent a small share of the total power

requirements of the system, but are important and deeply entrenched in

the history of the system. During 1995, Big Rivers and the member systems

reavowed their commitment to assure that high levels of customer satisfaction

were maintained across the system. Valuable monthly tracking surveys were
conducted and reported — an action common to investor-owned utilities, but
unique to cooperative utilities in the region.

* Another activity launched for the benefit of member cooperatives and their
residential members was a system-wide data base. Already, more than 40,000
records have been established linking end-use appliance saturation with
customer demographics. The data base allows Big Rivers and its member co-
ops to make marketing communication tools more efficient and cost effective.
This, too, is fairly common among investor-owned utilities, but unique to
cooperative utilities.

The year also saw Big Rivers become more sophisticated in engaging another
type of consumer — the off-system buyer. In 1995, Big Rivers became one of
16 companies involved in the Continental Power Exchange (CPEX™), an
electronic energy exchange similar to commodity and stock exchanges. The
system allows a computer network to monitor available energy resources and
facilitate trading of electricity.




One generation and transmission cooperative serving four distribution systems which serve

over 90,000 consumers — that certainly is the most important facet of this company’s core
business. Big Rivers has its roots in being a reliable power producer. As the future
continues to unfold, we will break new ground with the opportunity to serve power
marketing agents around the nation who, in turn, serve thousands of customers. This dual
role in customer service represents another winning combination about which Big Rivers
can boast.

Priority onn Conmnumity

From its inception more than thirty years ago, Big Rivers Electric Corporation has
played a central part in the economic life of western Kentucky. That was true when
the company attracted the large and important aluominum smelter load to the region as
a result of its abundant, low-cost power. That remains true today as Big Rivers
continues its role as a beacon for industry, a conduit for good-paying jobs, and a
contributor to the livelihoods of the communities in which it conducts business.

For that, the 820
employees of this
company can be
extremely proud. They
can be proud of the
significant contributions
the company has made
toward the betterment of
civic and charitable
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organizations, as well as lmmmumum
.

the economy of western
Kentucky.

* Long recognizing that
employees represent the single, greatest asset of any company, Big Rivers took a
more aggressive approach in 1995 by providing its employees with increased
training and appropriate compensation. More than $75,000 was devoted to
technical training and educational assistance for employees. A new 401(k) savings
plan was initiated, and a pre-tax flexible-spending benefits plan was put into place
for bargaining unit employees, greatly reducing the employees’ tax burden.

Big Rivers shared its leadership skills with another of our member systems by
presenting a FrontLine Leadership training program at Meade County

RECC. As a result, those participating employees now have additional
valuable communication skills relating to employee supervision and
managenient.

* Big Rivers long ago made a promise to support those communities in which it
conducted business. This past year, contributions of employee time and talent
replaced some of the financial donations that have been apparent in previous
years. Still, the utility carries its unwavering commitment to being

e




a community partner as evident when the company and its employees
established a record for the annual United Way campaign with nearly
$70,000 in pledges.

Of course, the employees of Big Rivers and their communities will only
continue to thrive if sufficient economic growth is sustained. Economic
growth successes were achieved during 1995 as they have been during
every year of Big Rivers' operations. Hudson Foods began construction of a
major poultry processing facility. Willamette Industries undertook major
expansion at its paper mill. Alcoa CMI will take advantage of the molten
aluminum available from nearby smelters and in so doing, create 400 jobs
for the region.

These are but a few of the success stories Big Rivers can tell about its
employees, their hometowns, and the industries that provide their neighbors
with jobs. In the future, Big Rivers will be in a position to combine its
documented skills in economic development with those of PacifiCorp to
bring even more economic growth to western Kentucky.
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Challenges

A turning point in the life of Big Rivers was reached in 1995. There is renewed spirit
among employees to make the company’s four power plants as efficient as possible.

There is a renewed sense of empowerment to the employees from a Board of Directors
and management equally intent to see this company not only survive, but thrive as a
premier provider of electric service.

There are challenges — numerous challenges. But in each there exists an opportunity
to demonstrate that the employees of Big Rivers Electric Corporation have unyielding
resolve — willing to face adversities, and collectively striving to emerge stronger than
any one of us could ever be alone.

The winning combination of corporate allegiance and personal pride shared between

ourselves and the members of PacifiCorp will provide for a sustained, successful
future — one of growth with a focus on the communities and customers we serve.

The best way to predict the
Juture is to create i
At Big Rivers,
that’s precisely

it were a’oz']gg.
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ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP
Report of Independent Public Accountants

To the Board of Directors of
Big Rivers Electric Corporation:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Big Rivers Electric Corporation (Big Rivers, a Kentucky
corporation) as of December 31, 1995 and 1994, and the related statements of revenues and expenses, equities
(deficit) and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of Big Rivers’
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. The
financial statements of Big Rivers for the year ended December 31, 1993, were audited by other auditors whose
report dated February 25, 1994, expressed an unqualified opinion on those statements with an explanatory
paragraph related to Big Rivers’ ability to continue as a going concern.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and the standards for financial
audits contained in Government Auditing Standards (1994 Revision), issued by the Comptroller General of the
United States. These standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Big Rivers as of December 31, 1995 and 1994, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the
years then ended in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that Big Rivers will continue as a going
concern. As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, Big Rivers continues to sustain negative net margins
which will eventually cause the cooperative to default on certain provisions under the Debt Restructuring
Agreement, is potentially subject to working capital liquidity problems, and is subject to a significant amount of
litigation.  These conditions raise substantial doubt about Big Rivers’ ability to continue as a going concern.
Management’s plans in regard to these matters are also described in Note 1. The financial statements do not include
any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued reports dated February 9, 1996, on our
consideration of Big Rivers’ internal control structure and compliance with laws and regulations.

. O g T

Little Rock, Arkansas,
February 9, 1996.
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STATEMENTS OF REVENUES AND EXPENSES

For the Years ended December 31
(Dollars in thousands)

Operating revenues
Operating expenses:
Operations:
Fuel for electric generation
Power purchased and interchanged
Production, excluding fuel
Other
Maintenance
Depreciation
Taxes, other than income taxes
Total operating expenses
Electric operating margins
Interest expense and other:
Interest, net of capitalized interest
Other, net
Total interest expense and other
Operating margin (loss)
Non-operating margins:
Interest income and other
Net margin (loss)

sixteen

1995 199 1993
$ 339910 $ 315,571 $ 350,946
118,901 115,365 117,400
42,682 39,174 45,151
20 844 28,369 26,161
28,990 26,766 25205
23,019 28,981 27,783
45,423 45,106 45257
4,597 4,661 4,505
293 456 288422 291,462
46,454 27,149 59 484
94,983 93.236 92,707
(2,653) (1,065) (1.043)
92,330 92,171 91,664
(45 876) (65,022) (32,180)
1,561 1,370 1,546
$ (44315) $ (63,652) $ (30,634)

The accompanying notes to financial statements
are an integral part of these statements.



BALANCE SHEETS

As of December 31
(Dollars in thousands)

Assets

Utility plant, net
Other deposits and investments, at cost
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents

Accounts receivable

Fuel inventory

Non-fuel inventory

Total current assets

Deferred charges
Coal prepayments

Equities (Deficit) and Liabilities

Capitalization:
Equities (deficit)
Long-term obligations
Total capitalization

Current liabilities:
Current maturities of long-term obligations
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Total current liabilities

Deferred credits:
Balancing account
Unamortized gain on reacquired debt
Other
Total deferred credits

Commitments and contingencies (Notes 1, 2, 6, 8, and 11)

The accompanying notes to financial statements are
an integral part of these statements.
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$ 1,008,202
4,726

10,123
31,780
20.952
14,846

—_— — Y

77,701

6.305
4,600

S 1,101,624

ot
=
=]
Ui

$ (293373)
1,228,507

Sl AT A SN

935,134

8,085
23,150
6,278
37.513

77.601
21,711
29,665

R A

128977

$ 1,101,624

1994

$ 1,048,904
6,207

10,103
28,251
20,489
15,123

73,966

6.760

5,130

$ 1.140973

$ (249.058)
1,245,267
996,200

15,144
27,785
17,754

[ R

60,683

30,878
23,112
30,091
84,081

$ 1,140,973



STATEMENTS OF EQUITIES (DEFICIT)

For the Years ended December 31
(Dollars in thousands)

Other equuties

Donated Consumers’

Total capital contributions
equities  Accumulated  Patronage and to
(deficit) deficut capital  memberships debt service
Balance at December 31, 1992 $ (154,772) % (287.138) $ 127921 $ 764 $ 3,681
Margins for 1993:
Operating (32,180) (32,180) - - -
Non-operating 1,546 1,546 - - -
Balance at December 31, 1993 (185,406) (317,772) 127,921 764 3,681
Margins for 1994
Operating (65,022) (65,022) - - -
Non-operating 1,370 1370 - - -
Balance at December 31, 1994 (249,058) (381.,424) 127,921 764 3,681
Margins for 1995:
Operating (45,876) (45,876) - - -
Non-operating 1,561 1,561 - - -
Balance at December 31, 1995 $ (293373) % (425,739) $ 127,921 $ 704 $ 3,681

The accompanying notes to financial statements
are an integral part of these statements.




STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Years ended December 31
(Dollars in thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net margin (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net
margin (loss) to net cash provided by
operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Net change in balancing account
Amortization of gain on reacquired debt
Amortization of gain on sale of pollution control allowances
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Fuel inventory
Non-fuel inventory
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Other, net

Net cash provided by
operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures, net
Sale of pollution control allowances

Net cash provided by (used in)
investing activities

Cash flows from [inancing activities:
Increase (decrease) in RUS Promissory Note
Principal payments on other long-term obligations

Net cash provided by (used in) financing
activities

Net increase (decrease) in cash
and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

Supplemental Cash Flow Information:

Cash paid relating to interest expense, net of capitalized amounts

The accompanying notes to financial statements
are an integral part of these statements.

1995 1994 1993
$ (44,315) $ (63,652) $ (30,634)
47,933 46,880 46,979
46,723 21,692 (16,064)
(1,401) (1,613) (1,612)

(1,745) - -
(3,529) 2,682 (7,768)
(463) (2,093) 6,076
277 (357) (99)
(4.635) 6,434 6,591
(11,476) 13,835 (556)
12,865 3,178 516
30,234 26,986 3,429
(10,822) (29.875) (16,404)
- 188 23,150
(10,822) (29,687) 6,746
(15,028) 6,003 (5,817)
(4.364) (3,272) (4,364)
(19,392) 2,731 (10,181)
20 30 (6)
10,103 10,073 10,079
$ 10,123 $ 10,103 $ 10,073
$ 108,406 $ 86,165 $ 97,594




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 1995
(Dollars in thousands)
I
Minimum Debt Service Paymenls,

Liguidity Risk and Continge

1gencics

Management has prepared the accompanying financial statements on the basis that Big Rivers Electric Corporation
(Big Rivers) will continue as a going concern, and while management expects to maintain positive cash flows from
operations, current rates and current sales levels will cause Big Rivers to continue to sustain negative net margins and
to eventually default on certain provisions under the Debt Restructuring Agreement (see Note 5).

The Debt Restructuring Agreement establishes a minimum level of debt service payments, while requiring
additional debt service payments for cash flows generated in excess of a month-end working capital cash balance of
$10,000, as defined by the Debt Restructuring Agreement. The monthly cash flows of Big Rivers are primarily
dependent upon payments received under the Settlement Agreement (see Note 6) between Big Rivers, National
Southwire Aluminum Company (NSA) and Alcan Aluminum Corporation (Alcan) (collectively referred to as the
Aluminum Smelters). The Settlement Agreement requires the Aluminum Smelters to pay a variable rate from 1.81
cents per kWh to 4.4 cents per kWh based on the market price of aluminum. The market price of aluminum is
subject to volatility. Additionally, pursuant to the Settlement Agreement, if Big Rivers collects in the aggregate an
amount equal to the demand charge calculated over the term of the contract period, the remaining energy sold to the
Aluminum Smelters will be based on 1.81 cents per kWh. Under this criterion, management anticipates that Big
Rivers will collect the aggregate demand charge under the Settlement Agreement by the first quarter of 1996. Due to
the Debt Restructuring Agreement requiring additional debt service payments for cash flows generated in excess of a
month-end working capital cash balance of $10,000, coupled by Big Rivers’ reliance on the fluctuating variable rate
under the Settlement Agreement, there can be no assurance that Big Rivers will not experience working capital
liquidity problems in the near term.

On January 20, 1995, NSA filed suit derivatively on behalf of Green River Electric Corporation (Green River) and
Big Rivers, and Alcan filed suit derivatively on behalf of Henderson Union Electric Cooperative (Henderson Union)
and Big Rivers, as plaintiffs, versus Big Rivers' Board of Directors, Big Rivers, Green River, and Henderson Union in
Henderson Circuit Court. This action seeks to dissolve Big Rivers and recover damages in excess of $83,000 from the
individual directors of Big Rivers. Big Rivers has provided indemnification to its directors for the legal expenses in
successfully defending this type of claim. Associated with this indemnification, Big Rivers owns a directors’ and
officers’ liability policy which has an aggregate limit of $2,500. Management intends to vigorously defend this claim.
Management is unable to predict the outcome of this matter, and accordingly, no adjustments have been recorded to
reflect this uncertainty in the accompanying financial statements.

The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) has informed Big Rivers that it may be liable for damages with
respect to the Green River Disposal Superfund Site, as defined in the Comprehensive Environmental Response,
Compensation and Liability Act of 1980. A remedial/feasibility study has been completed and approved by the EPA.
The EPA issued its Record of Decision in this matter on December 14, 1994, which prescribes the remedies that the
EPA has found appropriate for the site. Big Rivers’ share of the cost, based on volume waste calculations, will be less
than one percent. Management is of the opinion that the ultimate outcome of this matter will not have a material
impact on the financial position or results of operations of Big Rivers.

On March 14, 1994, the Aluminum Smelters sued Big Rivers, Henderson Union, and Green River seeking to set
aside the Settlement Agreement (see Note 6), to which all parties to the lawsuit were signatories. Big Rivers has filed a
motion to dismiss for lack of jurisdiction, failure to state a claim and improper venue. This motion is pending before
the Hancock Circuit Court. Also, Big Rivers, Henderson Union, and Green River have filed suit against the Aluminum
Smelters on April 20, 1994, claiming that the Aluminum Smelters have breached their covenants not to challenge the
Settlement Agreement. This suit has been stayed pending the Hancock Circuit Courts decision on the pending
motions. Management is of the opinion that the ultimate outcome of this matter will not have a material impact on
the financial position or results of operations of Big Rivers.
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On January 27, 1994, a coal supplier sued Big Rivers seeking damages of approximately $3,000. In addition to
the damages claimed, the coal supplier has asserted that Big Rivers is also responsible for the cost of closing a mine.
The coal supplier’s latest valuation of its claim, made August 18, 1994, was $13,283. Management intends to
vigorously defend this claim. Management is unable to predict the outcome of this matter, and accordingly, no
adjustments have been recorded to reflect this uncertainty in the accompanying financial statements.

On January 10, 1995, a complaint case was filed with the Kentucky Public Service Commission (KPSC) by the
Aluminum Smelters and Commonwealth Aluminum requesting a refund of $3,993 plus interest for unreasonable fuel
costs incurred for the period January 1, 1988 to October 31, 1990. Management intends to vigorously defend this
claim. Management is unable to predict the outcome of this matter, and accordingly, no adjustments have been
recorded to reflect this uncertainty in the accompanying financial statements.

The Aluminum Smelters and Commonwealth Aluminum are requesting that the KPSC order a refund for certain
costs to jurisdictional customers contending that Big Rivers’ fuel costs were being improperly allocated for the period
November 1, 1992 to October 31, 1995. Management intends to vigorously defend this claim. Management 1s unable
to predict the outcome of this matter, and accordingly, no adjustments have been recorded to reflect this uncertainty in
the accompanying financial statements.

Big Rivers has a long-term coal contract with Green River Coal Company (Green River Coal). The contract
requires Big Rivers to annually purchase 1,020,000 tons of coal through 2004. Big Rivers believes the Green River
Coal contract was unlawfully procured and that Big Rivers is entitled to rescind the contract and recover damages
including coal prepayments (see Note 4). When Big Rivers informed Green River Coal of its claim. Green River Coal
filed for bankruptcy protection on July 8, 1993. Additionally, Green River Coal has countersued Big Rivers stating the
amounts being withheld from payment to Green River Coal (see Note 4) are in violation of its bankruptcy protection.
In connection with this contract, a criminal trial for a former general manager of Big Rivers is scheduled for August
1996. As a result, the Bankruptcy Court has stayed discovery pending the outcome of this trial. Management is
unable to predict the outcome of this matter, and accordingly, no adustments have been recorded to reflect this
uncertainty in the accompanying financial statements.

On October 20, 1995, the Franklin Circuit Court entered a judgment affirming a portion of the KPSC's previous
orders for unreasonable fuel costs from November 1, 1990 to April 30, 1993 (see Note 6), and remanding a portion of
that order to the KPSC for determination of whether certain remaining fuel costs comply with the regulatory
requirements for rate recovery. Big Rivers filed a notice of appeal on November 15, 1995. Management intends to
vigorously defend this claim. Management is unable to predict the outcome of this matter, and accordingly, no
adjustments have been recorded to reflect this uncertainty in the accompanyimng financial statements.

Big Rivers is either a defendant or a plaintiff in various other legal actions and claims, which management believes
will not have a material impact on Big Rivers financial position or results of operations.

During 1994, the Board of Directors formed a Special Financial Planning Committee (Committee), which is
comprised of four board members. The Committee was given the assignment of proposing a solution to Big Rivers’
financial difficulties by the end of 1995. The Committee employed legal advisors, financial advisors, and a turnaround
specialist to evaluate possible alternatives. This process has culminated in the Committee recommending to the Board
of Directors that a lease arrangement be executed with PacifiCorp Holdings, Inc. (PacifiCorp), an Oregon-based utility.
On January 30. 1996, Big Rivers and PacifiCorp approved a letter of intent which commits the entities to work toward
a long-term lease and operating agreement. Under this arrangement, Big Rivers would retain ownership of its
generation facilities and would continue to provide transmission services to its four distribution cooperatives.
PacifiCorp would lease and operate Big Rivers’ generation facilities for 25 years in exchange for annual lease payments
of approximately $30,000. Big Rivers would continue to serve its members in buying wholesale power from
PacifiCorp for the term of the lease which would result in reduced rates and provide long-term stability to Big Rivers’
four distribution cooperatives and their industrial customers. Additionally, PacifiCorp would be allowed to market
and sell Big Rivers' excess capacity and energy to non-members for the term of the lease. However, the proposed
agreement, among other factors, stipulates the forgiveness of debt and requires certain long-term coal contracts to
reflect market conditions. Additionally, the proposed agreement is subject to various approvals from creditors, certain
regulatory bodies, and certain customers. If the letter of intent does in fact result in an executed lease agreement, the
financial impact of such lease could alleviate some of the financial difficulties discussed in the aforementioned
paragraphs.
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Big Rivers, an electric generation and transmission cooperative, supplies the power needs of its four member
distribution cooperatives and markets power to non-member utilities and power marketers. The members provide
electric power and energy to industrial, residential, and commercial customers located in portions of 22 western
Kentucky counties. Big Rivers has wholesale power contracts with each of its members which require the members to
buy and receive from Big Rivers all of their power and energy requirements. The wholesale power contracts with the
members extend to the year 2023. Rates to its members are established by the KPSC and are subject to approval by
the U.S. Department of Agriculture Rural Utilities Service (RUS).

Financial Statement Presentation:

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, and
expenses, and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. The estimates and assumptions used in the accompanying
financial statements are based upon management’s evaluation of the relevant facts and circumstances as of the date of
the financial statements. Actual results may differ from the estimates and assumptions used in preparing the
accompanying financial statements.

VS 1 Of ACCOUNLS:
Big Rivers” accrual basis accounting policies follow the Uniform System of Accounts prescribed by the RUS Bulletin
1767B-1, as adopted by the KPSC. The regulatory agencies retain authority and periodically issue orders on various
accounting and ratemaking matters.
Revenue

D, g 5.
KECOENILLON

Revenues are based on month-end meter readings and are recognized as earned.
Utility Plant and Depreci
Utility plant is recorded at original cost, which includes the cost of contracted services, materials, labor, overhead, and
an allowance for borrowed funds used during construction. Replacements of depreciable property units, except minor
replacements, are charged to utility plant. Property units replaced or retired, including cost of removal and salvage
value, are charged to accumulated depreciation. Routine maintenance, repairs, and minor replacement costs are
charged to expense as incurred.

Allowance for borrowed funds used during construction is included on projects with an estimated total cost of
$250 or more before consideration of such allowance. The interest capitalized is determined by applying the effective
rate of the RUS Promissory Note (see Note 5) to the to-date accumulated expenditures for qualifying projects included
in construction in progress. Capitalization of interest is discontinued when the project is completed and the asset 15
ready for service.

Depreciation of utility plant in service is provided using the straight-line method over the estimated service lives
of depreciable assets. The annual RUS-prescribed rates used to compute depreciation are as [ollows:

Production plant 3.00-3.10%
Transmission plant 2.75%
Station equipment 2.75%
General plant 2.00 - 20.00%

For 1995, 1994, and 1993, the average composite depreciation rates were 3.16, 3.03. and 3.06 percent, respectively.

asea and Casn cguivadients:

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, Big Rivers considers all short-term. highly-liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents.




[nventories:

Fuel inventory primarily consists of coal, which is recorded at weighted average cost. Non-fuel inventory primarily
consists of materials and supplies related to generating plants and is recorded at weighted average cost. Big Rivers has
entered into several long-term coal contracts extending through 2006. Fuel purchased under these contracts in 1995,
1994, and 1993 was $96,525, $98,574, and $101,123, respectively. In 1996, Big Rivers is obligated to purchase a
minimum of 3,912 tons of coal.

Patronage Capital

As provided in the bylaws, any excess of revenues over the sum of (a) operating costs and expenses properly
chargeable against the furnishing of electric energy. and (b) amounts required to offset operating losses incurred
during the current or any prior fiscal year is capital furnished by the patrons and credited to a capital account for each
patron on a patronage basis. Non-operating margins are used to offset any accumulated non-operating deficits and, to
the extent not needed for this purpose, used to offset any operating losses during the current or any prior fiscal year.
If, after offsetting the non-operating margins against accumulated non-operating deficits, operating losses or
accumulated deficits, there remains a balance, this balance is allocated to patrons on a patronage basis and any amount
so allocated is included as a part of capital credited to the accounts of patrons. Neither operating nor non-operating
losses are allocated to the patrons. In accordance with the Restated Mortgage and Security Agreement (see Note 5),
patronage capital cannot be retired if such amounts are less than 40 percent of the total assets.

J ifs re friss
Rectdssifioations

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified for comparability with the 1995 presentation.

The following summarizes utility plant at December 31:

1995 1994

Classified plant in service:
Production plant $1,315,574 $ 1,318,097
Transmission plant 83,486 81,571
Station equipment 100,646 100,691
General plant 17,833 17,654
Other 190 190
Unclassified plant in service 37,090 2.115
Less accumulated depreciation 549,612 504,460
1,005,207 1,015,858
Construction m progress 3,085 33,046

$ 1,008,292 $ 1,048,904

The average rate used for the capitalization of interest during construction was 8.0 percent in 1995, 1994, and
1993. Interest capitalized was approximately $1,024, $1,100, and $400 for the years ended December 31, 1995, 1994,
and 1993, respectively.
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Deferrcd Charges and Coal Prepayments

The following summarizes deferred charges and coal prepayments at December 31-

1995 1994

Unamortized debt expenses $6.145 $ 6,541
Other 160 225
$ 6,305 $ 6,766

Green River Coal Company prepayments $ 4,600 $ 5,130

In prior years, Big Rivers refinanced portions of its long-term obligations at lower interest rates and incurred
refinancing expenses. These costs are being amortized over the term of the RUS Promissory Note (see Note 5).

On July 18. 1989, Big Rivers endeavored to enter into an agreement to buy out a high-cost, long-term coal supply
contract. On September 24, 1991, a contract for substitution of coal was executed with Green River Coal. In
connection therewith, Big Rivers made fuel prepayments of $7,000. which Big Rivers is withholding from payment to
Green River Coal at a rate of one dollar per ton of coal shipped. Interest on the outstanding balance is based on the
prime rate as established by Chemical Bank of New York plus two percent.

;
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A summary of long-term obligations at December 31 is as follows:

1995 1994
Promissory Note - RUS 8.0 percent $ 546,519 $ 600,542
Unamortized premium 521,291 482,296
1,067 810 1.082.838

County of Ohio, Kentucky, promissory note,

with variable interest rate of 5.43 percent and

5.85 percent at 1995 and 1994, respectively 83.300 83,300
County of Ohio, Kentucky, promissory note,

with variable interest rate of 5.45 percent and

5.85 percent at 1995 and 1994, respectively 58,800 58,800
Obligation under power purchased contract (see Note 8) 26,682 31,100
Bank of New York, bank loan 8.0 percent - 1,806
Chemical Bank, bank loan 8.0 percent - 2,558

Total long-term obligations 1,236,592 1,260,411
Less current maturities 8,085 15,144

$1,228,507 $1,245,267




All revenues and substantially all assets of Big Rivers are pledged as collateral under a Restated Mortgage and Security
Agreement dated March 30, 1988, which was executed as part of a Debt Restructuring Agreement. The impact of the
Debt Restructuring Agreement was accounted for as a troubled debt restructuring involving a modification of terms.
Accordingly. Big Rivers accounted for the effects of the restructuring prospectively as a change in the effective interest
rate and did not adjust the carrying amount of the debt.

The Debt Restructuring Agreement provides for a reverse amortization repayment schedule (payments will be applied
to principal in a reverse manner to that provided by a conventional loan amortization schedule) at an effective interest
rate of 8.0 percent for the RUS Promissory Note, which includes all debts of Big Rivers which are guaranteed or
insured by the RUS (RUS Debt). For financial statement purposes, interest expense is being computed on a
conventional amortization method rather than the reverse amortization method per the Debt Restructuring
Agreement. The resulting difference between the reverse amortization repayment schedule and the conventional loan
amortization schedule is reflected as unamortized premium and will be adjusted throughout the term of the RUS
Promissory Note. Any unpaid interest is added to the unamortized premium. In return for Big Rivers making all
payments on the RUS Promissory Note, the RUS will make all payments required on all prior debt on a timely basis
and will not seek to collect additional funds from Big Rivers.

In connection with the Settlement Agreement (see Note 6), the Debt Restructuring Agreement was amended as of
January 1, 1990. The amendment provided that if the variable rates to the Aluminum Smelters specified in the
Settlement Agreement and in effect on April 1, 1990, remain continuously in effect and unmodified through August
31, 1997, and if during this period. the RUS Promissory Note never exceeds by more than $18,000 what the RUS
Promissory Note would be if only the scheduled annual amounts were paid, then no event of default shall be deemed
to have occurred through December 31, 1997. Using this criteria, the principal balance of the RUS Promissory Note
cannot exceed $460,948 at December 31, 1997.

In November of 1982, the County of Ohio, Kentucky, issued $82,500 of Pollution Control Interim Bonds (Interim
Bonds), Series 1982, the proceeds of which were loaned to Big Rivers. On October 31, 1985, the County of Ohio,
Kentucky, issued $83,300 of Pollution Control Refunding Demand Bonds (Refunding Bonds), Series 1985, the
proceeds of which were used to refinance the Interim Bonds. The Refunding Bonds bear interest at a variable rate,
which is the lesser of (a) 13 percent per annum or (b) a rate determined weekly by the remarketing agent, with the
approval of Big Rivers, equal to the minimum rate necessary to remarket the bonds in a secondary market at par plus
accrued interest, but not less than 40 percent nor greater than 110 percent of an index based upon the weekly sales of
91-day U.S. Treasury Bills. These bonds are supported by a Chemical Bank irrevocable standby letter of credit, which
is due to expire October 15, 1997, and is subject to renewal. The bonds are subject to mandatory redemption upon
expiration of the supporting letter of credit. In absence of notification by Chemical Bank to renew the letter of credit,
Big Rivers will draw down sufficient funds under the letter of credit to redeem the bonds. Amounts borrowed against
the Jetter of credit would bear interest at prime plus two percent and become bank amounts as defined by the Debt
Restructuring Agreement. The bank amounts would be repayable under the same terms and conditions as the
redeemed bonds. While these bonds are not dated to mature until October 1, 2015, pursuant to the Debt
Restructuring Agreement. Big Rivers is obligated to fully fund these bonds or bank amounts by January 31, 2010.

On June 30, 1983, the County of Ohio, Kentucky, issued $58,800 of Pollution Control Bonds, Series 1983, the
proceeds of which were loaned to Big Rivers. These bonds bear a variable rate of interest, determined weekly by the
remarketing agent, with the approval of Big Rivers, equal to the minimum rate necessary to remarket the bonds in a
secondary market at par plus accrued interest, but not to exceed 110 percent of an index based upon the weekly sales
of 91-day U.S. Treasury Bills. These bonds are supported by a Bank of New York irrevocable standby letter of credit,
which is due to expire July 1, 1996, and is subject to renewal. The bonds are subject to mandatory redemption upon
expiration of the supporting letter of credit. In absence of notification by Bank of New York to renew the letter of
credit, Big Rivers will draw down sufficient funds under the letter of credit to redeem the bonds. Amounts borrowed



against the letter of credit would bear interest at prime plus two percent and become bank amounts as defined by the
Debt Restructuring Agreement. The bank amounts would be repayable under the same terms and conditions as the
redeemed bonds. While these bonds are not dated to mature until June 1, 2013, pursuant to the Debt Restructuring
Agreement, Big Rivers is obligated to fully fund these bonds or bank amounts by January 31, 2010.

On February 25, 1988, Big Rivers refinanced $319,426 of high interest rate debt. As a result of this refinancing, a
gain of $37,734 was realized. As prescribed by regulatory guidelines, this gain is reflected as an unamortized gain on
reacquired debt in the accompanying balance sheets and is being amortized into income over the term of the RUS
Promissory Note.

At December 31, 1995, Big Rivers had, since September 1987, paid total debt service on the RUS Promissory Note in
such a manner that principal payments exceeded the required minimum level of such payments by $51,533. This
amount of excess principal payments represents a decrease of $20,350 during 1995.

Based on the overpayments to date and the required RUS Promissory Note principal balance on December 31,
1997, Big Rivers has calculated the annual payments necessary to avoid an event of default through December 31,
1997, and minimum scheduled payments thereafter. Actual payments may be more or less than the scheduled
amounts below. Under this calculation, the maturities of long-term obligations for each of the five years ending
subsequent to December 31, 1995, are estimated to be as follows:

Financial

RUS Statement

Promissory Unamortized Other Change in

Year Note Premium Debt Principal
1996 $ 44,502 $ (39,533) $ 3,136 $ 8.085
1997 41,068 (35,705) 3,275 8,638
1998 45,928 (20,158) 3,439 29,209
1999 57,797 11,642 3.544 72,983
2000 53,338 21,908 3,548 78.794

Big Rivers rates include a ratchet billing demand charge (where current billing units are determined based on the
highest metered demand in the past twelve months) and a variable rate to major customers (the Aluminum Smelters)
of certain Big Rivers’ members. A Settlement Agreement effective January 1, 1990, was reached between Big Rivers,
the Aluminumn Smelters, and Big Rivers' creditors. The Settlement Agreement preserves the variable aluminum
smelter rate based on the market price of aluminum within a defined minimum (1.81 cents per kWh) and maximum
(4.4 cents per kWh) as the method of calculating the cash payments to be made by the Aluminum Smelters to Big
Rivers. The Settlement Agreement, however, fixes the revenue to be recognized by Big Rivers at 2.91 cents per kWh
based on an approximate 99 percent load factor over the term of the agreement. The variable rate will be effective
through August 1997 or at which time Big Rivers collects in the aggregate an amount equal to the demand charge
calculated over the term of the contract period as discussed in Note 1. Any payments in excess of or under the 2.91
cents per kWh brought about by the variable aluminum smelter rate are recorded as a component of the balancing
account in the accompanying balance sheets. Amounts recorded in the balancing account will be used to increase or
decrease operating revenues over the term of the agreement to the level of 2.91 cents per kWh. This settlement was
brought about in part by the high aluminum prices in 1989 and 1988, which caused the Aluminum Smelters to pay at
or near the maximum rate of 4.4 cents per kWh.



The Clean Air Act Amendments of 1990 (CAAA-90) require significant reductions in the emission of sulfur
dioxide and nitrogen oxide by fossil-fueled electric generating units. The CAAA-90 requires that sulfur dioxide
emissions be reduced at generating units in two phases over a ten-year period. In order to meet the requirements, the
City ol Henderson, Kentucky (the City) and Big Rivers constructed pollution control equipment on the two units
owned by the City (see Note 8). On August 31, 1994, the KPSC approved Big Rivers’ compliance plan and
environmental surcharge tariff, which is designed to recover costs associated with the compliance of CAAA-90. Big
Rivers implemented the environmental surcharge in July 1995.

The KPSC has supervised a focused management audit of Big Rivers' fuel procurement policies and procedures.
During 1994, the KPSC issued three separate orders directing Big Rivers to refund $15,460 plus interest related to the
period November 1, 1990 to April 30, 1994. For 1995 and 1994, Big Rivers recorded $312 and $18,044, respectively,
as a reduction in revenues from jurisdictional customers, which represents the rate refund orders in 1994, including an
estimate for certain fuel costs currently under review. In addition. the KPSC disallowed prospectively from fuel rate
recovery approximately $6,760 per year related to the Green River Coal contract over the remaining life of the
contract. Of the $6,760 disallowance, a portion is refunded to members prorata based on the jurisdictional energy
sold as a percentage of total energy sold.

Intersystem power sales to non-members are a component of full cost recovery under Big Rivers’ rate design. A
long-term contract has been signed with Oglethorpe Power Corporation (Oglethorpe Power) for the sale of 103 MW
of firm power for ten years, beginning in August 1992. Oglethorpe Power is a joint owner of the Georgia Integrated
Transmission System, which interconnects with the transmission system of the Tennessee Valley Authority.

Two long-term contracts have been signed with Hooster Energy Rural Electric Cooperative (Hoosier Energy). The
first 15 for the sale of 65 MW of capacity from Big Rivers' combustion turbine during a three-month summer period
through year 2000. The second is a peaking power agreement varying from 10 MW 1 1993 to 170 MW in 1999. This
agreement covers June through September of each calendar year. Hoosier Energy is a RUS cooperative interconnected
with Big Rivers. On January 5, 1996, the Hoosier Energy contracts received KPSC approval.

7
Income Taxes

Big Rivers was initially formed as a tax-exempt cooperative organization under section 501 (c) (12) of the Internal
Revenue Code. To retain tax-exempt status under this section of the Internal Revenue Code, at least 85 percent of the
Big Rivers' revenues must be generated from sales to the cooperative’s members. In 1983, sales to non-members
resulted in Big Rivers being unable to meet the 85 percent requirement. In a letter dated March 23, 1984, the Internal
Revenue Service notified Big Rivers that effective for 1983 and subsequent years, Big Rivers would be considered a
taxable organization until such year that sales 1o members would satisfy the 85 percent requirement and Big Rivers
formally reapplies for tax-exempt status. Big Rivers is also subject to Kentucky income tax.

Under the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,”
Big Rivers is required to record deferred tax assets and liabilities for temporary differences between amounts reported
for financial reporting purposes as compared to amounts reported for income tax purposes. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are determined based on these temporary differences using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which
these differences are expected to reverse.

At December 31, 1995 and 1994, Big Rivers had deferred tax assets of $463,495 and $396,485, respectively, which
primarily relate to tax credits and net non-member operating losses. At December 31, 1995, the tax credits and net
non-member operating losses amounted to $57,735 and $376,559, and begin expiring in 1998 through 2000 and 1999
through 2010, respectively. Additionally, at December 31, 1995 and 1994, Big Rivers had deferred tax liabilities of
$276,045 and $220.954, respectively, which primarily relate to depreciation differences on utility plant. At December
31, 1995 and 1994, Big Rivers did not anticipate utilization of a portion of the deferred tax assets, thus a valuation
allowance was established of $187,450 and $175,531, respectively.

feenty-seren



Big Rivers, under contracts with the City, leases and operates the City-owned 312 MW generation station (Station
Two) and agrees to purchase an allocated portion of the output Big Rivers’ portion of Station Two capacity is currently
82 percent, which is expected to decrease to 80 percent by 1997 The contracts expire in 2003, subject to options for
extensions, including the option of extending the contracts through the economic life of the power plants.

In order to comply with the CAAA-90, Big Rivers and the City installed pollution control equipment on the
Station Two facilities. The existing contracts with the City have been amended to include the cost of nstalling,
operating. and maintaining this equipment. The contract amendments were approved on March 31, 1995 by the
KPSC. In 1993, the City and Big Rivers sold emission allowances previously awarded by the EPA which offsets
approximately 60 percent of the cost to install the pollution control equipment. Big Rivers portion of the sale of
allowances was approximately $23.340. which was recorded as a regulatory liability in other deferred credits in the
accompanying balance sheets. On August 31. 1994, the KPSC approved the compliance plan and environmental
surcharge tariff (see Note 6).

Pursuant to the KPSC order, the allowance proceeds, plus accrued interest, are being refunded prorata to
jurisdictional customers in the same vear in which the allowances are first available for use, beginning in 1995. For
the year ended December 31, 1995, Big Rivers refunded approximately $1,745 of allowance proceeds and interest. The
refund will be completed by December 31, 2002, In addition, Big Rivers would expect to incur additional costs to
replace the allowances sold.

Under the terms of the contracts and amendments thereto with the City, Big Rivers has agreed to pay a
proportionate share ol the monthly fixed costs of Station Two (excluding depreciation) based on its allocated portion
of the capacity of Station Two. The monthly fixed costs include Big Rivers respective share of debt service payments
necessary Lo retire the principal and interest on the City’s bonds issued to finance the construction of Station Two. Big
Rivers has recorded the portion of the principal payments that it is obligated to pay as fixed costs under the contract
based on estimates of 1ts allocated portion of Station Two capacity, and has recorded as an asset a corresponding
amount for the right to purchase its allocated portion of the output. The fixed costs are payable to the City whether or
not Station Two is operational or the operation thereof is interrupted, suspended, or interfered with in whole or in part
for any cause. Total remaining payments under the lease, including the amounts disclosed as other debt 1n the debt
maturities section in Note 5, were as follows at December 31, 1995

1996 $ 4713
1697 4.654
1998 4,619
1999 4501
2000 4,260
Therealter 10,590

$ 33337

The total operating costs under the contracts for 1995, 1994, and 1993 were $32,776, $31,996, and $33.563,
respectively. Such costs are accounted for as power purchased in the accompanying statements of revenues and
expenses.



Big Rivers has non-contributory defined benelit pension plans covering substantially all employees who meet

minimum age and service requirements. The plans provide benefits based on the participants' years of service and the

five highest consecutive years' compensation during the last ten vears of employment. Big Rivers' policy is to fund

such plans in accordance with the requirements of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974. Also, Big

Rivers has executed non-contributory defined compensation agreements with certain key employees which provide for

periodic payments upon retirement or to beneficiaries in the event of death. The deferred compensation plan is fully

funded and has been suspended for 1995 and 1996.

A reconciliation of the projected benefit obligation and
the funded status of the benefit plans at December 31 is as follows:

Actuarial present value of the benefit obligation:

Accumulated benefit obligation, including vested

benefits of $21,911, and $19,189

Projected benelfit obligation for services rendered

Plan assets at fair value, primarily listed stocks
and U.S. Treasury Bonds

Projected benefit obligation in excess of plan assets
Unrecognized net transition assets

Unrecognized prior service costs

Unrecognized net loss

Unfunded accrued pension cost

Net periodic pension costs, which are calculated based on

actuarial assumptions at January 1, were as follows
for the years ended December 31:

Service cost ~ benefits earned during the year
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation
Expected return on plan assets
Amortization of transition assets
Amortization of prior service costs
Amortization of net loss
Special termination benefits

Net periodic pension costs

Assumptions used to develop the projected benefit
obligation were:

Discount rates

Rates of increase in compensation levels

Expected long-term rate of return on assets
Total expense related to the pension and deferred compensation

plans was $2,966, $3.290. and $3.108 in 1995, 1994, and 1993,
respectively.

199

$(21,979)

$ (36,630)

26,020

(10,610)
(1.321)
1,900

5,718

$ (4313)

-
\©
Ut

$ 2173
2,369
(1,801)
(220)

228

179

$ 2928

1995
7.5%
4.0
8.5

1994
$ (19,246)
$(32,927)
19,902
(13,025)
(1,541)
2,128
9,368
$ (3,070
1994 1993
$ 2233 $ 1,660
2,147 1.726
(1,655) (1,415)
(220) (220)
228 230
230 30
- 396
$ 2,963 $ 2,407
1994 1993
7 5% 7.5%
4.0 4.0
8.5 8.5
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Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions

Big Rivers provides certain postretirement medical benefits for retired employees and their spouses. For all employees
who retired prior to 1994, Big Rivers pays 80 percent of the cost from age 62-65, and from age 65, for salaried
employees, Big Rivers pays 100 percent of Medicare supplement cost. For salaried employees who retire after
December 31, 1993, the paid Medicare supplement was eliminated.

The discount rate used in computing the postretirement obligation for 1995 and 1994 was 8.0 percent. A health
care cost trend rate of 10.0 percent in 1995 declining to 6.0 percent in 2004 was utilized. The health care cost trend
rate assumption had a significant effect on the amounts reported resulting in an unrecognized net gain of $590 for
1995, A 1.0 percent increase in the health care trend rate each year would increase the aggregate service and interest
costs for 1995 by $92 and the accumulated other postretirement benefit obligation by $719.

The components of net periodic postretirement benefit costs for the years ended December 31 were as follows:

1995 1994
Service cost ~ benefits earned during the year $ 230 $ 246
[nterest cost on projected benefit obligation 376 331
Amortization of transition obligation 207 207
Amortization of gain (2) -
Nel periodic postretirement benefit costs $ 8l1 $ 784

A reconciliation of the postretirement benefit obligation and funded status of the plan at December 31 is
as follows:

1995 1994
Accumulated postretirement benelit obligation ~
retirees $ (1417 $ (1.683)
Other eligible active participants (493) (558)
Other active participants (3.317) (3,062)
Total benefit obligation (5.227) (5,303)
Unrecognized transition obligation 3514 3721
Unrecognized net gain (590) -
Unfunded accrued postretirement cost mﬁ $ (1582)

In addition to the postretirement plan discussed above, in 1992 Big Rivers began a postretirement benefit which
vests a portion of accrued sick leave benefits to salaried employees upon retirement or death. To the extent an
employee’s sick leave hour balance exceeds 480 hours, such excess hours are paid at 20 percent of the employee’s base
hourly rate at time of reurement or death. The accumulated obligation recorded [or the postretirement sick leave
benefit is $365 and $601 at December 31, 1995 and 1994, respectively, and the postretirement expense recorded was

$267, and $150, for 1994, and 1993, respectively. No postretirement exnense related to the sick leave benefit was
recorded for 1995.
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Related Parties and Major Customers

Operating Revenues

Members. 1995 1994 1993
Green River Electric Corporation $ 137,203 5 132,400 $ 133,194
Henderson Union Electric Cooperative 90,724 92167 106,018
Jackson Purchase Electric Cooperative Corporation 24833 23.960 23,709
Meade County Rural Electric Cooperative Corporation 13,436 12,758 12,463
KPSC Ordered Fuel Cost Refund (see Note 6) (312) (18,044) _

Non-members 73,930 72.173 75,456

Other revenue 96 157 106

$ 339910 $ 315571 S 350,946

NSA and Alcan purchase substantial amounts of electric energy under contracts with Big Rivers' members expiring in
2010. Sales to members for these two customers (Green River Electric Corporation for NSA and Henderson Union
Electric Cooperative for Alcan) were as [ollows:

Henderson

Year Green River Union Combined
1095 $ 85,518 567,029 $152,547
1994 84.217 69,151 153,368
1993 86,428 83.432 169.860

In 1994, Alcan closed 80,000 kilowatts of its smelter operation capacity at Sebree. Kentucky. Alcan is required by
contract to continue paying the fixed demand cost at the tariff rate of $10.15 per kW month. All energy associated
with this capacity will be sold when possible on the open market by Big Rivers. Alcan will receive a credit for all
power sold in excess ol Big Rivers energy cost.

Big Rivers agrees to indemnify its member cooperatives by performing their power supply agreements with
certain industrial customers and requiring payments for power consumed and only such other payments as each
member receives from its customers.

At December 31, 1995 and 1994, Big Rivers had accounts receivable from its members of approximately $25,669,
and $24,040, respectively.

12
Disclosure of the Fair Value

of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts ol Big Rivers' cash and cash equivalents approximate the fair value due to the short maturity of
these financial instruments. The assumption used in determining the fair value of Big Rivers’ long-term variable
interest rate debt is that the fair value approximates the carrying value, as the debt reprices weekly. Due to the
uncertainties described in Notes 1 and 5, the ability of Big Rivers 1o obtain new debt or replace its existing debt is
indeterminable. Accordingly, it is not practicable for Big Rivers to estimate the fair value ol its long-term fixed interest
rate debt. The fair value of all other financial instruments is estimated by management to approximate the carrying
value.



Operating Revenues
Expenses:
Operation and Maintenance

Purchased Power and
Interchanged, Net

Depreciation

Taxes

Interest

Other

Total

Operating Margins (Loss)
Non-operating Margins (Loss)

Net Margins (Loss)

Utility Plant at Cost
Construction Work in Progress

Total Electric Plant
Less Accumulated Depreciation

Utility Plant Net

Total Assets

System Peak Demand - MW

Net Generating Capacity Owned - MW
Net HMP&L Capacity Purchased - MW
Other Purchased Capacity - MW

Sales to Members - GWh
Sales to Non-Members - GWh

Generated - GWh

Purchased HMP&L Energy - GWh
Other Purchased Energy - GWh
System Load Factor - %

Permanent Employees at Year-End

Average Cost of Coal Used

Price Per Ton -
¢/MM BTU

=eeemssmmm  Comparative Statistical Analysis

$  (44,314,987)

1995 1994 1993 1992
$ 339910,431 315570913 350.945.862 319.907.459
200,753,719 199,481,485 196,548,190 183,693,972
42,682,480 39,173,662 45,150,914 33,730.825
45,422,648 45,106,596 45,257.415 44,980,616
4.597.266 4,660,584 4,505,465 4374765
94,983.231 93.235,749 92,706,822 93.358,171
(2,652,823) (1,065.405) (1,043.154) (999,831)
385.786.521 380,592,671 383,125,652 359,138,518
(45,876.090) (65,021,758) (32,179.790) (39.231,059)
1,561,103 1,369.775 1,545,675 1,275,827
(63,651,983) (30,634.,115)

$1,554,819,176
3.085,344

1,520,318,745
33,046,229

1,507.141,786
4975491

(37,955,232)

1,497.045,501
10,563,767

1,557.904,520

1,553.3064.974

1.512.117,277

1.507,609.268

fltv-fro

549,612,182 504.460.557 461,496.317 419,709,707
$1,008,292,338 1,048,904,417 1,050,620,960 1,087.899.561
$1,101,623,898 1,140,973,124 1,143,388,554 1,180,152 39

1,166 1,190 1,217 1.166
1.459 1,459 1,459 1,459
254 258 201 262

178 178 178 178
7.712.05 7,454 42 8,445.13 8.320.34
3,021.54 2,587 90 2.802.33 1.463.50
9,019.02 8,655.83 9,206.67 8,418.27
1.368.26 1,344.70 1.670.12 1,211.98
576.00 277.69 588.60 305.91
76.5 73.8 813 82.7
820 837 847 846
29.32 20.26 28.27 27.92
127.9 129 4 125.6 1255



Ten-Year Summary s

1991 1990 1989 1988 1987 1986
331,334,709 331,736,393 389,976,759 399,277,507 300,084,362 227,664.219
193,288,174 191,389,914 170,941,916 187,344,006 169,931,331 130,991,511
39,248,839 40,263,144 35,434,879 39,158,896 39,146,440 38,214,277
44,809,522 44,564,475 44,333,598 49,310,860 53,555,259 18,798,750
4,365,522 4,201,594 4,011,142 3,906,621 3,817,850 2,515,787
95,071,442 07,222,523 101,748,177 103,607,079 124,351.304 51,520,808
(1,008,592) 682,563 752,017 612,200 597,187 233,931
375,774,907 378,324,213 357,221,729 383,939,602 391,399,371 242 275,064
(44,440,198) (46,587,820) 32,755,030 15,337,845 (91,315,009) (14,610,845)
1,505,489 2,113,282 2,378,289 3471174 2,684,163 (26,614.194)
(42,934,709) (44,474,538) 35,133,319 18.809,019 (88,630,846) (41,225,039)

1,466,355,537
11,986,253

1,462,170,906
9,204,400

1,454.882,990
4,162,708

1,451.937,802
1,226,596

1,448,581,890
1,448,505

1,452.144,009
2,080,925

1,478,341,790
376,616,976

1.471,375,306
331,805,315

1.459,045.,698
288,884,804

1,453,164,398
245,556,080

1,450,030,395
196,710,029

1,454,224.934
143,479,823

1.101,724 814

1,139,569,991

1,170.160,894

1.207,608,318

1,253,320,366

1,310,745,111

1,225,216,359 1,267,340.928 1,322,367.888 1,386,197.,045 1,421,349,400 1,438,564.861
1.168 1.174 1,177 1,157 990 993
1,459 1,459 1,459 1,459 1,459 1,448
263 264 264 2064 270 271

178 178 178 178 178 178
8,314.32 8,191.46 8,072.76 7.814.61 6,271.32 6.211.79
2,055.13 2,592.86 1,500.96 3,188.51 3,993.08 3,303.68
8,664.31 9,010.66 8,047.11 9.270.21 8.321.80 6,609.70
1,480.77 1,668.90 1,388.66 1,716.20 1,932.61 1.,631.87
415.91 337.14 314.14 262.04 284.69 336.38
83.1 81.9 80.0 77.6 75.5 74.1
875 868 857 855 856 863
28,51 28.73 27.82 28.05 27.48 27.83
129.2 1292 126.5 125.7 1243 127.6
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PROFILE — ——— - - e

Headquartered in Henderson, Kentucky, Big Rivers Electric Corporation is a generation
and transmussion cooperative owned by the members 1t serves. Since its origination in
1961, Big Ruvers has remained committed to providing reliable wholesale electric service
on a not-for-profit basis to its four member cooperatives. In turn, these cooperatives,
owned by their 85,000 consumer-members, distribute the electricity at retail, on a

not-for-profit basis, in portions of 22 counties located in western Kentucky.

Green River Electric Corporation Meade County Rural Electric Cooperative Corporation
3111 Farview Drive 1351 Highway 79

Owensboro, Kentucky Brandenburg, Kentucky

Henderson Union Electric Cooperative Jackson Purchase Electric Cooperative Corporation
6402 Old Corydon Road 2900 Trvin Cobb Drive

Henderson, Kentucky Paducah, Kentucky

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS ®

(Dollars in thousands)

Increase % Increase

1994 1993 (Decrease) (Decrease)
Operating Revenues 315,571 350,946 (35,375) (10.1)
Operating Expenses 288,422 291,462 (3,040 (1.0)
Net Margins (63,652) (30,634) (33,018) (107.8)
Capital Expenditures 29,875 16,404 13,471 82.1
Cost of Fuel Used 115,365 117,400 (2,035) (1.7)
System Peak Demand (Megawatts) 1,190 1,217 (27) (2.2)
Energy Sold to Members (MWh) 7,454,426 8,445,136 (990,710) (11.7)
Energy Sold to Others (MWh) 2,587,896 2,802,328 (214,432) (7.7)
Revenue per kWh Sold (Mills) 31.41 31.19 22 7

P A GE O N




Y E A R

-~ I —~he year began with the continuation of

mvestigations by the Federal Bureau of
Investigation and the Internal Revenue Service of
the company’s former general manager, W. H.
Thorpe, certain coal supplers, and other indinduals
not related to the company Big Rivers Electric
Corporation 1s not, and has not been, a target of
these investigations and continues to fully cooperate
with the investigators.

On June 28, 1994, Thorpe was indict-
ed and charged with various counts mcluding mail
fraud, racketeering, and tax fraud. Also charged in
the indictment were Green River Coal Company
(GRCQC) and Clyde Brown, Jr., an owner of GRCC.
Thorpe continues to maintain his innocence and a
trial has been scheduled to begin in April 1995.

Two of the individuals under investiga-
tion, Eddie R. Brown (not related to Clyde Brown,
Jr.) and Shirley Pritchett, were indicted, pleaded
guilty, and were convicted on charges relating to cor-
ruption in the western Kentucky coal industry.

In a plea agreement in the U.S. District
Court for Western Kentucky, Pritchett agreed to pay
Big Rivers approximately $1 million in restitution.
Big Rivers filed a claim with, and received $490,000
from, 1ts fiduciary insurance company for the
alleged wrongful acts of Thorpe related to which

Eddie R. Brown and Pritchett pleaded guilty.

The company has also filed civil law-
suits against the wrongdoers to recover damages.
During the year, a settlement was negotiated with
Eddie R. Brown for the payment of $900,000 plus
interest over 20 months. Through December 31,
1994, Brown has paid $578,314 on the claim which
includes $28,314 of mterest. The remaining civil
actions were pending at year end.

Big Rivers has filed a lawsuit seeking a
declaratory judgement to set aside three coal con-
tracts with Costain Coal, Inc. The contracts were
entered into in 1981, 1983, and 1984 with Jim
Smith Contracting Company. Smith sold the coal
contracts and other coal properties to Costain in
1987 In 1988, Smith paid Thorpe $500,000 for
advice assoclated with the sale of a railroad line.

During 1993, the Kentucky Public
Service Commission (KPSC) conducted a “focused
management audit” of Big Rivers’ fuel procurement
practices and procedures, as discussed n more
detail elsewhere 1n this report. The auditor
expressed an opinion that Big Rivers had approxi-
mately $6 million in unreasonable fuel costs during
the period under review. Of these unreasonable
costs, $5.2 million related to a 1988 amendment
modifying the productivity index provisions of Big
Ruivers’ coal contract with GRCC. Big Rivers notified
GRCC that it would seek to recover those costs [rom

GRCC.



Following Big Rivers’ notification,
GRCC filed for bankruptcy protection under
Chapter 11 The Bankruptcy Court stayed discovery
procedures until the case could either be heard or
disputes settled through the assistance of a court-
appointed examiner.

On February 18, 1994, Big Rivers, the
Kentucky Attorney General, and the intervenors,
including Alcan Aluminum Corporation (Alacan),
National Southwire Aluminum Company (NSA),
and Commonwealth Aluminum Corporation, filed a
Settlement Stipularion with the KPSC to be effective
January 1, 1994  The agreement proposed to
resolve all 1ssues related to the Fuel Adjustment
Clause (FAC) and/or fuel procurement practices of
Big Rivers prior to the date thereof and the effect of
such practices on allowable fuel costs for all past,
present, and future periods. The Settlement
Stipulation provided that GRCC be paid $3.61 per
ton over the price it pays for coal received from its
substitute coal supplier, and that Big Rivers not
include $1.80 per ton of that amount in the FAC.
The ratepayers would have recewved a reduction in
fuel costs, including the $1.80 not passed through
the FAC, of approximately $9 per ton, or approxi-
mately $100 million during the remaining 11 years
of the contract. Subsequent to the filing of the
Settlement Supulation, the aluminum companies
who were parties to the agreement, notified the
KPSC of their attempt to withdraw the agreement.

On March 18, 1994, the KPSC rejected the

Settlement Stipulation.

Year in

Review

As previously mentioned, the KPSC
ordered a “focused management audit” of Big Rivers’
fuel procurement activities and held a public hearing
from October 26 to November 5, 1993, Although
the auditor expressed an opinion that Big Rivers had
approximately $6 million i unreasonable fuel costs
dunng the period under review, on July 21, 1994,
the KPSC ordered Big Rivers to:

(1) refund $10.8 million beginning
with services provided in August 1994 and continu-
ing each month thereafter for the following 11
months by crediting $900,000 plus nterest to fuel
costs;

(2) generally, adjust the cost recover-
able through the FAC for coal purchased from
GRCC to the amount paid to the substitute supplier
under the GRCC contract, plus $4.52 a ton, and

(3) within 90 days, develop a mecha-
nism to distribute to custoriers amounts received by
Big Rivers as damages or awards in various judicial
proceedings nvolving its coal contracts and fuel
procurement practices.

On August 9 and November 1, 1994,
the KPSC 1ssued additional orders regarding the
application of the FAC for the six-month periods
ending October 31, 1993, and April 30, 1994,
directing Big Rivers to refund approximately $2.3
millon plus interest for each of the two periods.

The amounts ordered to be refunded
consisted of the KPSC’s determinations of unreason-
able fuel costs associated with the GRCC contract.

Those determinauons relate to the amendment
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regarding the productivity index and the implemen-
tation of the substitution clause under the contract.
The KPSC ordered that only $4.52 of the approxi-
mate $11.15 per ton Big Rivers paid GRCC above
the amount GRCC paid the substitute supplier
could be included in the FAC. Big Rivers has
appealed this order to the Franklin Circuit Court.

In 1993, Webster County Coal
Corporation, a subsidiary of MAPCO Coal, Inc.
(MAPCO), filed suit against Big Rivers in the
Webster County Circuit Court claiming that its cost-
plus contract for the Retiki Mine entitles 1t to recov-
er mine closing costs. Big Rivers contends that the
contract does not provide for mine closing costs.
Since September of 1993, Big Rivers has withheld
mune closing costs from MAPCO% monthly billings.
According to MAPCO?% counsel, these closing costs
are estimated to be from $10 million to $15 million.

Because of the low-quality coal being
delivered from the Retiki Mine, Big Rivers and
Webster County Coal agreed to the closure of that
mune effecuve January 27, 1995, with the provision
for MAPCO to provide substitute coal from other
mines to Big Rivers until January 13, 1996, the end
of the contract term. This agreement does not affect
the lawsuit relating to mine closing costs. The suit
s still pending and a tral date in October 1995 has
been set.

In 1993, the U.S District Court of
Southern Indiana rendered a decision 1n favor of Big
Rivers in a lawsuit involving Delta Mining
Corporation. This former coal supplier alleged that

Big Rivers owed $15.7 million 1n damages for not

accepting the total quantity of coal required under a
10-year contract made in 1977  Delta Mining
appealed the decision and in March 1994, the U.S.
Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit upheld the
decision of the U.S. District Court in favor of Big
Rivers.

On January 20, 1995, NSA and Alcan
filed a derivative action suit in Henderson Circuit
Court against Big Rivers and 1ts individual directors.
The action seeks the dissolution of Big Rivers as a
corporation, contending that persons in control of
the corporation, including the directors, have acted,
are acting, or will act in a manner that is illegal or
fraudulent. The suit further claims damages of more
than $83 million from the mdividual directors,
whom the Aluminum Smelters allege breached var-
1ous duties owed to Big Rivers.

In September, Morton Holbrook
retired after serving more than 20 years as Big
Ruwvers’ general counsel. Holbrook was replaced by
Jim Miller, a partner in the Owensboro, Kentucky,
law firm of Holbrook, Sullivan, Mountjoy and
Stainback. Miller was selected after an extensive

search by Big Rivers’ legal committee.

FUELS

The cost of fuel consumed in generating electricity
1s Big Ruwers single largest expenditure. About
three-fourths of the coal requirements come from
Kentucky mines located in the service areas of the

member cooperatives.



During 1994, 4.5 million tons of coal
were burned in generating electricity, an average of
12,417 tons per day. This compares to 4 9 millon
tons, 13,470 tons per day, in 1993. Fuel costs for
the year (including Big Ruvers’ share of Henderson
Municipal Power and Light [HMP&L] Station Two,
reported as purchased power) were $133.6 million,
a decrease of $6.1 million from 1993.

The average cost of coal was $29.26
per ton, equivalent to 129.4 cents per million Bru.
This compares to $28.27 per ton, or 125.6 cents per
million Btu last year.

Big Rivers’ Board of Directors
approved changes n the Fuels Department bidding
procedures and reestablished a Fuels Committee.
The committee consists of one board member from
each of the four member distribution cooperatives.
The new bidding procedures require that all formal
sealed bids be opened in public with at least three
Big Rivers’ employees present. All contracts for coal
and coal transportation are still approved by the
Board of Directors. General procedures were estab-
lished for the procurement of coal on long-term,
medium-term, and short-term purchases, as well as
for supplemental purchase orders, and emergency or
“distress” coal purchases.

With the installation of the scrubbers
on HMP&L Station Two, Big Rivers will be able to
use coal of less-stringent quality specifications,

thereby reducing fuel costs at that facility.

HUMAN RESOURCES

A three-year contract with the International
Brotherhood of Electrical Workers (I.B.E.-W. Local
1701), representing approximately 498 employees,
was negotiated and approved by the union member-
ship, and became effective October 15, 1994. This
contract, coupled with several non-negotiated
improvements to the savings plan and life insurance
program, will help pave the way for improved
employee and labor relations in the coming years.

The focus of Big Rwvers' safety pro-
grams 1s directed toward maintaining a safe working
environment for the employees. The success of
these eflorts was evident when Wilson plant person-
nel completed 1,229 days of work prior to a lost
workday mcident 1n 1994

At year end, Big Rivers established a
record low of nine lost-time-injuries. The 38 report-
ed mjuries tied the record lowest reported injury
rate since 1978. The 1994 excellent safety record
reflects a continung commutment to safety by the

employees and management.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

Total capital expenditures for construction in 1994
were $29.9 million, up $13.5 million from 1993. As
discussed below, $24.2 million of the expenditures
n 1994 were ncurred for the nstallation of the

scrubber on HMP&L Station Two.
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ENVIRONMENTAL

COMPLIANCE

Compliance with environmental regulations relating
to the Clean Air Act Amendments of 1990 (CAAA-
90) continues to be a priority for Big Rivers. In
1993, applications were filed for Phase | Acid Rain
Permits. During 1994, plans were completed for
complying with the requirements of the CAAA-90.
Big Rivers’ diversified compliance plan involves
installing flue gas desulfurization (FGD) scrubbers
on HMP&L Station Two, and switching the Coleman
plant to lower sulfur fuel.

The scrubber construction at HMP&L
progressed orderly during 1994, and all major
equipment was delivered and installed. At year end,
the construction was on schedule and under budget.
The scrubbers are slated to be in commercial oper-
ation by June 1995

In further response to the CAAA-90,
CONUNUOUS emISSIoNs Monitoring equipment 1s
being mstalled on the Reid and Wilson units.

The KPSC held extensive hearings
during the year regarding Big Rivers’ compliance
plan and the environmental surcharge to recover the
cost of compliance with the CAAA-90. On August
31, 1994, the KPSC approved the compliance plan
and a modified surcharge. The surcharge will

become effective on July 1, 1995.

POWER SUPPLY SOURCES

All Big Rivers generating units are coal fired except
for a 65-megawatt (MW) combustion turbine used
for peaking and emergency purposes.

Big Rivers owns and operates four gen-
erating plants and operates HMP&L Station Two.

Staustics concerning those plants are as follows:

MEGAWATT-HOURS
GENERATED IN 1994

Kenneth C. Coleman Plant
Hawesville, Kentucky
Three units totaling
455-MW net capability 2,599,813.6
Robert D. Green Plant
Sebree, Kentucky

Two units totaling
454-MW net capability 2,951,475.0
Robert D. Reid Plant

Sebree, Kentucky

One 65-MW net combustion turbine 1,841.0
One 65-MW net steam turbine 192,197 8
D.B. Wilson Plant

Centertown, Kentucky

One unit with

420-MW net capability 2,910,498.0



Henderson Municipal Power and Light
Station Two

Sebree, Kentucky

Two units totaling

315-MW net capability

(Big Rivers’ share) 1,344,697.6

Big Rwers has contracted to take all
the Station Two capacity n excess of HMP&Ts
needs. During 1994, Big Rivers’ share was approxi-
mately 83 percent.

The Southeastern Power Administra-
ton provides 178 MW of hydroelectric peaking
capacity to the corporation through a long-term
contract.

Big Rivers and East Kentucky Power
Cooperative have a unit back-up power agreement
in which each party will furnish (when requested)
up to 200 MW upon the loss of the other’s largest
generating unit (Big Rivers” Wilson unit and East

Kentucky’s Spurlock No. 2 umt)

TRANSMISSION WETWORIK

Almost 1,200 miles of line comprise Big Rivers’
(ransmission system.
Lines.
e 345 kV - 67 4 miles, intercon-
necting power plants
o 161 kV -327.3 miles, bulk power
transmission, mterconnections,

and service to large industries

Year in

Review

o 138 kV - 14.4 miles, bulk power
transmission and interconnetions

o 69 kV-773.2 miles, sub-
transmission power delivery

Substations:

+ Power plant step-up capacity -
1,821,400 kVa

*  Other - 3,475,400 kVa

INTERCONNECTIONS

Big Rivers has physical mterconnections with the
following utilities:

1 Tennessee Valley Authority

Kentucky Utilities Company

Louisville Gas and Electric Company

Southern Indiana Gas and Electric Company
Hoosier Energy REC

Southern lllinois Power Cooperative

~ o U ke

Henderson Municipal Power and Light

In February 1994, Big Rivers and East
Kentucky Power Cooperative filed an application for
a Certilicate of Public Convenience and Necessity to
construct approximately 32 miles of 161 kV trans-
mission line. On January 26, 1995, the KPSC
denied the applicauon without prejudice to its
resubmission at a later date, citing that the cost of

the mterconnection could not be economically justi-

fied.
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Big Rivers’ system peaked at 1,190 MW on January
18 This was 27 MW below the record of 1,217 MW
recorded on July 28, 1993

Total energy sales in 1994 were
10,042,322 megawatt-hours (MWh), a decrease ol
1,205,142 MWh from 1993 These decreased sales
represent a reduction of 990,710 MWh in native
load and a reduction of 214,432 MWh in intersys-
tem sales.

The heaung and cooling degree days
in 1994 were 5,669, compared to 6,266 in 1993. In
addition to the reduction of energy consumption
resulting from the lower heating and cooling degree
days, Alcan and NSA, reduced their energy con-
sumpuion from 1993 by 1,023,907 MWh. On
February 1, 1994, Alcan removed a potlne from
service, reducing its load by approximately 80 MW,
NSA reduced its power requirements by approxi-
mately 35 MW,

As discussed in previous annual
reports, in 1987 the KPSC ordered a variable tariff
rate for energy sold by Big Rivers to Henderson
Union Electric Cooperative and Green River Electric
Corporation for delivery to the Aluminum Smelters.
The variable rate requires Big Rivers to collect from
a high of 4.4 cents per kWh to a low of 1.8 cents per
kWh, as prnmary aluminum prices fluctuate

between 80 and 45 cents a pound.

During 1994, the market price for alu-
minum averaged 71.97 cents a pound, as compared
to an average of 53.85 cents a pound the previous
year. Cash collections for energy delivered to the
smelters averaged 3.7 cents per kWh, as opposed to
2.6 cents per kWh in 1993. A tariff settlement with
the smelters, more fully discussed in footnote 6 to
the financial statements, assures that Big Rivers will
receive an average of 2.91285 cents per kWh
through August 1997, to the extent the smelters
operate at a 99 percent load factor.

The variable rate, as set by the KPSC,
was designed to assure that the Aluminum Smelters
could continue to operate economically even dunng
periods of low aluminum prices.

On March 14, 1994, the Aluminum
Smelters filed a suit with the Hancock Circut Court
to set aside the settlement agreement which estab-
lishes the above variable rate, on the basis that the
agreement and the underlying rate ncreases were
tainted by illegal influence. Ina pending motion the

company has moved to dismiss this suit.

MARGIINS

Big Rivers in 1994 recorded a $63.7 million net loss
lor the year. This is the second largest loss in the
history of the company. Included in the loss were
KPSC ordered fuel cost refunds of $18.0 million and
fuel costs of $2.4 million which were incurred by

Big Ruwers but not recovered through the fuel adjust-



ment clause Even with this large loss, Big Rivers
was able to maintain a positive cash flow as cash
receipts exceeded cash expenditures by $85.7 mil-

lion which was used to service its long-term debt.

SITRATEGIC ALTERNATIVES

In August, the Board of Directors appointed a
Special Committee on Financial Planning to assist
the Board in considering strategic alternatives for
resolving Big Rivers’ financial difficulties. The
Committee has had numerous meetings with credi-
tors, companies interested in exploring possible
business relationships, and with Big Rivers' large
industrial customers. The Committee has employed
financial and legal advisors and has developed the
following four-phase resolution process and

timetable:

Phase 1 ~ 4th Quarter 1994

Organization And Situation Assessment

Establish Special Commuttee

Select Legal and Financial Consultants
Data Acquisition

Preliminary Assessment ol Economic,

Financial, Accounting, and Regulatory

Information

— Year in Review

Phase 11 ~ 1st Quarter 1995

Process Design And Development of

Strategic Alternatives

*  Establish Base Case

* ldentify and Develop Stand-Alone and Sale/

Merger Alternative and Develop Contingent

Bankruptcy Plan

Issue Identification and Analysis

Develop and Implement Communication Plan

*  Lingation Containment and Settlement
Strategy

* Industrial and Off-System Sales Development

Adopt Evaluation Criteria

Modeling and Sensiuvity Analysis

Phase 111 ~ 2nd and 3rd Quarters 1995

Evaluation And Selection

* Rank All Strategic Alternatives by Companson
with Base Case
Discuss Alternatives with Key Participants

Select Preferred Resolution Plan

Phase IV ~ 4th Quarter 1995

Implementation

=

Board of Directors Approval

Presentation to and Negotiation with Key
Participants

*  Obtain Necessary Creditor and Regulatory
Approvals

*  Documentation and Closing
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o = Report

ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP
Report of Independent Public Accountants

To the Board of Directors of
Big Rivers Electric Corporation:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheet of Big Rivers Electric Corporation (“Big Rivers,” a Kentucky
corporation) as of December 31, 1994, and the related statements of revenues and expenses, equities (deficit)
and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of Big Rivers’ man-
agement. Our responsibility 1s to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. The
financial statements of Big Rivers as of December 31, 1993 and for each of the years ended December 31, 1993
and 1992, were audited by other auditors whose report dated February 25, 1994, expressed an unqualified
opinion with an explanatory paragraph related to Big Rivers’ ability to continue as a going concern.

We conducted our audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and the standards for finan-
cial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards (1988 Revision), issued by the Comptroller General of
the United States. These standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opin-
ion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Big Rivers Electric Corporation as of December 31, 1994, and the results of its operations and its
cash flows for the year then ended in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming Big Rivers will continue as a going con-
cern. As discussed m Note 1 to the financial statements, current rates and current sales levels will cause Big
Rivers to continue to sustain negative net margins and eventual default of certain provisions under the Debt
Restructuring Agreement. Based on forecasted cash flows, management estimates that Big Rivers could be in
default of certain provisions under the Debt Restructuring Agreement in 1996. However, management believes
Big Rivers will have adequate cash flows in 1995 to avoid default under the Debt Restructuring Agreement. To
address this issue, the Board of Directors of Big Rivers has formed a Special Financial Planning Committee,
which is evaluating alternatives to avoid default including, among other things, a possible restructuring of debt,
additional intersystem sales to non-members, and a sale or partial sale of operatng facilities.

Additionally, as discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, Big Rivers is a defendant in a number of legal
actions brought by both private companies and regulatory agencies. Of these legal actions, the most significant
suit relates to an action filed subsequent to December 31, 1994, which seeks the dissolution of Big Rivers.
Management intends to vigorously defend this claim as well as the other claims discussed in Note 1. The ulti-
mate outcome of these actions is uncertain at this time. Accordingly, no provisions for any liabilities that may
result upon adjudication of these matters have been made in the accompanying financial statements.

Little Rock, Arkansas, Mi\— M«%v W

February 9, 1995.
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STATEMENTS OF REVENUES AND EXPENSES

For the Years ended December 31
(Dollars in thousands)

1994 1993 1992
Operating revenues $315571  $350,946  §$319,907
Operating expenses:
Operations:
Fuel for electric generation 115,365 117,400 108,323
Power purchased and mterchanged 39,174 45,151 33,731
Production, excluding fuel 28,369 26,161 26,564
Other 26,766 25,205 22,274
Maintenance 28,981 27,783 26,532
Depreciation 45,106 45,257 44,981
Taxes, other than income taxes 4,661 4,505 4,375
Total operating expenses 288,422 291,462 266,780
Electric operating margins 27,149 59,484 53,127
Interest expense and other:
Interest, net of capitalized interest 93,236 92,707 23,358
Other, net (1,065 (1,043) (1,000)
Total interest expense and other 92,171 91,664 92,358
Operating margin (loss) (65,022) (32,180) (39,231)
Non-operating margins:
Interest income and other 1,370 1,546 1,276
Net margin (loss) $ (63,652 $ (30,634] $ (37,955]

The accompanying notes to financial statements
are an integral part of these statements.



BALANCE SHEETS

As of December 31
(Dollars in thousands)

Assets

Utility plant, net
Other deposits and investments, at cost
Current assets.

Cash and cash equivalents

Accounts receivable

Fuel inventory

Non-fuel inventory

Total current assets

Deferred charges
Coal prepayments

Equities (Deficit) and Liabilities

Capitalization:
Equities (deficit)
Long-term obligations
Total capitalization

Current liabilities:
Current maturities of long-term obligations
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Total current liabilities

Deferred credits:
Balancing account
Unamortized gain on reacquired debt
Other
Total deferred credits

Commitments and contingencies (Notes 1, 2, and 11)

The accompanying notes to financial statements
are an integral part of these staternents.

Financials

L
1994 1993
$ 1,040,195 $ 1,050,621
6,207 5,783
10,103 10,073
28,251 30,933
20,489 18,396
15,123 14,766
73,966 74,168
6,766 7,164
5,130 5,653
$ 1,132,264 $ 1,143,389
1994 1993
$ (249,058 $ (185,406)
1,236,558 1,239,754
987,500 1,054,348
15,144 10,417
27,785 21,351
17,754 3,919
60,683 35,687
30,878 9,186
23,112 24,725
30,091 19,443
84,081 53,354
$ 1,132,264 $ 1,143,389

P A G E
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STATEMENTS OF EQUITIES (DEFICIT)

For the Years ended December 31
[Dollars in thousands)

Other equities

Donated  Consumers’

Total capital ~ contributions
equites  Accumulated  Patronage and to
(deficit) deficit capital  memberships debt service

Balance at December 31, 1991  $(116,817) $(249,183) $ 127,921 $ 764 $ 3,681
Margins for 1992:

Operating (39,231) (39,231) - - -

Non-operating 1,276 1,276 — — —
Balance at December 31, 1992 (154,772)  (287,138) 127,921 764 3,681
Margins for 1993:

Operating (32,180 (32,180 - - -

Non-operating 1,546 1,546 - - -
Balance at December 31, 1993 (185,406) (317,772) 127,921 764 3,681
Margins for 1994:

Operating (65,022) (65,022) - - -

Non-operating 1,370 1,370 - - -

Balance at December 31, 1994  $(249,058) $(381,424) $ 127,921 $ 764 $ 3,681

The accompanying notes to financial statements
are an integral part of these statements.

P A G E F O U R T E E N
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Years ended December 31
[Dollars in thousands)

1994 1993 1992

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net margin (loss) $(63,652) $ (30,634] $ (37,955)
Adjustments to reconcile net margin (loss) to cash and
cash equivalents provided by (used in) operating

actwvites:

Depreciation and amortization 46,880 46,979 46,623

Net change in balancing account 21,692 (16,064) (2,343)

Gain on reacquired debt (1,613) {1,612 (1,612)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable 2,682 (7,768) 1,734
Fuel inventory (2,093) 6,076 3,716
Non-fuel inventory [357) (99 564
Accounts payable 6,434 6,591 (4,030
Accrued expenses 13,835 (556] 143
Other, net 3,178 516 (660)

Net cash provided by (used in)

operating activities 26,986 3,429 (820)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures, net [29,875) (16,404) (7,387)
Sale of pollution control allowances 188 . 23,150 -

Net cash provided by (used in)
mvesting activities (29,687) 6,746 (7,381)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Increase (decrease) in RUS Promissory Note 6,003 (5,817) 12,544
Principal payments on other long-term debt (3,272) (4,364) (4,364)

Net cash provided by (used 1n) financing
activities 2,731 (10,181) 8,180

Net increase (decrease) in cash

and cash equivalents 30 (6) (21)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 10,073 10,079 10,100
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 10,103 $ 10,073 $ 10,079

Supplemental Cash Flow Information:

Cash paid relating to nterest expense $ 86,165 $ 97,594 § 80,233

The accompanying notes Lo financial statements
are an integral part of these statements.

P A G E F I F T E E N
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
OF OPERATIONS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 1904
[Dollars in thousands)

!
MINIMUM DEBT SERVICE PAYMENTS,
LIQUIDITY RISK AND CONTINGENCIES

Management has prepared the accompanying financial statements on the basis that Big Rivers Electric
Corporation (Big Rivers) will continue as a going concern, and while management expects to maintain posi-
tive cash flows from operations, current rates and current sales levels will cause Big Rivers to continue Lo sus-
tain negative net margins and eventual default of certain provisions under the Debt Restructuring Agreement
(see Note 5). Based on forecasted cash flows, management estimates that Big Rivers could be in default of
certain provisions under the Debt Restructuring Agreement in 1996. However, management believes Big
Rivers will have adequate cash flows 1n 1995 to avoid default under the Debt Restructuring Agreement. To
address this issue, the Board of Directors has formed a Special Financial Planning Committee (Committee),
which is comprised of four board members. The Committee has been given the assignment of proposing a
solution to Big Rivers’ financial difficulties by the end of 1995. The Committee is evaluating alternatives to
avoid default including, among other things, a possible restructuring of debt, additional mntersystem sales to
non-members, and a sale or partial sale of operating facilities. To assist in this process, the Committee has
employed legal advisors, financial advisors, and a turnaround specialist.

The Debt Restructuring Agreement establishes a minimum level of debt service payments, while
requiring additional debt service payments for cash flows generated in excess of a month-end working capi-
ral cash balance of $10,000, as defined by the Debt Restructuring Agreement. The monthly cash flows of Big
Rivers are primarily dependent upon payments received under the Settlement Agreement (see Note 6)
between Big Rivers, National Southwire Aluminum Company (NSA) and Alcan Aluminum Corporation
(Alcan) (collectively referred to as the Aluminum Smelters). The Settlement Agreement requires the
Aluminum Smelters to pay a variable rate from 1.81 cents per kWh to 4.4 cents per kWh based on the mar-
ket price of aluminum. The market price of aluminum is subject to volatility. Due to the Debt Restructuring
Agreement requiring additional debt service payments for cash flows generated in excess of a month-end
working capital cash balance of $10,000, coupled by Big Rivers’ reliance on the fluctuating vanable rate
under the Settlement Agreement, there can be no assurance that Big Rivers will not experience working cap-
ital liquidity problems 1f the market price of aluminum drops significantly below the current level. However,
management is of the opinion that Big Rivers will not have working capital liquidity problems in 1995.

On January 20, 1995, NSA filed suit derivatively on behalf of Green River Electric Corporation
(Green Ruwver) and Big Rwers, and Alcan, filed suit derivatively on behalf of Henderson Union Electrc
Cooperative (Henderson Union) and Big Rivers, as plaintiffs, versus Big Rivers’ Board of Directors, Big Rivers,

P A G E S I X T E E N



Green River, and Henderson Union in Henderson Circuit Court. This action seeks to dissolve Big Rivers and
recover damages in excess of $83,000 from the individual directors of Big Rivers. Big Rivers has provided
indemnification to its directors for the legal expenses in successfully defending this type of claim. Associated
with this indemmification, Big Rivers owns a directors’ and officers’ liability policy which has an aggregate
limit of $2,500. Management of Big Rivers intends to vigorously defend this claim. Management 1s unable
to predict the outcome of this matter.

The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) has informed Big Rivers that it may be liable
for damages with respect to the Green Rwver Disposal Superfund Site, as defined m the Comprehensive
Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980. A remedial/feasibility study has been
completed and approved by the EPA. The EPA issued its Record of Decision in this matter on December 14,
1994, which prescribes the remedies that the EPA has found appropriate for the site. Big Rivers’ share of the
cost, based on volume waste calculations, will be less than one percent. Management is of the opinion that
the ultimate outcome of this matter will not have a material impact on the financial position of Big Rivers.

On March 14, 1994, the Aluminum Smelters sued Big Rivers, Henderson Union, and Green
Rwer seeking to set aside the Settlement Agreement (see Note 6), to which all parties to the lawsuit were sig-
natories. Big Rivers has filed a motion to dismiss for lack of junsdiction, failure to state a claim and improp-
er venue. This motion is pending before the Hancock Circuit Court. Also, Big Rivers, Henderson Union,
and Green River have filed suit aganst the Aluminum Smelters on April 20, 1994, claiming that the
Aluminum Smelters have breached their covenants not to challenge the Settlement Agreement. This suit has
been stayed pending the Hancock Circuit Court’s decision on the pending motions. Management is of the
opinion that the ultimate outcome of this matter will not have a material impact on the financial positon or
results of operations of Big Rivers.

On January 27, 1994, a coal supplier sued Big Rivers seeking damages of approximately
$3,000 In addition to the damages claimed, the coal supplier has asserted that Big Rivers is also responsi-
ble for the cost of closing a mine. The coal supplier’s latest valuation of its claim, made August 18, 1994, was
$13,283 Management intends to vigorously defend this claim. Management is unable to predict the out-
come of this matter.

On January 10, 1995, a complant case was filed with the Kentucky Public Service Commission
(KPSC) by the Aluminum Smelters and Commonwealth Aluminum requesting a refund of $5,993 plus mter-
est for unreasonable fuel costs incurred for the period January 1, 1988 to October 31, 1990. Management
intends to vigorously defend this claim. Management is unable to predict the outcome of this matter.

The Aluminum Smelters and Commonwealth Aluminum are requesting that the KPSC order a
refund of $1,800 to jurisdictional customers contending that Big Rivers fuel costs were being improperly
allocated for the period November 1, 1992 to October 31, 1994. Management 1ntends to vigorously defend
this claim. Management is unable to predict the outcome of this matter

Big Rivers has a long-term coal contract with Green River Coal Company (Green River Coal).
The contract requires Big Rivers to annually purchase 1,020,000 tons of coal through 2004. Big Rivers
believes the Green River Coal contract was unlawfully procured and that Big Rivers is entitled to rescind the
contract and recover damages including coal prepayments (see Note 4). When Big Rivers informed Green
River Coal of its claim, Green River Coal filed for bankruptcy protection on July 8, 1993. Additionally, Green
River Coal has countersued Big Rivers stating the amounts being withheld from payment to Green River Coal
(see Note 4) are in violation of its bankruptcy protection. In connection with this contract, a criminal trial
for a former general manager of Big Rivers is scheduled for April 1995. As a result, the Bankruptcy Court
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has stayed discovery pending the outcome of this trial. Management is unable to predict the outcome of this
matter.

Big Rivers is either a defendant or a plaintiff in various other legal actions and claims, which
management believes will not have a material impact on Big Rivers’ financial position or results of operations.

2
ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

General Information.

Big Rivers, an electric generation and transmission cooperative, supplies the power needs of its four member
distribution cooperatives and markets power to non-member utilities and power marketers The members
provide electric power and energy to imndustrial, residential, and commercial customers located in portions of
22 western Kentucky counties. Big Rivers has wholesale power contracts with each of its members which
require the members to buy and recewve from Big Rivers all of their power and energy requirements. The
wholesale power contracts with the members extend to the year 2023. Rates to its members are established
by the KPSC and are subject to approval by the U.S. Department of Agriculture Rural Utilities Service (RUS).

System of Accounts’

Big Rivers’ accrual basis accounting policies follow the Uniform System of Accounts prescribed by the RUS
Bulletin 1767B-1, as adopted by the KPSC. The regulatory agencies retain authority and periodically issue
orders on various accounting and ratemaking matters.

Revenue Recognition.
Revenues are based on month-end meter readings and are recognized as earned.

Utility Plant and Depreciation.

Utility plant is stated at original cost, which includes the cost of contracted services, materials, labor, over-
head, and an allowance for borrowed funds used during construction. Replacements of depreciable proper-
ty units, except minor replacements, are charged to utility plant. Property units replaced or retired, includ-
g cost of removal and salvage value, are charged to accumulated depreciation. Routine maintenance,
repairs, and minor replacement costs are charged to expense as incurred.

Allowance for borrowed funds used during construction is included on projects with an esti-
mated total cost of $250 or more before consideration of such allowance. The interest capitalized 15 deter-
mined by applying the effective rate of the RUS Promissory Note (see Note 5) to the to-date accumulated
expenditures for qualifying projects included in construction in progress. Capitalization of interest is dis-
continued when the project 1s completed and the asset is ready for service.

Depreciation of utility plant in service is provided using the straight-line method over the esti-
mated service lives of depreciable assets. The annual RUS-prescribed rates used to compute depreciation are
as follows.
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Production plant 3.00-3.10%
Transmission plant 2.75%
Station equipment 2.75%
General plant 2.00 - 20.00%

For 1994, 1993, and 1992, the average composite depreciation rates were 3.03, 3.06, and 3.06 percent,
respectively.

[ f ! . L
Cash and Cash Equivalents:

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, Big Rivers considers all short-term, highly-liquid investments
with original maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

Inventorie

Fuel inventory primarily consists of coal, which 1s recorded at weighted average cost. Non-fuel mventory
primarily consists of matenals and supplies related to generating plants and is recorded at weighted average
cost. Big Rivers has entered into several long-term coal contracts extending through 2006. Fuel purchased
under these contracts 1 1994, 1993, and 1992 was $98,574, $101,123, and $107,540, respectively. In
1995, Big Rivers is required to purchase a minimum of 3,658 tons of coal relating to spot and long-term coal
contracts.

Patronage Capital.

As provided in the bylaws, any excess of revenues over the sum of (a) operating costs and expenses proper-
ly chargeable against the furnishing of electric energy, and (b) amounts required to offset operating losses
incurred during the current or any prior fiscal year is capital furnished by the patrons and credited to a cap-
ital account for each patron on a patronage basis. Non-operating margins are used to offset any accumulat-
ed non-operating deficits and, to the extent not needed for this purpose, used to offset any operating losses
during the current or any prior fiscal year. If, after offsetting the non-operating margins against accumulat-
ed non-operating deficits, operating losses or accumulated deficits, there remains a balance, this balance 1s
allocated to patrons on a patronage basis and any amount so allocated is included as a part of capital credit-
ed to the accounts of patrons. Neither operating nor non-operating losses are allocated to the patrons. In
accordance with the Restated Mortgage and Security Agreement (see Note 5), patronage capital cannot be
retired if such amounts are less than 40 percent of the total assets.

New Accounting Standards-

During 1994, Big Rivers adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 112, “Employers’
Accounting for Postemployment Benefits,” and SFAS No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt
and Equity Securities.” The impact of adopting these accounting statements did not have a material effect on
Big Rivers' financial position or results of operations.

Reclassifications

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified for comparability with the 1994 presentation.
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UTILITY PLANT

The following summarizes utility plant at December 31

Classified plant 1n service:
Production plant
Transmission plant
Station equipment
General plant
Other

Unclassified plant in service
Less accumulated depreciation

Construction 1n progress

Construction in progress 1s comprised of the City of Henderson Station Two scrubber project
(see Note 8), the continuous emission monitors, and several other projects. The average rate used for the
capitalization of interest during construction was 8.0 percent 1n 1994, 1993, and 1992. Interest capitalized
was approximately $1,100, $400, and $500 for the years ended December 31, 1994, 1993, and 1992, respec-

tively.

4

DEFERRED CHARGES AND COAI

1994

$ 1,309,388
81,571
100,691
17,654

190

2,115

1,511,609

504,460
1,007,149
33,046

$ 1,040,195

1993

$ 1,308,504
80,930
99,447
18,015

190

56
1,507,142
461,496

1,045,646

4,975

$ 1,050,621

PREPAYMENTS

The following summarizes deferred charges and coal prepayments at December 31:

Unamortized debt expenses
Other

Green River Coal Company prepayments

1994

$ 6,541
225

$ 6,766

$ 5,130

1993
$ 6,998
166
$ 7,164

$ 5,653



° Financials

In prior years, Big Rivers refinanced portions of its long-term debt at lower interest rates and
incurred refinancing expenses. These costs are being amortized over the term of the RUS Promissory Note
(see Note 5).

On July 18, 1989, Big Rivers endeavored to enter mnto an agreement to buy out a high-cost,
long-term coal supply contract. On September 24, 1991, a contract for substitution of coal was executed
with Green River Coal. In connection therewith, Big Rivers made fuel prepayments of $7,000, which Big
Rivers 1s withholding from payment to Green River Coal at a rate of one dollar per ton of coal shipped.
Interest on the outstanding balance 1s based on the prime rate established by Chemical Bank of New York
plus 2 percent.

5
LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS

A summary of long-term obligations at December 31 is as follows:

_ 1994 1993

Promissory Note - RUS 8.0 percent $ 600,542 $ 647,140

Unamortized premium 482,296 429,695
1,082,838 1,076,835

County of Ohio, Kentucky, promissory note,

with variable interest rate of 5.85 percent and

3.0 percent at 1994 and 1993, respectively 83,300 83,300
County of Ohio, Kentucky, promissory note,

with variable interest rate of 5.85 percent and

3.0 percent at 1994 and 1993, respectively 58,800 58,800
Obligation under power purchased contract (see Note 8) 22,400 23,600
Bank of New York, bank loan 8.0 percent 1,806 3,160
Chemical Bank, bank loan 8.0 percent 2,558 4,476

Total long-term obligations 1,251,702 1,250,171
Less current maturities 15,144 10,417

$1,236,558 $1,239,754

Debt Restructuring Agreement:

All revenues and substantially all assets of Big Rivers are pledged as collateral under a Restated Mortgage and
Security Agreement dated March 30, 1988, which was executed as part of a Debt Restructuring Agreement.
The impact of the Debt Restructuring Agreement was accounted for as a troubled debt restructuring involv-
ing a modification of terms. Accordingly, Big Rivers accounted for the effects of the restructuring prospec-
tively as a change in the effective interest rate and did not adjust the carrying amount of the debt.

P A G E T W E N T Y - O N E
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Promissory Note - RUS

The Debt Restructuring Agreement provides for a reverse amortization repayment schedule (payments will
be applied to principal in a reverse manner to that provided by a conventional loan amortization schedule)
at an effective interest rate of 8.0 percent for the RUS Promissory Note, which includes all debts of Big Rivers
which are guaranteed or insured by the RUS (RUS Debt). For financial statement purposes, interest expense
is being computed on a conventional amortization method rather than the reverse amortization method per
the Debt Restructuring Agreement. The resulting difference between the reverse amortization repayment
schedule and the conventional loan amortization schedule is reflected as unamortized premium and will be
adjusted throughout the term of the RUS Promissory Note. Any unpaid interest is added to the unamortized
premium. In return for Big Rivers making all payments on the RUS Promissory Note, the RUS will make all
payments required on all prior debt on a timely basis and will not seek to collect additional funds from Big
Rivers.

In connection with the Settlement Agreement (see Note 6), the Debt Restructuring Agreement
was amended as of January 1, 1990. The amendment provided that if the variable rates to the Aluminum
Smelters specified in the Settlement Agreement and in effect on April 1, 1990, remain continuously in effect
and unmodified through August 31, 1997, and if during this period, the RUS Promissory Note never exceeds
by more than $18,000 what the RUS Promissory Note would be if only the scheduled annual amounts were
paid, then no event of default shall be deemed to have occurred through December 31, 1997. Using this cri-
teria, the principal balance of the RUS Promissory Note cannot exceed $460,948 at December 31, 1997.

Other Llongterm Obligations:

In November of 1982, the County of Ohio, Kentucky, 1ssued $82,500 of Pollution Control Interim Bonds
(Interim Bonds), Series 1982, the proceeds of which were loaned to Big Rivers. On October 31, 1985, the
County of Ohio, Kentucky, issued $83,300 of Pollution Control Refunding Demand Bonds (Refunding
Bonds), Series 1985, the proceeds of which were used to refinance the Interim Bonds. The Refunding Bonds
bear interest at a variable rate, which is the lesser of (a) 13 percent per annum or (b) a rate determined week-
ly by the remarketing agent, with the approval of Big Rivers, equal to the minimum rate necessary to remar-
ket the bonds in a secondary market at par plus accrued interest, but not less than 40 percent nor greater
than 110 percent of an index based upon the weekly sales of 91-day U.S. Treasury Bills. These bonds are
supported by a Chemical Bank irrevocable standby letter of credit, which is due to expire October 15, 1997,
and is subject to renewal. The bonds are subject to mandatory redemption upon expiration of the support-
ing letter of credit. In absence of notification by Chemical Bank to renew the letter of credit, Big Rivers will
draw down sufficient funds under the letter of credit to redeem the bonds. Amounts borrowed against the
letter of credit would bear interest at prime plus two percent and become bank amounts as defined by the
Debt Restructuring Agreement. The bank amounts would be repayable under the same terms and condi-
tions as the redeemed bonds. While these bonds are not dated to mature until October 1, 2015, pursuant
to the Debt Restructuring Agreement, Big Rivers is obligated to fully fund these bonds or bank amounts by
January 31, 2010.

P A G E T wW E N T Y - T W O
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On June 30, 1983, the County of Ohio, Kentucky, issued $58,800 of Pollution Control Bonds,
Series 1983, the proceeds of which were loaned to Big Rivers. These bonds bear a variable rate of interest,
determined weekly by the remarketing agent, with the approval of Big Rivers, equal to the minimum rate nec-
essary to remarket the bonds in a secondary market at par plus accrued interest, but not to exceed 110 per-
cent of an index based upon the weekly sales of 91-day U.S. Treasury Bills. These bonds are supported by a
Bank of New York irrevocable standby letter of credit, which is due to expire July 1, 1995, and 1s subject to
renewal. The bonds are subject to mandatory redemption upon expiration of the supporting letter of cred-
it. In absence of notification by Bank of New York 1o renew the letter of credit, Big Rivers will draw down
sufficient funds under the letter of credit to redeem the bonds. Amounts borrowed against the letter of cred-
it would bear interest at prime plus two percent and become bank amounts as defined by the Debt
Restructuring Agreement. The bank amounts would be repayable under the same terms and conditions as
the redeemed bonds. While these bonds are not dated to mature until June 1, 2013, pursuant to the Debt
Restructuring Agreement, Big Rivers is obligated to fully fund these bonds or bank amounts by January 31,
2010.

On February 25, 1988, Big Rivers refinanced $319,426 of high interest rate debt. As a result
of this refinancing, a gain of $37,734 was realized. Due to regulatory requirements, this gain 1s reflected as
an unamortized gain on reacquired debt in the accompanying balance sheets and is being amortized into
income over the term of the RUS Promissory Note.

Debt Maturities:
At December 31, 1994, Big Rivers had, since September 1987, paid total debt service on the RUS Promissory
Note 1n such a manner that principal payments exceeded the required minimum level of such payments by
$71,883. This amount of excess principal payments represents a decrease of $30,539 during 1994.

Based on the overpayments to date and the required RUS Promissory Note principal balance on
December 31, 1997, Big Rivers has calculated the annual payments necessary to avoid an event of default
through December 31, 1997, and minimum scheduled payments thereafter. Actual payments may be more
or less than the scheduled amounts below. Under this calculation, the maturities of long-term obligations for
each of the five years ending subsequent to December 31, 1994, are estimated to be as follows:

RUS Financial Statement

Promissory ~ Unamortized Other Change in
Year Note Premium Debt Principal
1995 $50,313 $(42,533) $7,364 $15,144
1996 46,432 (38,004) 3,143 11,571
1997 42,849 (33,71¢) 3,308 12,441
1998 45,928 (20,158) 3,489 29,259
1999 57,797 11,642 3,679 73,118
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6
RATE MATTERS

Big Rivers’ rates include a ratchet billing for demand (where current billing units are determined based on
the highest metered demand in the past twelve months) and a variable rate to major customers of certain Big
Rivers members. A Settlement Agreement effective January 1, 1990, was reached between Big Rivers, the
Aluminum Smelters, and Big Rivers’ creditors. The Settlement Agreement preserves the variable aluminum
smelter rate based on the market price of aluminum within a defined minimum (1.81 cents per kWh) and
maximum (4.4 cents per kWh) as the method of calculating the cash payments to be made by the Alummum
Smelters to Big Rivers. The Settlement Agreement, however, fixes the revenue to be recognized by Big Rivers
at 2.91285 cents per kWh at an approximate 99 percent load factor over the term of the agreement. The
variable rate will be effective through August 1997. Any payments in excess of or under the 2.91285 cents
per kWh brought about by the variable aluminum smelter rate are recorded as a component of the balanc-
ng account in the accompanying balance sheets. Amounts recorded mn the balancing account will be used
to increase or decrease operating revenues over the term of the agreement to the level of 2.91285 cents per
kWh. This settlement was brought about in part by the high aluminum prices in 1989 and 1988, which
caused the Aluminum Smelters to pay at or near the maximum rate of 4.4 cents per kWh.

The Clean Air Act Amendments of 1990 (CAAA-90) require significant reductions in the emis-
sion of sulfur dioxide and nitrogen oxide by fossil-fueled electric generating units. The CAAA-90 requires
that sulfur dioxide emissions be reduced at generating units in two phases over a ten-year period. In order
to meet the requirements, the City of Henderson is constructing scrubbers on the two units owned by the
city (see Note 8). On August 31, 1994, the KPSC approved Big Rivers’ compliance plan and environmental
surcharge tarifl. Big Rivers does not plan to implement the environmental surcharge until the middle of
1995.

The KPSC has supervised a focused management audit of Big Rivers’ fuel procurement policies
and procedures. During 1994, the KPSC issued three separate orders directing Big Rivers to refund $15,460
plus interest for the period November 1, 1990 to April 30, 1994. A decision on a fourth order for the peri-
od May 1, 1994 to October 31, 1994, 1s currently under review by the KPSC. During 1994, Big Rivers
recorded an $18,044 reduction in revenue from jurisdictional customers, which includes the rate refund
orders received in 1994, plus an estimate of $1,200 for the order currently under review, plus accrued inter-
est for these refunds through December 31, 1994. The KPSC also has disallowed from fuel rate recovery
approximately $6,760 annually, related to the Green River Coal contract, over the remaining ten-year life of
the contract.

[ntersystem power sales to non-members is a component of full cost recovery under Big Rivers’
rate design. A long-term contract has been signed with Oglethorpe Power Corporation (Oglethorpe Power)
for the sale of 103 MW of firm power for ten years, beginning in August 1992. Oglethorpe Power is a joint
owner of the Georgia Integrated Transmission System, which interconnects with the transmission system of
the Tennessee Valley Authority.
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Two long-term contracts have been signed with Hooster Energy Rural Electric Cooperative
(Hoosier Energy). The first is for the sale of 65 MW of capacity from Big Rivers’ combustion turbine during
a three-month summer period through year 2000. The second 1s a peaking power agreement varying from
10 MW in 1993 to 170 MW in 1999, This agreement covers June through September of each calendar year.
Hoosier Energy 1s a RUS cooperative interconnected with Big Rivers. At December 31, 1994, the Hoosier
Energy contracts have not received KPSC approval. Big Rivers has contested the KPSCs jurisdiction to
approve these contracts and has filed an appeal to the Franklin Circuit Court. Management is of the opin-
ion that the ultimate outcome of this matter will not have a material impact on the financial position or results
of operations of Big Rivers.

/
INCOME TAXES

Big Rivers was initially formed as a tax-exempt cooperative organization under section 501 (¢) (12) of the
Internal Revenue Code. To retain tax-exempt status under this section of the Internal Revenue Code, at least
85 percent of the organization’s income must be generated from the sales to the cooperative’s members. In
1983, sales to non-members resulted in Big Rivers being unable to meet the 85 percent requirement. In a
letter dated March 23, 1984, the Internal Revenue Service notified Big Rivers that effective for 1983 and sub-
sequent years, it would be considered a taxable organization until such year that sales to members would sat-
isfy the 85 percent requirement and Big Rivers formally reapplies for tax-exempt status. Big Rivers is also
subject to Kentucky income tax. s

At January 1, 1993, Big Rivers adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income
Taxes.” SFAS No. 109 requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for temporary differences
between amounts reported for financial reporting purposes as compared to amounts reported for income tax
purposes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on these temporary differences using enact-
ed tax rates in effect for the year in which these differences are expected to reverse. The adoption of this
accounting statement did not have a significant impact on the financial position or results of operations of
Big Rivers.

At December 31, 1994 and 1993, Big Rivers had deferred tax assets of $396,485 and $355,346,
respectively, which primarily relate to tax credits and net operating losses. The tax credits and net non-mem-
ber operating losses begin expiring in 1998 through 2000 and 1998 through 2009, respectively. Additionally,
at December 31, 1994 and 1993, Big Rivers had deferred tax liabilities of $220,954 and $205,913, respec-
tively, which primarily relate to depreciation differences on utility plant. At December 31, 1994 and 1993,
Big Rivers did not anticipate utilization of a portion of the deferred tax assets, thus a valuation allowance was
established of $175,531 and $149,433, respectively.
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8
POWER PURCHASED

Big Rivers, under contracts with the City of Henderson, Kentucky (City), operates the City-owned 315-MW
generating station (Station Two) and agrees to purchase an allocated portion of the output. Big Rivers’ por-
tion of Station Two capacity is currently 83 percent, which is expected to decrease to 81 percent by 1997,
The contracts expire in 2003, subject to options for extensions.

In order to comply with the CAAA-90, Big Rivers and the City have agreed to mstall pollution
control equipment on the Station Two facilities. The existing contracts with the City have been amended to
include the cost of installing, operating, and maintaining this equipment. The contract amendments are
pending approval before the KPSC. The City and Big Rivers have sold emission allowances that were previ-
ously awarded by the EPA which will offset approximately 60 percent of the cost to install these scrubbers.
Big Rivers’ portion of the sale of allowances was approximately $23,340, which is recorded as a regulatory
liability in other deferred credits in the accompanying balance sheets. The allowance proceeds, plus accrued
interest, will be refunded prorata to jurisdictional customers n the same year in which the allowances are
first available for use, beginning in 1995, The refund will be completed by December 31, 1999 On August
31, 1994, the KPSC approved the compliance plan and environmental surcharge tariff. In addition, Big
Rivers would expect to incur additional costs to replace the allowances sold. Big Rivers has the option of
extending the contracts through the economic life of the power plant.

Under the terms of the contracts and amendments thereto with the City, Big Rivers has agreed
to pay a proportionate share of the monthly fixed costs of Station Two (excluding depreciation) based on its
allocated portion of the capacity of Station Two. The monthly fixed costs include Big Rivers’ respective share
of debt service payments necessary to retire the principal and to pay interest on the Citys bonds issued to
finance the construction of Station Two. Big Rivers has recorded the present value of the portion of the prin-
cipal payments that it is obligated to pay as fixed costs under the contract based on estimates of its allocated
portion of Station Two capacity, and has recorded as an asset a corresponding amount for the right to pur-
chase its allocated portion of the output. The fixed costs are payable to the City whether or not Station Two
is operational or the operation thereof 1s interrupted, suspended, or interfered with i whole or in part for
any cause. The total operating costs of power purchased under the contract for 1994, 1993, and 1992 were
$31,996, $33,563, and $27,250, respectively. Such costs are accounted for as power purchased i the
accompanying statements of revenues and expenses.

?
PENSION AND DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLANS

Big Rivers has non-contributory defined benefit pension plans covering substantially all employees who meet
minimum age and service requirements. The plans provide benefits based on the participants’ years of ser-
vice and the five highest consecutive years’ compensation during the last ten years of employment. Big Rivers’
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policy is to fund such plans 1n accordance with the requirements of the Employee Retirement Income

Security Act of 1974. Also, Big Rivers has executed non-contributory defined compensation agreements with
certain key employees which provide for periodic payments upon retirement or to beneficiaries in the event

of death. The deferred compensation plan is fully funded.

A reconciliation of the projected benefit obligation and

the funded status of the benefit plans at December 31 is as follows:

Actuarial present value of the benefit obligation:
Accumulated benefit obligation, including vested
benefits of $19,189, and $16,624

Projected benefit obligation for services rendered

Plan assets at fair value, primarily listed stocks
and U.S. Treasury Bonds

Plan assets under projected benefit obligation
Unrecognized net transition assets
Unrecognized prior service costs
Unrecognized net loss

Unfunded accrued pension cost

Net periodic pension costs, which are calculated based on
actuarial assumptions at January 1, were as follows
for the years ended December 31:

Service cost ~ benefits earned during the year
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation
Expected return on plan assets
Amortization of transition assets
Amortization of prior service costs
Amortization of net loss (gain)
Special termination benefits

Net periodic pension costs

1994 1993
$(19,246)  $(16,673)
$(32,927)  $(29,157)
19,902 18,768
(13,025 (10,389)
(1,541) (1,762)
2,128 2,369
9,368 7,559
$ 3,070) § (2,223
1994 1993 1992
$ 2233 $ 1660 $ 1,270
2,147 1,726 1,285
(1,655 (1,415) 1,374)
(220) (220) (220)
228 230 175
230 30 (12)
0 396 0
$ 2963 § 2407 $ 1,124
E T W E N T Y E V E N
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Assumptions used to develop the projected benefit

obligatnion were: 1994 1993 1992
Discount rates 7.5% 7.5% 8.5%
Rates of increase in compensation levels 4.0 4.0 4.0
Expected long-term rate of return on assets 8.5 8.5 8.5

Total expense related to the pension and deferred compensation plans was $3,290, $3,108, and $1,396 in
1994, 1993, and 1992, respectively.

10
POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS

Big Rivers provides certain postretirement medical benefits for retired employees and their spouses’(@zﬂ
4ty O tetired prior 1g Rivers pays 80 percent of the cost from age 62-65; and from age
)5, for salaried employees, Big Rivers pays 100 percent of Medicare supplement cost. For salaried employ-
ees who retire after December 31, 1993, the paid Medicare supplement was eliminated. Effective January 1,
1993, Big Rwvers adopted SFAS No. 106, “Employers’ Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other Than
Pensions,” which requires the expected cost of these benefits to be recognized over the employees’ years of
service, rather than as medical costs are incurred. The adoption of this accounting statement did not have a
material impact on the financial position or results of operations of Big Rivers.

Also, Big Rivers offered a retirement incentive program which provided special termination ben-
efits to certain employees during late 1992 and early 1993. The resulting increase in the other postretire-
ment benefit obligation from SFAS No. 88 was $61. Postretirement benefit costs for prior years have not been
restated.

The discount rate used in computing the obligation for 1994 and 1993 was 8.0 percent. In
accordance with SFAS No. 106, Big Rivers chose to amortize the present value of the obligation at the adop-
tion date, the transition obligation, over a twenty-year period. A health care cost trend rate of 13.0 percent
in 1994 declining to 6.0 percent in 2012 was utilized. The health care cost trend rate assumption has a sig-
nificant effect on the amounts reported. A 1.0 percent increase in the health care trend rate each year would
increase the aggregate service and interest costs for 1994 by $90 and the accumulated other postretirement
benefit obligation by $680.

The components of net periodic postretirement benefit costs for the years ended December 31
were as follows:

1994 1993
Service cost ~ benefits earned during the year $ 246 $ 199
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 331 331
Amortization of transition obligation 207 207
Special termination benefits 0 61
Net periodic postretirement benefit costs $ 784 $ 798
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A reconciliation of the postretirement benefit obligation and funded status of the plan at
December 31 is as follows:

1994 1993

Accumulated postretirement benefit obligation ~

retirees $(1,683) $(1,571)
Other eligible active participants (558) (520)
Other active participants (3,062) (2,635)
Total benefit obligation (5,303) (4,726)
Unrecognized transition obligation 3,721 3,928
Unfunded accrued postretirement cost m $ (798

In addition to the postretirement plan discussed above, in 1992 Big Rivers began a postretire-
ment benefit which vests a portion of accrued sick leave benefits to salaried employees upon retirement or
death. To the extent an employee’s sick leave hour balance exceeds 480 hours, such excess hours are paid at
20 percent of the employee’s base hourly rate at time of retirement or death. The accumulated obligation
recorded for the postretirement sick leave benefit is $601 and $334 at December 31, 1994 and 1993, respec-
tively, and the postretirement expense recorded was $267, $150, and $184, for 1994, 1993, and 1992,
respectively.

I
RELATED PARTIES AND MAJOR CUSTOMERS

Operating Revenues

Members: 1994 1993 1992
Green River Electric Corporation $ 132,400 $ 133,194 $ 133,021
Henderson Union Electric Cooperative 92,167 106,018 105,744
Jackson Purchase Electric Cooperative Corporation 23,960 23,709 22,300
Meade County Rural Electric Cooperative Corporation 12,758 12,463 11,679
KPSC Ordered Fuel Cost Refund (see Note 6) (18,044) 0 0

Non-members 72,173 75,456 47,068

Other revenue 157 106 95

$ 315571 § 350,946 § 319,907

P A G E T W E N T Y N 1 N E




Financials - = ®

NSA and Alcan purchase substantial amounts of electric energy under contracts with Big Rivers’ members
expiring in 2010. Sales to members for these two customers (Green River Electric Corporation for NSA and
Henderson Union Electric Cooperative for Alcan) were as follows:

Henderson
Year Green River Union Combined
1994 $84,217 $69,151 $153,368
1993 86,428 83,432 169,860
1992 87,705 82,841 170,546

In 1994, Alcan closed 80,000 kilowatts of its smelter operation capacity at Sebree, Kentucky.
Alcan is required by contract to continue paying the fixed demand cost at the tariff rate of $10.15 per kW
month. All energy associated with this capacity will be sold when possible on the open market by Big Rivers.
Alcan will receive a credit for all power sold in excess of Big Rivers’ energy cost.

Big Rivers agrees to indemnify its member cooperatives by performing their power supply
agreements with certan industrial customers and requiring payments for power consumed and only such
other payments as each member receives from its customers.

At December 31, 1994 and 1993, Big Rivers had accounts receivable from 1ts members of
approximately $24,040, and $17,387, respectively.

12
DISCLOSURE OF THE FAIR VAILUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts of Big Rivers’ cash and cash equivalents approximate the fair value due to the short
maturity of these financial instruments. The assumption used in determining the fair value of Big Rivers’
long-term variable interest rate debt is that the fair value approximates the carrying value, as the debt reprices
weekly. Due to the uncertainties described in Notes 1 and 5, the ability of Big Rivers to obtain new debt or
replace its existing debt is indeterminable. Accordingly, 1t is not practicable for Big Rivers to estimate the fair
value of its long-term fixed interest rate debt. The fair value of all other financial instruments is estimated by
management to approximate the carrying value.
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COMPARATIVE

Operating Revenues

Expenses:

Operation and Maintenance
Purchased Power and
[nterchanged, Net

Depreciation

Taxes
[nterest
Other

Total

Operating Margins (Loss)
Non-operating Margins (Loss)

Net Margins (Loss)

Utility Plant at Cost
Construction Work in Progress

Total Electric Plant

Less Accumulated Depreciation

Utility Plant Net

Total Assets

System Peak Demand - MW

Net Generating Capacity Owned - MW
Net HMP&L Capacity Purchased - MW

Other Purchased Capacity - MW

Sales to Members - GWh
Sales to Non-Members - GWh

Generated - GWh

Purchased HMP&L Energy - GWh
Other Purchased Energy - GWh

System Load Factor - %

Permanent Employees at Year-End

Average Cost of Coal Used
Price Per Ton - $

¢/MM BTU

P A G E

T H I R T Y -

STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

1994 1993 1992 1991
$ 315,570,913 350,945,862 319,907,459 331,334,709
199,481,485 196,548,190 183,693,972 193,288,174
39,173,662 45,150,914 33,730,825 39,248,839
45,106,596 45,257,415 44,980,616 44,809,522
4,660,584 4,505,465 4,374,765 4,365,522
93,235,749 92,706,822 93,358,171 95,071,442
(1,065,405) (1,043,154) (999,831} (1,008,592)
380,592,671 383,125,652 359,138,518 375,774,907
(65,021,758) (32,179,790) (39,231,059) (44,440,198)
1,369,775 1,545,675 1,275,827 1,505,489
$ [63,651,983) 30,634,115) 37,955,232) (42,934,709)

$1,511,609,622
33,046,229

1,507,141,786
4,975,491

1,497,045,501
10,563,767

1,466,355,537
11,986,253

1,544,655,851
504,460,557

1,512,117,277
461,496,317

1,507,609,268
419,709,707

1,478,341,790
376,616,976

$1,040,195,294

1,050,620,960

1,087,899,561

1,101,724,814

$1,132,264,001

1,143,388,554

1,180,152,394

1,225,216,359

T

1,190
1,459
258
178

7,454.42
2,587.90

8,655.83
1,344.70
277 .69
73.8
837

29.26
129.4

1,217
1,459
261
178

8,445.13
2,802.33

9,206.67
1,670.12
588.60
81.3
847

28.27
125.6

1,166
1,459
262
178

8,326.34
1,463.50

8,418.27
1,211.98
305.91
82.7
846

27 .92
125.5

1,168
1,459
263
178

8,314.32
2,055.13

8,664.31
1,480.77
41591
83.1

875

28.51
129.2



1989 1988 1987 1986 1985
389,976,759 399,277,507 300,084,362 227,664,219 236,023,720
170,941,916 187,344,006 169,931,331 130,991,511 133,779,910

35,434,879 39,158,896 39,146,440 38,214,277 39,792,228

44,333,598 49,310,860 53,555,259 18,798,750 17,788,717

4,011,142 3,906,621 3,817,850 2,515,787 2,353,021

101,748,177 103,607,079 124,351,304 51,520,808 39,645,856

752,017 612,200 597,187 233,931 185,636
357,221,729 383,939,662 391,399,371 242,275,064 233,545,368
32,755,030 15,337,845 (?1,315,009) (14,610,845) 2,478,352
2,378,289 3,471,174 2,684,163 (26,614,194) 1,040,972
35,133,319 18,809,019 (88,630,846) (41,225,039) 3,519,324
1,454,882,990 1,451,937,802 1,448,581,890 1,452,144,009 539,998,444
4,162,708 1,226,596 1,448,505 2,080,925 833,505,325
1,459,045,698 1,453,164,398 1,450,030,395 1,454,224,934 1,373,503,769
288,884,804 245,556,080 196,710,029 143,479,823 124,841,130
- 1,170,160,894  1,207,608,318 1,253,320,366 1,310,745,111 1,248,662,639
- 1,322,367,888 1,386,197,045 1,421,349,400 1,438,564,861 1,409,490,616
1,177 1,157 990 993 1,042
1,459 1,459 1,459 1,448 1,039
264 264 270 271 271
178 178 178 178 178
8,072.76 7,814.61 6,271.32 6,211.79 6,908.67
1,500.96 3,188.51 3,993.08 3,303.68 3,290.11
8,047.11 9,270.21 8,321.80 6,609.70 6,447 .45
1,388.66 1,716.20 1,9032.61 1,631.87 1,779.65
314.14 262.04 284.69 336.38 291.98
80.0 77.6 75.5 74.1 78.1
857 855 856 863 827
27.82 28.05 27.48 27.83 30.25
126.5 125.7 124.3 127.6 137.7
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‘inancial Highlishts 1992 Increase 9% Increase
Dollars in Thousands 1993 (Decrease)  (Decrease)
Operating Revenues 350,946 319,907 31,039 e
Operating Expenses 291,462 266,780 24,682 9.3
Net Margins (30,634) (37,955) 7,321 19.3
Capital Additions 10,817 7.602 3,215 42.3
Cost of Fuel Used 117,400 108,323 9,077 8.4
System Peak Demand (Megawatts) 1,217 1,166 51 4.4
Energy Sold to Members (MWh) 8,445,136 8,326,341 118,795 1.4
Energy Sold to Others (MWh) 2,802,328 1,463,500 1,338,828 91.5
Revenue per kWh Sold (Mills) 31.19 32.67 (1.48) (4.5)
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We are pleased to report that we are continu-
ing to improve our operations through increased
sales and improved efficiencies. New sales
records were established in 1993. A new system
peak demand of 1,217 MW occurred on July 28,
compared to the previous record of 1,177 MW set
on December 22, 1989. Energy sales of
11,247,464 MWh during the year surpassed the
1988 record of 11,003,122 MWh. Revenues
increased from last year by 9.7 percent to $350.9
million, while operating expenses increased 9.3
percent to $291.5 million. Although we incurred
a net loss of $30.6 million, this was a betterment
of 19.3 percent from 1992 and our third consecu-
tive year of improved results.

The year can best be summarized as a year of
audits, reviews, investigations, hearings, and liti-
gation. The year began with the continuation of
investigations by the Federal Bureau of
Investigation (FBI) and the Internal Revenue
Service (IRS) of certain coal suppliers, the compa-
ny’s former general manager, and other individu-
als not related to the company. Big Rivers is not
and has not been a target of these investigations
and is fully cooperating with the investigators.

Two of the individuals under investigation
have been indicted and have pleaded guilty to
numerous counts relating to corruption in the
western Kentucky coal industry. Eddie R. Brown.
owner of coal companies and a trucking firm
which had conducted business with Big Rivers,
was indicted and pleaded guilty to numerous
counts, wherein it is alleged that he made pay-
ments to a third party, Shirley Pritchett, for the
benefit of W.H. Thorpe, Big Rivers’ former general
manager, and payments to Thorpe’s daughter.
Denise Perkins, all for Thorpe’s favorable consid-
eration in the awarding and maintaining of con-
tracts between Big Rivers and Brown. Shirley
Pritchett has also been indicted and pleaded
guilty to numerous counts, including the pay-
ment of approximately $700,000 to Thorpe.

Big Rivers has filed a lawsuit seeking a
declaratory judgement to set aside three coal con-
tracts with Costain Coal, Inc. The contracts were
entered into in 1981, 1983, and 1984 with Jim

Smith Contracting Co. Smith sold the coal con-
tracts and other coal properties to Costain in
1987. In 1988, Smith paid Thorpe $500,000 for
advice on the sale of a rail line.

Neither Thorpe nor Perkins has been indicted.
Thorpe and Perkins deny any wrongful acts. In a
plea agreement in the U.S. Distriet Court for
western Kentucky, Pritchett agreed to pay Big
Rivers approximately $1 million. The company
has also filed civil lawsuits against the wrong-
doers to recover damages.

The Kentucky Public Service Commission
(KPSC), in late 1992, ordered a “focused manage-
ment audit” of Big Rivers’ fuel procurement poli-
cies, practices, and procedures. The audit was to
cover a period beginning November 1, 1990, and
extend through April 30, 1992. The final audit
report was issued in May. The report stated that
the former general manager committed serious
violations of the standard of conduct expected of
utility executives, but concluded that it was not
possible to prove or disprove whether impropri-
eties occurred with the information available from
the audit.

The auditor found that, with the exception of
fuel costs at the Wilson Plant, the company’s fuel
costs were below the average of the 22 generating
plants within a 100-mile radius of Big Rivers’
plants. The auditor expressed an opinion that
Big Rivers had $6 million of unreasonable fuel
costs during the period under review. That deter-
mination was based upon the auditor's opinion
that the company should not have amended a
contract with Green River Coal Company (GRCC)
in 1988 modifying the productivity index. Had
the contract not been amended, the company
would have had $5.2 million lower fuel costs dur-
ing the period. Also, the auditor concluded that
the company should not have entered into a con-
tract with another coal supplier. He therefore
determined that the supplier had insufficient
financial resources which resulted in an addition-
al $0.8 million of unreasonable fuel costs.

GRCC took Chapter 11 bankruptcy following
the company’s notification it would seek to recov-
er any refunds ordered by the Public Service
Commission of Kentucky (KPSC) as a result of the
above audit. Further, in the indictments and
guilty pleas of Brown and Pritchett, it was implied
that they also received inside information from
Thorpe which allowed GRCC to become a coal
supplier for the D.B. Wilson Plant. The
Bankruptcy Court stayed discovery procedures
until the case could either be heard or disputes
settled through the assistance of a court-appoint-
ed examiner.



The KPSC held a public hearing from October
26 to November 5. 1993, regarding the focused
management audit and Big Rivers’ fuel matters
for the period under review. The large aluminum
industrial customers of the distribution coopera-
tives intervened in the case along with the Rate
Intervention Division of the Kentucky Attorney
General’'s (AG) office. The intervenors claimed
overcharges for electrical service of approximately
$45 million for the audit period. Intervenors have
published claims for additional refunds. Big
Rivers contests all of these claims. No order has
been issued by the KPSC.

On February 18, 1994, Big Rivers, the inter-
venors, and the AG filed a Settlement Stipulation
with the KPSC to be effective January 1, 1994,
proposing to resolve all issues related to the Fuel
Adjustment Clause (FAC) and/or fuel procure-
ment practices by the company prior to the date
thereof and the effect of such practices on allow-
able fuel costs for all past, present, and future
periods. The Settlement Stipulation provides that
GRCC will be paid $3.61 over the price it pays for
coal received from its substitute coal supplier,
and that Big Rivers would not include $1.80 per
ton in the FAC. The ratepayers would receive a
reduction in fuel costs. including the $1.80 not
passed through the FAC, of approximately $9.00
per ton, or approximately $100 million, during
the remaining 11 years of the contract.
Subsequent to the filing of the Settlement
Stipulation, the aluminum company parties to
the agreement notified the KPSC of their attempt
to withdraw the agreement. This attempt is con-
tested by Big Rivers and the matter is pending
before the KPSC.

The Settlement Stipulation will not become
effective until certain conditions occur, including
the issuance of an appropriate order by the
Bankruptcy Court, and the issuance by the KPSC
of orders dismissing the fuel proceeding and
approving the tariffs expressing the terms of the
Stipulation.

Webster County Coal Corporation, a sub-
sidiary of MAPCO, has filed suit against Big
Rivers in the Webster County Circuit Court
claiming that its cost-plus contract for the Retiki
Mine entitles it to charge Big Rivers mine closing
costs. The contract provides specifically for mine
opening costs, but not for mine closing costs. Big
Rivers has withheld mine closing costs from
MAPCO’'s monthly billings since September.
According to MAPCO'’s counsel, the last estimate
of the total amount of these closing costs will be
from $10 million to $15 million. Big Rivers will
vigorously defend this suit.

Scrubbers are being installed by the City of
Ienderson on its Station Two, a two-unit, 315-
MW net coal-fired. generating plant. Big Rivers
operates the plant for the City and takes all

capacity and energy,
approximately 83 percent,
in excess of the City’s
need. Big Rivers and the
City share all costs,
except fuel, based on the
allocation of capacity.
The City Utility Commis-
sion and Big Rivers esti-
mate the cost of the
scrubber installation to be
$45 million. The installa-
tion is being financed by
the City and Big Rivers
through internally-gener-
ated funds, including pro-
ceeds ~ approximately
$28 million ~ from the
sale of sulfur dioxide
emission allow-ances.
Amendments to the con-
tract between the City
and Big Rivers to include
the operation of the
scrubber have been filed
with the KPSC.

We welcomed Mr.
John Myers of Kevil,
Kentucky, to our Board of
Directors, representing
Jackson Purchase Electric
Cooperative Corporation.
Mr. Myers has been a
member of the Jackson Purchase board of direc-
tors since 1987, and is presently its vice presi-
dent.

During the year, two members of Big Rivers’
management team retired after long and distin-
guished careers with the company. W. Hayden
Timmons, former vice general manager of exter-
nal relations, marketing, and economic develop-
ment, retired in March after serving Big Rivers for
14 years. James H. Jones, formerly the manager
of economic development, has assumed Mr.
Timmons’ responsibilities. In November, Joe L.
Craig, former vice general manager of fuels, envi-
ronmental affairs, and information systems,
retired, having been with Big Rivers for 21 years.
Mike Dotson, former manager of fuels, is the new
vice general manager of fuels. Mr. Dotson began
his employment with the company in May, bring-
ing with him 13 years of fuels management. pur-
chasing, and related experience.

Through the remainder of this report, we
address how the corporation is meeting its Long-
Range Corporate Strategic Plan and its estab-
lished goals.

Morton Henshaw
President

Paul Schmitz
General Manager



At a Glance

Big Rivers owns and operates four generating
facilities, in addition to operating Henderson
Municipal Power and Light's Station Two.
Statistics concerning those plants are as follows:

e*Kenneth C.Coleman
Plant

Hawesville, Kentucky

Three units totaling

455-MW net capability

eRobert D. Green Plant
Sebree, Kentucky
Two units totaling

Coleman Plant 454-MW net capability

eRobert D. Reid Plant
Sebree, Kentucky
One 65-MW net
combustion turbine
One 65-MW net steam
turbine

*D.B. Wilson Plant
Centertown, Kentucky
One unit with
420-MW net capability

Reid /Green Plant HMCI"@&S® S&}les

sHenderson Municipal Power and Light
Station Two

Sebree, Kentucky

Two units totaling

315-MW net capability

All of the generating units are coal fired
except for a 65-megawatt (MW) combustion tur-
bine used for peaking and emergency purposes.

Big Rivers operates Henderson Municipal
Power and Light (HMP&L) Station Two and has
contracted to take all the capacily in excess of
HMP&L's needs. During 1993, Big Rivers’ share
was approximately 83 percent.

The Southeastern Power Administration
(SEPA) provides 178 MW of hydroeleciric peaking
capacity to the corporation through a long-term
contract.

In 1992, Big Rivers and East Kentucky Power
Cooperative entered into a unit back-up power
agreement in which each party agreed to furnish
(when requested) up to 200 MW upon the loss of
the other’s largest generating unit (Big Rivers’
Wilson unit and East Kentucky's Spurlock No. 2
unit). The agreement covers emergency and
planned outages.

HMP&L Station Two

Goal:

4

Corporate Headguarters

| Agreement.

In an effort to
increase sales, Big Rivers
has formed a three-mem-
ber sales team. The team
focuses on the fact that
long-term power sales to
other utilities are a vital
part of Big Rivers’ efforts
to meet its obligations
under the terms of the
Debt Restructuring
Agreement. At the close
of 1993, sixteen propos-
als were pending with
other utilities, while two
other proposals were
being prepared for sub-
mittal.

In June 1993, a

Wilson Plant

seven-year contract was

Make sufficient member and off-system sales to achieve the debt
service requirements as set forth in the Debt Restructuring

negotiated with Hoosier Energy Rural Electric
Cooperative (Hoosier) of Bloomington. Indiana. for
the sale of peaking capacity during the months of
June through September. The amount of capaci-
ty sold by year is shown in the following table:

Capacity Amount
Year Megawaltts
1993 10
1994 30
1995 80
1996 110
1997 130
1998 150
1999 170

The contract has been approved by the Rural
Electrification Administration (REA) and has been
filed with the KPSC.



In addition to the Hoosier agreement., Big
Rivers is supplying 54 MW of capacity to the
Municipal Energy Agency of Mississippi under a
contract which expires in September 1995, as
well as 103 MW to Oglethorpe Power Corporation,
under an agreement extending through July
2002.

Big Rivers has also leased its 65-MW Reid
combustion turbine to Hoosier for the period of
June 15 through September 15 each year from
1991 through 2000.

Along with the completed sales agreements
and pending proposals, Big Rivers is actively
attempting to develop markets with prospective
new customers, primarily in the southeast and
midwest, through its day-to-day telephone con-
tacts and meetings with those prospects.

Economic development efforts have also
helped to secure load for the Big Rivers system.
In 1990, Scott Paper Company announced a deci-
sion to locate its new tissue mill in Daviess
County. Phase I of the construction has now
been completed. Phase II, which is already
underway. is expected to be completed by the
close of 1994.

The Scott Paper plant, which is served by
Green River Electric Corporation, one of Big
Rivers’ member cooperatives. expects an electrical
load requirement of 30 MW. The total project
cost for both phases is anticipated to be $220
million with employment of approximately 300
people.

In addition. Big Rivers continues to talk with
representatives of various companies who have
expressed interest in locating within the Big
Rivers system.

As a result of the above. off-system power
sales were a marked increase in 1993 over the
previous two vears. Total energy sales in 1993
amounted to 11.247.5 Gigawatt-hours (GWh])
compared to 9,790.0 GWh in 1992. Energy sales
to other utilities for 1993. 2.802.3 GWh,
increased 91.5 percent over the 1.463.5 GWh
delivered during 1992. Rural residential and
commercial sales increased by 142 GWh, or
approximately 9.9 percent. Industrial energy
sales decreased slightly from a year ago by 23.3
GWh.

On July 28, 1993, at 5 p.m., Big Rivers' sys-
tem load peaked at 1,217 MW. This surpassed
the system peak record of 1,177 set in December
of 1989 and was 4.4 percent above the 1992
summer peak of 1,166 MW. The system annual
load factor for 1993 was 81.3 percent.

Heating and cooling degree days for the year
totaled 6,266. The total degree days in 1992 was
5.452.

kWh Energy Sales
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Operate Efficiently and Reliably

Goal:

Plan, design, construct, operate, and maintain Big Rivers’ electric system to ensure the
delivery of safe and reliable energy to its members and wholesale customers at the
lowest reasonable cost and in an environmentally sound manner.

A prime example of this dedication to efficient
and reliable operation is the installation of the
Harris 9000 Energy Management System. The
system allows Big Rivers to operate in a more effi-
cient and economical manner. The Harris system
provides:

¢ real-time dispatch information,

e a method by which the system supervisors
are alerted to any problem, enabling correc-
tive action to be taken immediately,

» data for maximizing load efficiency,

¢ similar day forecasting,

¢ power flow ~ system voltage information,

e power requirement estimates, and

e current status on emissions.

Another area which has required extensive
planning is the design and construction of elec-
tric service facilities for Scott Paper Company’s
Daviess County plant. The project consists of 16
miles of 161-kV transmission line, the addition of
a line bay at the Daviess County Substation, and
the development of a new substation at the Scott
Paper plant site. A four-mile section of the trans-
mission line was completed and energized at 69
kV providing five to seven MW of power to Scott
Paper’s first phase of plant operation. The
remaining 12 miles of line and the associated
substation work continued during 1993 and is
scheduled for completion by mid-1994. Until
completion, Big Rivers’ mobile substation is being
used as a means of transformation.

In addition, a 3 1/2-mile 69-kV transmission
line was designed and constructed to serve
Costain Coal Company’s East Portal Mine in
Webster County.

In October, the Sextet Mining Company began
receiving electric service at its Dorea Mine in
Webster County. This service required a 69-kV
tap line and a 69-kV metering installation: both
were completed in 1993.

Compliance with various environmental regu-
lations was also a focus of attention during 1993.
Applications for Phase I Acid Rain Permits, to
comply with regulatory aspects of the Clean Air
Act Amendments of 1990 (CAAA-90), were filed
for all of Big Rivers' affected units. as well as for
HMP&L Station Two.

In addition, Big Rivers continued its evalua-
tions of the various available options for system
compliance with the SO2 emission requirements
under the CAAA-90. These evaluations indicated
that the most economical approach is the instal-
lation of scrubbers at HMP&L Station Two. This
creates system-wide benefits for all affected units.

Furthermore, in order to reduce nitrogen
oxide (NOx) emissions, Coleman Units One and
Two were retrofitted with low NOx burners.
Results from testing on Unit Two (the first unit to
be retrofitted) indicated an emissions rate less
than Big Rivers’ targeted value of .5 pounds of

o NOx per million

British thermal unit
(Btu). This is a sig-
nificant reduction
considering the
emission rate



was at, or above, 1.1 pounds of NOx per million
Btu before the conversion.

As mandated by the 1990 Amendment to the
Clean Air Act, new continuous emission monitor-
ing systems were installed on each Phase I affect-
ed unit. The system monitors SO2, NOx, and
CO2 particulate emissions opacity and volumetric
flow of generating plant stack gases. The data is
automatically collected at a central location by
means of microwave link-up of the various site
monitoring computers. A great amount of time
was spent ensuring that these systems were
properly installed and certified in accordance
with regulations.

Preliminary design work for relocating the
Wilson Plant scrubber controls to the main con-
trol room has been completed and a construction
contract has been awarded. Relocation will result
in a more cost-effective scrubber operation.

Other environmental concerns began when
zebra mussels were discovered in the Coleman
Plant intake structure. These mollusks have
been found at various facilities along the Ohio
River. Close sampling of Coleman’s systems will
continue to assure no impacts on the Plant’s
operation or reliability. Sampling efforts are con-
tinuing at the D.B. Wilson and Reid/Green facili-
ties on the Green River. Thus far, no mollusks
have been discovered.

As previously stated, employees are continu-
ally investigating other avenues to help reduce
operating costs and increase efficiency. As a
result of these efforts, additional titanium in the
scrubber outlet duct at Wilson Plant has been
installed to help reduce maintenance repair costs
by protecting the carbon steel ductwork and elim-
inating annual replacement costs of the original
Gunite duct lining. Also, landfilling of the Wilson
Plant scrubber sludge/bottom ash mixture was
moved back to the on-site landfill area. An out-
side contractor is hauling the waste and manag-
ing the landfill operation for significantly less cost
per ton than the previous arrangement of off-site
disposal. Performance engineers are conducting
additional testing on all units to provide more
comprehensive heat rate curves for year-round
operation of each unit. Also. the coal feeders on
one Green and one Henderson unit have been
converted from a mechanical weigh system to an
electronic weigh system using load cells to
increase the accuracy of coal measurement.
Moreover, production employees completed work
on performance monitoring systems and
enhancements to the computerized maintenance
management system, which were responses to
the last two open recommendations from the
1990 management audit. As a result, PSC
approval has been received to close all of the rec-
ommendations relevant to the Production
Department.

Total capital expenditures for construction in
1993 were $16.4 million, up $9.0 million from
1992,

Continuing to provide members and wholesale
customers reliable energy at the lowest reason-
able cost remains in the forefront of Big Rivers’
rate matters. As discussed in previous annual
reports, in 1987 the PSC ordered a variable tariff
rate for energy sold by Big Rivers to Henderson
Union Electric Cooperative and Green River
Electric Corporation to be delivered to the alu-
minum smelters. The variable rate requires Big
Rivers to collect from a high of 4.4 cents per kWh
to a low of 1.8 cents, as primary aluminum prices
fluctuate between 80 and 45 cents a pound.
During 1993, the market price for aluminum
reached a historically low level, averaging 53.85
cents a pound, as compared to an average of
58.02 cents a pound the previous year.
Consequently, Big Rivers’ 1993 cash collections
for energy delivered to the smelters averaged 2.6
cents per kWh, as opposed to 2.9 cents in 1992.
This low amount had a substantial impact on Big
Rivers’ cash flow and the availability of funds for
debt service payments to the Rural Electrification
Administration (REA). However, the low cash flow
did not affect the recognition of revenues from the
smelters for 1993. The settlement with the
smelters, more fully discussed in footnote 5 to the
financial statements, assures that Big Rivers will
receive an average of 2.91285 cents per kWh
through August 1997, to the extent the smelters
operate at a 99 percent load factor.

The variable rate, as set by the PSC, was
designed to assure that the aluminum smelters
could continue to operate at full capacity in spite
of a low sales price for their product.




Provide a Quality Work Environment

Goal:
Maintain an organization structure and employee programs and practices which foster
an atmosphere that motivates, attracts, develops, and retains qualified and capable

personnel.

Teamwork and employee involvement contin-
ued to be the buzz words around Big Rivers for
1993 as the company-sponsored “Powerful [deas”
employee-suggestion program reached a crescen-
do with 83,183,567 worth of ideas approved for
implementation. In addition to the 1,214 “cost-
saving and revenue-generating” ideas, there were

employees who chose to participate in this
new venture. Big Rivers employees
achieved a remarkable record with an
average of over 19 ideas submitted per
team during the 13-week program! Once
again, Big Rivers’ employees have proven
the theory that, “No one knows the job bet-
ter than those who do it every day.” Big /
Rivers commends all employees for this /
outstanding accomplishment. /

Fifty-one employees had a quest for
higher education and benefited from
the company’s Educational Assistance
Program. A total of $35,581 was
spent on behalf of employees in this
program in 1993. Big Rivers con-
siders this money an investment in
the future of the company.

All headquarters and transmission
employees completed the “FrontLine Leadership”
and “Working” training programs.

In an effort to provide employees with infor-
mation concerning their health, Big Rivers offered
the “Sack Lunch Series.” Topics such as stress

awareness and healthful eating habits were pre-
sented during luncheon meetings. This program
originated as an employee-suggested “Powerful
Idea.”

Another program offered to
employees as a result of the sug-
gestion program was “Gram-
mar Brush-Up,” conducted by
Marianne Walker, instructor at
Henderson Community
College. Participants learned
more effective ways to com-

municate through better

, = grammar when speaking and
PRSI Y writing.
\' ' An audit of the compa-
ny’s Affirmative Action

Program in 1993 by the U.S. Department of
Labor’s office of Federal Contract Compliance
found Big Rivers' equal employment opportunity
policies and practices to be in full compliance
with federal regulations. This was the second

such audit of the company’'s Affirmative
Action Program since 1987. In both, Big
Rivers was found to be in compliance. Big
Rivers is proud of this accomplishment
and is committed to continuing with
our affirmative action employment
efforts.

Safety precautions and
employee dedication to creating
# a safe working environment

paid off in 1993. Corporate-wide,
there were 216 lost-time days, which
was a 46 percent decrease from
2 1992°s 472 lost-time days.

~ There were 12 lost-time
injuries in 1993 ~ down

from 13 in 1992.

However, there were 61
reported injuries, which is
- up 12 percent from 1992's

e / 42injuries.

Throughout the year.
training seminars were con-
ducted to ensure that employees
were up-to-date on the latest
safety procedures. Some of the topics covered
during the sessions were:

e Standard first aid and cardiopulmonary
resuscitation ~ offered to headquarters and
plant personnel;

» Fire procedure and extinguisher training ~
offered to plant and headquarters employees:

¢ Basic self-contained breathing apparatus
training ~ offered at all plants;

e Emergency response team training ~ a
three-day seminar for plant supervisors.

In addition to in-house training endeavors,
Orr Safety conducted small-scale, short-duration,
and 24-hour EPA bulk asbestos training.

Plant employees were also introduced to fire-
resistant smocks for use when racking in and out
electrical breakers.



Big Rivers also offered training seminars to
co-op employees.

e Approximately 175 employees were either
certified or recertified in cardiopulmonary
resuscitation.

e Twelve employees were certified in standard
first aid.

¢ All member system employees were trained
on basic substation operations, on Big
Rivers’ switching procedures, and on how to
communicate with dispatch.

In addition, co-op employees participated in
merchant lineman courses, forklift, hazard com-
munication, weather spotting, and numerous
other training seminars.

The above mentioned efforts helped to keep
the annual employee turnover rate below the
national average for similar-sized companies.
Total emplovment at the end of the year was 847,
up from 846 in 1992. Annual employee turnover
rate was 1.6 percent.

Provide Quality Support Services and Maintain Sound

Customer, Public, and Regulatory Relations

Goal:

Provide quality support services in an efficient and cost-effective manner while creat-
ing a better understanding of the mission of Big Rivers by representing the best inter-
ests of the corporation, our member cooperatives, and their consumers, through public
relations and marketing activities, and input in governmental actions at the federal,

state, and local levels.

Big Rivers Electric and the member distribu-
tion systems continued to work together, apply-
ing the principles of cooperation to successfully
market high-efficiency end-use products to our
consumers. The value of electricity was promot-
ed through regional advertising and strong indi-
vidual selling at the distribution level.

Program Results

Over 280 homeowners installed heat pumps
during the year, amounting to 936 tons of capac-
ity. Additionally, 310 tons of commercial heat
pump capacity was installed in 1993.

Approximately 310 consumers installed

Y
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electric water heaters in new homes. while 80
consumers converted from gas to electric.

A nmew home construction program entitled
“All-Seasons Comfort Home” (ASCH) was initiated
in 1993, with 23 new homes meeting the ASCH
standards, while approximately 20 additional
homes were under construction at year-end.
Advertising and Promotion

Advertising and promotion of residential mar-
keting programs via television, radio, newspa-
pers, and consumer publications such as
“Current Trends” and “Power Partners,” were well

received and very effective in
communicating with our cus-
tomers. “Current Trends.”
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“Power Partners,” and radio advertising won
national and state awards of merit and excellence
in their respective categories.

Bill inserts promoting the marketing pro-
grams were produced and inserted into consumer
bills throughout the year, providing a cost effec-
tive way to reach the customer.

Demand-Side Management and
End-Use Research
A new customer satisfaction and
=N end-use survey was completed in
April 1993. The study revealed no
significant changes in sat-
isfaction among our
customers ~ satis-
faction still
remains high!
The study also
indicated that
market share
for electric water
heating remains
strong. and elec-
tric space heat-
ing has gained mar-
ket share in the past
two years.
A detailed Demand-
Side Management study
was initiated in late
1993 with results due
during the first quarter of

1994. This study should establish the direction
for marketing programs, load control, wholesale
pricing signals, and other related areas for the
Big Rivers system.
Trade Ally and Consumer Education

An ongoing effort was made during the year to
provide quality training and information to trade
allies (those involved in the installation of electri-
cal products and the construction and planning
of facilities where electricity will be used) and
consumers. Several trade allies attended training
at the Electric Training and Research Laboratory
in Lexington, Kentucky, and also attended other
seminars throughout the region.

Home-energy consumer workshops were held
at the distribution system facilities during 1993.
Members were offered free information on how to
save energy in the home.
Community Relations and Customer Service

D.B. Wilson Plant tours, along with the distri-
bution systems’ participation in trade shows,
fairs, and school programs, were a significant
part of system-wide public relation activities.
Community and civic activities were supported by
Big Rivers through employee participation in
March of Dimes, Chamber of Commerce. United
Way, Big Brothers/Big Sisters of America, and
other community organizations.

Enhance Financial Stability

Goal:

Enhance financial stability and provide financial resources required to achieve corpo-

rate goals.

During 1993, Big Rivers continued improving
its operating margins. The loss of $30.6 million
for 1993 was a $7.3 million improvement com-
pared to 1992. This represents the best annual
improvement of the past three years. At year-
end, the corporation’s equity position reflected a
$185.4 million deficit. Big Rivers’ current projec-
tions show continued improvements in margins,
with positive margins anticipated for 1998.

The cost of fuel consumed in generating elec-
tricity is Big Rivers’ single largest expenditure.
About three-fourths of Big Rivers’ coal require-
ments are supplied from Kentucky mines in the
service areas of the corporation’s member cooper-
atives.

The units burned 4.9 million tons of coal in
generating electricity ~ an average of 13,470 tons

per day. This compares with 4.4 million tons ~
12,127 tons per day ~ burned in 1992. Fuel
costs for the year (including Big Rivers' share of
HMP&L Station Two. reported as purchased
power) were $139.8 million ~ an increase of $15.1
million.

The average cost of coal was $28.27 per ton,
equivalent to 125.6 cents per million Btu. This
compares with $27.92 per ton, 125.5 cents per
million Btu last year.

In 1988. Big Rivers entered into a Debt
Restructuring Agreement effective August 31.
1987 (defined in note 4 to the financial state-
ments), which provides for annual minimum debt
service payments. The Agreement also provides
for payment to REA of cash in excess of a $10
million balance at the end of each month after
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The average cost of coal was $28.27 per ton.
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ments), which provides for annual minimum debt
service payments. The Agreement also provides
for payment to REA of cash in excess of a $10
million balance at the end of each month after



paying operating costs and capital expenditures.
The scheduled REA debt service for 1993 was
$127.0 million. The decline in aluminum prices
decreased cash flow available for debt service.

On June 29 and September 8, SO2 emission
allowances, available from Henderson Municipal
Power and Light's Station Two scrubber project.
were sold and netted Big Rivers $22.9 million.
The proceeds from these two transactions
increased cash flow available for debt service. As
a result, Big Rivers paid $92.7 million to the REA
during 1993.

On October 4, 1993, Big Rivers submitted an
application to the REA to refinance $354.9 mil-
lion of outstanding high-cost Federal Financing
Bank (FFB) debt. This refinancing, if approved,
will decrease our government debt. Through
1993. cumulative principal payments have
reduced the principal balance to $84.4 million
less than the scheduled principal balance under
the Debt Restructuring Agreement, as amended.
The scheduled REA debt service payment for
1994 is $134.0 million.

As ordered by the KPSC, a focused manage-
ment audit of fuels procurement was performed
by Overland Consulting Group. The audit began
in January and the final report was issued in
May. Although the report was favorable in many
areas. it was recommended that many improve-
ments to the fuels procurement function be made
and it was determined that Big Rivers had unrea-
sonable fuel costs of $6.0 million for the period
under review (November 1990 through December
1992). The alleged unreasonable costs resulted
from entering into a particular coal contract in
1991 and amending another coal contract in
1988.

The Kentucky Industrial Utilities Customers
(a group representing Big Rivers’ largest industri-
al customers) and the Kentucky Attorney
General, together, intervened in the case and
engaged five consultants to develop testimony
against Big Rivers. These consultants developed
hundreds of pages of pre-filed testimony and

claimed that $45.4 million should be refunded for
the period under review (November 1990 through
April 1993). Big Rivers denied the validity of the
claims for refund, and engaged four consultants
to develop supporting prefiled testimony, along
with prefiled testimony of Big Rivers' manage-
ment. A public hearing was held before the KPSC
October 27-30 and November 3-5 involving
approximately 72 hours of verbal testimony. The
Commission’s decision is awaited at year-end.

In March, the U.S. District Court of Southern
Indiana rendered a decision in favor of Big Rivers
in a lawsuit involving Delta Mining Corporation.
This former coal supplier alleged that Big Rivers
owed $15.7 million in damages for not accepting
the total quantity of coal required under a 10-
year contract made in 1977. In April, Delta
Mining appealed the decision in the U.S. Court of
Appeals for the Seventh Circuit. Oral arguments
on the appeal were held in October. At year-end,
no decision had been rendered.

In June, Big Rivers notified Green River Coal
Co., Inc., the supplier of 1.020 million tons of
coal annually to the Wilson Plant under a 20-year
contract made in 1982, that the coal supply con-
tract should be terminated. Furthermore, all
payments resulting from the 1988 amendment to
the contract should be refunded. These actions
were a result of recent information indicating that
the contract and amendment were made with ille-
gal activity involved.

Green River Coal denied that any wrongdoing
took place in the making of the contract or
amendment and, in July, filed for Chapter 11
protection in the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the
Western District of Kentucky, requesting the
Court to declare the contract and amendment
valid. Big Rivers filed opposition to this
action. At year-end, no outcome
had been determined.
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[ndependent Auditors Report

The Board of Directors
Big Rivers Electric Corporation:

We have audited the balance sheets of Big Rivers Electric Corporation as of December 31.
1993 and 1992, and the related statements of revenues and expenses, equities (deficit) and
cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 1993. These
financial statements are the responsibility of the Corporation's management. Our respon-
sibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and
Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assur-
ance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Big Rivers Electric Corporation at December 31, 1993
and 1992, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the
three-year period ended December 31, 1993, in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles.

As discussed in notes 4 and 5 to the financial statements, Big Rivers Electric Corporation
and its creditors entered into a Debt Restructuring Agreement whereby government related
debt was restructured into a Total Government Debt Note (REA Promissory Note). The
principal repayment of the REA Promissory Note is contingent upon the available cash
flow. as defined by the Debt Restructuring Agreement. Big Rivers Electric Corporation’s
ability to recover its costs and repay its debt is dependent upon among other things, its
generating adequate revenues by selling excess capacity to nonmembers.

As discussed in note 7 to the financial statements, Big Rivers Electric Corporation may
have exposure to cancellation charges and additional costs if a project of the City of
Henderson is terminated.

As discussed in note 12 to the financial statements, Big Rivers Electric Corporation is a
defendant in a number of legal actions brought by both private and regulatory agencies.

The ultimate outcome of the matters discussed in the three preceding paragraphs cannot
be presently determined. Accordingly, no provisions for any liability that might result from
the outcome of these uncertainties have been recognized in the accompanying financial
statements. These matters also raise substantial doubt about Big Rivers Electric
Corporations’ ability to continue as a going concern. The financial statements do not
include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification of reported asset
amounts or the amounts and classification of liabilities that might result from the outcome
of these uncertainties.

February 25, 1994

K PMG et /7M

KPMG Peat Marwick,
Certified Public Accountants



Statement of Revenues and Exp@nlses

Years ended December 31, 1993, 1992, 1991
(Dollars in thousands)

1993 1992 1991
Operating revenues (notes 5 and 10) $350,946 319,907 331.335
Operating expenses
Operations:
Fuel for electric generation 117,400 108,323 115,202
Power purchased and interchanged, net 45,151 33.731 39.249
Other 51,366 48.838 48.467
Maintenance 27,783 26,532 29.618
Depreciation and amortization 45,257 44 981 44.810
Taxes 4,505 4.375 4.366
Total operating expenses 291.462 266.780 281.712
Electric operating margins 59,484 53,127 49.623
Interest and other deductions:
Interest (note 4) 93.149 93,890 95.530
Allowance for borrowed funds used
during construction (note 2) (442) (532) (458)
Other deductions (1.043) (1.000) (1,009)
Total interest and other deductions 91,664 92.358 94,063
Operating loss (32.180) (39.231) (44,440)
Nonoperating margins:
Interest earned 1,542 1,274 1.502
Other 4 2 3
Total nonoperating margins 1,546 1,276 1.505
Net loss $ (30,634) (37,955) (42.935)

Statement of Equities (Deficit)

Years ended December 31, 1993, 1992, 1991
(Dollars in thousands)

Other equities

Donated Consumers’
Accumulated Accumulated capital contributions
Total deficit- deficit- Patronage and to
equities operating nonoperating capital memberships debt service
Balance at December 31, 1990 $ (73,882) (190,280) (15,968) 127.921 764 3.681
Margins for 1991:
Operating (44.440) (44,440) -- = == -
Nonoperating 1.505 e 1.505 --- == =
Balance at December 31, 1991 (116.817) (234.720) (14.463) 127.921 764 3.681
Margins for 1992:
Operating (39,231) (39.231) - - --- -
Nonoperating 1.276 = 1.276 s - ==
Balance at December 31, 1992 (154,772) (273,951) (13,187) 127,921 764 3.681
Margins for 1993:
Operating (32,180) (32,180) --- --- --- -
Nonoperating 1,546 Sas 1,546 -—- — ---
Balance at December 31, 1993 $(185,406) (306.131) (11.641) 127,921 764 3.681

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

14



Ba]a:m*re Sﬂn‘fis
At December 31, 1993, 1992
(Dollars in thousands)

Assets

Utility plant, net (notes 2, 4, and 7)
Other deposits and investments, at cost
Current assets:
Cash and temporary cash investments
Receivables (note 10)
Fuel for electric generation
Non-fuel inventory

Total current assets

Deferred charges (note 3)

Equities and Liabilities

Capitalization:
Equities (deficit)
Long-term liabilities (notes 4. 5, and 7)
REA debt
Other long-term debt

Total long-term liabilities
Less current maturities

Total long-term liabilities -
net of current maturities

Total capitalization

Current liabilities:
Current maturities of long-term
liahilities (notes 4. 5, and 7}
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses

Total current liabilities

Deferred revenue (note 5)
Deferred credits (note 7)

Commitments and contingencies (notes 7, 8, 9, and 12)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

1993 1992
$ 1,050.621 1.087.900
5,783 5,483
10,073 10,079
30,933 23,164
18,396 24,471
14,766 14,668
74,168 72,382
12,817 14,387
$ 1,143,389 1,180,152

1993 1992
$ (185,406) (154,772)
1,076,835 1.082.652
173.336 178,600
1,250,171 1,261,252
19,532 18,337
1,230,639 1,242,915
1,045.233 1,088,143
19,532 18,337
21,351 14,760
3.919 4,475
44,802 37,572
9,186 25,250
44,168 29,187
$ 1,143,389 1,180,152

15
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é'tat‘t‘e:m-en'l' of Cash Flows
Year ended December 31, 1993, 1992, 1991
(Dollars in thousands)
1993 1992 1991
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss $ (30,634) (37,955) (42.935)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss
to cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 45,983 45,706 45,518
Amortization of deferred charges 996 917 2,356
Net change in deferred revenue (16,064) (9.343) 6.107
Change in assets and liabilities:
Receivables (7,768) 1,734 5,371
Fuel for electric generation 6,076 3.716 (3,604)
Non-fuel inventory (99) 564 (421)
Accounts payable 6.591 (4.030) 185
Accrued expenses (556) 143 (4.676)
Other, net (1,0986) (2,272) 324
Net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities 3,429 (820) 8,225
Cash flows from investing activities:
Construction expenditures (16.404) (7.381) (7,672)
Prepayment on coal contract --- --- (3,500)
* Sale of pollution control allowances 23,150 --- ---
Net cash provided by (used in)
investing activities 6,746 (7,381) (11,172)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Principal payments on long-term debt (4,364) (4,364) (4.364)
Unpaid accrued interest (5.816) 12.544 7.158
Net cash provided by (used in) financing
activities (10,180) 8,180 2,794
Net increase (decrease) in cash
and temporary cash investments $ (5) (21) (153)
Supplemental Cash Flow Information
1993 1992 1991
Cash paid relating to interest expense $ 97,594 80,233 84,642
See accompanying notes to financial statements.
16
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Notes to Financial St -
WNotes to MNinancial Otatements

December 31, 1993, 1992, 1991
(Dollars in thousands)

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

General Information:

Big Rivers Electric Corporation (Big Rivers)., a non-
profit electric generation and transmission coopera-
tive. supplies the power needs of its four member dis-
tribution cooperatives and markets power to non-
member utilities. The members provide electric
power and energy to industrial, residential, and com-
mercial customers located in portions of 22 western
Kentucky counties. Big Rivers has entered into
wholesale power contracts with each of its members
which require the members to buy and receive from

System of Accounts:

Big Rivers all their power and energy requirements
and Big Rivers to sell and deliver power and energy
in satisfaction of such requirements. The wholesale
power contracts with the members extend to the year
2023. Rates to its members are established by the
Kentucky Public Service Commission (KPSC) and
subject to approval by the United States Department
of Agriculture Rural Electrification Administration
(REA).

The accrual basis accounting policies follow the
Uniform System of Accounts prescribed by the
Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) as
adopted by REA and KPSC. The regulatory agencies

Revenue Recognition:

retain authority and periodically issue orders on vari-
ous accounting and rate-making matters.

Revenues are based on month-end meter readings.

Utility Plant and Depreciation:

Utility plant is stated at original cost, which
includes the cost of contracted services, material,
labor. overhead, and an allowance for funds used
during construction. Replacements of depreciable
property units, except minor replacements, are
charged to utility plant. Property units replaced or
retired, including cost of removal and salvage value,
are charged to accumulated depreciation. Routine
maintenance, repairs, and minor replacement costs
are charged to expense as incurred.

Allowance for borrowed funds used during con-
struction is included on projects with an estimated
total cost of $250 or more before consideration of
such allowance. The interest capitalized is deter-
mined by applying the effective rate of the REA
Promissory Note to the to-date accumulated expendi-
tures for qualifving projects included in construction

Temporary Cash Investments:

in progress. Capitalization of interest is discontinued
when the project is completed and the asset is ready
for service.

Depreciation of utility plant in service is provided
using the straight-line method over the estimated
service lives of the depreciable assets. The annual
REA-prescribed rates used to compute depreciation
are as follows:

Production plant 3.00-3.10%
Transmission plant 2.75%
Station equipment 2.75%

General plant 2.00-20.00%

For 1993 and 1992, the average depreciation rate
was 3.06 percent.

Temporary cash investments consist primarily of
temporary investments in U.S. government and fed-
eral agency securities which are carried at cost and
adjusted for accrued interest, which approximates

market. For purposes of statement of cash flows, Big
Rivers considers all short-term, highly-liquid invest-
ments of three months or less to be cash equivalents.
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Notes (continued)

Inventories:

Inventories, consisting of non-fuel and fuel for elec-
tric generation, are valued at weighted average cost.

Patronage Capital:

As provided in the bylaws, any excess of revenues
over the sum of (a) operating costs and expenses
properly chargeable against the furnishing of electric
energy, and {b) amounts required to offset operating
losses incurred during the current or any prior fiscal
year is capital furnished by the patrons and credited
to a capital account for each patron on a patronage
basis. Nonoperating margins are used to offset any
accumulated nonoperating deficits and, to the extent
not needed for this purpose, used to offset any oper-
ating losses during the current or any prior fiscal

year. If, after offsetting the nonoperating margins
against accumulated nonoperating deficits, operating
losses or accumulated deficits, there remains a bal-
ance, this balance is allocated to patrons on a
patronage basis and any amount so allocated is
included as a part of capital credited to the accounts
of patrons. Neither operating nor nonoperating loss-
es are allocated to the patrons. Patronage capital
cannot be retired if patronage capital is less than 40
percent of the total assets.

Pension and Deferred Compensation Plans:

All employees, after one year of service, are covered
under trusteed non-contributory retirement plans.
Also, Big Rivers has executed non-contributory com-
pensation agreements with certain key employees
which provide for periodic payments upon retirement
or to beneficiaries in the event of death. The pension
plans are funded in accordance with the OBRA mini-

mum funding requirements, while the deferred com-
pensation plan is fully funded. Pension expense
includes current service cost, interest cost. actual
return on plan assels amortizations of prior service
cost and gains and losses. Amortizations are over
periods up to 21 years.

New Accounting Standards:

In November 1992, the FASB issued Statement of
Financial Accounting Standard (SFAS) No. 112,
“Employers’ Accounting for Postemployment
Benefits.” This standard requires that employers
accrue the estimated postemployment cost of benefits
during the years that employees render service. The
Company plans to adopt SFAS No. 112 on January 1,
1994.

In May 1993, the FASB issued SFAS No. 115,
*Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and
Equity Securities” which the Company plans to adopt

Reclassification:

on January 1, 1994. This statement addresses the
accounting and reporting for investments in equity
securities that have readily determinable fair values
and for all investment in debt securities.

During 1993, Big Rivers adopted SFAS No. 109,
“Accounting for Income Taxes.” and SFAS No. 106,
“Employers’ Accounting for Postretirement Benefits
Other Than Pensions.”

The impact of the new statements will not have a
material impact on the financial position or results of
operations.

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified
for comparability with the 1993 presentation.
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2. Utility Plant

The following summarizes utility plant:

Classified plant in service:
Production plant
Transmission plant
Station equipment
General plant
Intangible

Unclassified plant in service

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization

Construction in progress

Construction in progress is comprised of the Scott
Paper 161-kV transmission line, the continuous

emission monitors, and several small projects. The
3. Deferred Charges
The following summarizes deferred charges:
Unamortized debt expenses
Green River Coal prepayment
Other

1993 1992
$1,308,504 1,306,209
80,930 80,158
99,447 92.359
18,015 17,670
190 190
56 460
1,507,142 1,497,046
461,496 419,710
1,045,646 1,077.336
4,975 10,564
$1.050,621 1,087,900

average rates used for the capitalization of interest
during construction in 1993, 1992, and 1991 were

8.0, 8.0, and 7.8 percent, respectively.
1993 1992
$ 6,998 7.454
5,653 6,192
166 741
$12,817 14,387

Big Rivers refinanced a portion of its long-term debt
at lower interest rates and incurred refinancing
expenses. In November 1982, Big Rivers elected to
refinance $90,053 of FFB short-term mortgage notes
with long-term notes at lower interest rates. As a
result of this election, a refinancing cost of $4.616
was incurred. On September 29, 1987, and February
25. 1988, Big Rivers refinanced $319,426 and
$250,805, respectively, at lower interest rates. The
refinancing costs were $2,937 and $3,318, respec-
tively. These costs are being amortized over the term
of the REA promissory note (see note 4).

On July 18, 1989, Big Rivers endeavored to enter
into an agreement to buy out a high-cost, long-term
coal supply contract. A contract for substitution of
coal was executed on September 24, 1991, with

Green River Coal. Big Rivers has made total fuel pre-
payments of $7,000. Interest on the outstanding bal-
ance is based on the prime rate established by
Chemical Bank of New York plus 2 percent. Green
River Coal is repaying Big Rivers at the rate of $1 per
ton of coal shipped.

On July 8. 1993, Green River Coal filed for bank-
ruptey protection from its creditors. Big Rivers and
Green River Coal are currently in negotiations, under
the supervision of the Bankruptey Court, and it is
the opinion of management that the outcome of these
negotiations will not adversely affect Big Rivers (see
note 12).
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4. Long-term Liabilities

A summary of long-term liabilities follows:

Promissory note - REA 8.36%
Unamortized premium

County of Ohio, Kentucky, promissory note, with variable

interest rate of 3.00% as of 12/31/93

County of Ohio, Kentucky, promissory note, with variable

interest rate of 3.00% as of 12/31/93

Obligation under purchased power contract (see note 7)

Bank of New York, bank loan 8.0%
Chemical Bank, bank loan 8.0%

Total long-term liabilities
Less current maturities

1993 1992
$ 647,140 705,029
429.695 377,623
1.076.,835 1.082.652
83,300 83,300
58.800 58,800
23,600 24.500
3,160 4,965
4,476 7,035
1,250,171 1,261,252
19,532 18,337
$1,230,639 1,242,915

Debt Restructuring Agreement:

All revenues and substantially all assets of Big
Rivers are pledged as collateral under a Restated
Mortgage and Security Agreement dated as of March
30, 1988. which was executed as part of a Debt
Restructuring Agreement.

The impact of the Debt Restructuring Agreement
was accounted for as a troubled debt restructuring
involving a modification of terms. Accordingly, Big
Rivers accounted for the effects of the restructuring
prospectively and did not change the carrying
amount of the debt.

Promissory Note - REA:

The Debt Restructuring Agreement provides for a
reverse amortization repayment schedule (payments
will be applied to principal in a reverse manner to
that provided by a conventional loan amortization
schedule) at an interest rate of 8.36 percent for the
REA Promissory Note, which includes all debts of Big
Rivers which are guaranteed or insured by REA (REA
Debt). For financial statement purposes, interest
expense is being computed on a conventional amorti-
zation method rather than the reverse amortization
method per the Debt Restructuring Agreement. The
resulting difference is reflected as unamortized pre-
mium and will be adjusted throughout the term of
the REA Promissory Note. Any unpaid interest is
added to the unamortized premium. The effective
interest rate for 1993, 1992, and 1991 on the REA
Promissory Note was 8.0, 8.1, and 7.9 percent,
respectively. In return for Big Rivers making all pay-
ments on the REA Promissory Note, the REA will
make all payments required on all prior debt on a
timely basis and will not seek to collect from Big
Rivers, with respect to any REA Debt, any amounts
in excess of the obligation on the REA Promissory
Note.

The Debt Restructuring Agreement establishes a
minimum level of debt service payments, while

5 requiring additional debt service payments

depending on the available monthly cash flow. as
defined by the Debt Restructuring Agreement. Big
Rivers may retain for working capital needs a month-
end cash balance of $10,000.

In connection with the Settlement Agreement
described in note 5, the Debt Restructuring
Agreement was amended as of January 1, 1990. The
amendment provided that if the variable rates to the
aluminum smelters specified in the Settlement
Agreement (described in note 5) and in effect on April
1, 1990, remain continuously in effect and unmodi-
fied through August 31, 1997, and if during this peri-
od, the REA Debt never exceeds by more than $18
million what the REA Debt would be if only the
scheduled annual amounts were paid. then no Event
of Default shall be deemed to have occurred through
December 31, 1997. If the REA Debt exceeds
$442,948 on January 1, 1998, then the schedule
shall be amended beginning with 2004 and continu-
ing to each immediately successive year such that
the amount of the cash payments for any year shall
not exceed $150,000 and such that the scheduled
annual payment amounts in and after 1998, if paid
in equal monthly installments for ecach year, will
when discounted in accordance with the agreement,
yield a figure that equals in aggregate the REA Debt
as of January 1, 1998.
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Other Long-term Debt:

On June 30, 1983, the County of Ohio, Kentucky,
issued $58,800 of Pollution Control Bonds, Series
1983. the proceeds of which were loaned to Big
Rivers. These bonds bear a variable rate of interest,
determined weekly by the remarketing agent, with
the approval of Big Rivers, equal to the minimum rate
necessary to remarket the bonds in a secondary mar-
ket at par plus accrued interest, but not to exceed
110 percent of an index based upon the weekly sales
of 91-day U.S. Treasury Bills. These bonds are sup-
ported by a Bank of New York irrevocable standby
letter of credit, which is due to expire July 1, 1994,
and is subject to renewal. The bonds are subject to
mandatory redemption upon expiration of the sup-
porting letter of credit. In absence of notification by
Bank of New York to renew the letter of credit. Big
Rivers will draw down sufficient funds under the let-
ter of credit to redeem the bonds. Draws against the
letter of credit would bear interest at prime plus two
percent and become Bank Amounts as defined by the
Debt Restructuring Agreement. The Bank Amounts
would be repayable under the same terms and condi-
tions as the redeemed bonds. While these bonds are
not dated to mature until June 1., 2013, pursuant to
the Restructuring Agreement, Big Rivers is obligated
to fully fund these bonds or Bank Amounts by
January 31, 2010.

In November of 1982. the County of Ohio,
Kentucky, issued $82,500 of Pollution Control
Interim Bonds. Series 1982, the proceeds of which
were loaned to Big Rivers. On October 31, 1985, the

Debt Maturities:

County of Ohio, Kentucky, issued Pollution Control
Refunding Demand Bonds, Series 1985, the proceeds
of which were used to refinance the 1982 Interim
Bonds. The Refunding Bonds bear interest at a vari-
able rate, which is the lesser of (a) 13 percent per
annum or (b) a rate determined weekly by the remar-
keting agent, with the approval of Big Rivers, equal to
the minimum rate necessary to remarket the bonds
in a secondary market at par plus accrued interest,
but not less than 40 percent nor greater than 110
percent of an index based upon the weekly sales of
91-day U.S. Treasury Bills. These bonds are sup-
ported by a Chemical Bank irrevocable standby letter
of credit, which is due to expire October 15, 1997,
and is subject to renewal. The bonds are subject to
mandatory redemption upon expiration of the sup-
porting letter of credit. In absence of notification by
Chemical Bank to renew the letter of credit, Big
Rivers will draw down sufficient funds under the let-
ter of credit to redeem the bonds. Draws against the
letter of credit would bear interest at prime plus 2
percent and become Bank Amounts as defined by the
Debt Restructuring Agreement. The Bank Amounts
would be repayable under the same terms and condi-
tions as the redeemed bonds. While these bonds are
not dated to mature until October 1, 2015, pursuant
to the Debt Restructuring Agreement, Big Rivers is
obligated to fully fund these bonds or Bank Amounts
by January 31, 2010.

At December 31, 1993, Big Rivers had, since
September 1987, paid total debt service on the REA
Promissory Note in such a manner that there existed
an excess debt service payment against default in the
amount of $102,422. This represents a decrease of
$21,331 during 1993. This excess debt service pay-
ment can be used to offset future payments under
the schedule.

Based on the overpayments to date and the
required REA Promissory Note principal balance on

December 31, 1997, Big Rivers has calculated the
annual payments on a straight-line basis to avoid an
event of default through December 31, 1997, and
minimum scheduled payments thereafter. Actual
payments may be more or less than those on a
straight-line basis. Under this calculation, the matu-
rities of long-term debt for each of the five years sub-
sequent to December 31, 1993, are estimated to be
as follows:

REA Financial Statement
Promissory = Unamortized Other Change in
Year Note Premium Debt Principal
1994 $57,350 (43,966) 6,148 19,532
1995 52,926 (38,421) 7,364 21.869
1996 48,842 (33,127) 3,143 18.858
1997 45,074 (28,044) 3,308 20,338
1998 62,629 8,112 3.489 74,230
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5. Rate Matters

Big Rivers’ rates include a ratchet billing for demand
(where current billing units are determined based on
the highest metered demand in the past twelve months)
and a variable rate to major customers of Big Rivers’
members, National Southwire Aluminum Company and
Alcan Aluminum Corporation {the aluminum smelters)
(see note 10). The variable rate will be effective
through August 1997. The variable rate for the alu-
minum smelters will fluctuate based on the price of
aluminum within a defined minimum (18.1 mills per
kWh) and maximum (44 mills per kWh).

A Settlement Agreement effective January 1, 1990,
was reached between Big Rivers, the aluminum
smelters, and Big Rivers’ creditors. The Settlement
Agreement preserves the variable aluminum smelter
rate as the method of calculating the cash payments to
be made by the smelters to Big Rivers. The Settlement
Agreement. however, fixes the revenue to be recognized
by Big Rivers at 29.1285 mills per kWh at an approxi-
mate 99 percent load factor through August 1997.
Accordingly. any payments in excess of or under the
29.1285 mills per kWh brought about by the variable
aluminum smelter rate will be recorded as either
deferred revenue or a receivable by Big Rivers. This
settlement was brought about in part by the high alu-
minum prices in 1989 and 1988, which caused the
smelters to pay at or near the maximum rate of 44
mills per kWh.

While Big Rivers expects to maintain positive cash
flow, the agreed upon rate of 29.1285 mills per kWh
will cause Big Rivers to sustain negative net margins in
the next few years if additional intersystem sales to
non-members are not achieved. In addition, the settle-
ment modified certain default provisions under the

6. Income Taxes

Big Rivers was initially formed as a tax-exempt coop-
erative organization under section 501 (c) (12} of the
Internal Revenue Code. To retain tax exempt status
under this section of the Internal Revenue Code. at
least 85 percent of the organization’s income must be
generated from the sales to the cooperative’s members.
In 1983. sales to non-members resulted in Big Rivers
being unable to meet the 85 percent requirement. In a
letter dated March 23, 1984, the Internal Revenue
Service notified Big Rivers that effective for 1983 and
subsequent years it would be considered a taxable
organization until such year that sales to members
would satisfy the 85 percent requirement and Big
Rivers formally reapplies for tax exempt status.

Big Rivers has generated losses for both accounting
and income tax purposes. As a result, there is no pro-
vision for current or deferred income tax expense.

As discussed in note 1, Big Rivers adopted

Statement 109 as of January 1, 1993. The cumulative
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Debt Restructuring Agreement to afford greater flexibil-
ity to Big Rivers from default in its debt payments.

The Clean Air Act Amendments of 1990 (CAAA-90)
require significant reductions in the emission of sulfur
dioxide and nitrogen oxide by fossil-fueled electric gen-
erating units. The CAAA-90 require that sulfur dioxide
emissions be reduced at generating units in two phases
over a ten-year period. In order to meet the require-
ments, the City of Henderson is constructing scrubbers
on the two units owned by the City. Big Rivers has
filed with the KPSC a plan to comply with the Clean Air
Act and to impose an Environmental Surcharge. Big
Rivers does not plan to implement the Environmental
Surcharge until the middle of 1995. A ruling from the
KPSC should be received by the summer of 1994.

Intersystem power sales to non-members is a compo-
nent of full cost recovery under Big Rivers’ rate design.
A long-term contract has been signed with Oglethorpe
Power Corporation (Oglethorpe Power) for the sale of
103 MW of firm power for ten years. beginning in
August 1992. Oglethorpe Power is a joint owner of the
Georgia Integrated Transmission System. which inter-
connects with the transmission system of the
Tennessee Valley Authority (TVA).

Two long-term contracts have been signed with
Hoosier Energy Rural Electric Cooperative (Hoosier
Energy). The first was for the sale of 65 MW of capacity
from Big Rivers’ Combustion Turbine during a three-
month summer period through year 2000. The second
was a Peaking Power agreement varying in MW from 10
in 1993 to 170 in 1999; this Agreement covers June
through September of each calendar year. Hoosier
Energy is a REA Cooperative interconnected with Big
Rivers (see note 12).

effect of this change in accounting for income taxes
was not material to the financial statements as a
whole and is included in income from continuing oper-
ations for the year ended December 31, 1993. Big
Rivers’ only significant temporary difference results
from excess tax depreciation and basis differences
related to the utility plant. No deferred tax liability has
been recorded as of December 31, 1993. as manage-
ment has indicated that any future income in excess of
the net operating loss carryforwards will be offset with
qualified patronage allocations and distributions to
patrons of the cooperative.

At December 31, 1993, Big Rivers has net operating
loss carryforwards for federal income tax purposes of
$872,762 which are available to offset any future fed-
eral taxable income through 2007. Big Rivers has
investment tax credit carryforwards of approximately
$57,735 which are available to partially offset portions
of any future income taxes through 2000.
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7. Purchased Power

Big Rivers, under contracts with the City of
Henderson, Kentucky (Cily), operates the City-owned
315-MW generating station (Station Two) and agrees
to purchase an allocated portion of the output. Big
Rivers' portion of Station Two capacity is currently 83
percent which is expected to decrease to 81 percent
by 1997. The contracts expire in 2003, subject to
options for extensions.

In order to comply with the Clean Air Act, Big
Rivers and the Cily of Henderson have agreed the
City should install pollution control equipment on
the City's Station Two facilities. The existing con-
tracts with the City have been amended to include
the cost of installing, operating, and maintaining this
equipment. The Cily of Henderson and Big Rivers
have sold allowances that were awarded to them by
the Environmental Protection Agency which will off-
setl approximately 60 percent of the cost to install
these scrubbers. Big Rivers’ portion of the sale of
allowances was approximately $23.000. Of this
amount, $16.272 has been recorded as a deferred
credit and $6.800 as an offset to cost of utility plant.
This project is pending approval before the KPSC and
Big Rivers may have exposure to approximately $14
million of estimated cancellation charges if the pro-
ject were to be terminated. In addition, Big Rivers

would expect to incur additional cost to replace the
allowances sold. Big Rivers has the option of extend-
ing the contracts through the economic life of the
power plant.

Under the terms of the contracts and amendments
thereto with the City, Big Rivers has agreed to pay a
proportionate share of the monthly fixed costs of
Station Two (excluding depreciation) based on its
allocated portion of the capacity of Station Two. The
monthly fixed costs include debt service payments
necessary to retire the principal and to pay interest
on the City’s bonds issued to finance the construc-
tion of Station Two. Big Rivers has recorded as a lia-
bility the portion of the principal payments it is oblig-
ated to pay as fixed costs under the contract based
on estimates of its allocated portion of Station Two
capacity, and has recorded as an asset a like amount
for the right to purchase its allocated portion of the
output. The fixed costs are payable to the City
whether or not Station Two is operational or the
operation thereof is interrupted. suspended, or inter-
fered with in whole or in part for any cause. The cost
of power purchased under the contract for 1993,
1992, and 1991 was $33,563, $27.250, and $30,998,
respectively. Such costs are accounted for as pur-
chased power.

8. Pension, Deferred Compensation Plans

Big Rivers has non-contributory defined benefit
pension plans covering substantially all employees
who meel minimum age and service requirements.
The plans provide benefits based on the participants’
years of service and the 5 highest consecutive years’
compensation during the last 10 years of employ-
ment. Also, Big Rivers has executed non-contributo-
ry defined compensation agreements with certain key

employees which provide for periodic payments upon
retirement or to beneficiaries in the event of death.
Big Rivers’ policy is to fund such plans in accordance
with the requirements of the Employee Retirement
Income Security Act of 1974.

Big Rivers has adopted the provisions of SFAS No.
87, Employers’ Accounting for Pensions. The amorti-
zations are over periods up to 21 years.

The funded status of the plan at December 31 is as follows:

Actuarial present value of benefit obligation:

Accumulated benefit obligation, including vested benefits of

$16,624, $12,916, and $10,718.

Projected benefit obligation for services rendered to-date

Plan assels at fair value. primarily listed stocks and U.S.

Treasury Bonds

Plan assels over (under) projected benefit obligation
Unrecognized net transition assets

Unrecognized prior service cost

Unrecognized net loss (gain)

Unfunded accrued pension cost

1993 1992 1991
$ 16,673 12,942 10,773
$ 29,157 17,507 14,459
18,768 16,861 15,657
(10,389) (646) 1,198
(1,762) (1,982) (2.202)
2,369 1,516 1.343
7.559 270 (1,916)
$ (2,223) (842) (1,577)
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Net pension costs included the following components for

the years ended December 31:

Service cost-benefits earned during the year
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation
Actual return on plan assets
Amortization of transition assets
Amortization of prior service cost
Amortization of deferral of net loss (gain)
Special termination benefits

Net periodic pension costs

Assumptions used to develop the projected benefit
obligation were:
Discount rates
Rates of increase in compensation levels
Expected long-term rate of return on assets

1993 1992 1991
$ 1,660 1.270 1.219
1,726 1,285 1,046
(2,138) (1.537) (2,787)
(220) (220) (220)
230 175 143
753 151 1,722
396 0] 0
$ 2,407 1,124 1.123
7.5% 8.5% 8.5%
4.0 4.0 4.0
8.5 8.5 8.5

Total expense related to the pension and deferred compensation plans was $3,108, $1,396, and $1,420 in

1993, 1992, and 1991, respectively.

9. Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions

The Company provides certain postretirement medical
benefits for retired employees and their spouses. For
all employees who retired prior to 1994, the Company
pays 80 percent of the cost from age 62-65; and from
age 65, for salaried employees, the Company pays 100
percent of Medicare supplement cost. For salaried
employees who retire after December 31, 1993, the
Company-paid Medicare supplement was eliminated.
Effective January 1, 1993, Big Rivers adopted SFAS No.
106, “Employers’ Accounting for Postretirement
Benefits Other Than Pensions” which requires the
expected cost of these benefits to be recognized over the
employees’ years of service, rather than a pay-as-you-go
basis. Also, the Company offered a retirement incentive
program which provided special termination benefits to
certain employees during late 1992 and early 1993.
The resulting increase in the other postretirement bene-
fit obligation from SFAS 88 was $61. As depicted in the
following tables. the total 1993 postretirement benefit
expense other than pensions was $798. Postretirement
benefits costs for prior years have not been restated.

The discount rate used in computing the obligation
was 8 percent. In accordance with SFAS 106. the
Company chose to amortize the present value of the
obligation at the adoption date, the transition obliga-
tion, over a 20-year period. A health care cost trend
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rate of 13 percent in 1993 declining to 6 percent in
2012 was utilized. The health care cost trend rate
assumption has a significant elfect on the amounts
reported. A 1 percent increase in the health care trend
rate each year would increase the aggregate service and
interest costs for 1993 by $90 and the accumulated
other postretirement benefit obligation by $680. The
Company plans to fund such benefits beginning mid-
1994.

The components of net periodic postretirement ben-
efit cost for the year ended December 31, 1993, are as
follows:

Service cost ~ benefits earned during the

period 8 199
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 331
Amortization of transition obligation 207
Special termination benefits 61
Net other periodic postretirement benefit cost $ 798
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Reconciliation of the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation to the accrued liability for post-
retirement benefits as of January 1, 1993, and December 31, 1993, is as follows:
Accumulated postretirement benefit obligation ~ January | December 34
retirees $ 1,459 1,571
Other eligible active participants 482 520
Other active participants 2,255 2.635
Total accumulated benefit obligation 4,196 4,726
Unrecognized transition obligation 4,135 3.928
Unrecognized special termination benefits 61 0]
Unfunded accrued postretirement benefit liability $ 0 798

10. Related Parties and Major Customers

Members:
Green River Electric Corporation
Henderson Union Electric Cooperative

Jackson Purchase Electric Cooperative Corporation
Meade County Rural Electric Cooperative Corporation

Non-members
Other Revenue

National Southwire Aluminum Company and Alcan
Aluminum Corporation (the aluminum smelters) pur-
chase substantial amounts of electric energy under
contracts with members expiring in 2010. Sales to
members for these two customers (Green River
Electric Corporation for National Southwire
Company and Henderson Union Electric Cooperative
for Alcan Aluminum Corporation) were as follows:

Henderson
Year Green River Union Combined
1993 $ 86,428 83,432 169,860
1992 87,705 82,841 170,546
1991 88,892 83,117 172,009

Alcan Aluminum Corporation has closed one third
of its operation capacity at the Sebree, Kentucky,

Operating Revenues

1993 1992 1991
$133,194 133,021 135,805
106,018 105,744 106.368
23,709 22,300 22,390
12,463 11,679 11,932
75,456 47,068 54,751
106 95 89
$350,946 319.907 331,335

smelter and NSA has reduced its operation capacity
at the Hawesville, Kentucky, smelter by 10 percent.
The smelters are required by contract to continue
paying the fixed demand cost. All energy associated
with this capacity will be sold when possible on the
open market by Big Rivers. Each smelter will receive
a credit for all power sold in excess of Big Rivers’
energy cost.

Big Rivers agrees to indemnify its member coopera-
tives by performing their power supply agreements
with certain industrial customers and accepting only
such payment therefore as each member receives
from its customers.

Receivables from members at December 31, 1993,
1992, and 1991 were $17,838, $18,478, and
$20,602, respectively.

11. Disclosure of the Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of Big Rivers’ cash and cash
equivalents, accounts receivable, short-term invest-
ments, and accounts payable approximate the fair
value because of the short maturity of these financial
instruments. The assumption used in determining
the fair value of Big Rivers’ long-term variable inter-
est rate debt is that the fair value approximates the

carrying value, as the debt reprices weekly. Due to
the uncertainties described in note 12, the ability of
Big Rivers to obtain new debt or replace its existing
debt is indeterminable. Accordingly, it is not practi-
cable to estimate the fair value of the long-term fixed
interest rate debt. The carrying value of this debt is
$1,108,071.
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NDT es (continued)

12. Commitments and Contingencies

The United States Environmental Protection Agency
(EPA) has informed Big Rivers that it may be liable
for damages with respect to the Green River Disposal
Superfund Site, as defined in the comprehensive
Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability
Act of 1980. A remedial/feasibility study has been
completed and submitted to the EPA. Big Rivers’
share of the cost of the study is 0.3 percent plus 0.3
percent of the final cost of implementing a reme-
dy at the site which management believes should not
significantly impact the financial statements.

During 1993, a suit by a former coal supplier in the
amount of $15.7 million was decided in Big Rivers’
favor. The coal supplier appealed this decision to the
United States Court of Appeals, and at December 31,
1993, a decision on this appeal was pending and is
still pending. Management believes that the outcome
of this legal action will not have a material effect on
Big Rivers’ financial position or results of operations.

Big Rivers has entered into several long-term coal
contracts extending through 2006. Fuel purchased
under these contracts in 1993, 1992, and 1991 was
$101,123, $107,540, and $127,247, respectively.

The KPSC has supervised a focused management
audit of Big Rivers' fuel procurement policies and
procedures. As a result of this action, the Kentucky
Utility Industrial Customers (KIUC) asserted claims
that Big Rivers should be required to refund to rate
payers $45,447 for alleged excess coal cost including
interest for the review period. KIUC further claimed
that Big Rivers should reduce its fuel recovery rate in
future years under the Green River Coal Company
contract by at least $11,373 annually over the
remaining 11-year life of the contract. These claims
were consolidated in a hearing before the KPSC. The
decision of the KPSC on these items is pending. On
February 17. 1994, Big Rivers and the KIUC entered
into a Settlement Stipulation agreement. The effect
of this agreement would be to settle all claims by the
KIUC against Big Rivers and to reduce the price of
coal Big Rivers pays under the Green River Coal con-
tract by approximately $9.00 per ton for the remain-
ing 11-year life of the contract. The Settlement
Stipulation agreement is contingent upon approval
by the KPSC, the Bankruptcy Court for Green River
Coal Company, the Big Rivers creditors, and an
agreement by the parties as to the review of fuel pro-
curement policies and practices and related matters
at Big Rivers. Subsequent to the filing of the
Settlement Stipulation, the aluminum company par-
ties to the agreement notified the KPSC of their
attempt to withdraw the agreement. This attempt is
contested by Big Rivers and the matter is pending
before the KPSC.
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On January 27, 1994, a coal supplier sued Big
Rivers seeking damages of approximately $3,000. In
addition to the damages claimed, the coal supplier
has asserted that Big Rivers is also responsible for
the estimated cost of closing a mine. The estimate of
these costs is between $10,000 and $15.000.
Management of Big Rivers intends to vigorously
defend this claim.

Big Rivers is currently undergoing a study suggest-
ed by its creditors. The purpose of this study is to
determine Big Rivers’ economic opportunities.

Big Rivers is either a defendant or a plaintiff in var-
ious other legal actions and claims. which manage-
ment believes will not have a material effect on Big
Rivers’ financial position or results of operations.
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Operating Revenues

Expenses:
Operation and Maintenance
Purchased Power and

Interchanged, Net

Depreciation and Amortization
Taxes
Interest
Other

Total

Operating Margins (Loss)
Nonoperating Margins (Loss)

Net Margins (Loss)

Utility Plant at Cost
Construction Work in Progress

Total Electric Plant
Less Accumulated Depreciation

Utility Plant Net

Total Assets

System Peak Demand - MW

Net Generating Capacity Owned - MW
Net HMP&L Capacity Purchased - MW

Other Purchased Capacity - MW

Sales to Members - GWh
Sales to Non-Members - GWh

Generated - GWh

Purchased HMP&L Energy - GWh
Other Purchased Energy - GWh
System Load Factor - %
Permanent Employvees at Year-End
Average Cost of Coal Used

Price Per Ton - $
¢ /MM BTU
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1993 1992 1991 1990
$ 350,945,862 319,907.459 331,334,709 331.736.393
196,548,190 183,693,972 193.288,174 191,389,914
45,150,914 33,730,825 39.248,839 40,263,144
45,257,415 44,980,616 44,809,522 44,564,475
4,505,465 4,374,765 4,365,522 4,201,594
92,706,822 93,358,171 95.,071.442 97,222,523
(1,043,154) (999.831) (1.008,592) 682,563
383,125,652 359,138,518 375.774,907 378.324.213
(32,179,790) (39,231,059) (44,440,198) (46,587.820)
1,545,675 1,275,827 1,505,489 2,113.282
$ (30,634,115 (37.,955,232) (42,934,709) (44,474,538)

$1,507,141,786
4,975,491

1,497,045,501
10,563,767

1,466,355.537
11,986,253

1,462,170.906
9,204,400

1,612, 117,277
461,496,317

1,5607,609,268
419,709,707

1,478,341,790
376,616,976

1,471.375.306
331,805,315

$1,050,620,960

1,087,899,561

1.101,724.814

1,139.569,991

$1,143,388,554

1,180,152,394

1,225,216,359

1,267,340,928

1,217
1.459
261
178

8,445.13
2,802.33

9,206.67
1,670.12
588.60
81.3
847

28.27
125.6

1,166
1,459
262
178

8,326.34
1.463.50

8,418.27
1,211.98
305.91
82.7
846

27.92
125.5

1,168
1.459
263
178

8,314.32
2,055.13

8,664.31
1,480.77
415.91
83.1
875

28.51
129.2

1.174
1.459
264
178

8.191.46
2,592.86

9,010.66
1.668.90
337.14
81.9
868

28.73
129.2



1989 1988 1987 1986 1985 1984

389.976.759 399,277,507 300,084,362 227,664,219 236,023,720 258,019,579
170,941,916 187.344,006 169,931,331 130,991,511 133.779,910 143,358,327
35,434.879 39,158,896 39.146.440 38,214,277 39,792,228 47,494,014
44.333.598 49,310,860 53,555.259 18,798,750 17,788,717 18,533.362
4,011,142 3,906,621 3,817,850 2,515,787 2,353,021 2,269,307
101,748,177 103,607,079 124,351,304 51,520,808 39.,645.856 39,747,343
752.017 612,200 597,187 233,931 185,636 128,581
357,221,729 383,939,662 391,399,371 242,275,064 233,545,368 251.530.934
32,755,030 15,337,845 (91,315,009) (14,610,845) 2,478,352 6.488,645

2,378,289 3,471,174 2,684,163 (26,614,194) 1,040,972 (1,749,130)

35,133,319 18,809,019 (88,630.,846) (41,225,039) 3,519,324 4,739,515
1,454,882,990 1,451,937,802 1.448,581,890 1,452,144.009 539,998,444 533,597,067
4,162,708 1,226,596 1,448,505 2,080,925 833,505,325 745,589,266

1,459,045,698
288,884,804

1,453.164,398
245,556,080

1.450,030,395
196,710,029

1,454,224,934
143,479,823

1,373,503,769
124,841,130

1,279,186,333
106,923,761

1,170,160,894

1,207,608,318

1,253,320,366

1,310,745,111

1,248,662,639

1,172,262,572

1.322,367,888

1,386,197,045

1,421,349,400

1,438,564,861

1,409,490,616

1,332,830,420

1,177
1,459
264
178

8,072.76
1,500.96

8.047.11
1.388.66
314.14
80.0

857

27.82
126.5

1,157
1,459
264
178

7.814.61
3,188.51

9.270.21
1.716.20
262.04
77.6

855

28.05
125.7

990
1,459
270
178

6,271.32
3,993.08

8.321.80
1.932.61
284.69
75.5
856

27.48
124.3

993
1,448
271
178

6,211.79
3,303.68

6.609.70
1.631.87
336.38
74.1
863

27.83
127.6

1,042
1,039
271
178

6,908.67
3,290.11

6.447.45
1.779.65
291.98
78.1
827

30.25
137.7

1,027
1,039
268
178

7,390.75
2,075.96

6.876.37
1.882.22
666.72
84.1
835

29.91
135.6
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J 3 ig Rivers Flectric Corporation,

toeated in Henderson, Kentucky, is a
generation and transmission coopera-
tive owned by the members it serves.
It provides reliable wholesale electric
service on a not-for-profit basis to its
four member distribution cooperatives.
These cooperatives, owned by their
82,918 consumer-members, distribute
electricity at retail within 22 counties of
western Kentucky on a not-for-profit
basis.
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j . A . Increase % Increase
Flﬂ@ﬂ@la] ngjilhghtig 199 1991 (Decrease)  (Decrease)
s S~

Operating Revenues 319,907 331,335 (11,428 (3.4)

Operating Expenses 266,780 281,712 (14,932) (5.3)

Net Margins (37,955) (42,935) 4,980 11.6

Capital Additions 7,602 7,843 (241) (3.1)

Cost of Fuel Used 108,323 115,202 (6,.879) (6.0)

System Peak Demand (Megawatts) 1,166 1.168 (2) (.2)

Energy Sold to Members (Mwh| 8,326,341 8.314,320 12,021 A

Revenue per kWh Sold (Mills) 32.67 31.94 73 2.3
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resident’s ©
General Managef’é
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In 1992, many changes took place throughout Big Rivers
Electric Corporation. It no longer is “business as usual,”
but a generation and transmission cooperative
corporation being structured to continue to meet the
objectives of the distribution cooperatives and their
member consumers, yet meeting the competition within
the power supply industry. Some of the more significant
changes were:

¢+ A new general manager was
appointed

¢ A cost-containment program |

was implemented, expecting to
reduce cash requirements by
$50 million through December
1996.

¢+ An employee suggestion pro-
gram called “Powerful Ideas”
was implemented, creating
extensive empioyee involve-
ment during the 13-week idea-
generating program.

¢+ An early retirement program
for employees 59 years of age
and older was offered  This
down-sizing program resulted
in 15 of 33 eligible employees
taking advantage of the pro-
gram, yielding the corporation
an additional positive cash flow
of approximately $300,000
annually.

¢ Under a 10-year firm power

be delivered to QOglethorpe
Power Corporation [Oglethorpe)
of Tucker, Georgia.

¢ A back-up agreement with

| East Kentucky Power Corpor-

sales contract, power began to |

ation, Winchester, Kentucky,
was implemented, providing
greater system reliability.

¢ Three additional interchange

and Light (HMP&L) Station Two,
which will be more cost effec-

tive than switching fuels to

| comply with the 1990 Clean Air

agreements were executed |

with out-of-state utilities, creat-
ing potential avenues for the
sale and availability of power
during times of need

¢ The Henderson City Utility
Commission initiated innovative
bidding procedures for financ-

iNg scrubbers to be installed on |
Henderson Municipal Power | inimproved safety procedures.

Act Amendments [CAAA).

¢ Scott Paper Company began
construction of its new tissue
plant and Big Rivers is proceed-
ing with construction of facilities
to provide its electrical service
requirements  Scott Paper is a
welcome addition to Green
River Electric Corporation's ser-
vice area

¢+ An employee safety record of
20 years has been shattered for
the least number of reported
injuries  Employees continue to
be very dedicated and involved

By creating opportunities and capitalizing on
them, Big Rivers faces the future with
enthusiasm.

Py foforistian

Morton Henshaw,
President of the Board

Paul A. Schmitz,
General Manager



Capacity Pesources

All of the corporation’'s generating
units are coal fired except for a 65-
megawatt (MW] combustion turbine
used for peaking and emergency pur-
poses The Kenneth C. Coleman Plant
near Hawesville, has three units total-
ing 455-MW net capability. The net
capability of the two-unit Robert D.
Green Plant near Sebree, is 454 MW.
The Robert D. Reid Plant near Sebree, is
a 65-MW net capability unit. The D. B.
Wilson Plant, located near Centertown,
has a net capability of 420 MW

Big Rivers also operates the 315-MW
net capability HMP&L Station Two locat-
ed near Sebree. Big Rivers has con-
tracted with HMP&L to take all the
capacity in excess of their needs
During 1992, Big Rivers' share was
approximately 83 percent.

The Southeastern Power Administra-
tion (SEPA] provides 178 MW of hydro-
electric peaking capacity to the corpo-
ration through a long-term contract.

In February, Big Rivers and East
Kentucky Power Corporation entered
iNto a unit back-up power agreement
in which each party has agreed to fur-
nish {when requested] up to 200 MW
upon the loss of the other's largest gen-
erating unit (Big Rivers'” Wilson unit -
East Kentucky's Spurlock No 2 unit)
The agreement covers emergency and
planned outages.

Fuels

The cost of fuel consumed in gen-
erating electricity is Big Rivers' single
largest expenditure.

During 1992, the units burned 4 4
million tons of coal in generating elec-
tricity, an average of 12,127 tons per
day. This compares with 4 7 million
tons, 12,932 tons per day, burned in
1991  Fuel costs for the year (including
Big Rivers' share of Henderson Station |

|

Two, reported as purchased power] |

Big Rivers lleadquarters
located in
Henderson, Kentucky

Big Rivers’ Coleman Plant
located near
llawesville, Kentucky
4HMW net capability

were $124 7 million, a decrease of
$10.7 million.

The average cost was $27.92 per
ton, equivalent to 125.5 cents per mil-
lion British thermal units (Btu) This
compares with $28.51 per ton, 129.2
cents per million Btu last year.

About three-fourths of Big Rivers'
coal requirements are supplied from
Kentucky mines located within the ser-

Big Rivers’ Wilson Plant
located near
Centertown, Kentucky
420-MW net capability

Big Rivers Reid, Green & HMDEL
Station Two Plants
located near
Sebree, Kentucky
834MW net capability

cooperatives.

In January, a new contract was
entered into with Green Coal Company
of Owensboro, Kentucky, to supply the
Coleman Plant with 24,000 tons of coal
per month through June 1994.

In July, Big Rivers terminated the
contract made in November 1991, with
E & M Coal, Inc (E&M] This contract
was also to supply the lower-sulfur

vice areas of the corporation's member ‘ compliance coal for the Coleman Plant

BiG RIVERS EI ECTRIC CORPORATION



during Phase | (1995-1999]) of the |

Clean Air Act of 1990. The specified
coal producer sold its coal reserves and
mining equipment to another party, in
violation of the contract. E & M pro-
posed to find another supplier for the
coal and contested Big Rivers' right to
terminate. Big Rivers filed for arbitra-
tion as provided in the contract, seek-

ing confirmation of its right to termi- |

nate. The hearing was held on |

November 2 and 3 The decision of
the arbitrators was issued on January 7,
1993, upholding Big Rivers' right to ter-
minate

The U.S. District Court of Southern
Indiana still has not rendered a decision
in the Delta Mining Corporation law-
suit.  This former coal supplier alleges
that Big Rivers owes $15.7 million in
damages for not accepting the total
quantity of coal required under a 10-
year contract made in 1977. A deck-
sion has been pending since March
1991.

In November, the Kentucky Public
Service Commission (KPSC) ordered a
"focused management audit” of Big
Rivers' fuel procurement policies, prac-
tices, and procedures. The audit is

The uncertainties of the future
make it imperative that the corporation
be prepared for change as circum-
stances and conditions dictate

The corporation has developed a
Long-Range Corporate Strategic Plan
setting forth Big Rivers' position with
regard to several key issues facing the
electric utility industry, including: (1)
deregulation/increased competition; (2]
environmental concerns, (3) global
warming; (4] electromagnetic fields; (5]
diversification, [6) planning under
uncertainty; (7) debt restructuring

1992 ANNUAL REPORT

being conducted by a consultant hired
by the PSC, and the report is expected
to be completed in the spring of 1993.

The Coleman, Reid, and
Henderson Station Two plants, which
are not equipped with sulfur dioxide
{SO5) scrubbers, burn lower-sulfur coal
from western Kentucky and southern
Indiana. These plants will be affected
in 1995 by the Phase | [SO,) require-
ments under the acid deposition con-

| trol provisions of the Clean Air Act

Amendments of 1990, requiring that

- the emissions be cut in half

The Wilson and Green plants,
approximately 50 percent of the gener-
ating resources, are equipped with flue
gas desulfurization scrubbers, using
limestone and thiosorbic lime respec-
tively. These plants burn high-sulfur
coal which is abundantly available in

| the distribution members' service areas.

1989
2182

1988
2806

Cost of Coal Used

Dollars Per Ton

1990
285

1992
2192

1991

| agreement; (8} regulatory climate, and | ommendations, comments, and sug-

| (9) demand side management.

! Further, the corporation has devel-
oped long-range goals to: increase
sales; operate efficiently and reliably,

provide a quality work environment, |
| provide quality support services; main- |

| tain sound customer, public and regu-
| latory relations, and enhance financial
! stability.

The PSC staff formally responded to
Big Rivers' Integrated Resource Plan

| [IRP) in September. The corporation |

limmediately began a review of the rec-

gestions, intending to implement as
much as possible prior to filing an
updated IRP in September 1993




Finergy & Capacity Sales

Big Rivers continues 10 develop
long-term capacity and energy markets
Al year-end. 19 offers were outstand-
ing (0 other uthvues
these efforts. Big Rivers believes that it
will greatly improve 1its energy sales in
1993 by marketng all its excess capacr-
ty.

A ten-year, 100-MW firm power
sale to Oglethorpe began on August |

Moderate weather patterns

throughout most of the year con- |
trbuted to a soft market for energy |

sales  Normal heatng and cooling
degree day (otals for the service area
were 6.262 Durnng the year, a total of
5.452 degree days were recorded, or
nearly |3 percent below normal

Total energy sales in 1992 amount-
ed to 9 8 bilhon kWh, compared 1o
104 bithon in 1991  Rural residenual
and farm sales decreased by 50 3 mil-
hon kWh, or 3 4 percent under 199!
The distribution cooperatves’ industrial
members accounted for 6 9 billion
kWwh, 09 percent under last year
Energy sales to other utlites were 1 5
pilion kWh, down 28.8 percent (593 0
mihonj from 1991

On July 13, Big Rivers' system
peaked at 1.166 MW/, 2 MW below the
1991 system annual peak demand of
1.168 The record peak of 1177 MW
set in December of 1989 sull stands

As a result of |

During 1992 the annual system
load factor was 82 7 percent

Big Rivers’ 1997 power require-
ments study shows. for years 1992
| through 2006, an expected average

annual growth rate of 1 30 percent for
peak demand. and 0.80 percent for
total required energy for system load

Energy &ales (Members)
kWh (In Billions)

1992 Daily MW Deak Demand

Mcgawatts

System Deak Demand

Bic RIVERS EILECTRIC

CORPORATION
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Mafk@ting

In support of the distribution coop- |

eratives, the corporation expanded and
intensified its residential and commer-
cial marketing program this year
Marketing of geothermal and air-source
heat pumps offers a large potential for
winter load-building.

During this first year of providing
financial incentives for consumer instal-
lation of heat pumps, more than 200

systems were placed in homes. Nearly |
359 tons of heating and cooling geo- |

thermal units will add 441 kW of load

to Big Rivers' system Another 369 kW |

of load was added by high-efficiency

| air-source heat pumps.

Clean, safe, efficient electric water
heaters were promoted heavily during
1992. Nearly 300 consumers took
advantage of the incentive for new

- construction with 25 percent of those |

being captured from non-electric fuel
sources During the year, over 100
consumers converted from fossil-fuel
water heaters to new high-efficiency
electric units.

Advertising and promotion of the
residential marketing program through
radio and newspa-
pers were expanded
and intensified.

Management Changes

William H. Thorpe, who served as
General Manager, for fourteen years,
resigned on June 3, 1992, and
Assistant General Manager and Vice
General manager of Finance, Paul A.
Schmitz was appointed General
Manager. Mr Schmitz has served in a
managerial position with Southern
Indiana Gas and Electric Company for

1992 ANNUAL REPORT

| 15 years, and with Big Rivers for 16
| years

; William D Johnson, Sr, vice gener-
| al manager of external relations, mar-
| keting, and economic development,
died suddenly on May 7. Big Rivers'
employees and directors were sad-
dened by this loss.

| Advertising-tracking research conduct-
| ed every four to six weeks helped focus
these efforts, as well as provided good
| information on the effectiveness of the
| messages on product promotion and
safety.

"Current Trends,” a consumer publi-
| cation, was distributed quarterly to all
| consumers during the year, focusing
' on health, energy efficiency, new tech-
! nology, the environment, and safety.
|
i

"Power Partners,” the contractor/trade
| ally equivalent to "Current Trends,” was
| also distributed quarterly to inform
| trade allies of new technology, legisla-
| tion affecting their businesses, and
| environmental news.

Construction of an All &easons Comfort Home

W Hayden Timmons, former vice
general manager of external relations,
marketing and economic development
had retired on January 31, 1992, but
graciously returned to work to fill the
position vacated by Mr. Johnson.
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Engineefing & Transmission

Maodifications were completed at
the National Aluminum substation, near
Hawesville, Kentucky, to provide elec-
tric service to the new Worldsource
plant  The completed modifications
convert the substation to a multi-
customer delivery point.

The Scott Paper Company began
development of its Daviess County tis-
sue mill. To meet the schedule, the
corporation has completed the design
of 16 miles of 161 kilovolt (kV] transmis-
sion line. A four-mile section of this line
is scheduled to be built by mid-1993
and will provide five to seven
megawatts of power for the first year.
The remainder of the line is to be com-
pleted by mid-1994 and will provide
service up to 40 MW/

Willamette Industries’ paper mill -

near Hawesville continues to grow,

Con&truction

Total capital expenditures for the
year were $7.6 million, down $ .2 mil-
lion from 1991. Big Rivers has sufficient
generating capacity and has no plans
to construct additional generating
units. Projects under construction
include

4 A new energy management sys- |

tem, equipped with “state of the art”
programs providing for the dispatch of

Environmental

Big Rivers continues to regard envi-
ronmental matters as one of its highest
priorities. Much emphasis is placed on
testing, monitoring, and controlling
environmental conditions. As a Corpo-
rate policy we are consciously con-
cerned about the environment.

It was previously announced
switching to lower sulfur coal would be

and system improvements were com-
pleted to accommodate the mill's
increasing power usage.

Reliability of electric service is a
growing concern among electric con-
sumers To meet the higher service

| expectations of Big Rivers’ member
| cooperatives, the corporation has

developed a Service Reliability Program.
The program calls for an investigation
of all electric service disruptions to

| determine the cause, the timeliness of
service restoration, and the actions

needed to prevent recurrence. These
investigations have resulted in new
maintenance practices, altered operat-

| ing procedures, and several system
- improvements.

the most economical power generation
and the most efficient and reliable oper-
ation of the transmission system, sched-
uled for start-up in early 1993

¢ A 161-kV transmission line to
serve the new Scott Paper plant, sched-
uled for completion in December 1994.

¢ Continuous emission monitors
and low NO, burners, required for
compliance with the Clean Air Act,

the least-cost plan to comply with the
acid rain regulations. However, the
Henderson City Utility Commission,
owners of Henderson Power and Light
Station Two, initiated bidding proce-
dures allowing scrubber manufacturers
to take SO, allowances granted to
Station Two under the 1990 Clean Air

BiG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION

to be in
December 1993

¢ A generator rotor blade modifi-
| cation and replacement at the Green
| Plant, to be completed during the first
' haif of 1993.

scheduled

service Dby

installation costs

The results are under evaluation,
but preliminary indications are that
scrubbers should be installed on
| HMP&L Station Two and lower sulfur
| coal should be burned at Coleman to
' yield the least- cost compliance alterna-
| tive.

| Act as partial payment for scrubber |




Human D@@OUI’C@S

The corporation’s efforts during the
entire year stressed a strong "employ-
ee” focus. The results of an earlier
employee attitude survey provided
information about areas of employee
concern. These are being addressed,
and are generating wider involvement

| approved, totaling $2 2
| million in savings or
| improved cash flow. At
year-end more than 115
ideas were pending further
study, testing, and evalua-
| tion

of employees in day-to-day decision- |
making and operation of the corpora-
tion.

More than 700 employees volun-
teered to become deeply involved in
cost containment and reduction pro-
grams, as well as provide suggestions

‘ Total employment in
| the corporation at the close
| of the year was 846, down
from 875 in 1991. Part of
this reduction was due to
early retirement of 15 long-
time employees. Annual §
personnel turnover rate
was 5 4 percent, well below the
national average for similar-sized com-
panies.

Continued intensive efforts toward

rate injury incident rate of 5.6 for 1992,
compared to 5.9 for 1991. Working

to generate additional revenues
Interest in these programs was high,
with more than 95 percent of eligible
employees participating
Approximately 1,200 "Powerful |
Ideas” were submitted by these employ-
ees A total of 272 ideas were

| grams in many areas were developed
' and refined.

Big Rivers continues to provide sup-
port for employees to continue their

Pates for Aluminum Omelters

As discussed in previous annual |
reports, in 1987 the PSC ordered a vari- !
able tariff rate for energy sold by Big |

aging 58.02 cents a pound, as com-
| pared to an average of 59.97 cents a
Rivers to Henderson-Union Rural | pound the previous year
Electric Cooperative Corporation and | Consequently, Big Rivers' 1992 sales
Green River Electric Corporation to be | price for energy to the smelters aver-
delivered to the aluminum smelters. | aged 2.9 cents as opposed to 3.2 cents
The variable rate requires Big Rivers to | per kWh in 1991. This low price sub-
charge from a high of 4.4 cents per
kilowatt hour (kWh] to a low of 1.8 |
cents, as primary aluminum prices fluc-
tuate between 80 and 45 cents a
pound. During 1992, the market price

and the availability of funds for debt
| service payments to
Electrification Administration (REA].

1992 ANNUAL REPORT

a safer workplace resulted in a corpo- |

with the Kentucky Occupational Safety
and Health Administration [KOSHA] and |
the PSC, safety procedures and pro-

' education, ranging from obtaining a
| G.E.D through skills training to college- |

for aluminum was at a low level, aver- |

stantially reduced Big Rivers' cash flow |
the Rural |

However, the lower cash flow did not |

level courses Also, more than 600

| employees have completed in-house

programs to improve their communica-
tion skills at all levels.

affect the recognition of revenues from
the smelters for 1992 The settlement

agreement with the smelters, more
fully discussed in Footnote 5 to the
financial statements, assures that Big
Rivers will receive an average of
2.91285 cents per kWh through
August 1997.

The variable rate, as set by the PSC,
was designed to assure that the alu-
minum smelters could continue to
operate at full capacity in spite of a low
sales price for their product.
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As expected in the development of | deficit equity was $154.8 million Big
the workout plan, margins for the year | Rivers anticipates that it will continue to
‘were negative. The loss incurred was | incur negative margins for the next 5
$38.0 million. At year-end our total l years with the potential that deficit

EXDENSES

Dollars in Millions

Other

o 95 27%
Depreciation

125%

40

Oper. & Main.
822 229%

[nterest
918 272%

Debt Service

In 1988, Big Rivers entered into a
debt restructuring agreement effective
August 31, 1987, (defined in Note 4 to
the financial statements) which pro-
vides for annual minimum debt service
payments. The agreement also pro-
vides for the payment of cash in excess |
of a $10 million balance at the end of |

each month after paying operating
costs and capital expenditures. The
scheduled minimum debt service for

equity will reach $250.0 million before
margins turn toward the positive.

Fuel
1246 24.7%

Fuel
Interest
Oper & Main.

Depreciation

OOCO M.

Other

Through 1992, cumulative principal
payments have reduced the principal

| balance to $123.8 million less than the

1992 was $122.0 million The decline |
in aluminum prices, mild weather, and
the resulting decrease in cash flow
available for debt service, enabled Big
Rivers to pay only $74.3 million.

scheduled principal balance under the
debt restructuring agreement as
amended The minimum for 1993 is
$127 0 million.
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Independent
Auditors Report

The Board of Directors
Big Rivers Electric Corporation:

We have audited the balance sheets of Big Rivers Electric Corporation
as of December 31, 1992 and 1991, and the related statements of
revenues and expenses, equities (deficit) and cash flows for each of the
years in the three-year period ended December 31, 1992, These
financial statements are the reponsibility of the Corporation’'s
management. Our reponsibility is to express an opinion of these
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted
auditing standards and Gouvernment Auditing Standards issued by
the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly,
in all material respects, the financial position of Big Rivers Electric
Corporation at December 31, 1992 and 1991, and the results of its
operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the three-year
period ended December 31,1992, in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles.

As discussed in notes 4 and 5 to the financial statements, Big Rivers
Electric Corporation and its creditors entered into a Debt Restructuring
Agreement whereby government related debt was restructured into a
Total Government Debt Note [REA Promissory Note}. The principal
repayments of the REA Promissory Note are contingent upon the
available cash flow, as defined by the Debt Restructuring Agreement.
Big Rivers Electric Corporation’s ability to recover its costs and repay its
debt is dependent upon its generating adequate revenues by selling
approximately fifteen percent of capacity to nonmembers.

As discussed in note 10 to the financial statements, Big Rivers Electric
Corporation is a defendant in a law suit filed by a former coal supplier.
Also, as discussed in note 10, Big Rivers Electric Corporation is currently
undergoing a focused management audit of its fuel procurement
policies and procedures.

The ultimate outcome of the foregoing matters cannot be presently
determined. Accordingly, no adjustments relating to the recoverability
and classification of reported asset amounts or the amounts and
classification of liabilities that might result from the outcome of these
uncertainties have been recognized in the accompanying financial
statements.

« P& ZE R

February 19, 1993 KPMG Peat Marwick ,
Certified Public Accountants

11




Statement of Revenues and Expenses

Years ended December 31, 1992, 1991, 1990
(Dollars in thousands)

1992 1991 1990
Operating revenues (notes 5 and 9) $319,907 331,335 331,736
Operating expenses
Operations:
Fuel for electric generation 108,323 115,202 118,096
Power purchased and interchanged, net 33,731 39,249 40,263
Other 48,838 48,467 46,263
Maintenance 26,532 29,618 27,030
Depreciation and amortization 44,981 44,810 44,565
Taxes 4,375 4,366 4,202
Total operating expenses 266,780 281,712 280,419
Electric operating margins 53,127 49,623 51,317
Interest and other deductions:
Interest (note 4) 93,890 95,530 97.462
Allowance for borrowed funds used
during construction (note 2) (532) (458) (240)
Other deductions {1,000]) (1,009) 683
Total interest and other deductions 92,358 94,063 97,905
Operating margins (loss) (39.231) (44,440) (46,588)
Nonoperating margins (loss):
Interest earned 1,274 1,502 2,108
Other 2 3 5
Total nonoperating margins 1,276 1,505 2,113
Net margins (loss} $(37,955) (42,935 (44,475)
Statement of Equitics (Deficit)
Years ended December 31, 1992,,1991, 1990
(Dollars in thousands)
Other equities
Donated Consumers
Accumulated  Accumulated capitzl contnbutons
Total deficit- deficit- Patronage and o
eqguities operating nonoperating capitzl memberships debt service
Balance at December 31, 1989 $(29,407)  (143,692) (18,081) 127,921 764 3,681
Margins for 1990:
Operating (46,588] (46,588) - - — —
Nonoperating 2,113 — 2,113 — — —
Balance at December 31, 1990 {(73,882) (190,280} (15,968) 127,921 764 3,681
Margins for 1991:
Operating (44,440) (44,440} — — — -
Nonoperating 1,505 — 1,505 —_ — =,
Balance at December 31, 1991 (116,817) (234,720) (14,463} 127,921 764 3,681
Margins for 1992:
Operating (39.231) (39,231) = — = =h
Nonoperating 1,276 = 1,276 — — —
Balance at December 31, 1992 $(154.772) _ (273.951) (13,187) 127,921 764 3,681

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Balance Sheets

At December 31, 1992, 1991
(Dollars in thousands)

Asscts

Utility plant, net (notes 2 and 4)

Productive capacity under purchased power contract (note 7|

Other deposits and investments, at cost
Current assets:
Cash and temporary cash investments
Receivables (note 9
Fuel for electric generation
Non-fuel inventory

Total Current Assets

Deferred charges [note 3)

Fquitics and Liabilitics

Capitalization:
Equities (deficit)
Long-term liabilities (notes 4, 5, and 7)
REA debt
Other long-term debt

Total long-term liabilities
Less current maturities

Total long-term liabilities
net of current maturities

Total capitalization
Current liabilities:
Current maturities of long-term
liabilities (notes 4, 5, and 7)
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Total current liabilities
Deferred revenue (note 5)

Deferred credits

Commitments and contingencies (note 11)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

1992 1991
$1,063,400 1,101,725
24,500 25,200
5,483 4,921
10,079 10,100
23,164 24,898
24,471 28,187
14,668 15,232
72,382 78,417
14,387 14,953
$1,180,152 1,225,216

1992 1991
$ (154,772) (116,817)
1,082,652 1,070,108
178,600 183,663
1,261,252 1,253,771
18,337 6,946
1,242,915 1,246,825
1,088,143 1,130,008
18,337 6,946
14,760 18,790
4,475 4,332
37,572 30,068
25,250 34,593
29,187 30,547
$1,180,152 1,225,216

13




Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended December 31, 1992, 1991, 1990
(Dollars in thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net margins (loss)

Adjustments to reconcile net margins (loss)
to cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amartization

Amortization of deferred charges
Net change in deferred revenue

Change in assets and liabilities:
Receivables
Fuel for electric generation
Non-fuel inventory
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Other, net

Net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:
Construction expenditures
Prepayment on coal contract

Net cash provided by (used in)
investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:
Principal payments on long-term debt
Unpaid accrued interest
Proceeds from bank lean

Net cash provided by (used in) financing

activities

Net increase (decrease) in cash
and temporary cash investments

Supplemental Cash Flow Information

Cash paid relating to interest expense

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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1992 1991 1990
$(37.955) (42,935) (44,475)
45,706 45,518 45,196
917 2,356 2,078
(9,343) 6,107 28,486
1,734 5,371 5,758
3,716 (3,604) 774
564 (421) 163
(4,030 185 968
143 (4,676) (9.302)
(2,272) 324 (1,094)
(820) 8,225 28,552
(7,381) (7,672) (14,605)
— (3,500) (1,000)
(7,381) (11,172) (15,605)
(4,364) (4,364) (54,920)
12,544 7,158 —
— — 24,000
8,180 2,794 [30,920)
S (21) (153) (17,973)
1992 1991 1990

$ 80,233 84,642 105,401




Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 1992, 1991, 1990
(Dollars in Thousands)

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

General Information

Big Rivers Electric Corporation (Big
Rivers), a nonprofit electric generation
and transmission cooperative, sup-
plies the power needs of its four
member distribution cooperatives and
markets power to nonmember utili-
ties. The members provide electric
power and energy to industrial, resi-

dential, and commercial customers
located in portions of 22 western
Kentucky counties. Big Rivers has
entered into wholesale power con-
tracts with each of its members which
require the members to buy and
receive from Big Rivers all their power
and energy requirements and Big
Rivers to sell and deliver power and
energy in satisfaction of such require-

ments. The wholesale power con-
tracts with the members extend to
the year 2023. Rates to its members
are established by the Kentucky
Public Service Commission (KPSC] and
subject to approval by the United
States Department of Agriculture
Rural Electrification Administration
[REAJ.

System of Accounts

The accrual basis accounting poli-
cies follow the Uniform System of

Accounts prescribed by the Federal
Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC]
as adopted by REA and KPSC. The
regulatory agencies retain authority

and periodically issue orders on vari-
ous accounting and rate-making mat-
ters.

Revenue Decognition

Revenues are based on month-end

meter readings.

Utility Dlant and Depreciation

Utility plant is stated at original
cost, which includes the cost of con-
tracted services, material, labor, over-
head, and an allowance for borrowed
funds used during construction .
Replacements of depreciable property
units, except minor replacements, are
charged to utility plant. Property
units replaced or retired, including
cost of removal and salvage value,
are charged to accumulated depreci-
ation. Routine maintenance, repairs,

and minor replacement costs are
charged to expense as incurred.
Allowance for borrowed funds used
during construction is included on
projects with an estimated total cost
of $250 or more before consideration
of such allowance. The interest capi-
talized is determined by applying the
effective rate on the REA Promissory
Note to the to-date accumulated
expenditures for qualifying projects
included in construction in progress.
Capitalization of interest is discontin-
ued when the project is completed

and the asset is ready for service.

Depreciation of utility plant and
unclassified plant in service is provid-
ed using the straight-line method
over the estimated service lives of the
depreciable assets. Annual rates used
to compute depreciation are as fol-
lows:

Production plant 3%-3.10%
Transmission plant 2.75%
Station equipment 2.75%
General plant 2%-20%

Temporary Cash Investments

Temporary cash investments consist
primarily of temporary investments in

U.S. government and federal agency
securities which are carried at cost
and adjusted for accrued interest,
which approximates market. For pur-

poses of statement of cash flows, Big
Rivers considers all short-term, highly-
liquid investments of three months or
less to be cash equivalent.

[nventories

Inventories, consisting of non-fuel

and fuel for electric generation, are

valued at weighted average cost.

Datronage Capital

As provided in the bylaws, any
excess of revenues over the sum of (a)
operating costs and expenses proper-
ly chargeable against the furnishing
of electric energy, and (b) amounts
required to offset operating losses
incurred during the current or any
prior fiscal year is capital furnished by
the patrons and credited to a capital

account for each patron on a patron-
age basis. Nonoperating margins are
used to offset any accumulated non-
operating deficits and, to the extent
not needed for this purpose, used to
offset any operating losses, during the
current or any prior fiscal year. If,
after offsetting the nonoperating mar-
gins against accumulated nonoperat-
ing deficits, operating losses or accu-
mulated deficits, there remains a bal-

ance, this balance is allocated to
patrons on a patronage basis and any
amount so allocated is included as a
part of capital credited to the
accounts of patrons. Neither operat-
ing nor nonoperating losses are allo-
cated to the patrons. Patronage capi-
tal cannot be retired if patronage cap-
ital is less than 40 percent of the total
assets.

15




Nt s (contiflied

Dension and Deferred
Compensation Dlans

All employees, after one year of ser-
vice, are covered under trusteed non-
contributory retirement plans. = Also,
Big Rivers has executed noncontribu-

tory compensation agreements with
certain key employees which provide
for periodic payments upon retire-
ment or to beneficiaries in the event
of death. The pension plans are fund-
ed in accordance with the OBRA mini-
mum funding requirements, while the

deferred compensation plan is fully
funded. Pension expense includes
current service cost, interest cost,
actual return on plan assets amortiza-
tions of prior service cost and gains
and losses . Amortizations are over
periods up to fifteen years.

Reclassification

Certain prior year amounts have

been reclassified for comparability

with 1992 presentation.

2. Utility Dlant

The following summarizes utility plant:

Classified plant in service:
Production plant
Transmission plant
Station equipment
General plant
Intangible

Unclassified plant in service

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization

Construction in progress

Construction in progress is com-
prised of the EMS Computer System
and several small projects. The aver-

92 1991
$1,281,709 1,276,781
80,158 79,742
92,359 91.534
17,670 17,627
190 190
460 482
1,472,546 1,466,356
419,710 376,617
1,052,836 1,089,739
10,564 11,986
$1,063,400 1,101,725

age rates used for the capitalization of
interest during construction in 1992,

1991, and 1990 were 8.0, 7.8, and
7.7 percent respectively.

3. Deferred Charges

The following summarizes deferred charges:

1992 1991
Unamortized debt expenses S 7,454 7,910
Green River Coal prepayment 6,192 6,653
Other 741 390
$ 14,387 14,953

Big Rivers refinanced a portion of its
long-term debt at lower interest rates
and incurred refinancing expenses. In
November 1982, Big Rivers elected to
refinance $90,053 of FFB short-term
mortgage notes with long-term notes
at lower interest rates. As a result of
this election, a refinancing cost of
$4,616 was incurred. On September
29, 1987 and February 25, 1988, Big
Rivers refinanced $319,426 and

$250,805, respectively, at lower inter-
est rates. The refinancing costs were
$2,937 and $3,318, respectively.
These costs are being amortized over
the term of the REA promissory note
(see note 4).

On July 18, 1989, Big Rivers
endeavored to enter into an agree-
ment to buy out a high-cost, long-
term coal supply contract. A contract
for substitution of coal was executed

on September 24, 1991, with Green
River Coal. Big Rivers has made total
fuel prepayments of $7,000. Interest
on the outstanding balance is based
on the prime rate established by
Chemical Bank of New York plus two
percent. Green River Coal is repaying
Big Rivers at the rate of $1 per ton of
coal shipped.
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NOtCS (continued)

4. Long-term Liabilitics

A summary of long-term liabilities follows:

Promissory note - REA 8.36%
Unamortized premium

County of Ohio, Kentucky, promissory note, with variable

interest rate of 3.94% as of 12/31/92

County of Ohio, Kentucky, promissory note, with variable

interest rate of 3.94% as of 12/31/92
Obligation under purchased power contract (see note 7)

Bank of New York, bank loan 8.0%

Chemical Banking Corporation, bank loan 8.0%

Less current maturities

1992 1991
§ 705,029 755,135
377,623 314,973
1,082,652 1,070,108
83,300 83,300
58.800 58,800
24,500 25,200
4,965 6,771
7,035 9,592
Total long-term liabilities 1,261,252 1,253,771
18,337 6,946
$1,242,915 1,246,825

Debt Restructuring Agrecment:

All revenues and substantially all
assets of Big Rivers are pledged as col-
lateral under a Restated Mortgage
and Security Agreement dated as of

March 30, 1988, which was executed
as part of a Debt Restructuring

Agreement.
The impact of the Debt
Restructuring Agreement was

accounted for as a troubled debt

restructuring involving a modification
of terms. Accordingly, Big Rivers
accounted for the effects of the
restructuring prospectively and did
not change the carrying amount of
the debt.

Promissory Note - REA:

The Debt Restructuring Agreement
provides for a reverse amortization
repayment schedule (payments will
be applied to principal in a reverse
manner to that provided by a conven-
tional loan amortization schedule} at
an interest rate of 8.36 percent for
the REA Promissory Note, which
includes all debts of Big Rivers which
are guaranteed or insured by REA
(REA Debt). For financial statement
purposes, interest expense is being
computed on a conventional amorti-
zation method rather than the reverse
amortization method per the Debt
Restructuring Agreement. The result-
ing difference is reflected as unamor-
tized premium and will be adjusted
throughout the term of the REA
Promissory Note. Any unpaid interest
is added to the unamortized premi-
um. The effective interest rate for
1992, 1991, and 1990 on the REA
Promissory Note was 8.1, 7.9, and

7.7 percent, respectively. In return
for Big Rivers making all payments on
the REA Promissory Note, the REA will
make all payments required on all
prior debt on a timely basis and will
not seek to collect from Big Rivers,
with respect to any REA Debt, any
amounts in excess of the obligation
on the REA Promissory Note.

The Debt Restructuring Agreement
establishes a minimum level of debt
service payments, while requiring
additional debt service payments
depending on the available monthly
cash flow, as defined by the Debt
Restructuring Agreement. Big Rivers
may retain for working capital needs
a month-end cash balance of
$10,000.

In connection with the Settlement
Agreement described in note 5, the
Debt Restructuring Agreement was
amended as of January 1, 1990. The
amendment provided that if the vari-
able rates to the aluminum smelters
specified in the Settlement Agreement

(described in note 5) and in effect on
April 1, 1990, remain continuously in
effect and unmodified through
August 31, 1997, and if during this
period, the REA Debt never exceeds
by more than $18 million what the
REA Debt would be if only the sched-
uled annual amounts were paid, then
no Event of Default shall be deemed
to have occurred through December
31, 1997. If the REA Debt exceeds
$442,948 on January 1, 1998, then
the schedule shall be amended begin-
ning with 2004 and continuing to
each immediately successive year
such that the amount for any year
shall not exceed $150,000 and such
that the scheduled annual amounts in
and after 1998, if paid in equal
monthly installments for each year,
will when discounted in accordance
with the agreement, yield a figure
that equals the REA Debt as of
January 1, 1998.
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Other Longterm Debt:

On June 30, 1983, the County of
Ohio, Kentucky, issued $58,800 of
Pollution Control Bonds, Series 1983,
the proceeds of which were loaned to
Big Rivers. These bonds will bear a
variable rate of interest, determined
weekly by the remarketing agent,
with the approval of Big Rivers, equal
to the minimum rate necessary to
remarket the bonds in a secondary
market at par plus accrued interest,
but not to exceed 110 percent of an
index based upon the weekly sales of
91-day U.S. Treasury Bills. These
bonds are supported by a Bank of
New York irrevocable standby letter of
credit, which is dué to expire July 1,
1993, and is subject to renewal. The
bonds are subject to mandatory
redemption upon expiration of the
supporting letter of credit and any
renewal thereof. In absence of natifi-
cation by Bank of New York to renew
the letter of credit, Big Rivers will
draw down sufficient funds under the
letter of credit to redeem the bonds.
Draws against the letter of credit
would bear interest at prime plus two
percent and become Bank Amounts

as defined by the Debt Restructuring

Agreement. The Bank Amounts
would be repayable under the same
terms and conditions as the

redeemed bonds. While these bonds
are not dated to mature until June T,
2013, pursuant to the Restructuring
Agreement, Big Rivers is obligated to
fully fund these bonds or Bank
Amounts by January 31, 2010.

In November of 1982, the County
of Ohio, Kentucky, issued $82,500 of
Pollution Control Interim Bonds, Series
1982, the proceeds of which were
loaned to Big Rivers. On October 31,
1985, the County of Ohio, Kentucky,
issued Pollution Control Refunding
Demand Bonds, Series 1985, the pro-
ceeds of which were used to refi-
nance the 1982 Interim Bonds. The
Refunding Bonds bear interest at a
variable rate, which is the lesser of (a)
13 percent per annum or (b) a rate
determined weekly by the remarket-
ing agent, with the approval of Big
Rivers, equal to the minimum rate
necessary to remarket the bonds in a
secondary market at par plus accrued
interest, but not less than 40 percent
nor greater than 110 percent of an

index based upon the weekly sales of
91-day U.S. Treasury Bills. These
bonds are supported by a Chemical
Securities, Inc. irrevocable standby let-
ter of credit , which is due to expire
October 15, 1997, and is subject to
renewal . The bonds are subject to
mandatory purchase upon expiration
of the supporting letter of credit and
any renewal thereof. In absence of
notification by Chemical Securities,
Inc. to renew the letter of credit, Big
Rivers will draw down sufficient funds
under the letter of credit to purchase
the bonds. Draws against the letter
of credit would bear interest at prime
plus two percent and become Bank
Amounts as defined by the Debt
Restructuring Agreement. The Bank
Amounts would be repayable under
the same terms and conditions as the
redeemed bonds. While these bonds
are not dated to mature until October
1, 2015, pursuant to the Debt
Restructuring Agreement, Big Rivers is
obligated to fully fund these bonds or
Bank Amounts by January 31, 2010.

Debt Maturitics

At December 31, 1992, Big Rivers
had, since September 1987, paid total
debt service on the REA Promissory
Note in such a manner that there
existed an excess debt service pay-
ment against default in the amount of
$123,753. This represents a decrease

of $23,373 during 1992. This excess
debt service payment can be used to
offset future payments under the
schedule.

Based on the overpayments to date
and the required REA Promissory
Note principal balance on December
31, 1997, Big Rivers has calculated
the annual payments on a straight-

line basis to avoid an event of default
through December 31, 1997. Actual
payments may be more or less than
those on a straight-line basis. Under
this calculation, the maturities of long-
term debt for each of the five years
subsequent to December 31, 1992
are estimated to be as follows:

REA
Promissory Unamortized
Year Note Premium Other Debt Total
1993 $61,152 (49,9006) 7,091 18,337
1994 56,434 (44,248) 6,143 18,329
1995 52,080 (38,873] 7,379 20,586
1996 48,062 {33.753] 3,180 17,489
1997 44,354 (28,848) 3,341 18,847
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Noteé (continued)

5. Rate Matters

Big Rivers' rates include a ratchet
billing for demand (where current
billing units are determined based on
the highest metered demand in the
past twelve months) and a variable
rate to major customers of Big Rivers’
members, National Southwire
Aluminum Company and Alcan
Aluminum Corporation (the alu-
minum smelters) (see note 9}. The
variable rate will be effective through
August 1997. The variable rate for
the aluminum smelters will fluctuate
based on the price of aluminum with-
in a defined minimum (18.1 mills per
kWh) and maximum (44 mills per
kWh).

A Settlement Agreement effective
January 1, 1990 was reached
between Big Rivers, the aluminum
smelters, and Big Rivers’ creditors.
The Settlement Agreement preserves
the variable aluminum smelter rate as
the method of calculating the cash
payments to be made by the smelters

to Big Rivers. The Settlement
Agreement however, fixes the rev-
enue to be recognized by Big Rivers
at 29.1285 mills per kWh through
August 1997. Accordingly, any pay-
ments in excess or under the 29.1285
mills per kWh brought about by the
variable aluminum smeilter rate will
be recorded as either deferred rev-
enue or a receivable by Big Rivers.
This settlement was brought about in
part by the high aluminum prices in
1989 and 1988, which caused the
smelters to pay at or near the maxi-
mum rate of 44 mills per kWh.

While Big Rivers expects to main-
tain positive cash flow, the agreed
upon rate of 29.1285 mills per kWh
will cause Big Rivers to sustain nega-
tive net margins in the next few years
if additional intersystem sales to non-
members are not achieved. In addi-
tion, the settlemment modified certain
default provisions under the Debt
Restructuring Agreement to afford

greater flexibility to Big Rivers from
default in its debt payments.

Effective January 1, 1991, Big
Rivers was granted a rate increase by
the KPSC of $1.35 per kW, which
increased the demand rate to $10.15
per kKW.

Intersystem power sales to non-
members is a component of full cost
recovery under Big Rivers' rate
design. A long-term contract has
been signed with Oglethorpe Power
Corporation (Oglethorpe Power) for
the sale of 103 MW of firm power for
ten years, beginning in August 1992.
Oglethorpe Power is a joint owner of
the Georgia Integrated Transmission
System, which interconnects with the
transmission system of the Tennessee
Valley Authority (TVA).

6. Income Taxes

Big Rivers was initially formed as a
tax-exempt cooperative organization
under Section 501 (c}(12) of the
Internal Revenue Code. To retain tax-
exempt status under this code provi-
sion, at least 85 percent of the organi-
zation's income must be generated
from sales to the cooperative's mem-
bers. In 1983, sales to nonmembers
resulted in Big Rivers being unable to
meet the 85 percent requirement. In
a letter dated March 23, 1984, the
Internal Revenue Service notified Big
Rivers that effective for 1983 and sub-
sequent years it would be considered
a taxable organization until such year
that sales to members would satisfy
the 85 percent requirement and Big
Rivers formally reapplies for tax-
exempt status.

Big Rivers has generated losses for
both accounting and income tax pur-
poses. Thus, there is no provision for

current or deferred income tax
expense. The following analysis sum-
marizes the net operating loss carry-
forwards:

Net Operating Loss Carryforward
Federal
Income
Year of  Accounting Tax
Origination Purposes  Purposes
1984 $ 9,340 87,500
1985 9,640 160,180
1986 123,650 154,790
1987 88,680 94,600
1988 14,190 14,440
1989 20,000 54,760
1990 44,475 79,470
1991 42,935 78,330
1992 37,955 73,000

These carryforwards may be utilized
to offset taxable income for the peri-

od of fifteen years from the year of
origination. The difference between
accounting and tax losses is primarily
due to accelerated depreciation meth-
ods being utilized for income tax pur-
poses.

Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (SFAS) No. 109, Accounting
for Income Taxes, is to be implement-
ed for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 1992. This requires a
change from the deferred method to
the asset and liability method of
accounting for income taxes. The ini-
tial adoption of SFAS No. 109 may be
on either a prospective or retroactive
basis. The impact of adopting this
statement has not been determined.
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Notéé% (continued)

7. PDurchased Power

Big Rivers, under contracts with the
City of Henderson, Kentucky, (City)
operates the City-owned 315
megawatt generating station (Station
Two] and agrees to purchase an allo-
cated portion of the output. Big
Rivers' portion of Station Two capacity
is currently 83 percent which is
expected to decrease to 81 percent
by 1997. The contracts expire in
2003.

Under the terms of the contracts
with the City, Big Rivers has agreed to
pay a proportionate share of the

monthly fixed costs of Station Two
(excluding depreciation] based on its
allocated portion of the capacity of
Station Two. The monthly fixed costs
include debt service payments neces-
sary to retire the principal and to pay
interest on the City's bonds issued to
finance the construction of Station
Two. Big Rivers has recorded as a lia-
bility the portion of the principal pay-
ments it is obligated to pay as fixed
costs under the contract based on
estimates of its allocated portion of
Station Two capacity, and has record-

ed as an asset a like amount for the
right to purchase its allocated portion
of the output. The fixed costs are
payable to the City whether or not
Station Two is operational or the oper-
ation thereof is interrupted, suspend-
ed, or interfered with in whole or in
part for any cause. The cost of power
purchased under the contract for
1992, 1991, and 1990 was $27,250,
$30,998, and $33,043 respectively.
Such costs are accounted for as
power purchased.

8. Pension, Deferred Compensation Plans, and Other Bencfits

Big Rivers has defined benefit pen-
sion plans covering substantially all
employees who meet minimum age
and service requirements. The plans
provide benefits based on the partici-

pants’ years of service and compensa-
tion or stated amounts for each year
of service. Big Rivers’ policy is to fund
such plans in accordance with the
requirements of the Employee

Actuarial present value of benefit obligation:

Accumulated benefit obligation, including vested benefits of

$12,916, $10,718, and $8,481

Projected benefit obligation for services rendered to-date

Plan assets at fair value, primarily listed stocks and U.S. Treasury

Bonds

Plan assets over (under) projected benefit obligation

Unrecognized net transition assets
Unrecognized prior service cost
Unrecognized net loss (gain)

Unfunded accrued pension cost

Retirement Income Security Act of
1974. Big Rivers has adopted the
provisions of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 87,
Employers’ Accounting for Pensions.

Net pension costs included the following (income) / expense

components:

Service cost-benefits earned during the year
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation

Actual return on plan assets
Amortization of transition assets
Amortization of prior service cost

Amortization of deferral of net loss (gain)

Net periodic pension costs
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1992 1991 1990
12,942 10,773 8,513
$17,507 14,459 11,614
16,861 15,657 12,422
(646) 1,198 808
(1,982) (2,202) (2.422)
1,516 1,343 959
270 (1,916) (517)
$ (842) (1,577 (1,172)
$ 1,270 1,219 1,047
1,285 1,046 835
(1,537) (2,787) (1,265)
(220) (220) (220)
175 143 96
151 1,722 321
$1,124 1,123 814




NOt@S (continucd)

Assumptions used to develop the projected benefit obligation were:

Discount rates

Rates of increase in compensation levels
Expected long-term rate of return on assets

Total expense related to the pension
and deferred compensation plans was
$1,396, $1,420, and $973 in 1992,
1991, and 1990, respectively.

Statement of Financial Accounting

1992 1991 1990
8.5% 8.5% 8.5%
4.0 4.0 4.0
8.5 8.5 8.5

Standard No. 106, Post Retirement
Benefits Other Than Pensions, is to be
implemented for fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 1992. The compa-
ny currently provides for certain retire-

ment medical benefits. Current year
expenses were insignificant and man-
agement is pursuing efforts to mitigate
the impact of SFAS 106.

9. Delated Parties and Major Customers

A related party relationship exists
between Big Rivers and its member

Members:
Green River Electric Corporation

Henderson-Union Rural Electric Cooperative Corporation
Jackson Purchase Electric Cooperative Corporation
Meade County Rural Electric Cooperative Corporation

Nonmembers
Other Revenue

National Southwire Aluminum
Company and Alcan Aluminum
Corporation (the aluminum smelters)
purchase substantial amounts of elec-
tric energy under contracts with mem-
bers expiring in 2010. Sales to mem-

distribution cooperatives. Operating
revenues from members and non-

members were as follows:

1992 1991 1990
$133,021 135,805 131,411
105,744 106,368 104,908
22,300 22,390 20,488
11,679 11,932 10,778
47,068 54,751 64,083
95 89 68
331,335 331,736

$319,907

bers for these two customers [(Green
River Electric Corporation for National
Southwire Company and Henderson-
Union Rural Electric Cooperative
Corporation for Alcan Aluminum
Corporation) were as follows:

Year Green River
1992 $87,705
1991 88,892
1990 88,624

Henderson-

Union Combined
82,841 170,546
83,117 172,009
83,980 172,604

Nonmember sales to Oglethorpe
accounted for 8.3 and 10.9 percent of
operating revenues in 1992 and 1991,
respectively.

Big Rivers agrees to indemnify its
member cooperatives by performing
their power supply agreements with
certain industrial customers and
accepting only such payment therefore
as each member receives from its cus-
tomers.

Receivables from members at
December 31, 1992, 1991, and 1990
were $18,478, $20,602, and $23,839,
respectively.

10. Disclosure of the Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of Big Rivers
cash and cash equivalents, accounts
receivable, short-term investments,
and accounts payable approximate the
fair value because of the short maturity

of these financial instruments. The
assumption used in determining the
fair value of Big Rivers long-term vari-
able interest rate debt is that the fair
value approximates the carrying value,

as the debt reprices weekly. Fair value
of the long-term fixed interest rate
debt is approximately the carrying
value, $1,119,152.

11. Comnitments and Contingencics

As of December 31, 1992, a suit
filed by a former coal supplier in the
amount of $15.7 million was pending,
as were a number of other legal
actions and claims involving Big Rivers
either as defendant or plaintiff.
Management believes that the out-
come of these legal actions and claims

will not have a material effect on Big
Rivers® financial position or results of
operations.

Big Rivers has entered into several
long-term coal contracts expiring
through 2006. Fuel purchased under
these contracts in 1992, 1991, and
1990 was $107,540, $127,247, and

$126,626, respectively.

The KPSC is conducting a focused
management audit of Big Rivers' fuel
procurement policies and procedures.
A report is expected in the spring of
1993.
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Comparative Statistical Analysis . . . Ten-Year Summary

Operating Revenues

Expenses:
Operation and Maintenance
Purchased Power and

Interchanged, Net

Depreciation and Amortization
Taxes
Interest
Other

Total

Operating Margins (Loss)
Nonoperating Margins (Loss)

Net Margins (Loss)

Utility Plant at Cost
Construction Work in Progress

Total Electric Plant
Less Accumulated Depreciation

Utility Plant Net

Total Assets

System Peak Demand - MW

Net Generating Capacity Owned - MW
Net HMP&L Capacity Purchased - MW
Other Purchased Capacity - MW

Sales to Members -GWh
Sales to Non-Members - GWh

Generated - GWh

Purchased HMP&L Energy - GWh
Other Purchased Energy - GWh
System Load Factor - %
Permanent Employees at Year-End
Average Cost of Coal Used

Price Per Ton
¢/MM BTU

22

19972 991 1990 1989
$ 319,907,459 331,334,709 331,736,393 389,976,759
183,693,972 193,288,174 191,389,914 170,941,916
33,730,825 39,248,839 40,263,144 35,434,879
44,980,616 44,809,522 44,564,475 44,333,598
4,374,765 4,365,522 4,201,594 4,011,142
93,358,171 95,071,442 97,222,523 101,748,177
(999,831) (1,008,592 682,563 752,017
359,138,518 375,774,907 378,324,213 357,221,729
(39,231,059) (44,440,198) (46,587,820) 32,755,030
1,275,827 1,505,489 2,113,282 2,378,289
$  (37.955,232) (42,934,709) (44,474,538) 35,133,319
$1,472,545,501 1,466,355,537 1,462,170,906 1,454,882,990
10,563,767 11,986,253 9,204,400 4,162,708
1,483,109,268 1,478,341,790  1,471,375,306 1,459,045,698
419,709,707 376,616,976 331,805,315 288,884,804
$1,063,399,561 1,101,724,814 _1,139,569,991 1,170,160,894
$1,180,152,394 1,225,216,359 __1,267,340,928 1,322,367,888
1,166 1,168 1,174 1,177
1,459 1,459 1,459 1,459
262 263 264 264
178 178 178 178
8,326.34 8,314.32 8,191.46 8,072.76
1,463.50 2,055.13 2,592.86 1,500.96
8,418.27 8,664.31 9,010.66 8,047.11
1,211.98 1,480.77 1,668.90 1,388.66
305.91 415.91 337.14 314.14
82.7 83.1 81.9 80.0
846 875 868 857
27.92 28.51 28.73 27.82
125.5¢ 129.2¢ 129.2¢ 126.5¢



1988 19817 1986 1985 1984 1983
399,277,507 300,084,362 227,664,219 236,023,720 258,019,579 258,276,967
187,344,006 169,931,331 130,991,511 133,779,910 143,358,327 136,539,322

39,158,896 39,146,440 38,214,277 39,792,228 47,494,014 55,494,464

49,310,860 53,555,259 18,798,750 17,788,717 18,533,362 17,782,446

3,906,621 3,817,850 2,515,787 2,353,021 2,269,307 2,202,576
103,607,079 124,351,304 51,520,808 39,645,856 39,747,343 38,198,269
612,200 597,187 233,931 185,636 128,581 91,698
383,939,662 391,399,371 242,275,064 233,545,368 251,530,934 250,308,775
15,337,845 (91,315,009) (14,610,845) 2,478,352 6,488,645 7,968,192
3,471,174 2,684,163 (26,614,194) 1,040,972 (1,749,130) 949,868
18,809,019 (88,630,846) (41,225,039) 3,519,324 4,739,515 8,918,060
1,451,937,802 1,448,581,890 1,452,144,009 539,998,444 533,597,067 531,772,691
1,226,596 1,448,505 2,080,925 833,505,325 745,589,266 653,519,304
1,453,164,398 1,450,030,395 1,454,224,934 1,373,503,769 1,279,186,333 1,185,291,995
245,556,080 196,710,029 143,479,823 124,841,130 106,923,761 91,374,775
1,207,608,318 1,253,320,366 1,310,745,111 1,248,662,639 1,172,262,572 1,093,917,220
1,386,197,045 1,421,349,400 1,438,564,861 1,409,490,616 1,332,830,420 1,225,799,340
1,157 990 993 1,042 1,027 952

1,459 1,459 1,448 1,039 1,039 1,039

264 270 271 271 268 270

178 178 178 178 190 140

7.814.61 6,271.32 6,211.79 6,908.67 7,390.75 6,719.42
3,188.51 3,993.08 3,303.68 3,290.11 2,075.96 2,098.82
9,270.21 8,321.80 6,609.70 6,447.45 6,876.37 6,474.14
1,716.20 1,932.61 1,631.87 1,779.65 1,882.22 1,724.84
262.04 284.69 336.38 291.98 666.72 790.65

77.6 75.5 74.1 78.1 84.1 78.4

855 856 863 827 835 794

28.05 27.48 27.83 30.25 29.91 30.38

125.7¢ 124.3¢ 127.6¢ 137.7¢ 135.6¢ 138.4¢
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I:inancial Highlights

(Dollars i thousands)
increase % Increase
1991 1990 (Decrease)  (Decrease)
Operating Revenues 331,335 331,736 (40T1) (.1}
Operating Expenses 281,712 280,419 1,293 .5
Net Margins (42,935) (44,475) 1,540 3.5
Capital Additions 7,843 14,365 {6,522} (45.4)
Cost of Fuel Used 115,202 118,096 [{2.894) {2.5)
System Peak Demand [Megawatts| 1,168 1,174 (6] (.5)
Energy Sold to Members {(Mwh) 8,314,320 8,191,465 122,855 1.5
Revenue per kWh Sold (Mills] 31.94 30.75 1.19 3.9
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About Big Rivers

Big Rivers Electric Corporation, located in
Henderson, Kentucky, is a generation and
transmission cooperative owned by the
members it serves. |t provides reliable
wholesale electric service on a not-for-profit
basis to its four member distribution
cooperatives. These cooperatives, owned by
their 82,918 consumer-members, distribute
electricity at retail within 22 counties of
western Kentucky on a not-for-profit basis.



Presi dents

and

Gen eral Manager'’s
Report

1991 was a very “normal” year at Big Rivers Electric Corporation. It was
routine for the production of electric energy, with system and intersystem sales
near forecast levels, no extended forced outages on any units, and normal
planned outages.

Implementation of management audit recommendations continued as
planned. Of the 67 recommendations originally made by the Scott Consulting
Group (SCQ), 38 have been completed. SCG estimates that implementation of
the recommendations will ultimately save approximately $2.6 million annually,
for a one-time cost of $1.4 million.

Details of the Integrated Resource Plan/Acid Rain Study, completed this
year, are contained elsewhere in this report. Basically the study concluded that
Big Rivers will not need additional peaking capacity until the year 2008. The
consultants recommended that acid rain compliance for Phase | be
accomplished by fuel switching at the Kenneth C. Coleman Plant, and scrubbing
Henderson Municipal Power and Light Station Two in 1997. Phase |l
requirements can be met by over-scrubbing all units equipped with scrubbers.
Alternatives were still being studied at year-end.

Residential marketing efforts, in cooperation with the member
distribution cooperatives, were expanded and intensified in 1991. During the
year plans were made for much larger marketing, promotion, advertising, and
education and information programs in 1992. The objective is to encourage
consumer-members to fully utilize more efficient electric appliances and heating
and cooling systems. These efforts should improve the Big Rivers’ system winter
load factor and off-peak consumption, which will ultimately result in lower over-
all cost of electric service to our members and their consumers.

We remain committed and accept the challenge to aggressively pursue
our purpose of providing members with an adequate and reliable source of
electric service at a reasonable cost. Our professional and skilled employees,
together with the dedication and leadership provided by our board of directors,
make this endeavor possible.

Pirty flomsboe O, Hhopae

Morton Henshaw William H. Thorpe
President, Board of Directors General Manager
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Sates

Revenue from the sale of electric energy during the
year was $331.2 million, down $0.4 million, primarily
due to a reduction in intersystem sales.  Sales to our
members were $276.5 million, an increase of $8.9
million, or 3 percent. Intersystem sales for the year
were $54.8 million, down $9.3 million, or 15 percent.

Moderate weather conditions affected both
member and -nonmember energy sales. Heating and
cooling degree days for the year were 5,478,
compared to 5,236 last year, and a norm of 6,262.

The system peak demand of 1,168 megawatts
(MW)], reached on July 22, fell 6 MW short of the 1990
peak of 1,174 MW, and 9 MW short of the record
system peak demand of 1,177 MW established in
December 1989.

The annual system load factor was 83.10 percent
compared to 81.91 percent last year. Big Rivers’ load
factor is high relative to other utilities, primarily due to
the aluminum smelters operating continuously above a
95 percent level.

As discussed in previous annual reports, in 1987
the Kentucky Public Service Commission (PSC) ordered a
variable tariff rate for energy sold by Big Rivers to
Henderson-Union Rural Electric Cooperative
Corporation and Green River Electric Corporation to be
delivered to the two aluminum smelters. The variable

rate requires Big Rivers to charge from a high of 4.4
cents per kilowatt hour (kWh} to a low of 1.8 cents, as
primary aluminum prices fluctuate between 80 cents a
During 1991, the market price

pound and 45 cents.

for aluminum was at a low level, averaging 59.46 cents
a pound, as compared to an average of 74.04 cents a
pound the previous year. Consequently, Big Rivers’

1991 sales price for energy to the smelters averaged
3.1 cents as opposed to 3.5 cents per kWh in 1990.
This low price substantially reduced Big Rivers’ cash

flow and the availability of funds for debt service
payments to the Rural Electrification Administration
(REA). However, the lower cash flow did not affect the
recognition of revenues from the smelters for 1991.
The settlement agreement with the smelters, more fully
discussed in footnote 5 to the financial statements,
assures that Big Rivers will receive an average of
2.91285 cents per kWh through August 1997.

The variable rate, as set by the PSC, was designed
to assure that the aluminum smelters could continue to
operate at full capacity in spite of a low sales price for
their product.




Fueis

Our plants burned 4.7 million tons of coal in
generating electricity, an average of 13,011 tons per
day. This compares with 4.9 million tons, 13,398 tons
per day, burned in 1990. Fuel costs for the year were
$115.2 million, a decrease of $2.9 million. Fuel cost of
$20.2 million associated with HMP&L Station Two was
included in the cost of purchased power.

The average cost was $28.34 per ton, equivalent
to 128.5 cents per million Btu. This compares with
$28.73 per ton, 129.2 cents per million Btu last year.

About three-fourths of Big Rivers’ coal requirements
are supplied from Kentucky mines in the service areas
of the corporation’s member cooperatives.

Agreement was reached with Green River Coal
Co., Inc., the contract supplier of approximately 80
percent of the coal for the Wilson Plant, for substitution

Margins

As projected in the 1987 workout plan with
creditors, Big Rivers continues to operate at a loss. The
loss incurred in 1991 was $42.9 million, compared to
a loss of $44.5 million during 1990. At year end the

Rate Matters

On December 21, 1990, the PSC approved the
third-step rate increase as provided in the workout
plan. The increased rates became effective on January
1, 1991, producing additional annual revenues of $6.9

of coal produced by Andalex Resources, Inc. The coal
supplied by Green River Coal contained unacceptable
high levels of chlorine, which caused corrosion of the
sidewall boiler tubes near the low nitrous oxide [NOx)
burners. The substitute coal is substantially lower in
chlorine, and of much better quality for the Wilson
Plant. With the improvement in quality, a savings of
approximately $27 million will be realized over the 13
years remaining on the contract.

The Coleman, Reid, and HMP&L Station Two
Plants, which are not equipped with scrubbers, burn
lower-sulfur coal from western Kentucky and southern
Indiana. These plants will be affected in 1995 by
Phase I sulfur dioxide {SOZ2} requirements under the
acid deposition control provisions of the Clean Air Act
Amendments of 1990, requiring that the emissions be
cut in half.

Upon completion of the Integrated Resource
Plan/Acid Rain study, Big Rivers entered into an eight-
year contract with E & M Coal, Inc. to supply coal to
the Coleman plant, including a much lower-sulfur
compliance fuel during years 1995-1999 (the Phase |
period).

During March a trial was held in the U.S. District
Court of southern Indiana regarding a lawsuit filed by
a former coal supplier, Delta Mining Corporation,
seeking $15.7 million in damages. The suit alleges that
Big Rivers did not accept the total quantity of coal
required under a ten-year supply contract made in
1977. At year-end the court had not rendered a
decision.

corporation’s total deficit equity was $116.8 million. It
is anticipated that Big Rivers will continue to incur
negative margins for the next three to four years.

million, increasing the wholesale cost of power for
rural residential consumers by 6.4 percent, an average
of $2.81 per 1,000 kWh.






Production

The system’s generating units are all coal-fired
except for a 65 MW combustion turbine used for
peaking and emergency purposes.

The Green and Wilson Plants are equipped with
flue-gas desulfurization scrubbers, and these plants burn
western Kentucky high-sulfur coal.

The system-wide heat rate was 10,343 British
Thermal Units [Btu) per net kWh generated. The loss of
intersystem power sales during off-peak hours (10 p.m.
to 6 am.) in 1991, caused a break in the preceding six
consecutive year's record of heat rate improvement.

monitoring equipment was completed on the Coleman
Plant. All of Big Rivers’ generating units are now
equipped with data acquisition and performance
monitoring computers. This equipment provides the
unit operators and performance engineers with boiler
and turbine data on a real-time basis, which greatly
improves our ability to increase unit operating
efficiency.

The table below presents 1991 data regarding each
generating unit.

The instailation of real-time performance

Year Net Heat
Generating Placed Net Forced Equivalent  Gross Rate
Unit in Capability ~ Operating Outage  Output Availablity Generation  BTU/
Service KW Hours Rate %  Factor % Factor % MWh kWh
Robert A. Reid Plant
near Sebree, Kentucky
Reid Unit 1 1965 65,000 Reid Unit 1 was on stand-by status throughout 1991
Kenneth C. Coleman Plant
near Hawesville, Kentucky
Coleman Unit 1 1969 150,000 8,001 2.54 83.8 87.6 1,072,559 10,266
Coleman Unit 2 1970 150,000 7,653 1.29 86.7 85.5 1,061,824 10,334
Coleman Unit 3 1972 155.000 7.573 1.96 82.7 89.2 1.033.435 10.498
455,000 23,227 1.94 84.4 87.5 3,167,817 10,364
Robert D. Green Plant
near Sebree, Kentucky
Green Unit 1 1979 231,000 7,209 49 83.2 81.7 1,449,467 10,539
Green Unit 2 1981 223 000 8,001 1.22 86.6 90.6 1,676,822 10.644
454,000 15,210 1.82 85.0 86.0 3,176,289 10,594
HMP&L Station Two
near Sebree, Kentucky
Henderson Unit 1 1973 154,000 7,359 1.02 78.6 84.4 954,042 10,180
Henderson Unit2 1974 161,000 7.641 151 77.0 83.5 1,011,919 10,247
315,000 15,000 1.27 77.8 83.9 1,965,961 10,215
D.B. Wilson Plant
near Island, Kentucky
Wilson Unit 1 1986 420,000 7,819 2.58 85.5 88.6 3,020,682 10,138

Sarety

A low-accident incident rate (accidents per 200,000
man-hours worked) of 4.9 was set in 1991.
the rate was a record low of 4.6.

Last year
Wilson Plant

We regret the death of long-time employee Melvin
Hagan, and serious injury to James Boarman following
an acid tank explosion at the Coleman Plant on August

employees made a major contribution to the
corporation’s safety record by completing two full years
without a lost-time injury on October 31.

12.
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A study was completed by consultants to
determine the most favorable plan for compliance with
the new Clean Air Act Amendments. No final decision
has been made, but based on the assumptions used,
the conclusion was that the most favorable plan for
meeting Phase | SO2 emission limits is to: (1) add flue-
gas desulfurization systems (scrupbers) to both units at
the HMP&L Station Two Plant, with a 1997 in-service
date, (2) temporarily switch to a lower-sulfur coal in
1995 at HMP&L Station Two until the scrubber system
is operational, and (3) switch all three units at the
Coleman Plant to low-sulfur coal in 1995.

Big Rivers will continue to evaluate its alternatives,
whether to burn lower-sulfur coal or construct the
scrubbers, to meet Phase | limits. A final decision is
expected by mid-year 1992.

M arketing

The corporation has embarked on a new residential
and commercial marketing program designed to
increase off-peak load and enhance consumer
satisfaction. Incentives were offered to consumers to
install new high-efficiency electric water heaters. In
addition, the distribution systems offered incentives on
geothermal heat pumps.

1991 was the first full year of residential and
commercial marketing for Big Rivers and the program
was productive. Over 3,000 efficient water heaters

Nitrous oxide requirements will be met by
installing low-NOx burners where necessary.

The recommended plan for meeting Phase Il limits
is to increase the removal efficiency of the scrubbers at
Wilson, Green, and HMP&L Station Two beginning in
2000.

This compliance plan offers considerable flexibility.
Big Rivers plans to annually review its position with
regard to Phase Il compliance options, with the
objective of taking the best advantage of developing
technologies, allowance market conditions, fuel market
conditions, and other factors that would influence the
final decision, before the year 2000.

and more than 110 geothermal heat pumps were
installed across the system. Information on energy
efficiency and safety was made available to consumers
at annual meetings, home shows, and county fairs.
Energy audits were provided to consumers by member
service personnel from the distribution systems.

An end-use/consumer opinion survey was
completed in September 1991. This survey, coupled
with data from previous surveys, provides Big Rivers
“benchmarks” from which a data base can be built to
track the effectiveness of incentive programs,
advertising, consumer satisfaction, and off-peak load
building.

Heating and air-conditioning contractor training
was enhanced by Big Rivers’ participation in the
Kentucky Committee for Marketing Electricity (KCME).
The KCME is a joint utility effort promoting efficiency,
better building methods, and an overall understanding
of more efficient use of electricity. The KCME
coordinated the construction of the Electric HVAC
Training and Research Center at the University of
Kentucky in Lexington to provide contractors with
hands-on training. An increased effort to communicate
to the public was initiated in 1991 by Big Rivers and
the distribution cooperatives through brochures,
personal contacts, and local media.



Hanning

As required by a PSC regulation implementing
statewide planning, Big Rivers filed its Integrated
Resource Plan in September. The regulation requires
utilities to develop a 15-year plan for supplying electric
energy at the lowest cost consistent with meeting
acceptable standards for quality and reliability of service.
The conclusion of this plan is that Big Rivers’ current
generating resources are adequate to meet its needs for
several years into the future. Present indications are
that 69 MW of new peaking generation capacity will be
needed in 2008.

Because of Big Rivers’ very high system [oad factor
and the high concentration of heavy industrial load, the
potential for significant impacts from traditional demand
side management and peak-shaving strategies is

Cons [roACtior

No major construction was in progress at year-end.
Total capital expenditures for the year were $7.8 million,
down $6.5 million from 1990.

The corporation has sufficient generating capacity
and has no plans for the construction of additional
units.

A new energy management system scheduled for
installation in mid-1992 has been delayed approximately
three months due to the addition of an SO2Z allowance
dispatch program. This new system will be equipped
with “state of the art” programs providing for the
dispatch of the most economical power generation, and
will permit the most efficient and reliable operation of
the transmission system.

Debt Service

In 1988 Big Rivers entered into a debt restructuring
agreement effective August 31, 1987, as defined in
Note 4 to the financial statements, providing for annual
minimum debt service payments. The agreement also
provides for the payment of cash in excess of a $10
million balance at the end of each month, after paying
operating costs and capital expenditures. The minimum

reduced. The benefit of such load reduction is also
diminished since the need for new resources is relatively
far in the future. Big Rivers also is currently supplying
approximately 70 MW of industrial load on an
interruptible basis to the aluminum smelters. This
relatively large block of interruptible load gives Big
Rivers and its member distribution systems another
means of responding to emergency conditions without
additional resources.

An update to the Power Requirements Study was
completed with a forecast of Big Rivers’ energy and
peak demand requirements for 1991 through 2010. It
shows an expected average annual growth rate of 1.29
percent for peak demand, and 1.02 percent for total
required energy for Big Rivers’ system load.

debt service for 1991 was $116.0 million. With the
decline in aluminum prices and the resulting decrease in
cash flow available for debt service, as previously
discussed in the SALES section of this report, Big Rivers
was able to pay only $83.1 million. However, through
1991, $147.2 million has been paid on principal in
excess of the minimum debt service schedule.



Economic IDDeuveloprment

Scott Paper Company announced in 1990 that it
would locate a $500 million tissue mill near Newman,
Ky., in Daviess County. The company has exercised its
option to purchase site properties. Transfer of title will
be completed by mid-January 1992, and site work is
expected to begin by mid-year 1992. The permitting is
in place with the exception of the permits that have to
be acquired during the construction process.

Ernplogees

Employment at year-end was 875. The turnover
rate for the year was 1.4 percent, which is considerably
lower than the national average for similar size
corporations.

Employees throughout Big Rivers are active in
various community, civic, and business organizations
and programs, demonstrating their concern for
improving the community in which they live.

The plant will be located in Green River Electric
Corporation’s service area, one of Big Rivers’ member
cooperatives. This is expected to be a 60-MW load, with
approximately 500 people employed.

A small manufacturing facility has been opened
locally by Scott, and employees are being trained con
equipment that will be moved into the new plant when
completed.

Sixty-five employees continued their quest for higher
education with help from the educational assistance
program. Big Rivers is proud that each year many
employees find the time, and make the commitment to
advance their career potential and value to the
corporation.
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1 nNndependent Auditors’ Repport

KPMG Peat Marwick

Certified Public Accountants

The Fifth Avenue Building
444 South Fifth Street
Loussville, KY 40202

Independent Auditors” Report

The Board of Directors
Big Rivers Llectric Corporation.

We have audited the balance sheets of Big Rivers Electric Corporation as of December 31, 1991
and 1990, and the related statements of revenues and expenses, equities (deficit) and cash flows
for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31. 1991 These [inancial
statements are the responsibility of the Corporation’s management OQur responsibility s to
express an optuon on these financial stalements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards  Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement  An audit includes examining,
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

[n our opinion, the financial statements reflerred Lo above present lairly. in all matenal respects.
the [inancial position of Big Rivers Electric Corporation at December 31, 1991 and 1990, and
the results of its operations and uts cash flows [or each of the years in the three-year period
ended December 31, 1991, 1n conformity with generally accepled accounting principles.

As discussed 1 notes 4 and 5 to the financial statements, Big Rivers Electric Corporation and its
creditors entered 1nto a Debl Restructuring Agreement whereby government related debt was
restructured into a Total Government Debt Note (REA Promissory Note) The principal
repayments of the REA Promissory Note are contingent upon the available cash {low, as defined
by the Debt Restructuring Agreement Big Rivers Electric Corporauon’s ability to recover its
costs and repay its debt is dependent upon its generating adequate revenues by selling
approximately [ifteen percent of capacity to nonmembers, In addition, as discussed 1n note 10
to the hinancial statements, Big Rivers Electric Corporation is a defendant in a law suit filed by a
former coal supplier The ultimate outcome of the litigation cannot be presently determined.
Accordingly. no adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification of reported asset
amounts or the amounts and classilication of liabilities that might result from the outcome of
these uncertainties have been recognized in the accompanying financial statements.

« P76 a7k

February 5, 1992
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Srarc’r et Of Revenues and EXpenses

Years ended December 31,
(Dollars i thousands)

1991, 1990, 1989

Operating revenues (notes 5 and 9}
Operating expenses:
Operations:
Fuel for electric generation
Power purchased and interchanged, net
Other
Maintenance
Depreciation and amortization
Taxes
Total operating expenses
Electric operating margins
Interest and other deductions:
Interest {note 4}
Allowance for borrowed funds used
during construction [note 2)
Other deductions
Total interest and other deductions
Operating margins (loss)
Nonoperating margins (loss):
Interest earned
Other

Total nonoperating margins
Net margins (loss)

Sru terment of zqquities (Deficit)
Years ended December 31, 1991, 1990, 1989
(Dollars in thousancls)

Accumulated

Total deficit-
equities _ operating

Balance at December 31, 1988 $(64,540} (123,899)
Margins for 1989:

Operating 32,755 32,755

Nonoperating 2,378
Patronage allocation _ (52,548)
Balance at December 31, 1989 _[29.,407) {143,692
Margins for 1990:

Operating (46,588} (46,588

Nonoperating _ 2,113 -
Balance at December 31, 1990 (73,882) _(190,280)
Margins for 1991:

Operating (44,440) (44,440)

Nonoperating 1,505
Balance at December 31, 1991 $(116,817) (234,720)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

1991 1990 1989
2331,335_ 331,736 389,977
115,202 118,096 104,830
39,249 40,263 35,435
48,467 46,263 41,987
29,618 27,030 24,125
44,810 44,565 44,334
_ 4,366 4,202 4,011
2_3_1,72 280,419 254,722
749,6237 51,317 135,255
95,530 97,462 101,890
(458) {240) (142)
{1,009) 683 , 752
94,063 97.9205 102,500
(44.440) (46,588) 32,755
1,502 2,108 2,376
3 5 2
1,505 2,113 -~ 2,378
_${42,935) (44,475} 35,133
Other equities
Donated Consumers’
Accumulated capital contributions
deficit- Patronage and to
nonoperating capital  memberships debt service
(20,459) 75,373 B 764 3,681
2,378 — — —
— 52,548 o — -
118,081) 127,921 764 3,681
2,113 _ == o —
(15,268) 127,921 ) 764 3,681
1,505 — - o o
[14,463) 127,921 764 3,681




Bczlc 1Nce Sheets

At December 31, 1991 and 1990
(Dollars i thousands)

Assets

Utility plant, net (notes 2, and 4)
Productive capacity under purchased power contract (note 7}
Other deposits and investments, at cost
Current assets:
Cash and temporary cash investments
Receivables (note 9)
Fuel for electric generation
Non-fuel inventory

Total current assets

Deferred charges (note 3)

Equities and Liabilities
Capitalization:
Equities (deficit}
Long-term liabilities (notes 4, 5 and 7):
REA debt
Other long-term debt

Total long-term liabilities
Less current maturities

Totai long-term liabilities,
net of current maturities

Total capitalization

Current liabilities:
Current maturities of long-term
liabilities (notes 4, 5 and 7)
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses

Total current liabilities

Deferred revenue (note 5|
Deferred credits

Commitments and contingencies (note 10)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

1991

$1,101,725
25,200
4,921

10,100
24,898
28,187
15,232

78,417

14,953

$1.,225,216

$(116,817)

1,055,407
183,663

1,239,070
6,946

1,232,124

1,115,307

6,946
18,790
19,033

44,769

34,593
30,547

$ 1,225,216

1990

1,139,570
27,400
5,574

10,253
30,269
24,584
14,811

79,917

14,880

1,267,341

{73,882)

1,062,950
190,227

1,253,177
10,593

1,242,584

1,168,702

10,593
18,605
2.009

38,207

28,486
31,946

1,267,341




Sr(.n(_’: nent of Cash Flowos
Year ended December 31, 1991, 1990, 1989

(Dollurs i thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net margins [loss)

Adjustments to reconcile net margins (loss)
to cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of deferred charges
Net change in deferred revenue
Change in assets and liabilities:
Receivables
Fuel for electric generation
Material and supplies
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Other, net

Cash flows from investing activities:
Construction expenditures
Refund from vendor relating to

construction expenditures
Prepayment on coal contract

Net cash provided by (used in)
investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:
Principal payments on long-term debt

Proceeds from bank loan

Net cash used in financing

activities

Net increase {decrease} in cash
and temporary cash investments

Supplemental Cash Flow Information

Cash paid relating to interest espense

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

1991 1990 1989
$(42,935) (44,475) 35,133
45,518 45,196 44,886
2,356 2,078 2,158
6,107 28,486 —
5,371 5,758 1,209
(3,604 774 {2,001)
[421) 163 666
185 968 (874
10,025 (9.302) (3,170)
324 (1,094 3,024
22,926 28,552 81,031
(7,672) (14,605) (7,734)
- — 295
(3.500) (1,000} (2.500}
(11.172) [15.605) _19.939)
(11,907) (54,920) (99,161)
— 24,000 -
(11,907) (30,920) _{99.161)
$ (153 (17.973) [28.069]
_1991 1990 1989
$ 84,642 105,401 102,997




j\(_ﬁcs,,,fcz Francial -Statrerrnernts —

December 31, 1991, 1990, 1089
(Dollars in thousunds)

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

General Information

Big Rivers Electric Corporation (Big Rivers|, a nonprofit electric
generation and transmission cooperative, supplies the power needs
of its four member distribution cooperatives and markets power to
nonmember utilities. The members provide electric power and
energy to industrial, residential, and commercial customers located
in portions of 22 western Kentucky counties. Big Rivers has
entered into wholesale power contracts with each of its members
which require the members to buy and receive from Big Rivers ail

Systeim of Accounts ]
The accrual basis accounting policies follow the Uniform System of

Accounts prescribed by the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission
(FERC) as adopted by REA and KPSC. The regulatory agencies

Revenue Recognition

Revenues are based on month-end meter readings.

Utility Plant and Depreciation

Utility plant is stated at original cost which includes the cost of
contracted services, material, labor, overhead, and an allowance for
borrowed funds used during construction. Replacements of
depreciable property units, except minor replacements, are charged
to utility plant. Property units replaced or retired, including cost of
removal net of any salvage, are charged to accumulated
depreciation. Routine maintenance, repairs, and minor
replacement costs are charged to expense as incurred.

Allowance for borrowed funds used during construction is included
on projects with an estimated total cost of $250 or more before
consideration of the allowance. The interest capitalized is
determined by applying the effective rate on the REA Promissory
Note to qualifying assets included in construction in progress.

Temporary Cash Investments

Temporary cash investments consist primarily of temporary
investments in U. S. government and federal agency securities
which are carried at cost and adjusted for accrued interest, which
approximates market.

nuoentories

Inventories, consisting of non-fuel and fuel for electric generation,
are valued at weighted average cost.

As provided in the bylaws, any excess of revenues over the sum of
(a) operating costs and expenses properly chargeable against the
furnishing of electric energy, and (b} amounts required to offset
operating losses incurred during the current or any prior fiscal year
is capital furnished by the patrons and credited to a capital account
for each patron on a patronage basis. Nonoperating margins are
used to offset any accumulated nonoperating deficits and, to the
extent not needed for this purpose, used to offset any operating
losses, during the current or any prior fiscal year. If, after

their power and energy requirements and Big Rivers to sell and
deliver power and energy in satisfaction of such requirements. The
wholesale power contracts with the members extend to the year
2023. Rates to its members are established by the Kentucky Public
Service Commission (KPSC) and subject to approval by the United
States Department of Agriculture Rural Electrification
Administration (REA).

retain authority and periodically issue orders on various accounting
and rate-making matters.

Capitalization of interest is discontinued when the project is
completed and the asset is ready for service. Depreciation of utility
plant and unclassified plant in service is provided using the
straight-line method over the estimated service lives of the
depreciable assets. Annual rates used to compute depreciation are
as follows:

Production plant 3%-3.10%

Transmission plant 2.75%
Station equipment 2.75%
General plant 2% - 20%
Unclassified plant in service 2.75%

For purpose of statement of cash flows, Big Rivers considers all
short-term highly liquid investments of three months or less to be
cash equivalent.

offsetting the nonoperating margins against accumulated
nonoperating deficits, operating losses or accumulated deficits,
there remains a balance, this balance is allocated to patrons on a
patronage basis and any amount so allocated is included as a part
of capital credited to the accounts of patrons. Neither operating
nor nonoperating losses are allocated to the patrons. Patronage
capital cannot be retired if patronage capital is less than 40
percent of the total assets.
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Pension and Deferred Compensation Plans

All employees after one year of service are covered under trusteed
noncontributory retirement plans. Also, Big Rivers has executed
deferred compensation agreements with certain key employees
which provide for periodic payments upon retirement or to

Reclassification
Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified for comparability
with 1991 presentation.

2. Utility Plant

The foliowing summarizes utility plant:

Classified plant in service:
Production plant
Transmission plant
Station equipment
General plant
Intangible

Unclassified plant in service

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization

Construction in progress

Construction in progress is comprised of several small projects. The
average rates used for the capitalization of interest during

3. Deferred Charges

The following summarizes deferred charges:

Unamortized debt expenses
Cravat coal contract amendment
Insurance claim

Green River Coal prepayment
Other

Big Rivers refinanced a portion of its fong-term debt at lower
interest rates and incurred refinancing expenses. These expenses
are being amortized over the term of the REA promissory note (see
note 4).

On June 1, 1984, an agreement with Cravat Coal Company, which
reduced their delivered price of coal by approximately $11 per ton,
was consummated. Under the terms of the agreement, $12,500
was paid to Cravat, which was amortized based on coal deliveries
over the remaining life of the contract and recovered through the
fuel adjustment clause as approved by the KPSC.

In 1990, Big Rivers filed a claim with its insurer to recover certain
costs of repairs to a substation. Costs incurred, in excess of the

beneficiaries in event of death. AIll pension and deferred
compensation costs accrued are funded annually. Pension expense
includes current service costs and amortization of prior service
costs over twenty-five years.

1991 1990
$1,276,781 1,275,582
79,742 78,979
91,534 87,849
17,627 16,360

190 190

482 3,211
1,466,356 1,462,171
376,617 331,805
1,089,739 1,130,366
11,986 9,204
1,139,570

$1,101,725

construction in 1991, 1990, and 1989 were 7.8, 7.7 and 7.7
percent respectively.

1991 1990

$ 7,910 8,367
— 1,553

— 1,215
6,653 3,500
390 245
$ 14,953 14,880

policy deductible, to repair the substation were deferred until
settiement of the claim. This claim was settled in 1991.

On July 18, 1989, Big Rivers endeavored to enter into an
agreement to buy out a high-cost, long-term coal supply contract.
A contract for substitution of coal was executed on September
24,1991, with Green River Coal. Big Rivers has made total
prepayment of $7,000. Interest on the outstanding balance is
based on the prime rate established by Chemical Bank of New York
plus two percent. Green River Coal is repaying Big Rivers at the
rate of $1 per ton of coal shipped.
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4. Long-term Liabilities

A summary of long-term liabilities follows:

Promissory note - REA 8.36%
Unamortized premium

County of Chio, Kentucky, promissory note, with variable

interest rate of 4.41% as of 12/31/91

County of Ohio, Kentucky, promissory note, with variable

interest rate of 4.41% as of 13/31/91

Obligation under purchased power contract (see note 7}

Bank of New York, Bank Loan 8.0%

Chemical Banking Corporation, Bank Loan 8.0%
Total long-term liabilities

Less current maturities

Debt Restructuring Agreement:

On March 30, 1988, a Debt Restructuring Agreement, dated as of
August 31, 1987, was signed. The Debt Restructuring Agreement
provided for amendments to the debt payments for all REA debt
and County of Ohio, Kentucky, promissory notes. In addition, the
Debt Restructuring Agreement provided for the funding of the 8
percent Bank of New York and Chemical Banking Corporation bank
loans upon Big Rivers meeting certain conditions. These loans
were funded during 1990 and are payable in quarterly instalilments
through 1995 with interest payable quarterly.

Promissory Note - REA:

The Debt Restructuring Agreement provides for a reverse
amortization repayment schedule (payments will be applied to
principal in a reverse manner as provided by a conventional loan
amortization schedule) at an interest rate of 8.36 percent for the
REA Promissory Note, which includes all debts of Big Rivers which
are guaranteed or insured by REA (REA Debt). For financial
statement purposes, interest expense is being computed on a
conventional amortization method rather than the reverse
amortization method per the Debt Restructuring Agreement. The
resulting difference is reflected as unamortized premium and will
be adjusted throughout the term of the REA Promissory Note. The
effective interest rate for 1991, 1990, and 1989 on the the REA
Promissory Note was 7.9, 7.7, and 7.7 percent, respectively. In
return for Big Rivers making all payments on the REA Promissory
Note, the REA will make all payments required on all prior debt on
a timely basis and will not seek to collect from Big Rivers, with
respect to any REA debt, any amounts in excess of the obligation
on the REA Promissory Note. ?

The Debt Restructuring Agreement establishes a minimum level of
debt service payments, while requiring additional debt service
payments depending on the available monthly cash flow, as

Other Long-terin Debt:

On June 30, 1983, the County of Ohio, Kentucky, issued $58,800
of Pollution Control Demand Bonds, Series 1983, the proceeds of
which were loaned to Big Rivers. These bonds will bear a variable
rate of interest, determined weekly by the remarketing agent, with
the approval of Big Rivers, equal to the minimum rate necessary to

1991 1990
$ 755,135 816,448
300,272 246,502
1,055,407 1,062,950
83,300 83,300
58,800 58,800
25,200 27,400
6,771 8,577
9,592 12,150
1,239,070 1,253,177
6,946 10,593

$1,232,124

1,242,584

All revenues and substantially ail assets of Big Rivers are pledged
as collateral under a Restated Mortgage and Security Agreement
dated as of March 30, 1988, which was executed as part of the
Debt Restructuring Agreement.

The impact of the Debt Restructuring Agreement has been
accounted for as a troubled debt restructuring involving a
modification of terms. Accordingly, Big Rivers has accounted for
the effects of the restructuring prospectively and has not changed
the carrying amount of the debt.

defined by the Debt Restructuring Agreement. Big Rivers may
retain for working capital needs a month-end cash balance of
$10,000.

In connection with the settlement agreement described in note 5,

the Debt Restructuring Agreement was amended as of January 1,
1990. The amendment provided that if the variable rates to the
aluminum smelters specified in the Settlement Agreement
{described in note 5) and in effect on April 1, 1990, remains
continuously in effect and unmodified through August 31, 1997,
and if during this period, the REA Debt never exceeds by more
than $18 million what the REA Debt would be if only the
scheduled annual amounts had been paid, then no Event of
Default shall be deemed to have occurred through December 31,
1997. If the REA Debt exceeds $443,000 on January 1, 1998,
then the schedule shall be amended beginning with 2004 and
continuing to each immediately successive year such that the
amount for any year shall not exceed $150,000 and such that the
scheduled annual amounts in and after 1998 if paid in equal
monthly instaliments for each year will yield a figure that equals
the REA Debt as of January 1, 1998.

remarket the bonds in a secondary market at par plus accrued
interest, but not to exceed 110 percent of an index based upon the
weekly sales of 91-day U.S. Treasury Bills. These bonds are
supported by a Bank of New York irrevocable standby letter of
credit which is due to expire July 1, 1992, and is subject to
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renewal. The bonds are subject to mandatory redemption upon
expiration of the supporting letter of credit and any renewal
thereof. In absence of notification by Bank of New York to renew
the letter of credit, Big Rivers will draw down sufficient funds
under the letter of credit to redeem the bonds. Draws against the
letter of credit would bear interest at prime plus two percent and
become Bank Amounts as defined and covered by the Debt
Restructuring Agreement. The Bank Amounts would be repayabie
under the same terms and conditions as the redeemed bonds.
While these bonds are not dated to mature until June 1, 2013,
pursuant to the Restructuring Agreement, Big Rivers is obligated to
fully fund these bonds or Bank Amounts by January 31, 2010.

In November of 1982, the County of Ohio, Kentucky, issued
$82,500 of Pollution Control Interim Bonds, Series 1982, the
proceeds of which were loaned to Big Rivers. On October 31,
1985, the County of Ohio, Kentucky, issued Pollution Control
Refunding Demand Bonds, Series 1985, the proceeds of which
were used to refinance the 1982 Interim Bonds. The Refunding
Bonds bear interest at a variable rate, which is the lesser of {a) 13
percent per annum or (b) a rate determined weekly by the

Debt Maturities

At December 31, 1991, Big Rivers had, since September 1987, paid
total debt service on the REA Promissory Note in the amount of
$578,680 as opposed to the scheduled minimum debt service level
of $431,554. This $147,126 excess principal payment can be used
to offset future payments under the schedule.

Based on the overpayments to date and the amount required to be
paid through December 31, 1997, Big Rivers has calculated the
required annual amounts of payments on a straight-line basis to
avoid an event of default through December 31, 1997. Under this
calculation, the maturities of long-term debt for each of the five
years subsequent to December 31, 1991, are estimated to be as
follows:

5. Rate Matters

Big Rivers’ rates includes a ratchet billing for demand {where
current billing units are determined based on the highest metered
demand in the past twelve months) and a variable rate to major
customers of Big Rivers’ members, National-Southwire Aluminum
Company, and Alcan Aluminum Corporation (the aluminum
smelters) (see note 9). The variable rate will be effective through
August 1997. The rates were designed to recover Big Rivers’ cost
of providing service. The rates have been determined based on
cost of service less specified levels of intersystem sales to
nonmembers of approximately 200 megawatts. The variable rate
for the aluminum smeilters will fluctuate based on the price of
aluminum within a defined minimum ({18.1 mills per k\Wh) and
maximum (44 mills per k\Wh).

Effective January 1, 1989, Big Rivers was granted a rate increase
by the KPSC of $1.30 per kW, which increased the demand rate to
$8.80 per kW. The aluminum smelters filed appeals in the Franklin
Circuit Court regarding the KPSC's decision.

On February 27, 1990, Big Rivers, the aluminum smelters, and Big
Rivers’ creditors reached an agreement which eliminated the 1990
review of the variable aluminum tariff, resolved the aluminum
smelter complaint before the KPSC, and dismissed all pending KPSC
appeals. The KPSC approved the Settlement Agreement on

Remarketing Agent, with the approval of Big Rivers, equal to the
minimum rate necessary to remarket the bonds in a secondary
market at par plus accrued interest, but not less than 40 percent or
greater than 110 percent of an index based upon the weekly sales
of 91-day U.S. Treasury Bills. These bonds are supported by a
Chemical Securities, Inc. {formerly Manufacturers Hanover Trust
Companyj irrevocable standby letter of credit, which is due to
expire October 15, 1997, and is subject to renewal. The bonds are
subject to mandatory purchase upon expiration of the supporting
letter of credit and any renewal thereof. In absence of notification
by Chemical Securities, Inc. to renew the letter of credit, Big Rivers
will draw down sufficient funds under the letter of credit to
purchase the bonds. Draws against the letter of credit would bear
interest at prime plus two percent and become Bank Amounts as
defined and covered by the Debt Restructuring Agreement. The
Bank Amounts would be repayable under the same terms and
conditions as the redeemed bonds. While these bonds are not
dated to mature until October 1, 2015, pursuant to the Debt
Restructuring Agreement, Big Rivers is obligated to fully fund these
bonds or Bank Amounts by January 31, 2010.

REA
Promissory Unamortized Other
Year Note Premium Debt Total
1992 $63,003 (63,003} 6,946 6,946
1993 58,142 (57,816) 7,086 7,412
1994 53,656 (45,176} 6,137 14,617
1995 49,517 {40,326} 7,373 16,564
1996 45,697 (35,737) 3,174 13,134

March 23, 1990, to be effective retroactively to January 1, 1990.
The Settlement Agreement preserves the variable aluminum smeiter
rate as the method of calculating the cash payments to be made by
the smelters to Big Rivers. The Settlement Agreement, however,
fixes the revenue to be recognized by Big Rivers at 29.1285 mills
per kWh through August 1997. Accordingly, any payments in
excess or under the 29.1285 mills per kWh brought about by the
variable aluminum smelter rate will be recorded as either deferred
revenue or a receivable by Big Rivers. During 1990 and 1991, the
variable aluminum smelter rate resulted in Big Rivers receiving
payments in excess of recognizable revenue based on the 29.1285
mills per kWh. These amounts are recorded as deferred revenue.
This settlement was brought about in part by the high aluminum
prices in 1289 and 1988, which caused the smelters to pay at or
near the maximum rate of 44 mills per kWh.

Cash Revenue

Collections Recognized
1991 $170,441 158,083
1990 188,337 158,138
1989 249,489 249,489
1988 243,422 243,422
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\While Big Rivers expects to maintain positive cash flow, the agreed
upon rate of 29.1285 mills per kWh will cause Big Rivers to sustain
negative net margins in the next few years if additional intersystem
sales to nonmembers are not achieved. In addition, the settlement
modified certain default provisions under the Debt Restructuring
Agreement to afford greater flexibility to Big Rivers from defauit in
its debt payments.

Effective January 1, 1991, Big Rivers was granted a rate increase
by the KPSC of $1.35 per kW, which increased the demand rate to
$10.15 per k\W.

Intersystem power sales to nonmembers is a component of full cost
recovery under Big Rivers’ rate design. During 1989, a three-year

G. Income Taxes

Big Rivers was initially formed as a tax-exempt cooperative
organization under Section 501 (c) {12} of the Internal Revenue
Code. To retain tax-exempt status under this code provision, at
least 85 percent of the organization’s income must be generated
from sales to the cooperative’'s members. In 1983, sales to
nonmembers resulted in Big Rivers being unable to meet the 85
percent requirement. In a letter dated March 23, 1984, the Internal
Revenue Service notified Big Rivers that effective for 1983 and

200 MW firm power purchase agreement, effective August 1989,
was reached with Oglethorpe Power Corporation (Oglethorpe
Power). Oglethorpe Power is a joint owner of the Georgia
Integrated Transmission System, which interconnects with the
transmission system of the Tennessee Valley Authority (TVA]. On
December 17, 1990, a second long-term contract was signed with
Oglethorpe Power for the sale of 103 MW of firm power for ten
years, beginning in August 1992. The effectiveness of this
agreement is contingent upon Oglethorpe’s concurrence with the
terms of a TVA transmission service agreement, and approval from
REA and the KPSC.

subsequent years, it would be considered a taxable organization
until such year that sales to members would satisfy the 85 percent
requirement and Big Rivers formally reapplies for tax-exempt status.

Big Rivers has generated losses for both accounting and income tax
purposes. Thus, there is no provision for current or deferred
income tax expense. The following analysis summarizes the net
operating loss carryforwards:

Net operating loss

carryforward

Year Federal
of Accounting Income tax
origination purposes purposes
1983 $ 10,750 2.460
1984 92,340 87,500
1985 9,640 160,180
1986 123,650 154,790
1987 88,680 94,600
1988 14,490 14,440
1989 20,000 54,760
1990 44,400 79,470
1991 42,930 70,000

These carryforwards may be utilized to offset taxable income for
the periods of fifteen years from the year of origination. The
difference between accounting and tax losses is primarily due to
accelerated depreciation methods being utilized for income tax
purposes.

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards [SFAS) No. 96,
Accounting for Income Taxes, is to be implemented for fiscal years

7. Purchased Power

Big Rivers, under contracts with the City of Henderson, Kentucky,
(City} operates the city-owned, 315-megawatt generating station
(Station Two) and agrees to purchase an allocated portion of the
output. Big Rivers’ portion of Station Two capacity is currently 83
percent which is expected to decrease to 82 percent by 1994. The
contracts expire in 2003.

Under the terms of the contracts with the City, Big Rivers has
agreed to pay a proportionate share of the monthly fixed costs of
Station Two (excluding depreciation) based on its allocated portion
of the capacity of Station Two. The monthly fixed costs include
debt service payments necessary to retire the principal and to pay

beginning after December 15, 1992. This requires a change from
the deferred method to the asset and liability method of
accounting for income taxes. The initial adoption of SFAS No. 96
may be on a prospective or retroactive basis. The impact of
adopting this statement has not been determined.

interest on the City’s bonds issued to finance the construction of
Station Two. Big Rivers has recorded as a liability the portion of
the principal payments it is obliged to pay as fixed costs under the
contract based on estimates of its allocated portion of Station Two
capacity, and has recorded as an asset a like amount for the right
to purchase its allocated portion of the output. The fixed costs are
payable to the City whether or not Station Two is operational or
the operation thereof is interrupted, suspended, or interfered with
in whole or in part for any cause. The cost of power purchased
under the contract for 1991, 1990, and 1989 was $30,998,
$33,043, and $29,600, respectively. Such costs are accounted for
as power purchased.
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8. Pension and Deferred Compensation Plans

Big Rivers has defined benefit pension plans covering substantially the requirements of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act
all employees who meet minimum age and service requirements. of 1974. Big Rivers has adopted the provisions of Statement of
The plans provide benefits based on the participants’ years of Financial Accounting Standard (SFAS) No. 87, Employers’
service and compensation or stated amounts for each year of Accounting for Pensions.

service. Big Rivers’ policy is to fund such plans in accordance with

The following table sets forth the funded status of the pension plans and amount recognized on the balance sheet at December 31,

Actuarial present value of benefit obligation: 1991 1990 1989

Accumulated benefit obligation, including vested benefits of

$10,748, $8.481, and $7,075 $10,773 8,513 7,113

Projected benefit obligation for services rendered to-date $14,459 11,614 92,546
Plan assets at fair value, primarily listed stocks and U.S. Treasury Bonds 15,657 12,422 11,157
Pian assets in excess of projected benefit obligation 1,198 808 1,611
Unrecognized net transition assets (2,202) (2,422) (2,642)
Unrecognized prior service cost 1,343 959 1,056
Unrecognized net loss (gain) (1,916) {517) {1,155)
Unfunded accrued pension cost $(1.577) (1,172) (1,130)

Net pension costs included the following (income) / expense

components:

Service cost-benefits earned during the year $1.219 1,047 9246
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 1,046 835 421

Actual return on pian assets (2,787) (1,265) {1,059)
Amortization of transition assets {220) (220) (220)
Amortization of prior service cost 143 96 26

Amortization of deferral of net loss (gain) 1,722 321 480

Net periodic pension costs $1,123 814 664

1991 1990 _1989
Assumptions used to develop the projected benefit obligation were:
Discount rates 8.5% 8.5% 8.5%
Rates of increase in compensation levels 4.0 4.0 4.0
Expected long-term rate of return on assets 8.5 8.5 8.5

Total expense related to the pension and deferred compensation plans
was $1,420, $993, and $919 in 1991, 1990, and 1989, respectively.
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9. Related Parties and Major Customers
A related party relationship exists between Big Rivers and its
member distribution coooperatives. Operating revenues from
member and nonmembers were as follows:

Members:

Green River Electric Corporation

Henderson-Union Rural Electric
Cooperative Corporation

Jackson Purchase Electric
Cooperative Corporation

Meade County Rural Electric
Cooperative Corporation

Nonmembers
Other Revenue

National-Southwire Aluminum Company and Alcan Aluminum
Corporation (the aluminum smelters) purchase substantial
amounts of electric energy under contracts with members
expiring in 2010. Sales to members for these two customers

1991 1990 1989
$135,805 131,411 173,839
106,368 104,908 146,449
22,390 20,488 20,166
11,932 10,778 10,755
54,751 64,083 38,668
89 68 100
$331,335 331,736 389,977

(Green River Electric Corporation for National-Southwire
Aluminum Company and Henderson-Union Rural Electric
Cooperative Corporation for Alcan Aluminum Corporation) were
as follows:

Year Green River Henderson-Union Combined
1991 $ 88,892 83,117 172,009
1990 88,624 83,980 172,604
1989 133,124 126,214 259,338

Nonmember sales to Oglethorpe accounted for 10.9 and 11.2
percent of operating revenues in 1991 and 1990, respectively.

Big Rivers agrees to indemnify its member cooperatives by
performing their power supply agreements with certain industrial
customers and accepting only such payment therefore as each
member receives from its customers.

10. Commitments and Contingencies

As of December 31, 1991, a suit filed by a former coal supplier in
the amount of $15.7 million was pending, as were a number of
other legal action and claims involving Big Rivers either as
defendant or plaintiff. Management believes that the outcome
of these legal actions and claims will not have a material effect
on Big Rivers’ financial position or results of operations.

Receivables from members at December 31, 1991, 1990, and
1989 were $20,602, $23,839, and $29,081, respectively

Big Rivers has entered into several long-term coal contracts
expiring through 2006. Fuel purchased under these contracts in
1991, 1990, and 1989 was $127,247, $126,626, and $115,582
respectively.

21
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1991 1990 1989 1988

Operating Revenues $ 331,334,709 331,736,393 389,976,759 399,277,507
Expenses:

Operation and Maintenance 193,288,174 191,389,914 170,941,916 187,344,006

Purchased Power and

Interchanged, Net 39,248,839 40,263,144 35,434,879 39,158,896

Depreciation and Amortization 44,809,522 44,564,475 44,333,598 49,310,860

Taxes 4,365,522 4,201,594 4,011,142 3,906,621

Interest 95,071,442 97,222,523 101,748,177 103,607,079

Other (1,008,592} 682,563 752,017 612,200

Total 375,774,907 378,324,213 357,221,729 383,939,662
Operating Margins (Loss} (44,440,198) (46,587,820 32,755,030 15,337,845
Nonoperating Margins [Loss) 1,505,489 2,113,282 2,378,289 3.471,174
Net Margins (Loss) $ 142,934,709) {44,474,538) 35,133,319

Utility Plant at Cost
Construction Work in Progress

Total Electric Plant
Less Accumulated Depreciation

Utility Plant Net

Total Assets

System Peak Demand - MW

Net Generating Capacity Owned - MWW/
Net HMP&L Capacity Purchased - MW/
Other Purchased Capacity - MW

Sales to Members - M\Wh
Sales to Non-Members - MWWh

Generated - M\Wh

Purchased HMP&L Energy - MWh
Other Purchased Energy - M\Wh
System Load Factor - %
Permanent Employees at Year-End
Average Cost of Coal Used

Price Per Ton
¢/MM BTU
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$1,466,355,537
11,986,253

1,478,341,790
376,616,976

$1,225,216,359

1,168
1,459
263
178

8,314.32
2,055.13

8,664.31
1,480.77
415.91
83.1
875

28.34
128.5¢

1,462,170,906
9.204,400

1,471,375,306
331,805,315

1,454,882,990
4,162,708

18,809,019

1,451,937,802
1,226,596

1,459,045,698
288,884,804

1,453,164,398
245,556,080

1,139,569,991

1,170,160,894

1,207,608,318

1,267,340,928

1,322,367,888

1.386,197,045

1,174
1,459
264
178

8,191.46
2,592.86

9,010.66
1,668.90
337.14
81.9
868

28.73
129.2¢

1,177
1,459
264
178

8,072.76
1,500.96

8,047.11
1,388.66
314.14
80.0

857

27.82
126.5¢

1,157
1,459
264
178

7,814.61
3,188.51

9,270.21
1,716.20
262.04
77.6
855

28.05
125.7¢



Ten—Year

Suurrirmary
1987 1986 1985 1984 1983 1982
300,084,362 227,664,219 236,023,720 258,019,579 258,276,967 232,716,033
169,931,331 130,991,511 133,779,910 143,358,327 136,539,322 124,675,180
39,146,440 38,214,277 39,792,228 47,494,014 55,494,464 46,342,616
53,555,259 18,798,750 17,788,717 18,533,362 17,782,446 17,548,448
3,817,850 2,515,787 2,353,021 2,269,307 2,202,576 1,970,317
124,351,304 51,520,808 39,645,856 39,747,343 38,198,269 40,467,426
597,187 233,931 185,636 128,581 91,698 70,087
391,399,371 242,275,064 233,545,368 251,530,934 250,308,775 231,074,074
(291,315,009) (14,610,845) 2,478,352 6,488,645 7,968,192 1,641,959
2,684,163 {26,614,194) 1,040,972 [1,7492,130) 249,868 1,888,934
{88,630,846) (41,225,039) 3,519,324 4,739,515 8,918,060 3,530,893
1,448,581,890 1,452,144,0092 539,998,444 533,597,067 531,772,691 495,105,598
1,448,505 2,080,925 833,505,325 745,589,266 653,519,304 451,265,803
1,450,030,395 1,454,224,934 1,373,503,769 1,279,186,333 1,185,291,995 946,371,401
196,710,029 143,479,823 124,841,130 106,923,761 91,374,775 74.720.9921
1,253,320,366 1,310,745,111 1,248,662,639 1,172,262,572 1,023,917,220 871,650,410
1,421,349,400 1,438,564,861 1,409,490,616 1,332,830,420 1,225,799,340 1,029,256,522
990 993 1,042 1,027 952 9247
1,459 1,448 1,039 1,039 1,039 1,032
270 271 271 268 270 253
178 178 178 190 140 140
6,271.32 6,211.79 6,908.67 7,390.75 6,719.42 6,420.88
3,993.08 3,303.68 3,290.11 2,075.96 2,098.82 1,106.37
8,321.80 6,609.70 6,447.45 6,876.37 6,474.14 5,848.11
1,932.61 1,631.87 1,779.65 1,882.22 1,724.84 1,127.18
284.69 336.38 291.98 666.72 790.65 681.21
75.5 74.1 78.1 84.1 78.4 74.8
856 863 827 835 794 680
27.48 27.83 30.25 29.91 30.38 30.68
124.3¢ 127.6¢ 137.7¢ 135.6¢ 138.4¢ 143.3¢
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FINANCIAL SYNOPSIS

(Dollars in thousands)

1990 1989 Increase %]Increase
(Decrease) (Decrease)
Operating Revenues 331,736 389,977 (58,241) (14.9)
Operating Expenses 280,419 254,722 25,697 10.1
Net Margins (44.475) 35,133 (79,608) -
Accumulated Margins & Equity (73,882) (29,407) (44,475 (151.2)
Capital Expenditures 14,365 7,592 6,773 89.2
Cost of Fuel Used 118.096 104,830 13,266 12.7
System Peak Demand (Megawatts) 1,174 1.177 3 (.3
Energy Sold to Members
(Megawatt-hours) 8,191.465 8,072,761 118,704 1.5
Revenue per kWh Sold (Mills) 3075 40.72 (9.97) (24.5)
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Big Rivers Electric Corpora-
tion, located in Henderson,Ken-
tucky, 1s a generation and
transmission cooperative owned
by the members it serves. It
provides reliable wholesale elec-
tric service on a not-for-profit
basis to its four member distri-
bution cooperatives. These
cooperatives, owned by their
81,711 consumer-members, dis-
tribute electricity al retail within
22 counties of western Ken-
tucky on a not-for-profit basis.



PRESIDENT'S AND GENERAL MANAGER'S REPORT

The decade of the nineties
began with the corporation
heavily involved in activities
that will determine its direc-
tion into the next century.

The management audit,
mandated by the Kentucky
Public Service Commission
(PSC). was started in 1989 and
completed in June this year
Sixty-seven recommendations
were made However, in some
cases the recommendations
reflect Big Rivers' efforts that
were currently under way or
were initiated during the
course of the audit Others
will require further study
regarding cost effectiveness

[n the overall assessment,
the auditors emphasized that
Big Rivers has a strong opera-
tional focus, and that -- "the Production Department epitornizes
the corporation's penchant [or operational efficiency " They
pointed out that the production operating efficiency plays a part
in allowing us to participate in the short-term off-system energy
and long-term bulk power markets.

They further pointed oul that work rules are progressive
and labor relations are sound, engineering and transmission
operations are solid, coal costs compare [avorably with similar
utilities, appropriate accounting controls and comprehensive
budgeting processes are in place, and excellent benefits and
traiing programs are in place  Additionally, they said that
"management processes at Big Rivers, including recent strategic
planning minatives and an mnformed and mnvolved board ol
directors, support Big Rivers' operational strengths "

Consultants have been hired to assist us in developing an
integrated resource plan, mncluding an evaluation of options to
comply with the 1990 Clean Air Act amendments. This study
should be completed in the first half of 1991

On June 29, a request was filed with the PSC for the third
step of the three-step increase approved by our creditors in the
financial workout plan. A hearing on the request was held on
October 25 Residential customers' bills will increase an aver-
age of $2.81 for 1,000 kilowatt hours (kWh)

Our request was approved on Decermnber 21, granting the
full $6.935,978 requested New rates of $10 15 per kilowatt
(kW) per month (previously $8.80) demand charge, and an
energy charge of $0.0181506 per kWh were eflective January 1,
1991 The comruission also approved the proposed time-of-day
rate of 125 percent of the energy charge during ofl-peak hours,
and a modification of billing demand for rural delwery points.

The Indiana Utility Regulatory Commission turned down a
21-year contract for sale of 200 megawatts (MW) to Indianapo-
lis Power and Light, so we were back in the off-system sales
market again.

On December 17, a con-
tract was signed with Oglethor-
pe Power Corporation of
Tucker, Georgia. [or the sale of
100 MW ol power for ten
years, beginning in August
1992 Oglethorpe 1s a genera-
tion and transmission (G&T)
cooperative serving more than
900,000 consumers through
39 member distribution coop-
eratives in Georgia This con-
tract, subject to PSC and REA
approval, begins at the comple-
tion of the present three-year
contract in July '92

Scott Paper Company
announced on November 19
the location of their proposed
tissue mill, to be built in the
Green River Electric Corpora-
tion service area near Newman,
Kentucky. This new industry will use approximately 60 MW of
electricity  This state-of-the-art mill will use approximately 70
percent recycled paper in the tissue process

Congress passed amendments to the Clean Air Act late in
the year The acid rain and toxic pollutants titles of the bill, as
well as permitting, will have a substantial financial impact on
Big Rwvers' consumers by January 1, 2000 Meeting the 1995
requirements can probably be done with lower sulfur coal from
this area. As we said earlier, we are studying our options

Details of these major events can be found elsewhere in this
report

Delbert Powers was seated on the Board of Directors in
June, representing Jackson Purchase Electric Cooperative Cor-
poration (JPECC) Mr Powers has been a member of the
JPECC board since 1986, and is presently its vice president. He
replaces Edwin Reid who served on the JPECC board for 15
years, and was a member of Big Rivers' board for 13 years.

Allin all, we feel that 1990 was a good year Certainly the
decade of the '90s will present new challenges, but we feel that
our dedicated directors. management, and employees are
equipped Lo meet them.

We express our heartfelt appreciation to all of them.

T oA

Morton Henshaw
President, Board of Directors

L %fu

William H Thorpe
General Manager



Aluminum Smelters

Agreement reached with
the alumimum smclters on
February 27, 1990, brought w a

conclusion years of hitigation
involving Big R
plan.  dcbt

agreement,

ners' workout
restructuring
variable aluminum
smelter tarill, and the [irst- and
second-step rate increases. To
resolve thesc
taril(
prospectively for the period
January 1, 1990, thr \ugust
31, 1997 via a halancing account

disputes, the

variable was modilied

mechanism Lo produce an average
power rate of 29,1285 mills per
kWh at a 99

for Alcan Aluminum Corporation

pereent load factor

(Alcan) and NSA Incorporated

(NSA).

Under the variable taridf. as
published alummum market
prices [luctuate between 446 and

791 cents a pound, the smelters
will pay 18 1 to 4.0 mills per
kWh  Any payments made i
excess of or less than 29,1285
mills are added 1o or deducted
from the
balance is also amortized monthly
through the Tife of
rate, resulting in an average rate of
29.1285 mills per kWh during
the period ending August 31,
1997. During
smelters paid $201.1 mullion for
and $28.5 mil-
lion was credited to the halancing
account as prepayvments

balancing account. This
the variable
this vear, the

their power usage,

Sales

Revenues [rom the sale of
electric energy were $331.7 mil-
lion, down 538.2 million, primar-

ily due to the reduced contract
demands with the aluminum
smelters and the accounting ol the
revenues received under the new
agreements.  Alcan's contract was
reduced rom 365 10 315 MW on
April 1. 1990 NSA's
demand was 317 MW throughout
342 MW
resulted from

contract
the year. down lrom
Alcan
their decision to not

2

's reduction
add a lourth

potline as planned in 1982, and
NSA's reduction was based on
their decision to purchase
317 MW
interruptible basis  Alcan and
NsA's monthly combined non-
cotneident peak during 1990 was
695.6 MW

chased interruptible capacity and

amounts above on an

Both smelters pur-

ciiergy throughout most ol the
Energy purchased by the
smelters during the 12-month
period totaled 5.916,777.850
KWh, up 54.762.878 [rom 1989

Weather conditions
allccted power sales. Heating and
cooling degree days for the yea
were 5,236 compared to 6,227
last year

year.

also

A new summer system peak
demand of 1,174 MW was set on
August 20, While falling short of
the all-ume system one-hour peak
demand of 1177 sel
ol 1989, 1t nevertheless exceeded
the old summer peak of 1,157 set
n 1988 by 17 MW The system
onc-hour monthly high demands
[.000 MW or above [or the
cntire year

in December

were
The annual system
load lactor was 81.91 percent
Off-system encrgy sales for
the year were approxtmately 66
tenced
m10> delivered 1o

percent over sales e
1989

all ol Big Rivers

experie
during
consumers [or
the year increased by 1.45 per-
Total off
amounted o $64.1

cenl svslemm revenues
million for the
year, up from $38.7 million dur-
ing 1989.

The 206-MW sale made to
Oglethorpe in late 1989 account-

for a large portion of the of(-
however, sales Lo

partics showed a moderate

syslem revenue;
other
mnerease,

We reported 1 1989 that a
200 MW sale
had heen executed with Tndi-
anapolis Power and Light Co
(IP&LY, had all of the
required approvals except that of
the Indiana Utility Regulatory
Comnussion  Late in April. 1P&L
receved word that the Indiana
Commussion had rejected the con-
tract, and [P&L nouled Big Rivers

begimning in 1991

which

that they were terminating the

contract eflcctive August 2, 1990
Big Rivers'

other utihties involving long-term

negotiations with

power sales had pretty well been
dormant after signing of the con-
tract with [P&L. When the 1P&L
deal collapsed, negotiations with
others were stepped up and have
resulted 1in a 100-MW, ten-year
sale Lo Oglethorpe  This sale will
dovetail with the end ol the three-
year, 200-MW sale

The 100-MW sale was
approved by both parties 1n
December 1990, subject to appro-
priate wheeling arrangements and
approvals by the Rural Electnifica-
pon Administration (REA) and the
PSC  Big Rivers also has other
outstanding offers and all are for
Len years or less.

Margins

As expected in the develop-
ment of the workout plan, mar-
gins for the year negative
the loss mcurred was $44 5 mil-
lion At year-cnd our total deficit
equity was $73 9 million 1t 1s
anticipated that Big Rivers will
continue 1o ncur negative mar-

were

gins [or the next four years. with
the potennal that deflicit equuty

INTEREST RATES
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will reach $250.0 mullion before  (defined in Note 4 to the finan- SYSTEM GENERATION AND HEAT RATE
it begins to turn around cial statements) which provides L T000
for minimum debt service pay- 14.000 5=
ments. The agreement also pro- 45 gg0
vides for the payment of cash ’
Rate Matters excess of a $10 million balance at ~ 10.000 {75 —
On December 21, the PSC  the end of the month alter paying g Oooff-."-‘: "‘Q‘*
approved the third-step rate operating costs and capital ’ T-_}r . B
increase as provided in our expenditures The minimum 6,000 \ x i

workout plan This will produce

debt service for 1990 was $111.0

additional annual revenues of million and Big Rivers paid 4.0004 B
$6 9 million, increasing the  $140 4 miilion Through 1990, 540 | =
wholesale cost of power for the  $180.1 million has been paid in B 5
rural consumers by © 4 percent, excess of the minimum debt ser- 0 - - I -
vice schedule 1986 1987 1988 1989 1990

an average of $2.81 per 1.000
kWh
The order also approved

The minimum for
1991 is $116.0 million.

SYSTEM LOAD FACTOR - PERCENT

changing the billing demand 100
from a ratcheted non-concident 901
demand per rural delivery point  Generation 80
to a ratcheted coincident demand The system's generauing
for each distribution cooperative units are all coal-fired except for 709
Also approved was a Time- a 65 MW combusnon turbine 60
of-Day Rate (TDR) available for  which is primarily used for peak- 50
new or expanded industrial ofl-  ing purposes. Generation for the 40-
peak power usage The rate will  year was 9.010,660,900 kWh, up
apply dunng the eight-hour peri- 963,546,900 from 1989 30
od beginning at 10:01 p.m and The system-wide heat rate 20+
ending at 6 a.m Energy associat-  was reduced to 10,281 British 10
ed with capacity used during this  thermal unuts (Btu) per kWh gen- 0 A s a4 A VI VIVIVIP
time, n excess of the normal  erated This 1s the sixth consecu- 80 81 82 83 84 85 85 87 88 89 90
billing demand, will be billed at a  tive year for improvements in
rate equal Lo 125 percent of the unit elfliciency. with a total PEAK DEMAND (MEGAWATTS)
normal energy charge reduction of 333 Bru per kWh 1559 _
generated [rom 1985 to 1990 1100
Based on 1985 fuel cosis. we 4400 |
have saved consumers more than 900
$4 5 million annually The 800
Debt Service - REA installation of real-time perfor- 200
[n 1988, Big Rivers entered  mance monitoring equipment 600 -
into a debt restructunng agree-  was completed on both umts at 500
ment eflfecuve August 31, 1987, the Green Plant, which is expect- 400
. CAS.H ELD¥X 1500 B Debt Service ggCO),
(in millions of dollars)
o, me
. Operations & 0 T T T T T T T T T T f
& Maintenance 80 81 82 83 84 85 86 87 88 89 90
W Capial ed to [urther umprove the heat
O Other rate on these units  Similar
equipment was delivered in
A December for installation at the
582.6 Coleman Plant during 1991
20.0% , :
Pl Adjustment of ouwtage sched-
$160.4 ules was completed during the
38.9% year All units are now on annu-
3.5% al maintenance-outage schedules
$15.0 instead of semi-annual, and tur-
Total $412.7 3.6% bine overhauls are perlormed




every six years mstead ol every
five years

Production maintenance
expense ol $24 7 million was up
$2.6 mullion [rom 1989

Fuels

Our plants burned 4 9 mil-
lion tons of coal in generating
electricity, an average of 13,398
tons per day This compares
with 4 + milhon tens, 12,103
tons per day. burned n 1989
Fuel costs lor the year were
$118 1 million, an increase of
$13.3 million  Fuel cost ol $23.2
million associated with Hender-
son Station Two plants was
included in the cost of purchased
power

The average cost was $28.73
per ton. 129.2 cents per millon
Btu  This compares with $27 82
per ton, 126.5 cents per milhon

Bru last year This ncrease was

due largely to substantal escala-
von of coal contract prices in the
last quarter of the year, because
ol the increase in diesel [uel
prices resulting from the Mideast
crisis. Diesel fuel is a major com-
ponent ol the cost of surface
minmg. Somewhat offsetung this
increase was the purchase of low-
cost coal on the spot market
made possible by the increase in
off-system sales durmg the sec-
ond hall of the year

Big Rivers was unable 1o
complete the buyout of a rela-
uvely high-cost long-term con-
tract, as reported 1 last year's
annual report. becausc financing
could not be arranged

About three-fourths of Big
Rivers' coal requirements are
supplied from mines in the ser-
vice areas of the corporation's
member cooperatives.

The Green and Wilson
plants are equipped with flue-gas
desulfurization scrubbers, and

COST OF COAL BURNED*
(in millions of dollars)
*Includes Cost of HMP&L Station Two
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these plants burn western Ken-
tucky high-sullur coal

The Coleman. Reid, and
Henderson Station Two plants,
which are not equipped with
scrubbers. burn lower-sullur coal
from western Kentucky and
southern Indiana  These plants
will be affected 1n 1995 by the
recently enacted acid deposition
control amendments to the Clean
Air Act  Big Rivers has engaged
the services ol consultants to
assist in determining a plan of
compliance

Construction

The company has adequate
generating capacity and presently
has no plans for any additional
units  No major construction
was 1o progress at year-end
Total capital expenditures [or the
year were $14 5 mllion, up $6.9
million from 1989

Construcuion was completed
on a 161 kilovolt (kV) intercon-
nection with the Tennessee Val-
ley Authority (TVA). as were
additional 69 kV transmission
lines to four new power delivery
pomts for our member systems,
all to improve system operations
and rehability ol service

The Energy Management
System continues Lo be on sched-
ule for delivery in December
1991
which 15 a simgle compulter
designed for program develop-
ment, was delivered in July This
device will play a major role in
developing the data base that wll
be olf-loaded into the permanent
system

The ininal installavion,

Due to Big Rivers' location in
high-risk arcas [or earthquakes
on the New Madnd Fault, pre-
cautions are bemng taken Emer-
gency bhatlery systems have been
strapped down and station trans-
[ormers have been bolied to
[oundation pads at all three plant
sites  Seismic battery racks have
been mstalled at substations and
microwave sltes o ensure proper
operauon of vital system protec-



tion equipment and communica-
tion systems in the event of a
severe earthquake

Planning

The long-range corporate
strategic plan was updated and
approved by Big Rivers' Board of
Directors in July The plan pro-
vides a formal way for the corpo-
ration to 1dentify the critical
issues it faces. 10 study those
issues, and determine possible
courses of action.

A disaster "React Plan" has
been established for our Commu-
nications and Transmission
Departments This plan pre-
scribes the actions to be taken
under various disaster scenarios
that will ensure fast communica-
tion and service restoration

The 1990 Power Require-
ments Study was completed with
a forecast of Big Rivers' energy
and peak demand requirernents
for 1990 through 2010 1t shows
an expecled average annual
growth rate of 1.33 percent for
peak demand and 1.02 percent
for total energy for Big Rivers'
native load

For several years, the PSC
has been developing a regulation
to implement a statewide inte-
grated resource planning process
for electric utilities. Late in the
year, 1n. Administrative Case No
308, the commission 1ssued a
proposed regulation which we
expect to be adopted with no
more than minor changes. The
process will require electric utili-
ties to develop a 15-year plan for
supplving their customers at the
lowest cost consistent with meet-
ing acceptable standards for
quality and reliability of service
Big Rivers' plan will be due in
September 1991, and updated
every two years thereafter Work
is already under way on our plan,
and we expect Lo file by the
required deadline

Environmental

The big concern this year
was the amendments to the
Clean Air Act  Acid rain provi-
sions have drawn most of the
attention, but the permitting
requirements, as well as enforce-
ment and air toxics, are 1Mpor-
tant

Big Rivers has generating
units which are affected under
both Phase [ and Phase 11 of the
acid rain title  Due to the com-
plexity of the new law, as well as
the short time frames for deter-
mining the compliance plan, Big
Rivers has hired consultants to
produce, within the [ramework
of an ntegrated resource plan, a
study of the available options for
complying with both phases of
the act  The study, including
recommendations, should be
completed by mid-1991

New water discharge permits
were issued [or the Wilson and
Coleman plants during the year
The permits contain increased
requirements for addinonal pol-
lutant parameters, increased
monitoring and more frequent
(monthly) reporting. Preparauon
for a permit for the
Reid/Green plants was begun this
year and will continue through
1991  The increase in the
requirements will affect person-
nel workload and scheduling of
projects.

As a result of discussions

new

with our member cooperatives,
and the recommendations ol the
management audit, we initiated
additional environmental services
for them. These include support,
advice, and assistance in comply-
ing with state and federal regula-
tions and statutes including
Resource Conservation and
Recovery Act (RCRA), Toxic Sub-
stances Control Act (TSCA),
Superfund or Comprehensive
Environmental Response Com-
pensation and Liability Act (CER-
CLA), Superfund Amendments
and Reauthomzation Act (SARA),
training in responding to oil and
chemical spills, and planning for

future regulation such as storm
water runoff

The Central Laboratory con-
tinues to carry a heavy load of
PCB analyses for the member
systems, and is expecting increas-
es in the number and types of
analyses to be performed for the
members.

Public Affairs

This year emphasis was
placed on developing and imple-
menting a residental marketing
program, supporting the market-
ing efforts of our four member
distribution cooperatives The
program is based on the results
of a consultant's survey of con-
sumers, builders, and heating
and cooling contractors A mar-
keting representative was hired
in August to support and coordi-
nate the activities of the member
cooperatives.

Public Relations efforts were
mntensified with increased one-
on-one contacts with public offi-
clals and industrial consumers.

Economic
Development

It was a banner year in eco-
nomic development for the Big
Rivers' system and our distribu-
tion cooperatives  New indus-
tries either starting up or making
new location announcements will
bring an mmvestment exceeding
$560 million in facilities and cre-
ate a demand [or over 900
employees.

Scott Paper Company high-
lighted the year's activity with the
announcement to locate their
$500 million tissue mill at New-
man, Kentucky, in Daviess Coun-
Ly

In addition 1o the new
industry acuivity, our existing
industries spent or committed
over $70 milhion to renovate,
update, and expand their existing
facilities to better serve their
worldwide markets



Safety

The safety staff was expand-
ed with the addion of a corpo-
rate safety trainer  The trammer's
primary responsibilities include
planning. coorcinating. teaching,
and evaluuiny safery training
progranis [or all levels of employ-
ees. As of the end of 1990, over
300 employees had undergone
training in CPR and [irst aid
Hazardous Material Communica-
tion and Confined Space train-
ng. as developed in accordance
with Kentucky Occupational
Safety and Health (KOSH) Regu-
lations, will continue 1t s
designed 1o inform employees ol
potential hazards relating to
chemticals 1in the workplace and
of the dangers associated with
working in confined spaces. Big
Rivers will be adding a traimning
and safety coordinator in 1991 Lo
assist our distribution coopera-
uves

A new record low accident
incident rate (accidents per
200.000 man-hours worked) of
46 was set in 1990 The previ-
ous low of 5.4 was established in
1989

Wilson Station employees
made a major contribution (o
this year's safety record by com-
pleting a full yvear without a lost-
Lme mjury.

Training

The Iront Line Leadership”
and "Working" training, programs
launched n 1989 were conun-
ued. All employees at the Cole-
man Plant completed the
programs 1n August  Reid,
Green. and Wilson plants, head-
quarters. transmission
employees will receive training in
1991 and 1992
ted to keeping our employees

and
We are commit-

up-to-date n skills required for
Big Rivers Lo compete in today's
market

Forty-lour employees took
advantage ol the educational
assistance program by enrolling
in college classes or pursuing
6

home study courses to enhance
their career potental and value
to Big Rivers.

Employees

Employment at vear-end was
868. The turnover rate was 2 5
percent which is considerably
lower than the national average
for corporations our size

Employees throughout Big
Rivers are heavily involved n
varous community, civic, and
business organizations and pro-
grams. helping to fullill Big
Rivers' mission of bemng a good
corporate citizen

Management Audit

During the year. a manage-
ment audit, directed by the PSC,
was completed  Big Rivers was
the last of tie major electric utili-
Lies i1 Lthe state 1o be audited
under legistation direcuing the
PSC to conduct such audits
Scott Consulting Group (SCG) ol

Raleigh. North Carolina. was
emploved by the PSC. at Big
Rivers' expense. Lo perform the
audit  The following four para-
graphs are a direct quote of the
overall assessment by SCG of Big

Rivers' operauo ns.

"Management audits assess
the performance ol uulites in a
number of different ways, some
mvolving end results and some
mvolving management methods
and processes

End results are
most olten viewed 1 the context
of rate competitiveness, hnancial
strength, productivity, and a
company's ability to manage
cosls  Management methods and
processes are reviewed (0 ensure
that the company s positioned to
improve results where necessary.
maintain results as appropriate,
and - most importantly - 1s posi-
tioned 1o address the cnitical
1ssues 1l laces

"Big Rivers has a strong
operational focus. The produc-

tion department epitomizes Big
Rivers' penchant {or operational
efliciency The system load factor
1s very high, forced outage rates
awe extremely low, heal rate per-
[ormance is positive. and overall,
the production department's
Work
rules are progressive and labor
relauons are sound  The produc-
tion operation efficiency plays a
part 1n allowing Big Rivers (o

operations are efficient

participate in the short-lerm off-
system energy and long-term
bulk power markets Big Rivers'
operational efficiency is also
enhanced by the engineering and
transmission department's solid
operations. System performance
1s improving, and preventive
maintenance on and quality
assurance ol the system is solid.
Operational quality and savings
are also realized n the fuels func-
uon. Coal costs compare favor-
ably with those ol similar
utilities. coal quality 1s consis-
tent. and coal contracts are ade-
quately controlled and
admimstered In addition, Big
Rivers has approprnate proce-
dures for the rapid procurement
Appro-
priate accounting controls exist,
as does a comprehensive budget-
ing process Debt restructuring
agreement COMMIIMents appear
workable and provide a favorable
short-term outlook lor Big Rivers.
The staff and 1ts support provide
the most compelling signal of Big

ol coal when required

Rivers' commitment o ils opera-
Compensation ol the staff
is both compeutive and reason-
able, excellent benefits and train-
ing programs are in place, and
Big Rivers' records management
practices are peerless within the
utility industry  Management
processes at Big Rivers, including
recent strategic planning initia-
tives and an informed and
involved hoard of directors, sup-
port Big Rivers' operational
strengths. Relations with various
publics, especially with member
cooperatives and the media, have
improved

ton



"It is in the area of planning
that SCG recognizes tmprove-
ment opportunities. Admittedly,
planning needs exist primarily as
a result of a series of changes that
have taken or are taking place in
the internal and external business
environment surrounding Big
Rivers Because Big Rivers has
focused so ntensely on restruc-
turing its debt, long-term plan-
ning has i most cases not been
formally and aggressively pur-
sued Big Rivers has not aggres-
sively sought to fundamentally
and competiuvely analyze its sit-
uaton, develop and document a
vision for Big Rivers, nor evaluate
and fully pursue the courses of
action necessary to ensure that
results attain or remain at levels
required for continued success
Recent strategic planning efforts,
including the debt restructuring
agreement, represent the first
steps toward an mtegrated strate-
gic planning process. Big Rivers
needs to continue these efforts,
not only at the senior manage-
ment level, but throughout the
organization The marketing
function at Big Rivers will benefit
from an increased focus by top
management on creating a fully
developed marketing planning
process The marketing organi-
zation's effectiveness, marketing
results, and relationships with
member cooperatives and large
industrial customers will all be
enhanced by the definition and
communication of a clear vision
of marketing's role Fuel costs
represent a signiflicant portion of
Big Rivers' Lotal operating costs
Long-term fuel procurement
planning will reduce the nsk of
increased fuel costs adversely
affecting the financial health of
Big Rivers Although energy and
demand forecasts are used within
the energy supply function, the
forecasts are not formally inte-
grated into the planning activities
of the other functional areas
within Big Rivers Big Rivers
does not use end-use models,
formal studies, or have a com-

plete set of modern planning
tools or models to support its
resource planning activities
Human resource planning can be
mmproved to integrate the long-
range staffing needs with the
requirements of other Big Rivers
long-term planning goals and
objectives. Performance and pro-
ductivity indicators are not pro-
duced by Big Rivers, making
workload based manpower plan-
ning difficult to perform  Final-
ly. Big Rivers should analyze and
aggressively pursue all cost
reduction opportunities Because
Big Ruwvers' fully allocated produc-
tion costs are high relative to
neighboring utilities (and there-
fore competitors), reducing costs
and documenting these reduc-
tions is critical in establishing a
strong compeltitive position.

"External factors such as
competition among utilities and
among alternative energy forms
has become increasingly intense
as a result of excess capacity and
supply conditions As price dif-
ferentials between electricity, gas,
and oil have narrowed, an
increasing number of market seg-
ments have become directly com-
petitive  Deregulation trends in
both the electric and gas indus-
tries should further intensify
competition in the future The
Kentucky regulatory environ-
ment is also becoming more
demanding Examples of this
include the management audit
program and recent possible
least-cost planning directives that
institute formal, rigorous plan-
ning and reporting requirements
in addition to requiring equal
consideration of demand and
supply options. These changes
will impact strongly on Big
Rivers, both positively and nega-
tively, and will challenge 1ts abili-
ty to maintain past performance
levels."

In total, the audit resulted in
67 recommendations Eight
were to continue funcuons which
Big Rivers was already imple-

menting to improve efficiencies,
eight others were to conduct
studies to determine if efficien-
cles and/or cost savings could be
realized, and the remainder were
recommendations to enhance
operations, formalize what we
are doing, and Lo expand certain
programs To unplement all of
the recommendations, SCG esti-
mated that Big Rivers will incur a
one-time cost of $1 4 million and
realize an annual net savings of
approximately $2.6 million This
includes the estimated installed
cost of $0.5 million for the per-
formance monitors listed in last
year's annual report, which are
estimated to reduce fuel costs
approximately $1 0 million per
year

Big Rivers 1s committed to a
strong, conscientious effort to
even further strengthen the cor-
poration by expeditiously imple-
menting as many ol Lhe
recommendations calling for bet-
ter documentation and more for-
mal processes [or improving
planning and efficiencies. Rec-
ommendations involving work
force management will be care-
fully implemented Those rec-
ommendations which may be
somewhat different than our
views will be carefully and
intensely studied  We are in
agreement with the premise that
the corporation must continually
strive for better management,
greater elficlencies, and cost sav-
ings Big Rivers will earnestly
pursue all avenues to improve its
role as a low-cost power supplier
in western Kentucky
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STATEMENTS OF REVENUES AND EXPENSES

(In thousands)

Years ended December 31,

1990 1989 1988
Operating revenues (note 9) $331,736 389,977 399,278
Operating expenses.
Operations.
Fuel for electric generation 118,096 104,830 121,705
Power purchased and interchanged, net 40,263 35,435 39,158
Other 46,263 41,987 41,896
Maintenance 27,030 24,125 23,744
Depreciation and amortization 44 565 44 334 49,311
Taxes 4202 4011 3,907
Total operating expenses 280,419 254,722 279,721
Electric operating margins 51,317 135,255 119,557
Interest and other deductions
Interest (note 4) 07 462 101,890 103,643
Allowance for borrowed funds used
during construction (note 2) (240) (142) (36)
Other deductions 683 771 616
Total interest and other deductions 97,905 102,519 104,223
Other capital credits and patronage allocations --- (19) €D
Operating margins (loss) (46.,588) 32,755 15,338
Nonoperating margins (loss)
[nterest earned 2,108 2,376 3,405
Other 5 2 66
Total nonoperating margins 2,113 2,378 3,471
Net margins (loss) $(44,475) 35,133 18,809

See accompanying notes to finanical statements.



STATEMENTS OF EQUITIES

(In thousands)

Years ended December 31, 1990, 1989, and 1988

Other equities

Donated Consumers'
Accumulated Accumulated capital contributions
Toitifl deficit- deficit- Patronage and to
equities operating nonoperating capital memberships  debt service
Balance at December 31, 1987 S (83.349) (105,927) (23.930) 42.063 764 3,681
Margins for 1988
Operating 15.338 15,338 - --- -~ -—-
Nonoperating 3,471 --- 3,471 --- ---
Patronage allocation (33.310) - 33310 - -
Balance at December 31, 1988 (64,540} (123.899) (20.459) 75,373 764 3.681
Margins [or 1989
Operating 32.755 32.755 -
Nonoperating 2.378 --- 2378 - --- ---
Patronage allocation --- (52,548) --- 52.548 --- ---
Balance at Decemer 31. 1989 (29,407) (143.,692) (18.,081) 127921 764 3,681
Margins for 1990
Operating (46,588) (+6.588) - -- - ---
Nonoperaling 2113 2,113 ---
Balance at December 31, 1990 § (73.882) (190,280 (15968) 127,921 764 3,681

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



BALANCE SHEETS

In thousands)

Assets

Uulity plant. net (notes 2, 4, and 5)

Productive capacity under purchased
power contract (note 7)

Other deposits and investments, at cost

Current assets
Cash and temporary cash investments
Receivables (note 9)
Fuel for electric generation
Non-fuel inventory

Total current assets

Deferred charges (note 3 and 5)

Equities and Liabilities

Caputalization.
Equities
Long-term liabilities (notes 4 and 5)
REA debt

Other long-term debt

Total long-term liabilities
Less current maturities

Total long-term liabilities,

net of current maturities

Total capitahization

Current liabilities
Current maturities of long-term
liabilities (notes 4 and 5)
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses

Total current liabilities

Deferred revenue (note 5)
Deferred credits

Commitments and contingencies (notes 3, 4, 5, and 10)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

December 31,

1990

$1,139.570
27.400
5574

10.253
30,269
24584
14,811
79917
14,880

51,267,341

$ (73,882)

1,092,512
190,227

1,282,739
10.593
1,272,146

1.198.264

10,593
18,605
9,009
38,207
28,486
2,384

$1,267.341

1989

1,170,161

27,600
5,275

28,226
36,027
25.358
14,974

104,585

14,747

1,322,368

(29,407

1,139,610

174,249

1,313,859
38,193

1,275,666

1,246,259

38,193
17,637
18,311

74,141

1,068

1,322,368
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

Cash flows [rom operating activities.

Net margins (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net margins (loss)
to cash provided by operating activities.
Depreciation and amortization
Amortizatuon ol deferred charges
Energy prepayments
| Allowance lor borrowed funds used
during construction
Change in assets and habilities.
Receivables
Fuel for electric generation
Matenal and supplies
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Other, net

Net cash provided by
operating aclivities

Cash flows from investing activities.

Construction expenditures

Refund from vendor relating Lo
construction expenditures

Deposit on coal contract buyout

Nel cash provided by (used in)
invesliing aclvities

Cash flows from financing activities

Principal payments on long-term debr

Proceeds fromi sale ol cooperative
utility trusts

Proceeds from bank loan

Capitalization relinancing expenses

Nct cash used in financing
activities

Nct increase (decrease) in cash

and temporary cash investments

Supplemental cash [low mformation -
Cash paid relating to interest expense

See ﬂCCOI’l’lPZH’Iyiﬂg notes Lo financial statements
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Years ended December 31,

1990

S (44,475

15,196
2.078
28,486
(240)
3,758
774
163
068

(9.302)
(1,094)

28,312

(14.365)

(1,000)

(15,365)

(54,920)

(30,920)

$ (17,973)

$ 105401

1989 1988
35,133 18,809
44 886 49,796

2.158 2.237
(142) (36)
1,209 15,699
(2.001) 7,373
666 185
(874) (10)
(3,170 (747)
3.024 (2.799)
80,889 90,507
(7,592) (4,048)
205
(2,500
(9,797) (4,04%)
(99,161) (370,926)
319.426
(3,248)

(99,161 (54.748)

(28.069) 31,711

102,997 105,867




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 1990, 1989, 1988
(Dollars in thousands)

(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(a) General Information

Big Rivers Electric Corporation (Big Rivers). a nonprofu
electric generation and transmission cooperative association,
supplies the power needs of its four member distribution coop-
eratives and markets power to nonmember utilities The mem-
bers provide electric power and energy to mdustrial, residential,
and commercial customers located in portions of 22 western
Kentucky counties Big Rivers has entered into wholesale power
contracts with each ol its members which require the members
to buy and recewve from Big Rivers all their power and energy
requirements and Big Rivers to sell and deliver power and ener-
gy mn satisfaction of such requirements The wholesale power
contracts with the members extend to the year 2023 Rates 1o
1ts members are established by the Kentucky Public Service
Commission (KPSC) and subject to approval by the United
States Department of Agriculture Rural Electrification Admins-
tration (REA).

(b) System of Accounts

The accrual basis accounting policies follow the Uniform
System of Accounts prescribed by the Federal Energy Regulato-
ry Commission (FERC) as adopted by REA and KPSC  The reg-
ulatory agencies retain authority and penodically 1ssue orders
on various accounting and rate-making matters.

(¢) Revenue Recognition
Revenues are based on month-end meter readings.

(d) Utility Plant and Depreciation

Utility plant is stated at onginal cost, which includes the
cost of contracted services. material, labor, overhead, and an
allowance [or borrowed funds used during construction
Replacements of depreciable property units, except minor
replacements, are charged to utility plant Property units
replaced or retired, including cost of removal net of any salvage,
are charged to accumulated depreciation Routine maintenance,
repairs, and munor replacement costs are charged to expense as
imcurred

Allowance for borrowed lunds used during construction is
included on projects with an estimated total cost of $250 or
more belore consideration of the allowance The interest capi-
talized 1s determuned by applying the effective rate on the REA
Promissory Note to qualilying assets included in construction in
progress  Capitalization of interest 1s discontinued when the
project 1s completed and the asset 1s ready for service

Depreciation of utility plant and unclassified plant in ser-
vice is provided using the straight-line method over the estimat-
ed service lives of the depreciable assets  Effecuve January 1,
1989, Big Rivers reduced its Production Steam Plant deprecia-
ton rate from 3.5 to 3.1 percent A change was necessary 10
recognize the lower operating capacity factor for Big Rivers' gen-
erating system following the completion of a new plant. This

depreciation rate reduction will return Big Rivers to the recom-
mended REA guideline The effect of this change was Lo
increase net margins $5,039 in 1989  Annual rates used to
compute depreciation are as [ollows

Production plant
Transmission plant

3%-3.10%
2 75%
275%

2%-20%

Station equipment
General plant
Unclassified plant
1N service 275%
(e) Temporary Cash Investments
Temporary cash investments consist primarily of temporary
investments in U.S. Government and Federal agency securities
which are carried al cost and adjusted for accrued nterest,
which approximates market

(f) Inventories
Tnventories, consisting of non-fuel and fuel for electric gen-
eration. are valued at weighted average cost

(g) Patronage Capital

As provided in the bylaws, any excess of revenues over the
sum ol (a) operating costs and expenses properly chargeable
against the furmishing of electric energy. and (b) amounts
required 1o olfset operating losses mcurred during the current
or any prior fiscal year 1s capital furnished by the patrons and
credited to a capital account for each patron on a patronage
basis. Nonoperauing margins are used Lo ollsel any accumulated
nonoperating deficits and, to the extent not needed for this pur-
pose, used to offsel any operaung losses, during the current or
any prior fiscal year Tf, after offsetting the nonoperating mar-
gins against accumulated nonoperatng deficits, operating losses
or accumulated deficits. there remains a balance, this balance 1s
allocated Lo patrons on a patronage basis and any armount so
allocated is included as a part of caputal credited 1o the accounts
ol patrons. Neither operating nor nonoperating losses are allo-
cated to the patrons.

(h) Pension and Deflerred Compensation Plans
Substantially all employees are covered under trusteed non-
contributory and contributory retirement plans Also, Big
Rivers has executed deferred compensation agreements with
certain key employees which provide [or periodic payments
upon retrement or to beneficiaries in event of death  All pen-
sion and delerred compensation costs accrued are funded annu-
ally

Pension expense 1ncludes current service costs and
amortization of prior service costs over twenty-five years.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. continued

(Dollars in thousands)

(2) Utility Plant
The following summarizes utility plant

Classified plant in service
Production plant
Transmission plant
Station equipment
General plant
[ntangible

Unclassilied plant in service

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization

Construction in progress

1990 1989
$1,275.582 1272227
78,979 78,910
87,849 87,928
16.360 15,628
190 190
3,211 ---
1,462,171 1,454,883
331,805 288,885
1,130,366 1,165,998
9,204 4,163
$1,139,570 1,170,161

Construcuon n progress s comprised of several small projects The average rate used for the capitalization of interest during

construction in 1990. 1989, and 1988 was 7 7 percent

(3) Deferred Charges

Delerred Charges
The following summarizes delerred charges

1990 1989
Unamortized debt expenses $ 8.367 8.901
Cravat coal contract amendment 1,553 3.097
Insurance claim 1215 —
Deposit on coal contract buyoul 3,500 2.500
Other 245 249
$14.880 14,747

With approval of REA, on September 29, 1987 and Febru-
ary 25. 1988, Big Rwvers refinanced $250,805 and $319.426 of
Federal Financing Bank (FFB) debt with long-term debt at lower
interest rates and incurred refinancing expenses of $2,937 and
$3.230, respectively  In November 1982, Big Rivers elected to
refinance $90.053 of F¥B short-lerm mortgage notes with long-
term noles at lower nterest rales As a result of this election, a
relinancing expense of $4.600 was incurred These expenses
were being amortized over the life of the refinanced debt and

are now being amortized over the term of the REA promissory
note (see note 4)

On June 1. 1984, an agreement with Craval Coal Company,
which reduced their delvered price of coal by approximately
$11 per ton, was consumated Under the terms of the agree-
ment, $12.500 was paid to Cravat, which is being amortized
based on coal deliveries over the remaining life ol the contract
and recovered through the fuel adjustment clause as approved
by the KPSC.

In 1990, Big Rivers filed a claim with 1its insurer to recover
certain costs of repairs to a substation Costs incurred, in excess
of the policy deducuble, to repair the substation are being
deferred until settlement of the claim

On July 18, 1989, Big Rivers endeavored to enter into an
agreement to buy out a high-cost, long-term coal supply con-
tract  Big Rivers has made total refundable deposits ol $3,500
Since this agreement was never closed, interest at 10 percent is
accumulating on the outstanding balance, and the coal vendor is
repaying Big Rivers at the rate of $1 per ton of coal shipped

(4) Long-term Liabilities
A summary of long-term liabilities (ollows.

Promussory note - REA 8.36%
Unamortized premium

County of Ohto, Kentucky, promissory note, with variable interest rate of 8.7%

as ol 12/31/90

County of Ohio, Kentucky, promussory note, with variable interest raie of 8 7%

as ol 12/31/90
Obligation under purchased power contract (see note 7)
Bank of New York, Bauk Loan 8.0%
Manufacturers Hanover Trust Co.. Bank Loan 8.0%
Other sundry borrowings
Total long-term liabilities
Less current maturities
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1990 1989
$ 816,448 929.016
276,064 210,594
1,092,512 1,139,610
83.300 83,300
58,300 58.800
27.400 27.600
8,577
12,150
4,549
1,282,739 1,313,859
10,593 38193
$1,272,146 1,275,666



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued

(Dollars in thousands)

Debt Restructuring Agreement.

Prior to 1987, Big Rivers incurred difficulty 1n obtaining
rate increases from the KPSC. As a result. Big Rivers delaulted
on principal and interest payments due REA [or REA insured
loans and the due FFB and National Bank for Cooperatives
(CoBank) for REA guaranteed loans. A working committee of
representatives {rom Big Rivers, the Justice Department, REA,
Manulacturers Hanover Trust Company. and Bank of New
York, formerly Irving Trust Company, was lormed to ind a
mutually acceptable way of resolving the [inancial situation  On
August 28, 1987, Big Rivers and its creditors agreed in principle
to accept a modified debt restructuring plan incorporating cer-
tain recommendations ol the KPSC

On March 30, 1988, the Debt Restructuring Agreement,
dated as of August 31, 1987, was signed The Debt Restructur-
ing Agreement provides for amendments Lo the debt payments
for all REA debt and County of Ohio, Kentucky promissory
notes In addition, the Debl Restructuring Agreement provided
for the [unding of the 8% Bank of New York and Manufacturers
Hanover Trust Co., Bank loans upon Big Rivers meeting certain
conditions

All revenues and substantially all assets of Big Rivers are
pledged as collateral under a Restated Mortgage and Securniy
Agreement dated as of March 30. 1988, which was executed as
part of the Debt Restructuring Agreement

The mmpact of the Debt Restructuring Agreement has been
accounted for as a troubled debt restructuring involving a modi-
fication of terms. Accordingly, Big Rivers has accounted for the
effects of the restructuring prospectively and has not changed
the carrying amount ol the debt

Following are descriptions of the components of debt
which are covered by the Debt Restructuring Agreement and the
aggregate maturities under the amended Debt Restructuring
Agreement for each of the hive years subsequent to December
31.1990

Promissory Note - REA.

The Debt Restructuring Agreement provides for a reverse
amortizauon repayment schedule (payments will be applied to
principal in a reverse manner as provided by a conventional
loan amortization schedule) at an interest rate of 8.36 percent
for the REA Promussory Note, which includes all debts of Big
Rivers which are guaranteed or msured by REA (REA Debt)
For [inancial statement purposes, interest expense is being com-
puted on a conventional amortizanon method rather than the
reverse amortization method per the Debt Restructuning Agree-
ment  The resulting difference 15 refllected as unamortized pre-
mium and will be adjusted throughout the term of the REA
Promissory Note. The effective interest rate [or 1990 and 1989
on the REA Promissory Note was 7 7 and 7 6 percent. respec-
uvelv  In return for Big Rivers making all payments on the REA
Promissory Note, the REA will make all payments required on
the FFB Guarantees and the CoBank Guarantees on a timely
basis and will not seek to collect from Big Rivers, with respect to

any REA debt, any amounts in excess of the obhgation on the
REA Promissory Nole

The Debt Restructuring Agreement establishes a mimmum
level of debr service payments, while requiring additional debt
service payments depending on the available monthly cash flow,
as defined by the Debt Restructuring Agreement Big Rivers
may retain for working capital needs a month-end cash balance
of $10.000 The minimum level ol future debt service pay-
ments under the agreement are

Year(s) Amount
1991 $116.000
1992 122.000
1993 127,000
1904 134,000
1995 140,000
1996 144,000
1997 147,000
1998, 1999, 2000, 2001,

2002, 2003 150,000
2004 146,000
2005 112,000
2006 103,000
2007 103,000
2008, 2009 102,000
2010, 2011 101.000
2012 104,000
2013 88,000
2014 78.000
2015 74.000
2016 56.000
2017 29.000
2018 10,000

In connection with the settlement agreement described m
note 5, the Debt Restructuring Agreement was amended as of
January 1, 1990  The amendment provided, that il the variable
rates to the aluminum smelters specified in the Settlement
Agreement (described in note 5) in effect on Apnl 1, 1990, and
remain continuously in effect and unmodified through August
31. 1997, and 1 during this period, the REA Debt never exceeds
by more than $18 million what the REA Debt would be 1f only
the above scheduled annual amounts had been paid than no
Event ol Delault shall be deemed to have occurred through
December 31, 1997 I the REA Debt exceeds $443,000 on Jan-
uary 1, 1998, then the schedule shall then be amended begin-
mng with 2004 and continuing to each immediately successive
year such that the amount for any year shall not exceed
$150,000 and such that the scheduled annual amounts in and
after 1998 if paid in equal monthly nstallments for each year
will yield a higure that equals the RCA Debt as of January 1,
1998



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. continued

(Dollars in thousands)

Other Long-Term Debt.

On June 30, 1983, the County ol Ohio. Kentucky 1ssued
$58.800 of Pollution Control Demand Bonds, Series 1983, the
proceeds of which were loaned to Big Rivers. Prior to January
10, 1989, the weekly interest rale was a "Selected Percentage."
not to exceed 110 percent of the coupon-equivalent 13-week
U.S Treasury Bills. Subsequent to January 10. 1989, these
bonds will bear a variable rate of interest. determined weekly by
the Remarketing Agent, with the approval of Big Rivers, equal to
the minimum rate necessary to remarket the bonds in a sec-
ondary market at par plus accrued interest, but not to exceed
110 percent of an index based upon the weekly sales of 91-day
U S, Treasury Bills  These bonds are supported by a Bank ol
New York irrevocable standby letter of credit, which s due w
expire July 135, 1991, and 1s subject to renewal Lhe bonds are
subjecl to mandatory redemption upon expiration ol the sup-
porung letter of credit and any renewal thereof Tn absence of
notification by Bank of New York to renew the letter ol credn
Big Rivers will draw down sufficient funds under the letter of
credit to redeem the bonds Draws against the letter of credit
would bear interest at pririe plus two percent and become Bank
Amounts as defined and covered by the Debt Restructuring
Agreement  The Bank amounts would be repayable under the
same terms and conditions as the redeemed bonds Whule these
bonds are not dated to mature until June 1, 2013, pursuant to
the Restructuring Agrecement. Big Rivers 1s obhigated to fully
fund these bonds or Bank Amounls by January 31, 2010

In November of 1982, the County of Ohio, Kentucky
issued $82.,500 of Pollution Control Inicrim Bonds, Series 1982,
the proceeds of which were loaned 1o Big Rivers. On Oclober
31,1985, the County of Ohio, Kentucky issued Pollution Con-
trol Refunding Demand Bonds, Series 1985, the proceeds of
which were used to refinance the 1982 Interim Bonds The
Refunding Bonds bear terest at a variable rate, which is the
lesser of (a) 13 percent per annum or (b) a rate determined
weekly by the Remarketing Agent, with the approval ol Big
Rivers, equal to the minumum rate necessary to remarket the
bonds in a secondary market at par plus accrued interest. but
not less than 40 percent or greater than 110 percent of an index
based upon the weekly sales of 91-day U S Treasury Bills
These bonds are supported by a Manuiacturers Hanover Trust
Company irrevocable standby Jetter of credut. which is due to
expire July 15, 1991, and 1s subject to renewal The bonds are
subject to mandatory purchase upon expiration of the support-
mg letter of credit and any remcwal thercol  [n absence of noufi-
cation by Manufacturers Hanover Trust Company to renew the
letter ol credit Big Rivers will draw down sufficient funds under
the lerter of credit to purchase the bonds  Draws against the let-
ter of credit would bear interest at prime plus two percent and
become Bank Amounts as defined and covered by the Debt
Restructuring Agreement  The Bank Amounts would be
repayable under the same terms and conditions as the redeemed
bonds. While these bonds are not dated to mature until Octo-
ber 1. 2015, pursuant to the Debt Restructuring Agreement, Big
Rivers 1s obligated to [ully fund these bounds or Bank Amounts
by January 31, 2010
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Bank Loans

As provided by the Debt Restructuring Agreement the
occurrence of the Settlement Agreement (described in note 5)
caused Big Rivers to receive the funding of the bank loans from
Bank of New York and Manufacturers Hanover Trust Company
These loans bear interest at & percent and are repayable 11 equal
quarterly principal installments

Debt Maturities

As described above, the amended Debt Restructuring
Agreement provides that Big Rivers will not be in default if at
December 31, 1997 it maintains a certain level of debt service
paymernt

At December 31, 1990, Big Rivers had paid total debt set-
vice of $495.661 as opposed to the scheduled minimum debt
service level of $315.554 This $180,107 excess debt service
payment can be used to offset future payments under the sched-
ule.

Based on the overpayments to-date and the amount
required to be paid through December 31, 1997, Big Rivers has
calculated the required annual amounts of payments on a
straight-line basis to avoid an event of default through Decem-
ber 31, 1997 Under this calculation, the maturities ol long-
term debt for each of the five years subsequent to December 31,
1990 are estimated to be as follows.

REA
Promissory Other
Year Note Debt Total
1991 $2.629 7,964 10,593
1992 7,864 6,664 14,528
1993 8,491 6.664 15,155
199+ 9,169 6,564 15,733
1995 9,900 5,473 15,373



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued

(Dollars in thousands)

(5) Rate Matters

On August 10, 1987, the KPSC approved a rate request by
Big Rivers, Rate Case 9885, which became effective September
1, 1987 The rate request included an increase in the demand
charge of $1.25 per kW, change 10 a ratchet billing for demand
(where current rates are determined based on the highest
metered demand in the past twelve months) and a variable rate
to major customers of Big Rivers' members, National-Southwire
Aluminum Company and Alcan Aluminum Corporation (the
aluminum smelters) (see note 9) which will be effective [or a
ten-year period The rates in the rale request were designed 1o
recover Big Rivers' cost ol providing service The rates have
been determined based on cost of service less specified levels ol
intersystem sales to nonmembers of approximately 200
megawatts  The vanable rate for the aluminum smelters will
fluctuate based on the price of aluminum within a defined muini-
mum (18.1 mills per kWh) and maximum (44 mills per kWh)

The aluminum smelters and Big Rivers filed appeals regard-
ing the KPSC's decision on rates with the Franklin Circuit
Court  On August 19, 1988, the Franklin Circuit Court
affirmed the decision ol the KPSC in Rate Case 9885 The case
was appealed to the Kentucky Court of Appeals by the alu-
minum smelters. On January 26, 1990. the Kentucky Court of
Appeals allirmed the decision of the Franklin Circuit Court

As required in KPSC Rate Case 9885, Big Rivers filed a sub-
sequent rate request proposal on June 30, 1988, in Rate Case
10265 A rate increase ol $1 30 per kW in the demand rate was
requested The KPSC approved the request, which increased
the demand rate 1o $8.80 per kW, on December 21, 1988, to be
effective January 1, 1989 The aluminum smelters filed appeals
in the Franklin Circuit Court regarding the KPSC's decision

On February 27, 1990, Big Rivers, the aluminum smelters,
and Big Rivers' creditors reached an agreement which eliminat-
ed the 1990 review of the variable aluminum tarif(, resolved the
present aluminum smelter cornplaint before the KPSC, and dis-
missed all pending KPSC appeals The KPSC approved the Set-
tlement Agreement on March 23, 1990, to be effective
retroactively to January 1, 1990

The Settlement Agreement preserves the variable alumimum
smelter rate as the method ol calculating the cash payments to
be made by the smelters 10 Big Rivers The Settlement Agree-
ment however, [ixes the revenue to be recognized by Big Rivers
at 29,1285 mills per kWh through August 1997  Accordingly.
any payments in excess or under the 29 1285 mills per kWh
brought about by the vanable aluminum smelter rate will be
recorded as either deferred revenue or a receivable by Big
Rivers [n 1990, the vanable aluminum smelter rate resulted in
Big Rivers recewving $28,486 more than recognizable revenue
based on the 29 1285 mulls per kWh  This amount is recorded
as deferred revenue This settlement was brought about in part
by the high alumimum prices in 1989 and 1988, which caused
the smelters to pay at or near the maximum rate of 44 mulls per

kWh

Range Actual

Minimum Maximum Revenue

1990 $ 08,731 240,008 189,317
1989 103,034 250,468 249 489
1988 100,135 243 422 243422

While Big Rivers expects Lo maintain positive cash flow, the
agreed upon rate of 29 1285 mulls per kWh will cause Big Rivers
Lo sustain negative net margins in the next few years 1f addition-
al intersystem sales 1o nonmembers are not achieved [n addi-
tion, the settlement mochfied certain default provisions under
the Debt Restructuring Agreement to afford greater flexibility to
Big Rivers from delault in its debt payments.

As previously discussed, Big Rivers was ordered in KPSC
Rate Case 9885 o file, by July 1, 1990, the third and final rate
request  Thus, Big Rivers on June 29, 1990 filed a rate request
proposal in Rate Case 90-128. A rate increase of $1.35 per kW
in its demand rate was requested The KPSC approved the
request, which mcreased the demand rate to $10.15 per kW, on
December 21, 1990, to be effective January 1, 1991  Thus rate
order. and the prior two rate orders effective September 1, 1987
and January 1. 1989, are now final and no longer subject to
appeal

Intersystem power sales to nonmembers is a component of
full cost recovery under Big Rivers' rate design During 1989, a
three-year 200 MW firm power purchase agreement, effective
August 1989, was reached with Oglethorpe Power Corporation
(Oglethorpe Power) Oglethorpe Power 1s a joint owner of the
Georgla Integrated Transmission System, which interconnects
with the Lransmission system of the Tennessee Valley Authority
(IVA)  On December 17, 1990, a second long-term contract
was signed with Oglethorpe Power for the sale of 100 MW of
firm power for ten years, beginning in August 1992 Thus con-
tract is subject to approval by the REA, KPSC, and completion
of a wheeling contract

In December 1989, the area served by Big Rivers' members
experienced extremely cold temperatures resulting in wind-chill
readings 45 to 50 degrees below zero, i consequence of which
Big Rivers experienced an all-time peak demand of 1.177 MW.
Big Rivers filed an application with the KPSC requestuing author-
ity 10 exclude this demand level in the raichet billing (or the
non-industrial customers. The requested deviation from the
current billing tarill was done to eliminate the adverse impact of
the December weather-related demand peak  The KPSC autho-
rized this adjustment on February 1. 1990
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued

(Dollars in thousands)

(6) Income Taxes

Big Rivers was mnutially formed as a tax-exempt cooperative
organization under Section 301(c)(12) of the Internal Revenue
Code To retan tax-exempt status under this code provision, at
least 85 percent of the orgamization's income must be generated
from sales to the cooperative's members. In 1983, sales Lo non-
members resulted 1 Big Rivers being unable to meet the 85
percent requirement In a letter dated March 23, 1984, the
Internal Revenue Service noulied Big Rivers that effective for
1983 and subsequent years 1t would be considered a taxable
organization until such year that sales to members would satisfy
the 85 percent requirement and Big Rivers formally reapphes
for tax-exempt status

Big Rivers has generated losses for both accounting and
income lax purposes Thus, there 1s no provision for current or
deferred income tax expense  The [ollowing analysis summa-
rizes the net operating loss carrylorwards.

Net operating loss

carryforward
Federal
Year mcome
of Accounting rax
origination purposes purposes
1983 $ 10,750 9460
198+ 9,340 87,500
1985 9.640 160,180
1986 123,650 154,790
1987 88,680 94,600
1088 14,490 14,440
1989 20.000 54,760
1990 44,400 80,000

These carryforwards may be utilized to offset taxable income
for the pertod of [ifteen years from the year of origination The
difference between accounting and tax losses is primarily due to
accelerated depreciation methods being utilized for income tax
purposes

Statement of Financial Accounung Standards (SFAS) No
96, Accounting for Income Taxes, was issued by the Financial
Accounting Standards Board in December 1987 SFAS 96
requires a change from the delerred method to the asset and ha-
bility method ol accounting for income taxes This statement
must be adopted in 1992  The impact of adopting this stale-
ment has not been determined

(7) Purchased Power

Big Rivers, under contracts with the City of Henderson,
Kentucky, (City) operates the Ciy-owned 315 megawatt gener-
ating station {(Station Two) and agrees to purchase an allocated
portion of the output. Big Rivers' portion of Station Two capac-
ity is currently 84 percent which is expected to decrease to 82
percent by 1994 The contracts expire in 2003

Under the terms of the contracts with the City, Big Rivers
has agreed 1o pay a proportionate share of the monthly fixed
costs of Station Two (excluding depreciation) based on its allo-
cated portion of the capacity of Station Two  The monthly fixed
costs include debt service payments necessary to retire the prin-
cipal and to pay mterest on the City's bonds ssued to finance
the construction ol Stanon Two  Big Rivers has recorded as a
liability the portion of the principal payments 1t is obligated to
pay as fixed costs under the contract based on estimates of 1ts
allocated portion of Station Two capacity, and has recorded as
an asset a like amount [or the right to purchase 1ts allocated
18

poruon of the output  The fixed costs are payable to the City
whether or not Stauon Two 1s operational or the operation
thereol is interrupted, suspended, or interfered with in whole or
in part [or any cause The cost of power purchased under the
contract for 1990, 1989, and 1988 was $33,043, $29.600, and
$33,993, respectively
purchased

During 1989, a review of the projected capacity allocation
showed that Big Rivers' portion of Station Two capacity would
be approximately 79 percent when the contracts expire in 2003
Therelore, Big Rivers increased the amounts recorded on the
balance sheet related to Station Two by $3.800 The revision of
such amounts 1n the balance sheet has no effect on net margins,
since no changes have been made to date in the manner n
which the payments made to the City are recovered in the rate-
making process.

Such costs are accounted for as power



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued

(Dollars in thousands)

(8) Pension and Deferred Compensation Plans

Big Rivers has defined benelilL pension plans covering sub-
stanually all employees who meel minmimum age and service
requirements. The plans provide benefits based on the partici-
pants' years ol service and compensation or stated amounts [or
each vear of service  Big Rivers' policy is to [und such plans in
accordance with the requirements of the Employee Retirement

Actuarial present value of benefit obligation
Accumulated benefit obligation, including vested bernefits
of $8,481.$7.075. and $5,206

Projected benelit obligation for services rendered to-date

Plan assets at fair value, primarily listed stocks and U.S Treasury

Bonds
Plan assets in excess of projected benefit obligation

Unrecognized net transition assets
Unrecognized prior service cost
Unrecognized net loss (gain)

Unfunded accrued pension cost

Net pension costs included the [ollowing (income)/expense
components,

Service cost-benefits earmed during the year
Interest cost on projected benefit obhigation
Actual return on plan assets

Amoruzation of transition assets
Amoruzation of prior service cost
Amortization and deferral of net loss (gain)

Net periodic pension costs

Assumptions used to develop the projected benefit obligation were

Discount rates
Rates ol increase in compensation levels
Expected long-term rate of return on assets

[ncome Security Act of 1974 Big Rivers has adopted the provi-
sions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS)
No 87, Employers' Accounting for Pensions

The following table sets forth the funded status of the pen-
sion plans and amount recognized on the balance sheet at
December 31,

1990 1989 1988
$ 8513 7.113 5,266
$11.614 9,546 6,794
12,422 11,157 10,097
808 1611 3,303
(2.422) (2.642) (2.859)
959 1.056 0
(517) (1.155) (910)

$ (1.172) (1,130) (466)
$ 1,047 946 725
835 421 482
(1.265) (1.059) (661)
(220 (220) (220)
96 96 0

321 480 (171

$ 814 664 155
8.5% 8.5% 8.5%
4.0 4.0 49
8.5 8.5 8.5

Total expense related to the pension and delerred compensation plans was $973, $1,382, and $805, in 1990, 1989, and 1988,

respectively
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued

(Dollars in thousands)

(9) Revenues and Major Customers
Operating revenues were as follows.

1990
Members.
Green River Electric Corporation $131,411
Henderson-Union Rural Electric
Cooperative Corporation 104.908
Jackson Purchase Electric
Cooperative Corporation 20,488
Meade County Rural Electric
Cooperative Corporation 10,778
Nonmembers 64.083
Other Revenue 68
$331.736

1989 1988
173,839 171,364
146,449 136,434

20,166 17,659
10,755 9.543
38.668 64,177
100 101
389,977 399,278

National-Southwire Aluminum Company and Alcan Alu-
minum Corporation (the aluminum smelters) purchase substan-
tial amounts of electric energy under contracts with members
expiring n 2010 Sales to members for these two customers
(Green River Electric Corporation for National-Southwire Alu-
minum Company and Henderson-Union Rural Electric Corpo-
ration for Alcan Aluminum Corporation) were as follows.

Year Green River Henderson-Union 7Comb‘med
1990 $ 88.624 83.980 172,604
1989 $133,124 126,214 259,338
1688 $133.598 119,338 252,936

Nonmember sales 1 1990 to Oglethorpe accounted for
11.2 percent of operating revenues, and in 1988, nonmember
sales to TVA were 11.6 percent of operating revenues.

Big Rivers agrees to indemnify its member cooperatives by
performing their power supply agreements with certain indus-
trial custmers and accepting only such payment therefore as
each member receives from its customers.

Receivables from members at December 31, 1990, 1989,
and 1988 were $23,839, $29,081, and $29,610, respectively

(10) Contingencies

As of December 31, 1990, a suit filed by a former coal
supplier in the amount of $18.1 million was pending. as were a
number of other legal actions and claims mvolving Big Rivers
either as defendant or plaintiff Management believes that the
outcome of these legal actions and claims will not have a materi-
al effect on Big Rivers' financial position or results of operations.

20

During 1990, Congress passed amendments to the Clean
Arr Act. The effect on Big Rivers complying with this Act has
not been determined.
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COMPARATIVE STATISTICAL ANALYSIS -

1990 1989 1988 1987

Operating Revenues $ 331,736,393 389,976,759 399,277.507 300,084,362
Expenses.

Operation and Maintenance 191.389.914 170941016 187,344,000 169.931.331

Purchased Power and

Interchanged, Net 40,263 144 35,434,879 39,158,896 39,146,440

Depreciation and Amortization 44 564 475 44.333,598 49,310,860 53,555,259

Taxes 4,201,594 4011.142 3006621 3,817.850

Interest 97.222.523 101,748,177 103,607.079 124,351,304

Other 682,585 771342 616,025 597,798

Total 378,324,235 357.241,054 383943 487 391.399,082
Operaung Margins (Loss) (46.587,842) 32,735,705 15.334.020 (91.315,620)
Nonoperaung Margins (Loss) 2,113,304 2,397 614 3,474,999 2,684.774
Net Margins (Loss) $ (+4,474.538) 35,133.319 18809019 (88,630.,846)
Utility Plant at Cost $ 1.462.170.906 1.454,882,990 1,451,937.802 1.448.581,890
Construction Work 1n Progress 9.204,400 4,162.708 1,226,596 1.448.505
Total Electric Plant 1.471.375.306 1.459,045,698 1.453,164,398 |,450.030,395

Less Accumulated Depreciation

331,805,315

288.884.804

245,556,080

196,710,029

Utility Plant Net A

1,139.569.991

1.170,160.894

1,207,608.218

1,253.320.366

o

Total Assets

1.267.340.928

1,322.367.888

1,421.349.400

System Peak Demand - MW

Net Generaung Capacity Owned - MW
Net HMP&L Capacity Purchased - MW
Other Purchased Capacity - MW

Sales to Members - MWh
Sales to Non-Members - MWh

Generated - MWh
Purchased HIMP&L Energy - MWh
Other Purchased Energy - MWh
System Load Factor - %
Permanent Employees at Year-End
Average Cost of Coal Used

Price Per Ton

¢/MM BTU

22

L1174
1459
26+
178

8,101 46
2,592.86

9.010.66

1,668 90

337 14

819

868

2873
129.2¢

1,177
1.459
264

178

8.072.76
1,500.96

8,047 11
1.388.66
314 14
80.0

857

27 82
126.5¢

1.459
2064
178

7814 61
318851

9,270.21
1,716.20
262.04

776

28.05
1257¢

990
1,459
270
178

6,271.32
3,993.08

8.321.80
1.932.61
284 69
75.5
856

27.48
124.3¢



TEN YEAR SUMMARY

1986 1985 1984 1983 1982 1981
227,664,219 236,023,720 258,019,579 258,276,967 232,716,033 240,476,418
130,991,511 133,779910 143,358,327 136,539,322 124,675,180 120,266,830

38.214.277 39,792.228 47,494,014 55,494,464 46,342,616 58.848,412
18,798,750 17,788.717 18,533,362 17,782,446 17,548,448 17,073,065
2,515,787 2,353,021 2,269,307 2,202,576 1,970,317 1,817,332
51,520,808 39,645,856 39,747,343 38,198,269 40,467,426 37,092.495
235,101 195,269 150,834 136,778 149.400 92,954
242,276,234 233555001 251,553,187 250,353.855 231.153.387 235,191,088
(14,612,015) 2,468,719 6.466.392 7923112 1,562,646 5,285,330
(26,613,024) 1,050.605 (1,726.877) 994 948 1,968,247 1,677,561
(41,225,039) 3,519,324 4,739.515 8,918,060 3,530,893 6,962,891
1,452.144,009 539,998,444 533,597,067 531,772,691 495,105,598 483.371,934
2.080,925 833,505,325 745,589,266 653,519,304 451,265,803 173576481
1454224934 1,373.503,769 1.279.186.333 1.185,291,995 046,371,401 656,948,415
143,479.823 124,841,130 106,923.761 91374775 74,720,991 58.643.004
1.310,745.111 1,248,662,639 1,172,262,572 1,093917,220 871,650.410 598,305,411
1.438,564.861 1.409,490,616 1.332,830.420 1.225,799.340 1,029,256,522 708,233,625
993 1,042 1.027 952 947 956

1,448 1.039 1,039 1,039 1,039 816

271 271 268 270 253 253

178 178 190 140 140 140

6,211 79 6.908.67 7.390 75 6,719 42 6,420.88 7.482.78
3.303.68 3,290 11 2,075.96 2.098.82 1.106.37 1,455.27
6.609 70 6.447 45 6.876.37 6474 14 5,848.11 6,164 23
1,631.87 1,779.65 1.882.22 1.724.84 112718 1,822.87
336.38 291 98 666.72 790.65 681.21 1.097 02

741 78.1 341 78 4 74.8 871

863 827 835 794 680 667

27 83 30.25 29.91 30.38 30.68 28.26

127 6¢ 137 7¢ 135.6¢ 138 4¢ 143.3¢ 132.9¢
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

(Dollars in thousands)

Increase %Increase
1989 1988 (Decrease) (Decrease)
Operating Revenues 389,977 399,278 (9,301) (2.3)
Operating Expenses 254,722 279,721 (24,999) (8.9)
Net Margins 35,133 18,809 16,324 86.8
Accumulated Margins & Equity (29,407) (64,540) 35,133 —
Capital Expenditures 7,592 4,048 3,b44 87.5
Cost of Fuel Used 104,830 121,705 (16,875) (13.9)
System Peak Demand (Megawatts) 1,177 1,157 20 1.7
Energy Sold to Members
(Megawatt-hours) 8,072,761 7,814,607 258,154 3.3
Revenue per kWh Sold (Mills) 40.72 36.28 4.44 12.2
CONTENTS
President’s and General Manager’s
Corporate Report 1-9
Financial Report 10-23
Corporate Directory 24

Big Rivers Electric Corporation,
located in Henderson, Kentucky, is a
generation and transmission coopera-
tive, and is owned by the members it
serves. Its purpose is to provide
reliable wholesale electric service
on a not-for-profit basis to its four
member distribution cooperatives.
These cooperatives, owned by their
80,625 consumer-members, distribute
electricity at retail within 22 counties
of western Kentucky, on a not-for-
profit basis.



PRESIDENT’S AND GENERAL MANAGER’S REPORT

The decade of the ‘80s was
extremely turbulent and frus-
trating for Rig Rivers Electric
Corporation. It began with great
promise for growth, and con-
struction of the D.B. Wilson
Plant was started in 1980.
By 1982, the economy had
turned downward, aluminum
prices dropped significantly, and
by 1984 Big Rivers faced finan-
cial difficulties. During the en-
suing years, the corporation was
embroiled in Kentucky Public
Service Commission (KPSC)
hearings, lawsuits, threatened
foreclosure by the Rural Electri-
fication Administration (REA),
and negotiations to resolve its
financial problems. However,
these trying times resulted in a
complete restructuring of debht
and a workout plan which
promises a stable, progressive
future.

Closing out this turbulent
decade, 1989 can best be de-
scribed as a record year which
provided increased momentum
in regaining our financial
strength and stability. Records
and accomplishments were:

* A new system peak demand
of 1,177 megawatts (MW)
was recorded on Decem-
ber 22, breaking the pre-
vious high of 1,157 MW es-
tablished on August 18,
1988.

e For the first year ever, each
monthly system peak de-
mand was in excess of
1,000 MW.

®  The highest member energy
requirement in a 24-hour
period was also recorded on
December 22, with 27,310
megawatt-hours (MWh), for
an average system hourly
demand of 1,138 MW.

Energy sales to members

totalled 8,072,761,464 kilo-

watt-hours (kWh), which
was 258,154,390 kWh
greater than the previous
high of 7,814,607,074.

Margins for the year were
$35,133,319, the largest
ever, which reduced our de-
ficit equity to $29,406,971.

Payments totaling
$202,159,245 were made
for debt service, the most
ever paid in one year.

$186,484,389 was paid on
our total government debt,
reducing the principal

amount of outstanding debt
due REA to $929,015,682.

$15,674,856 was paid on
pollution control bonds and

other debt.

Two intersystem power

Morton Henshaw

sales contracts of 200 MW
each were executed. The
first, a 3-year contract

with Oglethorpe Power Cor-
poration of Tucker, Geor-
gia, is their first firm power
agreement with a utility
other than Georgia Power
Company. The second, a
21-year contract with In-
dianapolis Power & Light
Company (IPL) was exe-
cuted in September. IPL
will begin purchasing 100
MW on January 1. 1991,
and the second 100 MW on
January 1, 1993. Indiana
Utility Regulatory Com-
mission approval is pending.
For 1990, a ‘“reservation
charge” will be paid by
IPL in return for Big Rivers’
guarantee to make the ca-
pacity available beginning
in 1991.

Valley Grain Products. Inc.,
a new industrial customer

William H. Thorpe



of Henderson-Union Rural
Electric Cooperative Cor-
poration (lHenderson-
Union), became the first
company to receive service
under a KPSC-approved eco-
nomic development rate.

e Southwire Company of Car-
rollton, Georgia, a member
of Green River Electric Cor-
poration (Green River Elec-
tric), doubled production at
its Hancock County. Ken-
tucky, rod and cable mill
and became the second
industrial customer qualify-
ing for this new rate.

These new milestones in our
continuing operations were grati-
fving, but of even more impor-
tance is the settlement of dis-
putes with our members’ two
largest companies. the aluminum
smelters.

On February 27, 1990, Big
Rivers, Henderson-Union, Green
River Electric, Alcan Aluminum
(Alcan), and National-Southwire
Aluminum (NSA) asked the
KPSC for prompt approval of a
settlement which assures Big
Rivers the same revenue level as
contemplated in the Debt Re-
structuring Agreement with our
creditors and assures the via-
bility of the smelters when
aluminum prices are low.

The variable rate (fluctu-
ates with the market price of
aluminum) will remain in effect,
however, through a balancing ac-
count. the settlement results
in Big Rivers receiving an average
of 29.1285 mills per kWh from
January 1, 1990, through
August 31, 1997. This rate is
subject to fuel cost adjustments,
changes in law or regulations
(including acid rain and taxes)
and the load factor at which
the smelters operate.

If approved, the settlement
eliminates the 1990 review of
the variable aluminum tariff,
resolves the present NSA com-
plaint before the KPSC, dis-

misses all pending KPSC appeals,

as well as litigation in the
Kentucky courts regarding the
first two rate increases and the
Debt Restructuring Agreement.
The parties have agreed to not
initiate new litigation or com-
plaints pertaining to the variable
aluminum rate during the term
of the rate (August 1997) or
oppose Big Rivers’ third rate
increase which will be filed with
the KPSC by July 1, 1990, to be
effective January 1, 1991. If
approved, this will increase the
demand charge from $8.80 per
KW per month to $10.15. In
addition, the settlement pro-
visions under the Debt Re-
structuring Agreement were
modified, giving Big Rivers
more flexibility in meeting its
debt service obligations.

A management audit of the

Corporation, as required by Ken-

tucky law for the state’s largest
utilities, began in October. Big
Rivers is the last corporation

of this group to be scrutinized.
All interviews have been com-
pleted and all requested docu-
ments have been furnished to
the auditing group. The audit
is scheduled to be complete,
with recommendations, by mid-
April 1990.

The details in the remainder
of this report, we believe, indi-
cate that Big Rivers is now on a
firm footing and is well posi-
tioned to meet the challenges of
the future.

Big Rivers’ management and
Board of Directors sincerely ap-
preciate the dedication and per-
severance of our employees
during the past ten years, and
we look forward to working
together during the promising
years ahead.

TG Miotne)

Morton Henshaw
President, Board of Directors

4 H, %7,9

William H. Thorpe
General Manager



Finance

Operating revenues were
$389,976,759, which was a de-
crease of $9,300,745 from last
year, resulting primarily from a
reduction in sales to the Ten-
nessee Valley Authority (TVA)
due to restart of some of their
nuclear units. During 1989,
intersystem  sales  were
$38,667,981 compared to
564,176,995 during 1988. How-
ever, revenues from members in-
creased by $16.209.050 to
$351,208,585, largely due t